
 

 

National Park Authority  - 16 December 2022 1 

 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 

 

 

Dear Member 

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held on FRIDAY, 16TH 

DECEMBER, 2022 AT 1.00 PM when your attendance is requested. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Catherine Mealing-Jones 

Chief Executive 

 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY BROADCASTS ALL  

PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE ON YOUTUBE 

 

  www.youtube.com/BreconBeaconsNPA 

 

Please ensure you mute your microphone during the meeting until the Chair 

invites you to speak.   

Should there be a comfort break during the meeting please ensure your 

microphone is on mute and that your camera is switched off. 

 

1  CORRESPONDENCE  

 To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 

recommendations thereon (below). 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 

agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 

sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

 

National Park Authority  - 16 December 2022 2 

 

specifying the nature of the interest. 

  

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 

inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 

recorded in the minutes. 

  

3  PUBLIC SPEAKING  

 To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 

accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme. 

  

4  CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chair since 

the last meeting of the Authority. 

  

5  FUTURE BANNAU (Pages 5 - 328) 

6  UPDATE ON SECTION 6 REPORTING (Pages 329 - 334) 

7  CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS (Pages 335 - 400) 

8  PARKING BYELAW (Pages 401 - 416) 

9  PLANNING PROTOCOL (Pages 417 - 438) 

10  BUILDINGS MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE POLICY (Pages 

439 - 452) 

11  ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

 Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been 

notified to him in advance. 

 

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE 

1. To receive apologies for absence 



 

 

 

 

National Park Authority  - 16 December 2022 3 

 

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chair, is of such urgency as 

to warrant consideration. 

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Democratic Services  



This page is intentionally left blank



Future Bannau: The Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority 2023-2028 

 

Committee National Park Authority, 16 December 2023 

Agenda Item 5 

Report Author Catherine Mealing-Jones 
 
With assistance from: 
Helen Lucocq MRTPI 
Liz Hutchins 
Christopher O’Brien MRTPI 
Naomi Davies 

Sophie Jones 

Job title Chief Executive Officer 

Contact Details Catherine.mealing-jones@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To seek the agreement of NPA to the adoption of Future 
Bannau as the Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons 
National Park and to agree to launch the plan in April 2023. 

Single Integrated 
Assessment 

See Enclosure 1 

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 Single Integrated Assessment 

Enclosure 2 Equality Impact Assessment 

Enclosure 3 Future Bannau The Management Plan for the 
Brecon Beacons National Park (2023-2028) 

Enclosure 4 Sustainability Appraisal of Future Bannau 

Enclosure 5 Habitats Regulation Assessment of Future 
Bannau 

Public Interest Test N/A 

Recommendations 1. To adopt Future Bannau as the Statutory Management 
Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park area for 
publication in April 2023.  

2. To agree that Future Bannau acts as the Wellbeing 
Plan for the National Park area and that the Plan’s 
mission statements form our Wellbeing Objectives as 
required by the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 

3. To agree that any further minor amendments to Future 
Bannau up to publication can be agreed by the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Chair of the 
Authority. 

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



1 Introduction or Background 
 
1.1. The requirement for the Authority to produce a Management Plan for the area is 

defined by Section 66(1) of the Environment Act (1995) which states: - 
 
Every National Park authority shall, …prepare and publish a plan, to be known as 
National Park Management Plan, which formulates its policy for the management 
of the relevant Park and for the carrying out of its functions in relation to that park 
 

1.2. The Authority's current NPMP Managing Change Together was adopted in 2010 it 
underwent full review in 2015, which culminated in the publication of the first 
review in 2015 Putting Well-being at the Heart of Managing our National Park. This 
currently forms the statutory Management Plan for the area. 
 

1.3. Since the review of Managing Change Together there have been significant 
contextual shifts which have engendered the need for a new plan to be developed. 
This includes, but is not limited to the publication of Welsh Government’s renewed 
priorities for National Par Authorities in Wales as set out in the Terms of 
Government Remit Letter for National Park Authorities in Wales. 
 

1.4. Members will note that the Plan is now entitled Future Bannau rather than Future 
Beacons as consulted upon earlier in the year. The name change reflects feed-
back received during the consultation around our commitment to promoting the 
Welsh language. 

 
2 Proposals 
 
2.1 The role of the Management Plan is to guide delivery of the National Park 

purposes and duty assisted by the NPAs statutory planning function. 
 

2.1 The National Park Management Plan is the single most important policy document 
for each National Park. As a plan of National significance, it provides context and 
direction to all other policy being developed within the park be those Authority led 
or otherwise, and it also provides an opportunity to make a clear statement about 
the Authority’s vision for the Park. 
 

2.2 The current guidance on the production of Management Plans was produced in 
2007 by the Countryside Council for Wales. It states that Management Plans 
must:- 

 Be ambitious recognising the national importance of the Park. 

 Focus on the delivery of the National Park purposes within the wider agenda 
of sustainable development. 

 Identify and seek to protect and enhance the special qualities of the Park. 

 Promote the national and international importance of the National Park whilst 
reflecting local circumstances. 

Page 6

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter.pdf


 Be underpinned by sustainable development. 

 Be appropriate responses to climate change demonstrating exemplar action 
in relation to sustainable development. 

 Integrate thinking between topics and delivery. 

 Link to international, national, regional and local policies and programmes 
which can assist in the delivery of National Park purposes. 

 Influence and add value to existing and future plans and strategies prepared 
by others. 

 Be both forward thinking and reflective building on past action. 

 Contain objectives and policies based on clear evidence. 

 Be clearly monitored in terms of both outputs against targets, milestones and 
objectives.  

 Have mechanisms for review should monitoring demonstrate need for 
change. 

 Provide the central Plan for the NPA, setting the framework, together with the 
Local Development Plan(LDP), for the more detailed strategies and 
programmes of the NPA including its annual Business Plan AND; 

 Be prepared with the active participation of key stakeholders and the wider 
community encouraging shared ownership. 

 Be delivered through active partnerships.  

 Be a means to an end 
 

2.3 In accordance with the guidance Officers of the Authority have been actively 
engaged in the development of a replacement Management Plan for the area 
since the Autumn of 2020.  

 
2.4 This has involved the following action on the part of the Policy Officers Group:- 

 Reviewing the evidence base to define key issues for the Park which the plan 
should address 

 Consulting on high level vision and objectives to start the conversation 
between the Authority and key stakeholders as to the direction of travel. 

 Undertaken numerous targeted engagement meetings with a range of 
stakeholders including community councils, farming unions, rambler 
organisations, The Dark Sky as well as Welsh government sponsorship unit 
and Natural Resources Wales. 

 Formulated a Stakeholder Reference Panel with a range of invited 
organisations to discuss in detail future policy interventions. 

 Constituted a citizen’s assembly for detailed discussions with members of the 
community around key issues. 

 Undertaken Strategic Appraisal of the proposed plan and objectives to 
consider social, environmental, and economic impacts. 

Page 7



 Undertaken Habitats Regulation Assessment of the proposals to determine 
the degree of potential for likely significant effects as a result of the plan on 
special areas of conservation within the Park and on our boundaries. 

 Working through a series of guest expert speakers in Policy Forum, we have 
engaged members in topic based debate to help inform the strategy and 
policy of the Plan. 

 Held workshop sessions with staff and volunteers to develop and refine our 
objectives  

 Conducted a 16 week public consultation  

 Hosted a series of policy deep dives with a range of invited stakeholders to 
address policy areas in detail 

 Undertook targeted consultation with staff and key stakeholders during post-
consultation review. 

 
A full report of consultation can be found here  

 
2.5 This detailed and intense programme of policy development has resulted in a 

Management Plan that is bold and ambitious, facing the most complex wicked 
problems head on. Unashamedly the plan seeks to provide the vision and the 
evidence to influence transformational change in the actions of all those who live, 
work and operate within the Park. The Plan has as its central theme the need for 
activity to take place within environmental sustainability and social resilience. To 
do this, the plan advocates for nature based solutions to the challenges we face.  

 
2.6 Future Bannau is divided into eight distinct sections: 

1. Forewords from both Julie James MS and myself, in combination making 
strong and impassioned rationales for the vision of the plan and the risk of 
not taking on such bold goals. 

2. An introduction about the Brecon Beacons as a National Park. 

3. Our Special Qualities.  Expressed using a range of poems, art and policy 
statements. 

4. A section explaining the purpose and significance of the Management 
Plan and its use of the ‘Doughnut’ model to conceptualise our purposes and 
duty as an interrelated system of action. 

5. An overview of the state of the Park today, and identification of key issues 
for the Plan to address. 

6. Our vision for the park of 2048 complete with illustrations of the extent of 
landscape change needed for ecological and social resilience. 

7. A series of five mission statements seeking to address the most critical 
(and interrelated) issues for the Park, underpinned by a series of objectives 
and outcome statements.  

8. Our Partners section identifying the key partnerships that we will be reliant 
upon in order to deliver the ambition of the Plan 

Page 8

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Consultation-Report-June-2022-Final-reduced.pdf


 
2.7 Throughout the Plan the Authority identifies how it will contribute to the delivery of 

the missions, whilst stressing that this is a collective responsibility for all partners 
acting within the National Park, and not for the Authority alone. 

 
2.8 The finalised plan will be supported by a monitoring framework aimed at identifying 

the impact the plan is having in implementation. This is currently being developed 
through our Stakeholder Reference Panel, the outcomes of which will be 
presented to members at the March 23 National Park Authority. 

 
2.9 Members will note that Officers are scheduling launch of the Plan for April of next 

year. This timetable is being proposed in order to enable the redevelopment of the 
Plan from a static pdf to an interactive, fully accessible and bilingual digital 
document.  

 
3 Statutory Wellbeing Objectives  

 
3.1  The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act requires the Brecon Beacons 

National Park Authority to carry out sustainable development by setting (and 
publishing) well-being objectives designed to maximise our contribution to 
achieving each of the well-being goals.  
 

3.2 It has been the practice of the Authority to set our objectives in our Corporate Plan. 
However given the frequency and focus of such Plans, this is not considered the 
most appropriate approach to meeting our obligations. 
 

3.3 Through consultation on the draft National Park Management Plan, the opportunity 
to combine our Wellbeing Objectives with those underpinning the National Park 
Management Plan was tested and considered sound. 
 

3.4 As such, it is proposed, that Future Bannau is adopted as the Well-being Plan for 
the National Park Authority, and that the mission statements, therein, form our 
wellbeing objectives for the period 2023-2028.  

 
4 Implications and risk  
 
4.1 As set out above the development of a Management Plan for the area is a 

statutory requirement on the Authority. For various reasons, not least lockdown 
and staffing change, the Authority has not met statutory targets for the review of 
the Management Plan. Welsh Government and NRW are satisfied that the reasons 
for this delay are valid and a renewed timetable has been negotiated with them. 
This timetable sees the plan being delivered by April 2023.  

 
4.2 More than reputational risk, further delay in the adoption of the Management Plan 

poses potential challenge for the applicability of emerging policy for the region. As 
stated above the Management Plan is of national significance, this means that any 

Page 9



plan that is being developed for the area must take account of and respond to the 
strategic direction defined by the plan (a way that other organisations can 
discharge their duties to the National Park under S62(2) of the Management Plan. 
At present there are a number of key policy documents being developed and 
reviewed within the region such as the emerging strategic development plans and 
well-being plans which should be looking to the Management Plan to inform their 
plan making. Failure to keep the plan up to date will result in other external policy 
not delivering on objectives that we know are vital to the region. 
 

5 Conclusion 
 
4.1 Future Bannau The National Park Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons has 

been developed through engagement and collaboration whilst clearly aligning 
action with an evidence based understanding of the issues facing the Park. 
 

5.1 The plan is bold and ambitious concentrating on the socio-economic and 
environmental challenges facing the area whilst delivering on the statutory and 
policy requirements of a Management Plan.  
 

5.2 The plan will set a clear vision for the future of the National Park for many years to 
come and is recommended to the Authority as an opportunity to build strong 
partnerships into the future. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. To adopt Future Bannau as the Statutory Management Plan for the 
Brecon Beacons National Park area for publication in April 2023.  

2. To agree that Future Bannau acts as the Wellbeing Plan for the National 
Park area and that the Plan’s mission statements form our Wellbeing 
Objectives as required by the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 

3. To agree that any further minor amendments to Future Bannau up to 
publication can be agreed by the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Chair of the Authority. 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 1  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Single, Integrated, Impact Assessment (SIIA) toolkit incorporating Welsh Language, Equalities, Well Being of Future Generations Act, Risk Management and Resources, supporting effective decision 
making and ensuring compliance with respective legislation.  There are a number of pieces of legislation that the National Park Authority is subject to, which require us to carefully consider how we 
make decisions: 
 
 

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011  
 
This specifies that the Authority must have due regard to:  

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and those who do not; 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

And must: 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages experienced by people due to 
their protected characteristics 

 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups. 

 Encourage people with protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where their participation is 
disproportionately low.  

 
The Act describes fostering good relations as tackling prejudice and 
promoting understanding between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Meeting the duty may involve 
treating some people more favourably than others, as long as this 
does not contravene other provisions within the Act. 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
 
The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act will from April 2016 require all 
public bodies to demonstrate that we are improving social, economic, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing, whilst also looking to the future, 
planning for the long term and ensuring that we don’t compromise the 
ability of future generations to be able to do the same.  This is called 
sustainable development. 
 
The Act sets out 7 Wellbeing Goals:   

 A Prosperous Wales 

 A Resilient Wales 

 A Healthier Wales 

 A More Equal Wales 

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities 

 A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 

 A Globally Responsible Wales 
 
We have to demonstrate how we are contributing to all of these goals 
and following the 5 Sustainable Development principles: 
Long term, Integration, Collaboration, Involvement and Prevention 

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
 

 Gives the Welsh language official status in 
Wales  

 Establishes the principle that the Welsh 
language should be treated no less 
favourably than the English language 

 Requires public authorities to comply with 
standards relating to Welsh language 
provision 

 
The Policy Making Standards relate to assessing 
the impact of policies and decisions on 
opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and on treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English language. 
The Authority must therefore consider the 
Welsh Language when we are developing 
policies and strategies or when considering new 
ways of providing services. 

Integrated Risk Assessment (Legislative Frameworks) - Whilst there is no formal legislation which stipulates that we must formally manage our risks, it is good practice to undertake risk management, a 
process whereby we assess, evaluate and take action on risks in order to increase the probability of success and reduce the likelihood of failure. This process should include regular monitoring to ensure 
control of our identified risks where required.  The outputs from effective risk management include compliance, assurance and enhanced decision making.  These outputs provide benefits by way of 
improvements in the efficiency of our operations, successful delivery of our projects and the implementation of our corporate objectives. 
 
Risk management is a continuous process that supports the development and implementation of our corporate planning and budget setting processes.  Plans typically focus on a desired future, which is 
underpinned by a set of reasonable assumptions.  However, each of these assumptions carries a level of uncertainty and risk.  Using identified risks in the corporate planning and budget setting 
processes will ensure that we make informed decisions based on the current level of risk, and are fully aware of how the risks could either have a negative impact on our ability to deliver our objectives, 
or expose opportunities that we can exploit.  Achieving our targeted performance is dependent upon our ability to manage our risks.  As we deal with a changing legislative and policy framework we 
need to become shrewder about the risks we take so we can sustain our services with a continually reducing budget.  Equally importantly we must be aware of the risks to avoid to ensure we protect our 
customers, reputation and financial stability. 

P
age 11



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 2  

 

Service Area Policy Officer Group Report Author 
Liz Hutchins, Senior Policy 
Advisor 

Director who has 
approved this 
assessment 

Catherine Mealing-Jones/ 
another Director 

 
 

Summary of Recommendation 

To approve the proposed National Park Management Plan 2023 – 2028. 

 

1. How does your recommendation impact on the Authority’s corporate goals? 
 
The recommendation proposes the corporate goals to be shaped by the principle of Doughnut Economics and the five missions in the Management Plan: 

Climate: Reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions across the Brecon Beacon National Park by 2035 
Water: Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful, water resources and water environments by 2030 
Nature: A Nature Positive National Park by 2030 
People: Living, working, visiting - safely, equitably and sustainably 
Place: Beautiful, thriving and sustainable places, celebrated for their cultural heritage, now and forever 

 
The recommendation is that this is the best way for the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority to meet its statutory purposes and duty: 

Purpose 1: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area. 
Purpose 2: To promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park by the public. 
Duty: To seek to foster the social and economic wellbeing of the local communities within the National Park in pursuit of our purposes 

And to respond to the requests of the Welsh Government in the remit letter of May 2022. 
 

 

Authority Goal (Proposed wellbeing 
objectives) 

How does the recommendation 
contribute to the goal? 

Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts? 

Climate: Reach net-zero greenhouse gas 
emissions across the Brecon Beacon National 
Park by 2035 
 
Water: Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful, water 
resources and water environments by 2030 
 
Nature: A Nature Positive National Park by 

The BBNPA adopting the National Park 
Management Plan will contribute to 
achieving the goals by: 

 Setting out a National Park-wide 
vision and set of outcomes to 
inspire and galvanise the actions of 
BBNPA, partners, wider 
stakeholders and the public. 

+ This is a deliberately bold and ambitious Management 
Plan shaped by the evidence of what is needed, not by 
current resource constraints of BBNPA and potential 
partners. 
 
The aim is to inspire support for and involvement in 
action equal to the challenges faced by the National 
Park. 

P
age 12



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 3  

Authority Goal (Proposed wellbeing 
objectives) 

How does the recommendation 
contribute to the goal? 

Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts? 

2030 
 
People: Living, working, visiting - safely, 
equitably and sustainably 
 
Place: Beautiful, thriving and sustainable 
places, celebrated for their cultural heritage, 
now and forever 

 Introducing clarity about the role 
of BBNPA in achieving the National 
Park-wide goals. 

 Establishing a ‘top down’ 
(evidence-led) and ‘bottom up’ 
(shaped by lived experience) 
approach to developing action 
plans and partnerships – which is a 
framework most likely to draw on 
the best talents and to result in 
outcomes tailored to the needs of 
residents and visitors. 

 
The plan is to grow resources of BBNPA and partners to 
achieve the outcomes. Resources can only be leveraged 
to achieve outcomes that are conceptualised and 
proposed. 
 
Clear communication about this strategic approach 
alongside the publication of the Management Plan will 
be important to its success. 
 
 

 

2. How does your recommendation impact on the Welsh Government’s 7 well-being goals? 
 

 

Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 7 goals 

How does the recommendation contribute to the goal? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts? 

A prosperous Wales: 
An innovative, productive and low 
carbon society which recognises the 
limits of the global environment and 
therefore uses resources efficiently 
and proportionately (including acting 
on climate change); and which 
develops a skilled and well-educated 
population in an economy which 
generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing 
people to take advantage of the 
wealth generated through securing 
decent work. 

People mission: 
By 2028 the people of the National Park will be able to meet their needs 
(health, economic, recreational, and residential) whilst respecting and 
regenerating our environment. Visitor experience is enhanced by being 
firmly embedded within sustainability principles. 
 
People mission future economy ambition: 
Local communities and businesses will benefit from a vibrant and 
sustainable economy focused on local wealth generation and the 
foundational economy.  Sustainable new investment will work alongside 
home-grown businesses to provide good quality employment opportunities. 
 
Place mission objective 
Collaborative action focused on a range of spatial areas to co-produce 

+ The BBNPA will put in place a 
series of measures to optimise 
the positive impacts of the 
Management Plan including: 
 
1. A launch of the Management 

Plan in a way that engages 
and inspires a wide range of 
stakeholders needed to 
deliver the Plan, and 
manages expectations about 
who needs to act. 
 

2. A new BBNPA Corporate Plan 

P
age 13



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 4  

Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 7 goals 

How does the recommendation contribute to the goal? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts? 

 responses to the nature, climate and economic crises.  
 
Place mission prosperous places ambition: 
Places which have proportionally increased levels of community wealth 
generated within the local economy through development of the 
foundational economy, social enterprise, and the green economy. 
 

to tightly align the 
organisation’s work with the 
wider National-Park missions. 

 
3. BBNPA officer and member 

training to enable everyone 
to align their work with the 
Plan and to be champions of 
it with external stakeholders. 

 
4. Delivery plans to achieve the 

missions will be developed 
with the involvement of 
people from a wide range of 
demographics to make sure 
we draw on all the talent in 
society and that everyone’s 
needs and wishes are heard. 
Including through: 

 A new Youth Council that 
is demographically 
representative of Wales’ 
population 

 A People’s Assembly that 
is demographically 
representative of Wales’ 
population 

 Holistic Place Planning 
involving 
demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens 

A resilient Wales: 
A nation which maintains and 
enhances a biodiverse natural 
environment with healthy 
functioning ecosystems that support 
social, economic and ecological 
resilience and the capacity to adapt 
to change. 
 

Climate mission: Reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions across the 
Brecon Beacon National Park by 2035. 
 
Climate BBNPA contributions: 

 We will work with the experts and data to understand how climate 
change is expected to impact the National Park, our environment, 
people, places and historical heritage, in the future so that we can 
collectively prepare and be resilient. 

 

 We will work with climate experts, partners and local communities 

to develop Net Zero, Carbon Sequestration and Climate Adaptation 

plans for the National Park, guided by best practice including the 

UN Race to Zero initiative. 

 We will support or build partnerships with businesses, 

communities, residents and visitors to develop and deliver projects 

to act on climate change including sustainable local transport, 

energy, carbon capture and food solutions. We will work together 

for solutions that also generate local income, provide skills, training 

and jobs, and that drive forward new ideas and technologies. 

 We will share evidence and analysis with partners, stakeholders 
and the public to inform those wishing to act on climate change to 
and to encourage and support those who are uncertain how they 
can make a difference. 

+ 

P
age 14



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 5  

Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 7 goals 

How does the recommendation contribute to the goal? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts? 

 
Water mission: Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful, water resources and water 
environments by 2030. 
 
Water mission ambition: Supporting the provision of clean and sustainable 
water resources for the Brecon Beacons and beyond. 
 
Nature mission: A Nature Positive National Park by 2030. 
 

 Nature mission ambition - habitat recovery: all major habitats in 

the National Park, including grassland, native woodland, upland 

heathland, and peatland, will be on a pathway to net biodiversity 

gain. 

 Nature mission ambition - species conservation: flagship species, 

that are emblematic of the national park or specific habitats, are 

increasing in numbers and extent. 

 Nature mission ambition – ecosystem management Ecosystem 
functions and ecosystem service generated by the park are 
enhanced 

 
People mission - future visitors ambition: 
We will have become the torchbearers for sustainable tourism.  Visiting the 
Brecon Beacons provides a unique experience, which enhances support for 
nature recovery, community wellbeing and the local economy.  Visitors will 
know our story and be motivated to help us respond to key challenges, 
especially through their own actions and behaviour. 
 

groups including 
Community Councils and 
NGOs  

 A Stakeholder Reference 
Panel including statutory 
bodies 
 

5. A programme of fundraising 
to raise money to deliver the 
missions. 
 

6. High quality measuring, 
monitoring, evaluation and 
reporting (where appropriate 
as part of academic 
partnerships) to build rigour, 
transparency and confidence 
in the outputs and outcomes 
associated with the 
Management Plan. 

A healthier Wales: 
A society in which people’s physical 
and mental well-being is maximised 
and in which choices and behaviours 

Water mission ambition: 
Ensuring that the health and wellbeing benefits gained from high quality, 
nature rich, water environments can be experienced by all who live within 
and visit the Brecon Beacons. 

+ 

P
age 15



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 6  

Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 7 goals 

How does the recommendation contribute to the goal? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts? 

that benefit future health are 
understood. 
 

 
Place mission healthy places ambition: 
Places which have wide ranging benefits to public health and wellbeing. 
 
People mission future food ambition: 
The sustainability and affordability of healthy food available to residents 
and visitors will have improved through the creation of local food networks 
of sustainable food production and retailing. 

A Wales of cohesive communities: 
Attractive, safe, viable and well-
connected. 
 

People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion ambition: 
We will challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to participation 
wherever they may occur, creating a National Park where everyone can 
find opportunity and belonging. 
 
Place mission well planned places ambition: 
Where everyone feels a connection to their place, and this provides benefit 
to peoples health and wellbeing. Our Places provide a high-quality built 
environment which provides our residents and visitors a safe place to meet, 
live, work, play and connect. Our businesses can thrive through connections 
to people, services, and infrastructure. 
 
Place mission innovative places ambition: 
Where connected networks of active citizens collaborate with businesses 
and key organisations to innovate place-based solutions to place based 
challenges. 
 

+ 

A globally responsible Wales: 
A nation which, when doing anything 
to improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-
being of Wales, takes account of 
whether doing such a thing may 
make a positive contribution to 

Missions and objectives have been adopted in line with global standards of 
science and equity wherever relevant. For example Climate mission: 
decarbonisation toward or beyond our fair share of action to halve global 
emissions by 2030, in line with the Paris Agreement goal of limiting global 
temperature rises to 1.5 degrees. 
 
The Place mission has a resilient places ambition: 

+ 

P
age 16



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 7  

Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 7 goals 

How does the recommendation contribute to the goal? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts? 

global well-being. 
 

Places which are sustainable into the future providing good access to 
housing, employment and service provision to meet community needs.  
They are measurably less reliant on external supply chains for essentials as 
a result of the increase in local renewable energy generation; local food 
supply and opportunities for community ownership. 
 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language: 
A society that promotes and protects 
culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language, and which encourages 
people to participate in the arts, and 
sports and recreation. 
 

People mission Welsh culture and language objective: 
Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated as part of the rich tapestry of 
cultural lives of Wales.  There is an increased awareness and knowledge of 
the Welsh Language and culture amongst our residents and visitors.  Welsh 
language and culture is loved and valued by all regardless of level of 
language fluency. 
 

+ 

A More Equal Wales 
A society that enables people to fulfil 
their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances 
(including their socio economic 
circumstances) 
 

People mission: 
Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will challenge and remove 
discrimination and barriers to participation wherever they may occur, 
creating a National Park where everyone can find opportunity and 
belonging. 
 
People mission future food ambition: 
The sustainability and affordability of healthy food available to residents 
and visitors will have improved through the creation of local food networks 
of sustainable food production and retailing. 
 
People mission future skills and jobs ambition: 
The demographic mix of people living in the Park will have increased as a 
result of investment in rural skills for the future. 
 
People mission future homes ambition: 
People who need to or want to live their lives here will be able to do so 
within their means.  There will be extensive protection against second and 

+ 

P
age 17



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 8  

Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 7 goals 

How does the recommendation contribute to the goal? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts? 

holiday homes where necessary.  For those who cannot afford market 
prices there will be low carbon community led housing options available. 
 
People mission sustainable businesses objective: 
There will be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a local 
sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon Beacons. 
 

 

 
A more equal Wales: 
 

Does the recommendation 
affect a large number of 
people? Please give any 
evidence 

Does the recommendation 
affect a small group of people 
in a significant way? Please 
give any evidence 

How will the recommendation take into account the 
differing needs of protected characteristics or address any 
negative impact? Please give details 

Age 
Disability 
Gender Reassignment 
Marriage or civil partnership 
Race 
Religion or Belief 
Sex 
Sexual Orientation 
Pregnancy and Maternity 

Yes. 
Everyone who: 

 lives in the National 
Park 

 visits the National Park, 
or 

 has a material interest 
in the National Park 
playing a significant role 
in addressing the 
climate, water and 
nature crises. 

Yes. 
It affects demographic 
minorities who are currently 
under-represented: 

 In the decision-
making structures of 
BBNPA. 

 Amongst residents of 
the National Park 

 Amongst visitors to 
the National Park. 

See Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
The Management Plan is highly likely to promote equality of 
opportunity and good relations.  

 

3.  How does your recommendation impact on the Sustainable Development Principles? 
 

Sustainable Development 
Principle 

How does the recommendation impact on this principle? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

P
age 18



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 9  

Sustainable Development 
Principle 

How does the recommendation impact on this principle? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

 
Balancing short 
term need with 
long term and 
planning for the 
future. 

 Long term 25-year vision. 

 5-year Management Plan period. 

 Some missions have 2030 or 2035 time horizons. 

+ Shorter term action plans are 
needed to set out the pathway 
to achieving the missions. 

 
Working together 
with other 
partners to 
deliver. 

The Management Plan: 

 Establishes a ‘top down’ (evidence-led) and ‘bottom up’ (shaped by lived 
experience) approach to developing action plans and partnerships – which is 
a framework most likely to draw on the best talents and to result in 
outcomes tailored to the needs of residents and visitors. 

 Establishes or continues involvement structures including: 
- A new Youth Council that is demographically representative of 

Wales’ population 
- A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative of Wales’ 

population 
- Holistic Place Planning involving demographically representative 

residents 
- Spatial partnerships 
- Engaging active citizens groups including Community Councils and 

NGOs  
- A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 

 Helps Public Service Boards and other public bodies know how they can meet 
their S62 2 duty (to have regard to the purposes of the National Park) and 
thereby contribute to the success of the National Park. 

+ High quality engagement 
requires resources and 
dedicated focus to build trust 
and understanding – 
fundraising will be needed to 
invest in this. 

 Involving those 
with an   interest 
and seeking their 
views. 

The Management Plan was developed through extensive consultation including: 
 

Summer 2020: Issues identification 
Targeted consultation with key stakeholders to review State of the Park 
data, identify issues and agree the development of a replacement 
Management Plan. 

+ In order to properly represent 
all those who the National 
Park was established to serve, 
more work is needed to 
actively reach out to 
demographic groups that are 

P
age 19



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 10  

Sustainable Development 
Principle 

How does the recommendation impact on this principle? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

 
Spring 2021: Vision and objectives 
Eight-week open consultation addressing the emerging vision and 
objectives of the Management Plan. Presentation of options at a range of 
stakeholder events. 
 
Summer 2021: Citizen and stakeholder involvement 
Development of two new bodies to support the development of the 
Management Plan: a Stakeholder Reference Panel comprising statutory 
bodies, and a Citizen’s Assembly comprised of self-selecting citizens. Both 
bodies take an active role in shaping the Management Plan. 
 
Winter 2021: Future Beacons Consultation 
Twelve-week consultation on draft Management Plan Future Beacons. 
Presentations at a range of stakeholder events. Written consultations 
sought. 
 
Spring 2022: Policy deep dives 
18 online workshops held looking at the form and content of the Future 
Beacons policy objectives. Workshops attended by a range of 
participants from academia, statutory bodies, citizens and eNGOs. 
 
Summer 2022: Staff involvement 
Focused on considering how BBNPA should contribute to achieving the 
missions. 
 
Autumn 2022: Stakeholder review 
Further consultation with the Stakeholder Reference Panel and a range 
of other experts prior to finalising. 

 

under-represented in: 

 The National Park 
decision-making 
structures 

 The demographic make-up 
of National Park residents 
compared to the 
population of Wales. 

P
age 20



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 11  

Sustainable Development 
Principle 

How does the recommendation impact on this principle? Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

Putting resources 
into preventing 
problems 
occurring or 
getting worse. 

The National Park Doughnut helps identify multiple existing problems which need 
to be addressed and prevented from getting worse. The missions adopted in the 
Management Plan are prioritised in response to the Doughnut analysis. 

+ Action plans to achieve the 
missions will require 
fundraising to resource. 

Positively 
impacting on 
people, 
economy and 
environment 
and trying to 

benefit all three. 

The National Park Management Plan is shaped by Doughnut Economics which is 
an expression of sustainable development. 
 
 

+ Using Doughnut Economics as 
an evaluation tool will help to 
ensure synergies rather than 
trade-offs are found in 
achieving the missions. 

 

4.  Welsh Language 
 

Relevant Welsh Language Standard Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

Please give details here  

Standard 88 
What effects will the policy have (positive or negative) on 
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language 
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the 

English Language 
 

+ Adopting a Welsh culture and language ambition will help prioritise this in the 
work of the BBNPA and partners: 

Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated as part of the rich tapestry of 
cultural lives of Wales. There is an increased awareness and knowledge of 
the Welsh Language and culture amongst our residents and visitors.  
Welsh language and culture is loved and valued by all regardless of level 
of language fluency. 

The Management Plan and all associated communications will be published in 
Welsh and English. 

Standard 89 
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that the policy 
decision would have positive effects or increased positive effects 
on 

 The way in which the plan is delivered, through partnership working, will be 
important in providing opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language, and 
treating the Welsh language no less favourably. 
 

P
age 21



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 12  

Relevant Welsh Language Standard Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

Please give details here  

a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language 
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the 

English Language 
  

+ 
Ensuring that BBNPA policies and protocols are well understood and used by 
BBNPA officers and members will be important. 
 
Resources for bilingual communications will be needed. 
 
Ongoing investment is needed in Welsh language learning. 
 
Leadership will be needed by BBNPA and partners to actively use, celebrate and 
champion the Welsh language in everything we do. 

Standard 90 
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that it would 
not have adverse effects or would have reduced adverse effects on 
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language 
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the 

English Language 
 

+ Ensure all material pertaining to the Plan is available in both Welsh and English.  

 

5. Socio-Economic Duty 
 
When making decisions of a strategic nature about how to exercise its functions, have due regard to the desirability of exercising them in a way that is designed to 
reduce the inequalities of outcome which result from socio-economic disadvantage. 
Socio-economic disadvantage definition: Living in less favourable social and economic circumstances than others in the same society. 
 

5 stage approach to fulfilling the socio-economic duty BBNPA actions 

STAGE 1: PLANNING 
Is the decision a strategic decision? 
 

Yes: The Management Plan is a strategic document, adopting it is a strategic decision. 

STAGE 2: EVIDENCE 
What evidence do you have about socio-economic 
disadvantage and inequalities of outcome in relation 
to this decision? 

 
Evidence: The Management Plan development started with analysis of the wellbeing of residents and visitors, 
including socio-economic advantage/disadvantage – as part of Doughnut Economics analysis. Evidence is on the 
BBNPA website here: https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/evidence-and-research/ 

P
age 22

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/evidence-and-research/


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 13  

Have you engaged with those affected by 
the decision? 
Have you considered protected characteristics? 
Have you considered both places and communities of 
interest? 
 

Engagement: Stakeholder consultation as part of the development of the plan was extensive – see above. Public 
consultation was open for a period of 16 weeks including in public libraries. Engagement with socio-
economically disadvantaged people was low and identified as a priority for the development of delivery plans. 
Protected characteristics: Gender was considered as part of the Doughnut Economics analysis. Other protected 
characteristics have been considered as part of the Equality Impact Assessment both for the development of the 
Management Plan and the proposed adoption of the Plan. The impact of the plan on people who are both socio-
economically disadvantaged and have protected characteristics has been identified as priority for the 
development of delivery plans. 
Places and communities of interest: The Management Plan sets out a proposal for the development of delivery 
plans through engagement including through holistic Place Planning (places of interest) and forums for 
demographically representative groups (including a new Youth Council, a People’s Assembly, and a Stakeholder 
Reference Panel. These will be structured to include representatives of places and communities of interest. 

STAGE 3: ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT 
What are the main impacts of the proposal? 
How can the proposal be improved so it reduces 
inequalities of outcome as a result of socio-economic 
disadvantage? 
 

The Management Plan is designed in a way that is designed in a way to reduce the inequalities of outcome 
which result from socio-economic disadvantage. Key measured include: 

 People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion ambition: We will challenge and remove discrimination and 
barriers to participation wherever they may occur, creating a National Park where everyone can find 
opportunity and belonging. 

 People mission future food ambition: The sustainability and affordability of healthy food available to 
residents and visitors will have improved through the creation of local food networks of sustainable 
food production and retailing. 

 People mission future skills and jobs ambition: The demographic mix of people living in the Park will 
have increased as a result of investment in rural skills for the future. 

 People mission future homes ambition: People who need to or want to live their lives here will be able 
to do so within their means.  There will be extensive protection against second and holiday homes 
where necessary.  For those who cannot afford market prices there will be low carbon community led 
housing options available. 

 People mission sustainable businesses objective: There will be a support network of businesses 
dedicated to building a local sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon Beacons. 

Delivery plans can be optimised to reduce inequalities of outcome as a result of socio-economic disadvantage by 
involving those with relevant lived experience (including intersectional experience) in the development of those 
plans. 

STAGE 4: STRATEGIC DECISION MAKERS 
This stage is for decision makers to confirm that due 
regard has been given, for example executives and 
non-executive directors, board and committee 

By agreeing to this Integrated Assessment decision makers will show due regard. 

P
age 23



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 14  

members. They must be satisfied that the body has 
understood the evidence and likely impact, and has 
considered whether the policy can be changed to 
reduce inequality of outcome as a result of 
socioeconomic disadvantage. 
 

STAGE 5: EVIDENCING AND RECORDING ‘DUE 
REGARD’ 
This stage is the process of evidencing and recording 
how ‘due regard’ has been given. At this stage 
changes to the decision should be made and 
recorded. 
 

The Integrated Assessment will be recorded in the minutes of the Authority Board. 
A record will be sent to Welsh Government. 

 
 

6. Resource Implications   
 

Resource Please give details Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts? 

Financial Substantial additional financial resources 
will be needed to achieve the Management 
Plan missions – including extra resources 
for BBNPA and partners. 

+ A significant fundraising drive. 

The Public Services (Social 
Value) Act 2012:  Will this mean 
procurement over £172,514 
without using a recognised 
framework? 

No.  + No 

Staffing Consultation undertaken by existing staff. + Additional staffing will be needed to deliver the BBNPA 
contribution to achieving the missions. This will be set out 
in the Corporate Plan. 

 

7. Governance and Improvement 
 

 

P
age 24



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 15  

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details Positive (+) 
Negative (-) 
Neutral (N) 

What will be done to better contribute to 
positive or mitigate any negative impacts? 

Improvement: How will the decision be 
monitored and evaluated to lead to future 
improvements? 

The National Park Management Plan will give 
a clear sense of direction for BBNPA, and a 
framework for it to organise its work. 
This clarity will enable measuring, monitoring 
and evaluating the impact of BBNPA outputs 
against desired outcomes. Lessons about 
effectiveness and opportunities for 
improvement can be drawn in the context of 
clarity. 

+ A Corporate Plan and a set of partnership 
action plans will contribute to the ability to 
evaluate outputs and future improvement in 
policies and ways of working. 

Governance: Will the decision lead to 
improved governance?  

Yes. 
Good governance is only possible when an 
organisation has a clear vision and outcomes it 
is trying to achieve.  

+  Clear decision-making processes to 
accompany delivery plans. 

 An appropriate scheme of reporting 
to BBNPA members in relation to the 
Doughnut and missions.  

Privacy:  Will there be any implications for 
personal information relating to 
individuals. 

 N  

 

P
age 25



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 16  

8. What are the hazards and risks associated with this recommendation? 
Impact/ probability score: 1 = low, 2= medium, 3 = high 
Red = high risk (7-9) Amber = medium risk (4-6) Green = low risk (1-3) 
 

 

Description of 
hazard 
Hazard: 

something 
that could 
potentially 

cause harm. 

Impact if the hazard 
was fully realised 

(Severity 1-3) 

Probability of the 
hazard occurring 

without mitigation 
measures 

(Likelihood 1-3) 

Inherent Risk 
Risk without 
mitigation 
measures 

(Risk = impact x 
probability) 

Description of 
proposed mitigation 

measures 

Expected 
impact after 
mitigation 
measures 

(Severity 1-3) 

Probability of the risk 
occurring after mitigation 

measures 
(Likelihood 1-3) 

Residual risk: 
The remaining 
level of risk 
following the 
development 
and 
implementation 
of mitigation 
measures 

 
(Risk = impact x 

probability) 

Not fully 
achieving all 

of the 
missions 

3: High impact. 
The future wellbeing 
of people and nature 
in the National Park 

rests on the missions 
being achieved. 

3: High probability 
Not all the missions are 
likely to be achieved in 
full – this is a ‘moon-

shot’ approach. 

9 Key to success will be 
high quality: 

 Leadership 

 BBNPA 
organisational 
structure and 
management 

 Project 
management 

 Evidence base and 
monitoring 

 Fund raising 

 Stakeholder 
engagement 

 Public 
communications 

3: High impact. 
The missions 
would not be 

sufficiently 
ambitious if it 
would have a 
low impact to 
not achieve 

them. 

3: High probability 
BBNPA will organise itself 

to make every effort to 
achieve the missions 

through its own actions 
and through galvanising 
stakeholders, partners 
and the public. Success 

will also depend on 
factors outside BBNPA’s 

control or significant 
influence. 

The negative impact of 
low ambition on the 

future of the National 
Park makes a high-risk 

worth taking. 

9 

BBNPA 
reputational 

damage if the 
missions are 
not achieved 

2: Medium impact. 
If not communicated 

well BBNPA’s 
reputational damage 

could negatively 
impact on our ability 
to influence others 

1: Low probability 
Expectations will be 

relatively easily 
managed. 

2 Communications that 
manage expectations. 

1: Low impact. 
BBNPA 

reputation 
should be 

resilient and 
judged in terms 

of its 

1: Low probability 
Expectations will be 

relatively easily managed. 

1 

P
age 26



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 17  

including partners and 
donors. 

effectiveness, 
not just mission 

outcomes. 

Excessive 
BBNPA 

officers’ 
workload if 

resources do 
not match an 

increased 
workload. 

3: High impact. 
Negative impact on 

staff wellbeing could 
be significant if 
workload and 

resources are handled 
badly. 

2: Medium probability 
BBNPA is on track to be 
an organisation capable 
of scaling and skilling up 

to the task, but 
organisational change 

and fundraising often lag 
officers’ ambition to 

deliver outcomes. 

6  Project 
management and 
fundraising – 
sequenced 
appropriately. 

 Organisational 
leadership and 
management to 
shape healthy 
work culture. 

1: Low impact. 
An excessive 

workload over a 
short or 

medium period 
can have a low 
impact on staff 
if the working 

culture is 
healthy. 

1: Low probability 
Managing this risk will be 

a high priority of the 
Executive Board because 

it is critical to the 
wellbeing of BBNPA staff 

and therefore the 
functioning of the 

organisation. 

1 

Strained 
relations with 
or inaction by 
key potential 
partners that 
do not share 
the ambition 

of the 
Management 

Plan. 

3: High impact. 
Achieving the missions 

is dependant on 
partners acting as well 

as BBNPA. 

2: Medium probability 
Section 62(2) 

organisations are 
required to take into 
consideration similar 
laws and evidence to 

BBNPA, but leadership 
(including political 

leadership) can mean 
different approaches 

and levels of ambition. 
Relations with land 

owners and managers 
will be influenced by 

incentives from the new 
environmental land 

management scheme 
yet to be decided. 

6  Sharing evidence 
and analysis. 

 Clarity in 
articulating the 
case for the 
strategic 
approach. 

 Working together 
on projects that 
contribute to the 
missions even if 
partner 
organisations do 
not commit to the 
missions. 

 Fundraising to 
help build partner 
capacity as well as 
BBNPA. 

 Collegiate and 
professional 
working practices. 

2: Medium 
impact. 

The impact of 
inaction by one 
or other partner 
can be reduced 
by other strong 
partnerships to 

compensate. 

1: Low probability 
It will be possible to 

reduce the risk of this 
hazard through the 

mitigation measures 
proposed. 

3 

Does it have potential to impact on another service area? 

 
The recommendation has the potential to impact on all service areas. 

 

P
age 27



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 18  

 

. 
 

9. Is there additional evidence to support the Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIA)? 

 

What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 

Extensive research Evidence and Research | Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (beacons-npa.gov.uk) 
Drawing on extensive expertise of BBNPA officers, partners and stakeholders 
Extensive consultation with stakeholders 
 

 

10. Impact Assessment Summary and Judgement 
 

Outline Assessment (to be inserted in Committee Report)   

 
1. Adopting the National Park Management Plan would impact on BBNPA’s corporate goals 

The proposal is for corporate goals to be shaped by the principle of Doughnut Economics and the five missions in the Management Plan: 
Climate: Reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions across the Brecon Beacon National Park by 2035 
Water: Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful, water resources and water environments by 2030 
Nature: A Nature Positive National Park by 2030 
People: Living, working, visiting - safely, equitably and sustainably 
Place: Beautiful, thriving and sustainable places, celebrated for their cultural heritage, now and forever 

  
The recommendation is that, following extensive consultation about a range of options, this is the best way for the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority to meet its 
statutory purposes and duty: 
Purpose 1: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area. 
Purpose 2: To promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park by the public. 
Duty: To seek to foster the social and economic wellbeing of the local communities within the National Park in pursuit of our purposes 
And to respond to the requests of the Welsh Government in the remit letter of May 2022. 

 
2. The Management Plan sets the wellbeing goals of BBNPA, and will help achieve the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act goals 

The Management Plan missions are proposed to be the new BBNPA wellbeing goals. BBNPA’s contribution to achieving the missions will be our contribution to the 
wellbeing goals. 
 
The assessment shows the proposed Management Plan is strongly aligned to the WFGA and will make a strong contribution towards all seven Wellbeing Goals. 

  

P
age 28

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/evidence-and-research/


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 19  

Measures have been identified in the assessment to optimise the contribution. 

  
3. The Management Plan utilises the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act ways of working 

The assessment shows the proposed Management Plan has been developed using the WFGA five ways of working, and the strategic approach to delivery set out in the 
plan continues to align the Plan with the ways of working.  

  
Measures have been identified in the assessment to optimise the delivery in line with the five ways of working. 

  
4. The Management Plan will help advance the Welsh language 

The Welsh language and culture ambition in the Management Plan sets a clear direction. The assessment identifies how delivery can be optimised. 
  

5. The socio-economic duty has been fulfilled 

 

The Management Plan is designed in a way that is designed in a way to reduce the inequalities of outcome which result from socio-economic disadvantage. 

Measures have been identified to optimise delivery plans by involving people with lived experience in the development of the plans. 

6. Substantial additional resources will be needed 

The extraordinary jeopardy that faces the National Park, residents and visitors and the natural world we depend upon means the Plan is deliberately bold and 

ambitious – the aim is to articulate the outcomes needed and then to mobilise the resources needed, not to reduce our ambition to ever shrinking resources.  

  
7. Adopting the Management Plan will help strengthen governance and drive improvement 

The National Park Management Plan will give a clear sense of direction for BBNPA, and a framework for it to organise its work. This clarity will enable measuring, 
monitoring and evaluating the impact of BBNPA outputs against desired outcomes. Lessons about effectiveness and opportunities for improvement can be drawn in the 
context of clarity. 

  
8. Risks and mitigation measures have been identified  

The key risks identified are: 

 Not achieving the missions 

 BBNPA reputation if the missions are not achieved 

 BBNPA officers excessive workload if resources do not match an increased workload 

 Strained relations with/ inaction by key potential partners that do not share the ambition of the Management Plan 

These risks can be mitigated including by: 

P
age 29



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making 

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 20  

 Clarity in articulating the case for the strategic approach. 

 Communications that manage expectations 

 Sharing evidence and analysis. 

 Project management and fund raising sequenced appropriately 

 Stakeholder engagement 

 Fundraising to help build partner capacity as well as BBNPA. 

  
9. The Management Plan is based on extensive research and consultation 

The research and consultation are detailed in the Management Plan. 

 

P
age 30



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

1 
 

 

Template for a full equality impact assessment 
 
 

Name of the strategy, service or policy 
 

Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2023-
2028. 

 

Description of strategy, service or policy. 
 

A Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National 
Park setting out a long-term vision and outcomes over 
the next five years to be achieved by BBNPA and by 
partners and stakeholders. 
 
The Management Plan is the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority’s policy for the management of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park and for the carrying out of 
its functions in relation to the Brecon Beacons National 
Park in line with Section 66 of the Environment Act 
1995. 
 

 

Name, Job Title, Department and phone 
number of staff completing the 
assessment form 

Liz Hutchins 
Senior Policy Advisor 
07957145996 

 

Name and date of committee to which 
the report is being presented  

National Park Authority 16 December 2022. 

 

Step one: identify the strategy, policy or service aims 

What are the main aims, purposes and outcomes of the strategy, service or policy and how does it fit 
in with the wider aims of the Authority? 

 
The National Park Management Plan sets direction for the Brecon Beacons National Park the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority. 
It is also the Well-being Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority under the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act. 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/66 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/part/2/enacted 
 
 

OBJECTIVES 
(Statutory purposes 
and duty) 

OUTCOMES 
(As described by the Management Plan) 

We will conserve and The National Park will move towards operating within safe planetary 

Page 31

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/66
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/66
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/part/2/enacted


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

2 
 

 

enhance the natural 
beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage of 
the National Park. 
 

boundaries by 2028 including: 

 Climate Mission: Reaching net-zero greenhouse gas emissions 
across the Brecon Beacon National Park by 2035 

 Water mission: Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful, water resources 
and water environments by 2030 

 Nature mission: Being nature positive by 2030 
Cultural heritage of the National Park will be conserved and enhanced 
including through: 

 Place mission: Beautiful, thriving and sustainable places, 
celebrated for their cultural heritage now and forever. 

 People mission outcome: Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated 
as part of the rich tapestry of cultural lives of Wales.  There is an 
increased awareness and knowledge of the Welsh Language and 
culture amongst our residents and visitors.  Welsh language and 
culture is loved and valued by all regardless of level of language 
fluency. 

We will provide 
opportunities for 
understanding and 
enjoyment of the 
special qualities of 
the National Park. 

Place mission, BBNPA contribution: 

 The special places of the National Park - our Geopark, Dark Skies, 
World Heritage Site, Visitor Centres, places of importance for 
culture, heritage, recreation and protected environments - are 
managed to be inclusive, accessible and exemplars where nature 
and people connect and thrive together. 

We will seek to 
foster the economic 
and social well-being 
of local communities 
within the National 
Park. 

BBNPA will advance the economic and social well-being of local 
communities through our contribution the People mission: The people of 
the National Park will be able to meet their needs (health, economic, 
recreational and residential) whilst respecting and regenerating our 
environment. 
 

 

 

List the main activities of the strategy, service or policy (for strategies list the main policy areas) 

The Management Plan: 
1. Sets a vision for the Brecon Beacons National Park to operate within safe planetary 

boundaries and a social foundation, described by Doughnut Economics. 
2. Acts as Statement of ‘Special Qualities’. 
3. Sets well-being objectives for the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. 
4. Outlines five missions and associated objectives for the National Park: 

 Climate 

 Water 

 Nature 

 People 

 Place 
5. Outlines contributions the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority will make to achieving 

the missions and ambitions – which are also the BBNPA Wellbeing Goals. 
6. Outlines ways of working to achieve the missions and objectives.  

 

Who are the key stakeholders? 
 

Page 32



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

3 
 

 

Outside Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
 
Statutory:  

 Welsh Government 

 Natural Resources Wales 

 Cadw 

 Powys County Council 

 Monmouthshire County Council 

 Torfaen County Borough Council 

 Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 

 Caerphilly County Borough Council 

 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

 Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 

 Carmarthenshire County Council 

 South Wales Corporate Joint Committee 

 Mid Wales Corporate Joint Committee 

 Welsh Water 
 

 
Non-statutory:  

 Designation management groups (Geopark; Dark Skies Reserve; World Heritage Site). 

 Stakeholder reference panel 

 Citizens Assembly 

 Local Authority Members and representatives 

 Town and community councils 

 Non-governmental organisations incl. IUCN Atlantic Isles, Brecon Beacons National Park 
Society 

 

 

Who will be responsible for the strategy, service or policy and how will progress be measured? 

Although the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is responsible for writing the National Park 
Management Plan, it is intended as a shared plan for the National Park and achieved in partnership.  
 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority contribution is outlined in the Management Plan and will be 
detailed in the Corporate Plan. 
 
Outcomes will be measured in relation to the five missions and the National Park Doughnut.  
 
The outcomes will be published as part of the State of the Park Report, and online, and as part of the 
‘Wellbeing of Wales Report’ https://gov.wales/wellbeing-wales 
 

 

Step two: consider the data and research 

Page 33

https://gov.wales/wellbeing-wales


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

4 
 

 

What data is available to inform the impact assessment? 
 
Check available data research, studies, reports, audits, surveys, feedback etc., concerning  each 
equality target group (ethnicity, religion/belief, disability, gender, sexual orientation, age and welsh 
language. 
 

Age 
 

Stats Wales: Population estimates by National Park (latest data: mid-year 2020) 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/PopulationEstimates-by-Year-
NationalPark 
 

Disability 
 

Stats Wales (latest data: 2018-2020; data not available specifically for National 
Park areas) 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability 
 

Gender 
reassignment 
 

No statistics available 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/document/184239/info/ 
 

Marriage or civil 
partnership 
 

Census Table 2011: KS103EW (2021 data not released yet) 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopul
ationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornatio
nalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-
300733.xls 
 

Pregnancy 
 
 

Stats Wales: 2018-based sub national population projections 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Projections/National-Park/2018-
based/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-nationalpark-year 
 

Race 
 
 

Race: no data available. 
 
Ethnic Group Census 2021 (Data for England and Wales, not available for 
National Parks) 
Ethnic group, England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 
 

Religion / Belief 
 
 

Census 2021 (Data for England and Wales, not available for National Parks) 
Religion, England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 
 

Sex / Gender 
(including 
transgender) 

Stats Wales (2021 census data not released yet) 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park 
 

Sexual 
orientation 

Stats Wales (2021 census data not released yet) 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-
Orientation 
 
 

Welsh language (New census 2021 data due on 6 Dec 2022) 
 
Census 2011: Table KS207WA 

Page 34

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/PopulationEstimates-by-Year-NationalPark
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/PopulationEstimates-by-Year-NationalPark
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/PopulationEstimates-by-Year-NationalPark
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/document/184239/info/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/National-Park/2018-based/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-nationalpark-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/National-Park/2018-based/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-nationalpark-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/National-Park/2018-based/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-nationalpark-year
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/ethnicity/bulletins/ethnicgroupenglandandwales/census2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/religion/bulletins/religionenglandandwales/census2021
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

5 
 

 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopul
ationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornatio
nalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-
300733.xls 
 
Stats Wales 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language 
 

General Visitor information 2017.  
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Visitor-
Survey-Final-report-May-2017-English-.pdf  
 
Visitor Survey 2019 (Mid Wales and Brecon Beacons) 
Wales Visitor Survey 2019 UK Staying Visitors (gov.wales) 

 

Where, if any, are the gaps in the information required?  What reasons are there for any lack of 
information?  List the reasons below. 

Census data 
2021 data is being published over several months and only some is available now. 
 
Gender Reassignment data 
 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/document/184239/info/ 
“Data on transgender is currently unavailable in large scale surveys. Research has been undertaken 
by the Office for National Statistics to assess the feasibility of gathering transgender data. The 
conclusion was that asking a question in a survey is not the most appropriate method of data 
collection due to difficulties such as sample sizes, privacy and acceptability of terminology.” 
 
 

Is additional information required?  If yes, what is needed and how will it be carried out? 
 

 Post-covid visitor survey data. 

 

Step three: analysis of the strategy, service or policy 

Does or could the strategy, service or policy have any influence on 
any of the equality strands in relation to: 

 Promoting equality 

 Elimination discrimination 

 Achieving equality 

 
 

Yes 

 
 
No 

Age Yes  

Disability Yes  

Gender reassignment  No 

Marriage or civil partnership Yes  

Pregnancy Yes  

Page 35

https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=%2Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%2Fpopulationandmigration%2Fpopulationestimates%2Fdatasets%2Fkeystatisticsfornationalparksinenglandandwales%2Fcurrent/r23ewrtksnationalparksv2_tcm77-300733.xls
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Visitor-Survey-Final-report-May-2017-English-.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Visitor-Survey-Final-report-May-2017-English-.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2021-03/wales-visitor-survey-2019-uk-staying-visitors.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/document/184239/info/


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

6 
 

 

Race Yes  

Religion / Belief Yes  

Sex / Gender (including transgender) Yes  

Sexual orientation Yes  

Welsh language Yes  

 

Step four: assess the likely impact on equality 

Could the strategy, service or policy in the way it is planned / delivered have a negative impact on any of the 
equality target groups (i.e. it could disadvantage them) or could it have a positive impact on any of the 
groups, contribute to promoting equality, equal opportunities or improve relations? 
 

Group 
affected 

Positive 
impact 

Negative 
impact 

Reason 
 

Age 
 

Yes. No Social equity has been identified as a shortfall in the social 
foundation of the National Park (see National Park Doughnut). 
 
To address this in relation to age: 
 
The People mission includes: 

 Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will challenge and 
remove discrimination and barriers to participation wherever 
they may occur, creating a National Park where everyone can 
find opportunity and belonging. 

 Equity, diversity, inclusion BBNPA contribution: We will 
embed wellbeing in all that we do - we will prioritise equality, 
diversity and inclusion. We will ensure our policies and 
procedures are aligned with our priorities of sustainability, 
inclusion and supporting the local economy. 

 
Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographics, including age groups, to make sure 
their needs and wishes are heard, including through: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

Disability 
 

Yes. No Social equity has been identified as a shortfall in the social 
foundation of the National Park (see National Park Doughnut). 
 

Page 36



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

7 
 

 

To address discrimination or barriers to access in relation to 
disability, the Management Plan includes: 
 
The People mission includes: 

 Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will challenge and 
remove discrimination and barriers to participation wherever 
they may occur, creating a National Park where everyone can 
find opportunity and belonging. 

 Equity, diversity, inclusion BBNPA contribution: We will 
embed wellbeing in all that we do - we will prioritise equality, 
diversity and inclusion. We will ensure our policies and 
procedures are aligned with our priorities of sustainability, 
inclusion and supporting the local economy. 

 Access BBNPA contribution: We will strive to remove the 
social and physical barriers to participation. 

 
The Place missions includes BBNPA contribution: 

 We will ensure that the special places of the National Park - 
our Geopark, Dark Skies, World Heritage Site, Visitor Centres, 
places of importance for culture, heritage, recreation and 
protected environments - are managed to be inclusive, 
accessible and exemplars where nature and people connect 
and thrive together. 
 

Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographic groups, including disabled people, to 
make sure their needs and wishes are heard, including through: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

Gender 
reassignment 

N/A N/A N/A. See step 3. 

Marriage or 
civil 
partnership 
 
 
 

Yes. No To challenge discrimination on the basis of marriage or civil 

partnership, the Management Plan includes: 

 People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will 

challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to 

participation wherever they may occur, creating a National 

Park where everyone can find opportunity and belonging. 

 People mission sustainable businesses objective: There will 

Page 37



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

8 
 

 

be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a 

local sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon 

Beacons. 

Pregnancy 
 
 

Yes. No Gender equity has been identified as a shortfall in the social 
foundation of the National Park (see National Park Doughnut).  
 
To challenge discrimination against and barriers to pregnant women, 
the Management Plan includes: 
 

 People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will 

challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to 

participation wherever they may occur, creating a National 

Park where everyone can find opportunity and belonging. 

 People mission future skills and jobs ambition: The 

demographic mix of people living in the Park will have 

increased as a result of investment in rural skills for the 

future. 

 People mission future homes ambition: People who need to 

or want to live their lives here will be able to do so within 

their means.  There will be extensive protection against 

second and holiday homes where necessary.  For those who 

cannot afford market prices there will be low carbon 

community led housing options available. 

 People mission sustainable businesses objective: There will 

be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a 

local sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon 

Beacons. 

Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographics, including pregnant women or groups 
representing pregnant women can make sure their needs and wishes 
are heard, including through: 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

Race 
 
 

Yes. No The 2017 Visitor Survey (the latest Brecon Beacons data available) 
reported demographic characteristics of survey participants.  1.7% of 
respondents were from ‘any other ethnic group’ including Asian, 

Page 38



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

9 
 

 

Black African, Black Caribbean, Arab or multiple ethnic background. 
 
This means the National Park attracts a much smaller proportion of 
non-white people than is representative of the UK population. The 
2021 UK Census found that: 9.3% of people in the UK define as 
‘Asian, Asian British or Asian Welsh’; 6.2% identify as ‘white other’ 
2.5% identify as Black, Black British, Black Welsh, Caribbean or 
African: African; 1.6% identify as ‘any other ethnic group’. 
 
To address this, the Management Plan includes: 

 People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will 

challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to 

participation wherever they may occur, creating a National 

Park where everyone can find opportunity and belonging. 

 People mission future skills and jobs ambition: The 

demographic mix of people living in the Park will have 

increased as a result of investment in rural skills for the 

future. 

 People mission sustainable businesses objective: There will 

be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a 

local sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon 

Beacons. 

Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographics, including a range of ethnicities, to 
ensure their needs and wishes are heard, including through: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

Religion / 
Belief 
 
 

Yes. 
 

No National Parks, as areas of natural beauty for public recreation and 
happiness, support wellbeing and spirituality generally. 
 
To address discrimination on the basis of religion, the Management 
Plan includes: 

 People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will 

challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to 

participation wherever they may occur, creating a National 

Page 39



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

10 
 

 

Park where everyone can find opportunity and belonging. 

Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographics, including a range of religions, to ensure 
their needs and wishes are heard, including through: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

Sex / Gender 
(including 
transgender) 

Yes. No Gender equity has been identified as a shortfall in the social 
foundation of the National Park (see National Park Doughnut).  
To address discrimination or barriers to access in relation to sex and 
gender, the Management Plan includes: 
 

 People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will 

challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to 

participation wherever they may occur, creating a National 

Park where everyone can find opportunity and belonging. 

 People mission sustainable businesses objective: There will 

be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a 

local sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon 

Beacons. 

Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographics, including people of different sexes and 
genders will make sure their needs and wishes are heard, including 
through: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

Sexual 
orientation 

Yes. No To address discrimination or barriers to access in relation to sexual 
orientation, the Management Plan includes: 
 

Page 40



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

11 
 

 

 People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will 

challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to 

participation wherever they may occur, creating a National 

Park where everyone can find opportunity and belonging. 

 People mission future skills and jobs ambition: The 

demographic mix of people living in the Park will have 

increased as a result of investment in rural skills for the 

future. 

 People mission sustainable businesses objective: There will 

be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a 

local sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon 

Beacons. 

Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographics, including people of different sexual 
orientations will make sure their needs and wishes are heard, 
including through: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 
 

Welsh 
language 

Yes.  No In order to advance Welsh language in the National Park, the 
Management Plan includes: 
 
People mission objective: 

 Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated as part of the rich 
tapestry of cultural lives of Wales.  There is an increased 
awareness and knowledge of the Welsh Language and 
culture amongst our residents and visitors.  Welsh language 
and culture is loved and valued by all regardless of level of 
language fluency 

 
Delivery plans to achieve the Management Plan missions and 
objectives will be developed with the involvement of people from a 
wide range of demographics, including Welsh language speakers and 
learners to make sure their needs and wishes are heard, including 
through: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

Page 41



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

12 
 

 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

 

 

No negative impact identified. 

If you have indicated there is a negative impact 
on any group, is that impact: 

Yes No 

Lawful? i/e/ it is not discriminatory under anti-
discriminatory legislation 

 
 

 

Intended?   

Could you minimise or improve any negative impact? Explain how. 

 

 

Step five: consider the alternatives 

Can changes be made to the strategy, service or policy? 

The Management Plan Missions and objectives are recommended to be approved by BBNPA 
members on 16 December 2022. Changes are possible after that point by decision of BBNPA 
members. 
 

Can the strategy, service or policy be implemented in a different way? 
 

The National Park Management Plan describes desired outcomes in the form of missions and 
objectives. How those outcomes are achieved will be determined by partnership work and 
engagement with stakeholders and the public – so may be implemented in a wide number of ways. 

 

Is it possible to consider a different strategy, service or policy which still achieves your aim, but 
avoids any adverse impact? 

No adverse impact has been identified. 

 

Step six: involve and consult relevant stakeholders 

What previous or planned consultation on this strategy, service or policy has taken place / will take 

Page 42



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

13 
 

 

place with groups / individuals from equality target groups?  If there has already been consultation, 
what does it indicate about negative impacts and how people view this strategy, service or policy? 

Equalities target group Summary of function carried out or planned 
 

Age 
 

A range of consultation exercises have been carried out to develop 
Future Beacons – set out below. 
 

Summer 2020: Issues identification 
Targeted consultation with key stakeholders to review State of 
the Park data, identify issues and agree the development of a 
replacement Management Plan. 
 
Spring 2021: Vision and objectives 
Eight-week open consultation addressing the emerging vision 
and objectives of the Management Plan. Presentation of options 
at a range of stakeholder events. 
 
Summer 2021: Citizen and stakeholder involvement 
Development of two new bodies to support the development of 
the Management Plan: a Stakeholder Reference Panel 
comprising statutory bodies, and a Citizen’s Assembly comprised 
of self-selecting citizens. Both bodies take an active role in 
shaping the Management Plan. 
 
Winter 2021: Future Beacons Consultation 
Twelve-week consultation on draft Management Plan Future 
Beacons. Presentations at a range of stakeholder events. 
Written consultations sought. 
 
Spring 2022: Policy deep dives 
18 online workshops held looking at the form and content of the 
Future Beacons policy objectives. Workshops attended by a 
range of participants from academia, statutory bodies, citizens 
and eNGOs. 
 
Summer 2022: Staff involvement 
Focused on considering how BBNPA should contribute to 
achieving the missions. 
 
Autumn 2022: Stakeholder review 
Further consultation with the Stakeholder Reference Panel and 
a range of other experts prior to finalising. 

 
No demographic data was collected as part of the consultations, so we 
have no data about which equality target groups were consulted. The 
Stakeholder Reference Panel includes a wheelchair user. Women were 
at least half of the consultees. With some exceptions, consultees mostly 
represented organisations rather than their own personal lived 
experience. 
 

Disability 
 

Marriage or civil 
partnership 
 
 
 

Pregnancy 
 
 

Race 
 
 

Religion / Belief 
 
 

Sex / Gender (including 
transgender) 

Sexual orientation 

Welsh language 
 

Page 43



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

14 
 

 

No negative impacts on equality target groups were identified. 
 
Ideas to strengthen the Management Plan were identified during 
consultation that are now included in the document, including: 

 BBNPA policy: Ensuring our policies are aligned to equity, 
diversity and inclusion – a commitment to update policy. 

 Addressing ‘soft’ (cultural) as well as ‘hard (physical) barriers 
to access: We will challenge and remove discrimination and 
barriers to participation wherever they may occur, creating a 
National Park where everyone can find opportunity and 
belonging. 

 Welsh language: Being loved and valued by all regardless of 
level of language fluency – not just first language Welsh 
language speakers. 

Gender reassignment N/A 

 

If there are any gaps in your previous or planned consultation and research, are there any experts / 
relevant groups that can be contacted to get further views or evidence on this issue.  Please list 
them and explain how you will obtain their views. 
 

The Management Plan commits the BBNPA to Ensuring our policies are aligned to equity, diversity 
and inclusion. This policy and practice review and update will involve research about equity, diversity 
and inclusion in the National Park and will involve engaging a range of experts and relevant groups in 
the National Park and beyond. 
 
BBNPA will work closely with the newly appointed Welsh Designated Landscapes Inclusion, Diversity 
and Governance Excellence Strategic Lead to review our policy and practices to identify a range of 
stakeholders and stakeholder organisations to engage in this work. 
 
BBNPA is part of the newly formed Welsh Government Anti Racist Wales environment group to 
develop and share best practice in opposing racism. 
 
A Diversity Forum, later called a Community Forum, was developed and discussed the draft Plan. 
However, the body did not prove to be effective and alternative mechanisms are still needed to 
ensure long standing engagement with demographically diverse people including especially BAME 
people. 
 

Step seven: making the decision 

The following matrix may assist you to make the decision on whether to adopt the strategy, service 
or policy and what actions may be needed. 

 

What is the potential risk on the effect of equality? (Indicate one) 

 
Highly likely to have an adverse 

impact on equality 
May possibly have an adverse 

impact on equality 
Probably will not have an 

adverse effect 

Page 44



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

15 
 

 

 
High Risk 

 
 
 
 

 
Moderate Risk 

 
Low Risk 

Highly likely to promote 
equality of opportunity and 

good relations 
 

High Potential 
 
 
 
 

May have the potential to 
promote equality and good 

relations 
 

Moderate Potential 

Probably will not promote 
equality and good relations 

 
 

Low Potential 
 

Summarise the findings and give an overview on whether the function or policy will promote 
equality and diversity 
 

The Management Plan has a high likelihood to promote equality of opportunity and good relations 
because equity, diversity and inclusion is a central part of the vision for the National Park, and the 
mission objectives and the BBNPA contributions set out what success will look like. The challenge 
will be leveraging the resources to scale up delivery of equity, diversity and inclusion projects. 
 

 

  This 

This   

Page 45



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

16 
 

 

Step eight: equality impact assessment action plan 

Category Actions Target date Post responsible 
 

Practical changes required to reduce 
adverse impact 
 

No adverse impact identified. -  - 

Measures to improve access to / 
take up of services and 
understanding of the policy / 
strategy. 
 

Measures to improve access to/ take up of services will be the 
subject of delivery plans. 
 
The Management Plan will be launched including on a new 
accessible website and in person at accessible venues. 

Spring 2023 Head of 
Communications 

Dissemination of information on the 
EIA 
 

The Equality Impact Assessment will be published on the BBNPA 
website alongside the Management Plan. It will also be sent to the 
Stakeholder Reference Panel. 

Spring 2023 Strategy and Policy 
Manager 

Involvement and consultation 
 

Involving people with lived experiences, including from all the 
equality target groups is a priority for developing delivery plans. 
Forums will include: 

 A new Youth Council that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 A People’s Assembly that is demographically representative 
of Wales’ population 

 Holistic Place Planning involving demographically 
representative residents 

 Engaging active citizens groups including NGOs that 
represent different demographic groups 

 A Stakeholder Reference Panel including statutory bodies 
with a mandate to represent different demographics. 

 

2023-2028 Strategy and Policy 
Manager and 
Democratic Services 
Manager 

Assessment and analysis 
 

The Management Plan will be assessed in relation to the National 
Park Doughnut and missions and mission objectives. 

2028 Strategy and Policy 
Manager 

P
age 46



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

17 
 

 

Procurement and partnerships 
 

BBNPA will be guided by new Welsh Government procurement 
guidelines. 
Partnerships will be formed out of delivery plans, which will involve 
the voices of a demographically diverse range of people as set out 
above. 

2023-2028 
 
2023-2028 

Strategy and Policy 
Manager 

Monitoring, evaluating and 
reviewing (including publishing the 
results). 

Measuring, monitoring, evaluating and publishing details are to be 
defined alongside delivery plans. 

2023 Strategy and Policy 
Manager 

 

 

P
age 47



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Equality Impact Assessment form 
 
 

18 
 

 

Step nine: For the record 

Date EIA completed 
 

5 December 2022 
 

Signature of Manager 
 

Helen Lucocq 
 

Signature of Director 
 

Catherine Mealing-Jones 
 

 

Note for Directors: 
 
Directors must ensure that: 
 

 The policy, strategy or service has been informed by the outcome of the EIA 
 

 That you have gathered all relevant evidence and used any feedback from previous 
involvement / consultation and / or consulted and involved stakeholders 
 

 Have an action plan (if required) to reduce and (potential) adverse impact 
 

 

Page 48



FUTURE BANNAUFUTURE BANNAU
THE MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR THE MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR 

THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARKTHE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK

2023-20282023-2028
Page 49



FOREWORD
JULIE JAMES MS

MINISTER FOR 
CLIMATE CHANGE

On behalf of Welsh Government, I welcome Future Bannau - the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority Management Plan.

National Parks, together with Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, contain some of the most 
spectacular and dramatic areas of countryside in Wales. They are landscapes of national importance 
with designation conferring the highest status for the conservation of landscape. Millions of visitors 

enjoy these special qualities every year. 

National Parks have seldom been higher in the public and political consciousness. Green and wild 
spaces give people respite and opportunities to breathe freely. However they have also been placed 

under great pressure, and sadly abused by some.  We must enable visitors to have world-class 
experiences while ensuring the special qualities we seek to protect are not damaged. The interests of 

local communities, businesses and land managers must also be at the forefront of our minds. 

Balancing these interests and priorities requires genuinely collaborative approaches. National Park 
Management Plans must embody this approach to collaboration and co-production, within and 

increasingly outside of individual Park boundaries.

Unfortunately, none of Wales’ ecosystems are currently showing all the attributes of resilience. 
Overall, biological diversity is declining, and the extent of some habitats has also declined significantly. 
Our Biodiversity Deep Dive has set out ambitious recommendations in order for us to meet the 30 

by 30 target and National Parks will be intrinsic in helping take forward a number of key actions.

National Parks cover around 20% of Wales’s land area and are therefore critical partners in delivering 
a wide range of national and local priorities.

The vision set out in this Management Plan is for people and nature to work together for community 
wellbeing, for nature and carbon reduction, and in so doing to be an example for sustainable living 

beyond its boundaries. This very much reflects my own priorities for the Designated Landscapes 
family in Wales as a whole. We look forward to supporting the National Park Authority putting this 

bold vision into practice.

(c) Georgina Harper

1

P
age 50



Catherine Mealing-Jones
Chief Executive Officer

Brecon Beacons National Park 

I am proud to present Future Bannau the 
next Management Plan for the Brecon 
Beacons National Park.  It has been a 
long time in development, and I hope you 
will see in its pages the hard work and 
dedication of all those who have come 
together to formulate our shared plan for 
the future.  We are hugely grateful to every 
individual and organisation who has helped 
shape this vision, and pledged with us to 
make it work. 

The context for this plan is exceptionally 
challenging.  The need to respond to the 
climate and biodiversity crises is already 
urgent. The global economic context 
means National Parks need to work even 
harder to find fair solutions and to make 
sure these special places are accessible to 
everyone as places of refuge, community, 
and restoration.   As the organisation 
with responsibility for leading across the 
National Park, we must grapple with the 

existential implications posed by the 
prospect of moving beyond the warming 
threshold of 1.5 degrees and imagine a 
new future in tandem with planning for the 
practical implications for our way of life. 

Through our stewardship of the 520 
square miles of special and unique living 
landscape which make up the National 
Park, we can, as a small but important 
piece of the jigsaw, act as an exemplar 
which will inspire and enable others in the 
shared task of safeguarding our home - 
planet Earth. This Plan will guide us all for 
at least the next five years. It is therefore 
imperative that its objectives navigate us 
back to an existence which is in balance 
with the Earth’s scarce resources.  That 
is why the Plan is unashamedly ambitious.  
Our response is demanded by the 
underpinning evidence base sounding the 
siren call of a system in collapse which is 
simply too deafening to ignore. 

My experience since coming to the National 
Park in 2021 has underscored my determination 
to make a reality of my vision for a Park which 
is a vibrant example of sustainability. A Park that 
is environmentally resilient, and economically 
prosperous; which embraces change, that 
is open and welcoming to all who seek out 
connection to nature, beauty and adventure. I 
know that I am not alone in this vision. I have 
met, spoken with and visited many inspirational 
individuals and organisations, many of who 
we feature in this plan as our Ser y Bannau, 
stars of the Beacons.  Those partners, have in 
their action and deeds reiterated to me the 
urgency and necessity of this Plan, at this time 
in our history to drive home the message of 
sustainability in all that we do, for current and 
future generations. I am also determined that 
this plan helps individuals and organisations 
connect with the urgency of the issues we are 
facing.  

We have been really lucky to have worked 
with talented local artists, who have been able 
to make real the crisis using art and story, 
imagining what awaits us in the future if we do 
not deliver on this plan. I am deeply grateful for 

the thoughtful and extensive contributions 
and feedback we have received in developing 
Future Bannau, this has enriched our 
understanding and shaped our thinking.

 I particularly wish to thank all of those who 
took the time to write us postcards from 
the future they wanted, they have inspired 
us with their visions of hope.   As we now 
turn to delivery phase, turning these words 
into deeds, I hope that everyone who 
reads these pages finds hope in them. And, 
whether you are a statutory body with the 
duty of the Environment Act to address, an 
individual resident of the Park, or a visitor, 
that it enables you to find the resolve to 
take some action at whatever scale to help 
safeguard the Brecon Beacons for many 
generations to come. 

FOREWORD

FUTURE BANNAU2

P
age 51



Just as we are 
products of our 

environment, our 
environments are
also a product of 

us.

3

P
age 52



FUTURE BANNAU

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY

Future Bannau is the Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

Its publication fulfills the National Park Authority’s obligation under section 66(1) of the Environ-
ment Act 1995 to prepare and keep under review a Management Plan for the area.  

However, this plan, aims to be so much more than just the meeting of a statutory requirement.

It is a Plan which seeks to clearly and unashamedly articulate the need for wide spread and urgent 
change if we are to survive as a resource for future generations.  It is a plan which aims to inspire 
action and build a coalition of the willing to meet the ambition we raise for this wonderful place we 
call our home, the Park, Y Bannau, the Beacons.  

Our last Plan Managing Change Together was published in 2010, with the first review Putting wellbeing 
at the heart of the National Park completed and published in 2015.  Since this time there have been a 
number of shifts in the policy context in which the Plan operates, most notably the recognition by 
world leaders that we are facing a Climate Emergency and Biodiversity Crisis.  These factors alone 
signaled the need for a radical shift in policy making and action from that envisioned by plans of just 
five years ago.    This Plan is being published at a time when the world has lived through a global 
pandemic and emerged with renewed priorities for the future.  In those dark days of lock-down, 
days both tragic and terrible, we learned to reconnect with the natural world.  The spring had never 
felt so vibrant, bird song had never been so clear, we found solace in nature.  A theme that under-
pins all that this Plan entails.  The changing policy context and the complexity of the pandemic and 
its consequences, means that this plan is radically different from the Management Plans that have 
gone before.

Part of the Plan’s radical shift is the focus on the National Park as a 
holistic system that is under extreme stress.  We draw our inspiration 
from an economic model called ‘The Doughnut’ devised by Professor 
Kate Raworth to draw a stark illustration of the extent to which the 
Park is exceeding socio-economic and environmental sustainability.  

We are too carbon dependent; our biodiversity is in decline; water 
quality in some of our most beautiful rivers is hugely compromised; 
visitor levels have been busier than ever known; leading to traffic chaos 
in our communities; there is an unprecedented housing affordability 
crisis fueled by a desirable second home market, not to mention a health 
and social care crisis.  Most of our young people will leave the towns and 
villages of this Park and some will never come back despite their desire 

to - their human and social capital disappearing with them.  The 
demographic is shifting older and older as the years go by.  The 
Doughnut model helps us illustrate just how far the needle 
has to shift if we are to be successful in the implementation of 
our purposes and duty against these complex issues.

From this picture of the current state of the Park we can 
identify where concerted action across a range of stakeholders 
is necessary to bring about wholesale shifts from business-as- 
usual to a sustainable future.

• Shifts in land management, from extractive with high 
external costs to regenerative, sequestering carbon 
and co-existing with nature recovery and resilient 
ecosystems.  

• Shifts in transport systems from fossil fuel to renewables 
with a need to create  viable and sustainable  public 
transport and active travel options.

• Shifts in energy from fossil fuel to renewable products, 
focused on community and local heat and power 
networks.

• Shifts in housing provision to create more affordable 
options with increased standards of sustainability in 
design and operation.

• Shifts in our economy from extractive to circular and 
regenerative with emphasis on digital, new rural skills and 
green growth.

• Shifts in the way we manage citizen’s health and wellbeing 
from  a medical to a social model.  Providing preventative 
interventions deeply embedded in connecting people 
with the outdoors and nature

This Plan takes a Mission approach which looks to articulate 
the key focus needed for all our endeavors if we are to 
make these shifts a reality.  The missions focus on the big 
challenges for the Park.  Looking at our climate, our water 
environments, our natural environments, our people and 
(the point at which it all comes together) our places.  Each 
of these missions is underpinned by overarching objectives, 
for which we further articulate our ambition as a series of 
statements of outcome.

 These missions, set out overleaf, and the objectives that 
support them  have been developed in collaboration with 
our key partners.  Further work will be needed to develop 
the action plans necessary to bring them to fruition.

4

P
age 53



FUTURE BANNAU

FIVE INTER-CONNECTED MISSIONS

CLIMATE
Reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions across the

Brecon Beacon National Park by 2035. 

WATER
Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful water resources and 

water environments by 2030.

NATURE
Nature positive Brecon Beacons National Park by 

2030.

PEOPLE
Living, working, visiting safely,equitably and 

sustainably.

PLACE
Beautiful, thriving and sustainable places.  Celebrated 

for their natural and cultural heritage, now and 
forever.

CLIMATE

WATER

NATURE

PEOPLE

PLACE

M
IS

SIO
N FU

TURE BEACONS    

 
 

WHERE NATURE AND COMMUNITY
 TH

RI
VE

 

WHERE NATURE AND COMMUNITY
 TH

RI
VE

 

5

P
age 54



CHAPTER PAGE NUMBER

1 Introduction ...............................................7

2 Special Qualities ..............................................11

3 The Management Plan ..............................................25

4 Issues ..............................................36

5 Vision ..............................................46

6 Mission Approach ..............................................51

7 Climate Mission ..............................................60

8 Water Mission ..............................................71

9 Nature Mission ..............................................82

10 People Mission ..............................................93

11 Place Mission .............................................104

12 Our Partners .............................................115

13 Monitoring the Plan TO FOLLOW MARCH

APPENDICES .............................................136

contents

FUTURE BANNAU

P
age 55



A NATIONAL PARK 

THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL 
PARK is one of a family of fifteen National 
Parks in the UK, and three in Wales.  It is 
the National Park Authority’s job to ensure 
that the landscapes in our care are managed 
sustainably for the quiet enjoyment of all.

National Parks are in a true and full sense 
a National resource.  This does not mean 
that local interests are disregarded, far from 
it.  rather it means that the value of the 
environment and the benefits it brings for 
peoples health and happiness is something 
that is protected for the benefit of the all.  
As John Dower, the architect of the creation 
of National Parks in the UK stated of their 
value in 1945:-

National Parks are not for any privileged or 
otherwise restricted section of the population, 
but for all who care to refresh their minds and 
bodies in a peaceful setting of natural beauty. 

This founding ethos remains central to 
the work of the organisation and frames 
development of policy for the future 
management of the National Park.

The Brecon Beacons recieved formal 
designation as a National Park in 1957 The 
boundary covers some 520 square miles of 
beautiful countryside. The border extends 
from the rural heart-land of Mid Wales in 
the north to the post-industrial ex-mining 
communities of the South Wales Valleys. 
From east to west the Park spans from the 
Marches to the fringes of Llandeilo.  At last 
count, the Park was home to about 33,000 
people.

The National Park Authority is the 
organisation which is charged by law to look 
after the rich and special landscapes of the 
National Park.  The National Park Authority 
has two special purposes enshrined in the 
Environment Act (1995) (see text box over).  
The law also says that in carrying out our 
purposes the organisation  must also ensure 
that no social or economic harm comes to 
the people who live in the Park.  This is called 
our Duty.  In circumstances where the first 
purpose and second purpose are in direct 
conflict, the Sandford Principle sets out 
that first purpose takes precedence.  

the BRECON 
BEACONS

NATIONAL PARK PURPOSES AND DUTY

Purpose 1: To conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 

National Park;  and

Purpose 2: To promote opportunities for the public 
understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities of the National Park

Duty: to seek to foster the economic and social 
wellbeing of local communities within the National 

Park.

FUTURE BANNAU7

P
age 56



not just a NATIONAL PARK 
THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK is also proud to be host to a range of other 
nationally and internally important designations.  These designations recognise the significance 
of the Park in specific areas, offering us further protection and opportunities to tell the story of 
the Park.

GEOPARK

The Fforest Fawr UNESCO global 
geopark, the park within the Park, covers 
the western half of the National Park, 
stretching from Llandovery in the North 
to Merthyr Tydfil in the South and Lland-
eilo in the west to Brecon in the east.  A 
cracked and crumpled layer-cake of rocks, 
470 million years in the making.   

Designated a UNESCO Global Geopark 
in 2015, Fforst Fawr is one of over 150 
geoparks world wide, recognised by UN-
ESCO for their distinctive geology.  The 
geopark celebrates the area’s history and 
how geology bears on the history, archae-
ology, natural and human life of the area.  
 
UNESCO Global Geopark status provides 
a high-profile platform for broadening 
understanding and deepening the connec-
tions people have with landscapes and the 
story of carbon, whilst providing oppor-
tunities to improve health and wellbeing 
alongside socio-economic benefits.
 
It explains how geodiversity underpins 
biodiversity, giving rise to a variety of soil 
types and the habitats which arise from 
that diversity, and provided the basis for 
human exploitation of mineral wealth and 
the communities and culture which arose 
from this activity. 
 
The Geopark offers a unique opportuni-
ty for looking back in time, helping us to 
understand how issues we are addressing 
today arose and offering insights into our 

future relationship with the land. It ex-
plains why places are where they are, their 
identity and unique sense of place in both 
built and natural heritage.

It provides a platform through which part-
ners and communities can be engaged with 
our shared natural and cultural history, 
and a delivery mechanism for tourism-led 
regeneration along the Park’s southern 
fringe. 
 
The Geopark celebrates industrial lega-
cy, makes connections across landscapes 
beyond the Park’s boundaries, and uses its 
international status to bring about social, 
economic and ecological benefits. 
 
It enables the celebration of the area’s 
industrial legacy, make connections across 
the landscape, beyond the Park’s boundar-
ies and using the Geopark’s international 
status, bring about social, economic and 
ecological benefits.

INTERNATIONAL DARK SKIES 
RESERVE

The International Dark Skies Reserve was 
awarded in 2012.   This international award, 
makes us one of only a handful of areas in 
the world, which are recognised for the 
quality of our dark skies. and night time 
environment.

Our Dark Skies are relatively unique in 
an increasingly urbanised world where 
light pollution dominates. The IDSR status 
allows us to put into place measures 
to prevent the spread of light pollution 
into the National Park to conserve and 
enhance our special qualities of darkness 
and tranquility.  We champion these fas a 
precious resource, providing opportunities 
for quiet and deep reflection connecting 
the individual to the wonders of the 
universe. Through this highly prestigious 
status, we hope to preserve our magical 
night skies for future generations. 

The reserve status also has significant 
economic value to the National Park.  
Creating a mechanism to attract staying 
visitors through stargazing events and 
promotion.    We also utilise the status to 
draw attention to the impacts of human 
activity on our environment and our 
climate, through the dark skies benefit to 
nocturnal wildlife and carbon saving from 
switching off the lights.

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE 
SITE

The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape was 
inscribed as a United Nations  
Educational, Scientific and Cultural 
Organisation (UNESCO) World Heritage 
site in November 2000.  As noted in the 
designation

the area around Blaenavon is evidence of the 
pre-eminance of South Wales as the worlds’ 
major produce of iron and coal in the 19th 
century.  All the necessary elements can 
still be seen - coal and or mines, quarries, a 
primitave railway system, furnaces, worker’s 
homes and social infrastructure of their 
community 

The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape and 
its surrounding area is one of the most 
significant examples of industrial growth 
during and after the Industrial Revolution.  
For this reason, it serves as an exemplar 
and gateway to the wider Heads of the 
Valleys area, which collectively fuelled the 
fires of development for Great Britain and 
beyond during this era.

Today the WHS provides an opportunity 
to connect our community and visitors 
with the global legacy of our history.   A 
significant educational resource that 
provides links between the area, the 
Anthropocene and the shift beyond 
carbon in the future.

(c
) 

Pe
te

r 
Fr

y 
A

R
PS

(c) Peter Fry A
R

PS

(c
) T

im
 Jo

ne
s

FUTURE BANNAU8

P
age 57



not just for THE AUTHORITY
THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY is the organisation that is given statutory responsibility 
to protect the area of the National Park and implement the Purposes and Duty, but we are not 
alone in this endeavor.  

All public bodies which act within the National Park, must in accordance with the law, have 
due regard to National Park Purposes and Duty in carrying out their functions both within the 
National Park and where this activity may impact the National Park.  This requirement is set 
out in Section 62(2) of the Environment Act 1995.  It means that the requirement to protect 
the assets of the National Park, in the public interest, is a shared responsibility and one that we 
collectively deliver.

Those public bodies which share this obligation, we often refer to as Section 62(2) bodies 
(referencing the clause of the Act that places this duty upon them), some of which are listed 
below:-

Natural Resources Wales (NRW)
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW)
Town and Community Councils within and bordering the Park
Powys County Council
Monmouthshire County Council
Carmarthenshire County Council
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Blaeunau Gwent County Borough Council
Torfaen County Borough Council
Rhondda Cynnon Taff County Borough Council
CaerphillyCounty Borough Council
Neath Port Talbot County Boruogh Council
Herefordshire County Council
Powys Public Service Board
Carmarthenshire Public Service Board
Gwent Public Service Board
South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee
South East Wales Corporate Joint Committee
Mid Wales Corporate Joint Committee
Constituent Health Boards
Constituent Police Services
Constituent Fire and Rescue Services
Any Office of the Crown 
Any statutory undertaker

FUTURE BANNAU9

P
age 58



A postcard from the future 

Its the 26th of August 2047, and I’ve cycled here, to the Park. I enjoyed the active feeling this exercise gave me, as I 
tackled the hills. It was great, as I passed many other cyclists, enjoying the
fresh air and exercise.

As I listen, I hear birds calling, the wind gently rustling the leaves of the trees, scuttling
as small mammals run through the undergrowth. A curlew calls in the distance.
Pollinators hum around quietly going about their business.

It smells fresh, the air smells clean, wild flowers from the nearby meadows and
hedgerows are going to seed, but there is still a hint of their scent. Soon, once the
flowers have set seed, the smell of freshly cut grass will fill the air.

I stand still, the wind gently moves my hair, the warmth of late summer sunlight warms my skin, it
is not too hot, just warm enough.

I notice an acorn on the ground. A bit early perhaps, but it symbolizes regeneration and
sustainability to me. It is nice to think that this acorn could grow into an ancient tree,
many years into the future, providing habitat for so many species.

I feel calm, relaxed, free, yet I feel motivated by the atmosphere. The wildlife
encourages me. It is inspirational to see this landscape, where people and nature, from
all backgrounds collaborate and co-exist in harmony and respect.

I write to you, my past self, with these things I have learned....

Nature has the ability to recover, we just need to work together, explain the importance
of collaboration. Don’t be afraid to act, to think big. Nature will recover, the work will
pay off. You can do this, see everything as an opportunity to improve the planet and this
National Park. Good luck!

Ellen
Defynnog
Age (in 2022) 15

10
Page 59



SP
E

C
IA

L Q
U

A
LIT

IE
S

11
Page 60



All UK National Parks are special and beautiful landscapes 
designated for their intrinsic value to the nation. 
 
Each National Park has a unique character and a key role of 
any National Park Management Plan is to define the essence 
of the place that makes it special and appealing, and worthy of 
protection. These are known as the Park’s ‘special qualities’ and 
form the key of the designation. 
 
The Brecon Beacons National Park has ten defined special 
qualities grouped around landscape, community, experiences 
and wildlife.
 
Because these special qualities are often felt rather than 
rationally processed through statements of policy, we have 
asked local poets and artist to respond to the special qualities, 
to help speak to the emotive sense of what makes the Park 
special.  

WHAT 
MAKES 
THE 
Park
SPECIAL

All National Parks, in the UK and indeed across the world are 
valued for the ‘beauty’ of their landscape, in Welsh we call this 
Tir Lun.  Although Natural Beauty is a term that is used often 
when talking about National Parks and landscapes, it is often 
very narrowly thought of as simply the picturesque, which in 
turn gives a generalised perception that National Parks exist to 
preserve the way an area looks, rather than also considering its 
underlying function.

Future Bannau takes a much broader definition of natural 
beauty (see box over) one which encompasses a wide range 
of elements such as the presence of wildlife, cultural and 
heritage dimensions and perceptional elements not easily 
put into words.  We also identify that our landscape is not 
‘natural’ in the correct sense of the word.  Our landscape 
has been shaped and nurtured by people over millennia 
resulting in a landscape that owes its appearance to multiple 
human influences over millennia, including forest clearances, 
land enclosure, agriculture, drainage, forestry, Christianity, 
settlements and water abstraction.    

Our special qualities have been defined so as to give 
voice to every element of our Natural Beauty.  We 
define these here to ensure that everyone understands  
what makes the Park so very special and worthy of 
national protection.

TIR LUN
natural
beauty

“Natural beauty”, when used both generally and specifically as in the 
1949 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act and other 
legislation, is a complex and multifaceted concept that is concerned 

with landscape in its broadest sense.  It relates primarily to unspoiled, 
but not  necessarily extensive, rural landscapes that are largely free 

from the effects of disfiguring development or urbanisation.  Although 
the legislation makes clear that it includes flora, fauna, geological and 
physiographic features, it applies not only to landscapes where nature 
is dominant but also to those which have been shaped and nurtured 
by human activities. People perceive and appreciate “natural beauty” 
through all their senses, responding to many different aspects of the 

landscape, including its distinctive character its aesthetic qualities, 
the presence of wildlife, its cultural and historical dimensions and its 

perceptual qualities such as, for example, tranquility, remoteness and a 
sense of freedom. Perceptions of, and preferences for “natural beauty” 
are informed by people’s personal characteristics, cultural backgrounds 
and individual interests. “Natural beauty” occurs, to varying degrees, in 
many, though by no means all landscapes. Some places may, however, be 
judged to display “natural beauty” to an outstanding degree and may as 

a result be recognised as warranting a national level of protection 

A Statement on Natural Beauty
Countryside Council for Wales 2006

See appendix 2 for full statement

-03

FUTURE BEACONS12

P
age 61



Special 
landScapeS

13

P
age 62



Sweeping grandeur and outstanding 
natural beauty

The National Park’s sweeping grandeur and 
outstanding natural beauty observed across a 

variety of harmoniously connected landscapes, 
including marvelous gorges and waterfalls, 

classic karst geology with limestone pavement, 
caves and sink holes, contrasting glacial 

landforms such as cliffs and broad valleys 
carved from old red sandstone and prominent 

hilltops with extensive views in all directions. 
A landscape that provides a sense of time 

depth and timelessness.   

special landscapes

Contrasting patterns, colours and 
textures

A working, living “patchwork” of 
contrasting patterns, colours and 

textures comprising well-maintained 
farmed landscapes, open uplands, lakes 

and meandering rivers, punctuated 
by small-scale woodlands, country 

lanes, hedgerows and stone walls and 
scattered settlements. grouped around 
landscape, community, experiences and 

wildlife.
 

Rugged, remote and challenging
In the context of the UK, 

geographically rugged, remote and 
challenging landscapes..

-07

FUTURE BEACONS14

P
age 63



-09

FUTURE BEACONS

Mountain Song
 
 
A damp wind off the cliff-edge 
is music dismantled; low, chill 
on limestone. 
 
 
 
 
where back and forth on the Skirrid
a shadow goes loping forever
hugging mud to its heart. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
in the first of the swelling light. 
A sheep pauses mid-mouthful,
coat pearled with dew.
 
 
 
 
 
unravelling to smoke 
but still moving
like those brilliant glaciers

Natalie Ann Holborrow

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Y Mynydd Du 
in monochrome, its valleys

spreading like curtains 
 
 
 

 
A poem is a river unbraided. 

Here, in the bone-cold air
a waterfall quietly unstitches itself

 
 
 
 
 
 

Clouds sag, full as muslin.
It is for this they push on,

veiling the hillsides,
 

 
 

shunting back into winter
or the throat of the red wind opening,

shaking the church bells awake. 
 

O
rig

in
al

 a
rt

w
or

k 
by

 C
la

ris
sa

 K
at

e 
Pr

ice
 A

rt

15

P
age 64



Special 
communitieS

16

P
age 65



Sense of place and cultural identity
A sense of place and cultural identity - 

“Welshness” - characterised by the indigenous 
Welsh language, religious and spiritual 

connections, unique customs and events, 
traditional foods and crafts, relatively unspoilt 

historic towns and villages, family farms 
and continued practices of traditional skills 

developed by local inhabitants to live and earn 
a living here, such as common land practices 

and grazing.

special communities

Intimate sense of community
An intimate sense of community 
where small, pastoral towns and 

villages are comparatively safe, friendly, 
welcoming and retain a spirit of 

cooperation.

-013

FUTURE BEACONS17

P
age 66



-015

FUTURE BEACONS

Rare Earths
 
You hear it said sometimes I went there once
I was young coming over the heads of the valleys,
the hills elephants lurching to their knees,
bracken shoulders rubbing smooth posts of sky 
as strappers do, leaving white scrags of cloud 
on old wire to show their children good routes.
Snow bones on ridges in spring are waiting
for their butties. Hill farmers speak little but 
sometimes you will read love in our eye lines 
as the winds do. Our animals are known 
generations. Their paths we made together.
Our life titles are person and farm name;
Emrys the Revel, Betty Cwmffrwd and 
Glyn Tesau, Davies Cilfaenor – like ships. 
It rains crows on posts, cardinal beetles, 
black screes, sandstone, globe-blue air, hedges 
of dew, nettles and twine, rivers of vetch.
None of this country is not free. It does 
always endure. None of its tides or sweet 
mulling nights do not return. You will see. 
 
 
  
Horatio Clare

O
rig

in
al

 a
rt

w
or

k 
by

 C
la

ris
sa

 K
at

e 
Pr

ice
 A

rt

18

P
age 67



Special 
experienceS

19

P
age 68



Enjoyable and accessible
 Enjoyable and accessible countryside 
with extensive, widespread and varied 

opportunities to pursue walking, cycling, 
fishing, water-based activities and other forms 

of sustainable recreation or relaxation.

special experiences

Sounds, sights, smells and tastes
A feeling of vitality and wellbeing that 

comes from enjoying the National Park’s 
fresh air, clean water, rural setting, open 

land and locally produced foods.

Sense of discovery
A sense of discovery where people explore 

the National Park’s hidden secrets and stories 
such as genealogical histories, prehistoric 

ritual sites, relic medieval rural settlements, 
early industrial sites, local myths and 

legends and geological treasures from time 
immemorial.

Peace, tranquillity and darkness
A National Park offering, dark, night 

time skies, peace and tranquility with 
opportunities for quiet enjoyment, 

inspiration, relaxation and spiritual renewal.

-019

FUTURE BEACONS20

P
age 69



-021

FUTURE BEACONS

Living Beacons
 
 
Enter this space, at cloud pace.
Smooth your footsteps into 
the valley. On the old paths,
those cold paths – where drovers 
whistled-in and wandered their cattle. 
Carving their ways into the landscape.
 
Roll in, on a two-wheeled thing. 
A downhill spin of track and trail. 
Through summer’s sunbeam, winter’s hail. 
No two days are the same. 
 
Listen-in, to nature’s happenings. 
Mountains flex and stretch their 
deep time into sky. Nearby, a spring 
is bubbling onto land, into light.
Some kind of birth, re-birth. 
 
There are stars multiplying above
hill and heather. Sprinkling themselves
upon lake, and melting in the mood
and movement of river. 
 
You could be swallowed-up here. 
Pinned by the weight of stillness. In every 
empty thing, there is life, living. 
Dance on, like the wind, like all the wild 
things that welcome you. 
 
 
 
Alex Wharton

O
rig

in
al

 a
rt

w
or

k 
by

 C
la

ris
sa

 K
at

e 
Pr

ice
 A

rt

21

P
age 70



Special 
nature

22

P
age 71



special nature

Mosaic of diversity
The geology and climate vary greatly across the Park creating 

an elaborate patchwork landscape rich in biodiversity. The Park 
hosts heathlands, grasslands and woodlands, with uplands and 

lowlands, natural lakes and riparian habitats. The Park contains 
limestone pavement and blanket bogs of international and 

national importance. Several endangered species survive in the 
Park, including some for which the Park is their furthest extent 

of their natural range.

Living Landscape
An abundance of wildlife thrives in semi-natural habitats that 

have been lived in and shaped by human settlement for millennia. 
The landscape is interlaced with ancient hedgerows bustling 

with life, enclosing wildlife-rich hay meadows, and primeval 
woodlands that cloak some steep-sided valleys.  Veteran trees 

adorn the landscape, carrying the scars of centuries of changing 
dependency on their resources. Heather-dominated uplands 
maintained through grazing by horses, sheep and cattle are a 

testament to the intimate relationship between biodiversity and 
farming.

-025

FUTURE BEACONS23

P
age 72



-027

FUTURE BEACONS

As the Kingfisher Flies
 
 
As the kingfisher flies, all time is caught in a flash, right now, its turquoise brilliance is immediate
— and fleeting — for the kingfisher, local phoenix, shines blue only
when its feathers are touched by sunlight.
 
As the kite flies, all time is slowed in an ancient arc,
the wheeling of aeons in its wings, its glide basks in the air even after
the kite has swung further off, and always so.
 
As the kingfisher sees it, bird of the rivers, there are memory pools,
sweet and sudden, golden sun on the Usk at evening,
water purling pure round circles in the sandstone.
 
As the kite sees it, bird of the hills, the mountains are stoop-shouldered, slow as myth,
making humans seem like minnows, so one lifetime is just
a glimpse, a blink in their long-sighted horizons
 
Wherever you are in the Beacons, your eyes are drawn to the hills,
the sweep of clear austere lines and your ears hear the authority of the older language,
hefted to Cymraeg as sheep are hefted to their hill.
 
If the hills are old, the rivers are always new, drawing young children and sleekened otters
playful as the Usk is young or the Monnow;
named in Cymrawg Myn-wy, ‘swift water’: quickwater fit for a kingfisher’s speed
 
Between the kingfisher and the kite you can hear your way among the trees:
here the light and leafy ash, its soft feathers whispering the wind;
there the heavier patois of oak, leaves like leather.
 
In the woodlands, the tiny look-at-me flowers, lesser celandine, wood anenome and saxifrage
and everywhere, the chlorophyll, crazy for the sun, greening, grinning,
turning light to life like child’s play.
 
After the kingfisher and the kite unwing for the night, come
the bats and moths, the badgers, the nightjars, and the owls.
The river night-smiles for miles as it navigates by the stars.
 
On the high hills by night, when the moon is within touching distance, a little bit of stardust,
taking for a moment human form, lies on her back and gazes up
 
 
By Jay Griffiths

O
rig

in
al

 a
rt

w
or

k 
by

 C
la

ris
sa

 K
at

e 
Pr

ice
 A

rt

24

P
age 73



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

th
e 

PL
A

N
th

e 
PL

A
N

25
Page 74



INTRODUCING THE NATIONAL 
PARK MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Future Bannau is the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s 
statutory Management Plan for the period 2023 to 2028 but it’s 

vision extends 25 years to 2048. 

It sets out five bold missions to shape the future of the National 
Park and is an invitation to other organisations and individuals to 

collaborate in making that future a reality.
 

A Plan for the geographic area of the National Park it is critical in 
galvanising the action needed to respond to the climate, nature 
and wellbeing crises, and to maintain the National Park’s special 

qualities for this and future generations.The management plan 
for y Brecon BeaconS national park area

26

P
age 75



The National Park Authority is required by section 66(1) of the 1995 Environment 
Act to prepare and keep under review a Management Plan for their area.

 
The Management Plan should set out how the purposes and duty of the National Park 
(our statutory objectives) will be met within the geographic area of the Plan. The Plan 

is produced by the National Park Authority however it is developed in consultation  
with a range of stakeholders with the aim of defining a shared vision for the area.

PREVIOUS MANAGEMENT PLANS

The last Plan Managing Change Together was published in 2010, the first review 
completed and published in 2015 Putting wellbeing at the heart of the National Park. 

 
Since then there have been very significant shifts in the  context in which the Plan 

operates, most notably the recognition by world leaders that we are facing a climate 
emergency and biodiversity crisis. The world has also experienced the corona virus 

pandemic and the UK is facing a cost-of-living crisis.
 
 
 

THE ROLE OF the 
MANAGEMENT 
PLAN 

A PLAN FOR THE BRECON BEACONS
 The Management Plan is not just a Plan for the National Park Authority and it’s staff, 
moreover, the task of managing  the Beacons is not for the National Park Authority 

alone. It is a shared task undertaken by all those who live, work and/or have some 
statutory obligation to the area.  For some this is a legal obligation in accordance 

with S62(2) of the Environment Act 1995, for others it is a voluntary arrangement 
undertaken in recognition of the value of the area for nature and people.  The 

Management Plan is the key document which co-ordinates this collaborative task, to 
ensure that our collective action is done so as to deliver on our purposes and duty. 

and to conserve this area for the benefit of future generations.

To this end, Future Bannau, the Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons (Bannau 
Brycheiniog) National Park is a plan of national significance and must be taken into 

consideration in the development of other statutory documents, such as Local 
Development Plans, Strategic Development Plans and other plans, programmes and 

policies which could have a bearing on the National Park and it’s special qualities.

FUTURE BANNAU27

P
age 76



a plan Shaped By 
national policy

The National Park Management Plan is shaped by a range of national 
legislation, policies and guidance that helps us align the future of 

the Brecon Beacons National Park with the future of Wales, whilst 
maintaining special qualities that are unique to the local area.

 

28

P
age 77



ENVIRONMENT 
(WALES) ACT 

2016

Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016
places a duty on the National Park Authority as a public
body to seek to maintain and enhance
biodiversity in the exercise of its functions in
relation to the National Park area, and in so doing 
promote the resilience of ecosystems.

AREA 
STATEMENTS

Area Statements produced by Natural Resources
Wales in accordance with their duties under the
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, set out a strategy
for the better management of Natural Resources
for the benefit of future generations. As the name
suggests, the statements are based on spatial areas.
There are seven covering Wales, of which four
cover the National Park area.
• South East Wales
• South Central Wales
• South West Wales
• Mid Wales                         

STATE OF 
NATURAL 

RESOURCES
REPORT (2020) 

(SONARR)

Natural Resources Wales must prepare and publish 
a report containing an assessment of the state of 
Natural Resources in Wales (SoNaRR). SoNaRR is 
a key document in the preparation of National Park 
Management Plans. The most recent SoNaRR highlights 
the need for public sectors to leverage change to tackle 
the nature and climate emergencies using transformative 
change across ecosystem, economic and social systems.

WelSh 
goVernment 

prioritieS 
for national 

parkS in WaleS

In May 2022 the Welsh Government wrote to the three 
Welsh National Park Authorities setting out how it 
sees the Authorities working to deliver their Purposes 
and Duty.   This Term of Government Remit Letter for 
the National Park Authorities in Wales includes a range 
of measures and in particular it asks Welsh National 
Park Authorities to align their work with the Welsh 
Government’s Well-being objectives and says:
 
In particular, I want to see National Parks become exemplars 
in responding to the climate and nature emergency. You are 
uniquely placed to engage with the communities within your 
boundaries to develop solution which deliver benefits for 
people and the environment. 
                         

WELL-BEING 
OF FUTURE 

GENERATIONS 
ACT (2015)

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
is ground-breaking Welsh legislation that defines a series 
of well-being goals  for the nation, and requires public 
bodies to embed these goals into their own objective 
setting and policy making. 
 
The Act also ensures that policy documents such as this 
one, are produced collaboratively and integrate across 
the range of public service providers.
 
The Management Plan forms the statutory Well-being 
Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park. 
                         

Please see appendix 1 of this document for further detail of the policy and legislative 
context.

29

P
age 78

https://gov.wales/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter
https://gov.wales/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter


FUTURE BANNAU

a gloBally 
reSponSiBle 

plan

The Well-being of Future Generations Act includes the 
goal to become ‘globally responsible’ to create “a nation 
which, when doing anything to improve the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, 
takes account of whether doing such a thing may make a 
positive contribution to global well-being”.
 
Our objective in implementing the National Park’s 
statutory purposes and duty is to contribute positively 
to this globally responsible well-being goal, and to avoid 
actions that could be to the detriment of the global 
environment, society and economy.

Talking about the National Park as globally responsible 
may be thought of by some that we are acting beyond 
our remit and that our priority should be to focus 
on local responsibilities first and foremost.   Whilst of 
course we should and do take action on the local level, 
we emphasize that the National Park exists within a 
global context within economic, social and environmental 
systems under extreme stress.    Our actions on the 
local level impact on those systems, both directly and 
indirectly. It is no good thinking solely about how our 
purposes and duty apply here in the National Park if, for 
example, our visitor economy is taking an unfair share of 
global carbon, contributing to climate change, inflating the 
housing market beyond local wages causing outmigration 
and service pressures in already deprived areas on our 
periphery. 

Local action has global impacts and vice versa.

 

30

P
age 79



FUTURE BANNAU

underStanding
SucceSS

We have applied the model to the statutory purposes and duty of the National Park 
Authority.  The first statutory purpose is about protecting the environment. The second 

purpose is about connecting people with the natural and cultural environments for their 
enjoyment and wellbeing. The National Park Authority also has a statutory duty to support 
communities to thrive within the National Park.  We must balance the competing demands 
of the two purposes enabling people to enjoy thriving ecosystems without negative impact.

The Doughnut takes its name from its shape and consists of two concentric rings.
 

The outer ring is the ecological ceiling.  This relates to the National Park’s first purpose and 
our ambition to restore the environmental sustainability of the National Park.

 
The inner ring is a social foundation. This relates to the National Park’s socio-economic 

duty and our ambition to ensure that no one living within the National Park is left without 
life’s essentials. 

 
Between these two boundaries lies a doughnut-shaped space that is both ecologically safe 

and socially just. A safe space in which our second purpose activities, relating to human 
enjoyment of the National Park for recreational purposes, can thrive.

 
In this way, the National Park Doughnut is a framework for understanding the successful 

implementation of our statutory purposes and duty. 
 

It is also a way of showing that any activity that we undertake towards our second purpose 
has to  take place within social and ecological boundaries, without causing harm either way.

 
                         

    
 BIODIVERSITY LOSS                         CLIMATE CHANGE                           AIR PO

LLU
T

IO
N

                                                                                                                                                  
       

      
     

     
    

    
    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

C
H

EM
IC

A
L 

PO
LL

U
TI

O
N

DARKNESS & TRANQUILITY    �    HISTORIC ENVIRO
N

M
EN

T    �
    V

ISITO
R

 T
R

A
N

SPO
RT

    �
                                                                                  

       
      

     
    
   

    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
  

  
  

   
 �

   
 C

U
LT

U
R

A
L 

H
ER

IT
AG

E 
   �

    

FIR
ST PURPOSE - ECOLOGICAL CEILING

DUTY - SOCIAL FOUNDATION

                                                   G
EN

D
ER        PO

LITICAL         SOCIAL                  

  LA
N

D
 C

O
N

VERSIO
N

              SOIL + FRESHWATER QUALITY        INVASIVE NON-NATIVE S
PEC

IES
    

   
N

IT
RO

G
EN

 +
 P

H
O

SP
H

O
RO

U
S 

        
                                                                                               V

ISIT
O

R
 EX

PERIEN
C
E  �

    ACCESS    �    VISITOR KNOWLEDGE    �
    

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

   
 

 W
ATER

    
     

     S
OCIAL            ENERGY             FOOD              H

EA
LTH

         LA
N

G
U

A
G

E                                                                                              
       

     
     

    
    

   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  I

N
C

O
M

E 
   

   
   

  J
U

ST
IC

E

                                                      EQ
U

ITY              VOICE               EQUITY         TRANSPORT     
  H

OUSIN
G   

   
  E

D
U

C
AT

IO
N

   
    

    
    

     
NETWORKS                                                                                                                                                                                  

      
     

    
    

    
   

   
   

   

Future Bannau sets out how the purposes and duty of 
the National Park should be met working collaboratively 
with all partners.  To help us understand the complexity 

of this goal we utilise an adapted version of Professor 
Kate Raworth’s ‘Doughnut’ model of social and ecological 
boundaries.  We use this model because it helps envision 
a world in which people and planet can thrive in balance, 
just like Future Bannau envisions a National Park where 

the environment and people work together to provide a 
landscape for national wellbeing.

31

P
age 80

https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/


FUTURE BANNAU

The National Park Doughnut helps us to understand the 
complex relationship between people and planet and 

how human wellbeing is reliant on the environment and 
society working in harmony. 

The image expresses the current state of the National 
Park in relation to human wellbeing and the environment.

 
Each dimension is measured against at least one key 

indicator and the red wedges show the extent of the 
shortfall or overshoot in the ideal implementation of our 

purposes and duty.
 

For some sectors such as climate change, and housing - 
the shift needed to get back into the Doughnut is huge.

 
The aim of Future Bannau is to eliminate all of the red 

from the Doughnut diagram, and the Missions are in 
response to the biggest over-shoots.

As we implement Future Bannau, the Doughnut model 
will help us understand the Plan’s impact in the real 

world.

 
                         

    
 BIODIVERSITY LOSS                         CLIMATE CHANGE                           AIR PO

LLU
TIO

N
                                                                                                                                                  

       
      

     
     

    
     

    
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 C
H

EM
IC

A
L 

PO
LL

U
TI

O
N DARKNESS & TRANQUILITY    �    HISTORIC ENVIRO

N
M

EN
T    �

    V
ISITO

R
 T

R
A

N
SPO

RT    �
                                                                                  

       
      

     
    
   

    
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
  

   
  �

   
 C

U
LT

U
RA

L 
H

ER
IT

AG
E  

  �
    

FIR
ST PURPOSE - ECOLOGICAL CEILING

DUTY - SOCIAL FOUNDATION

        
                                                                                               V

ISITO
R

 EX
PERIEN

CE  �
    ACCESS    �    VISITOR KNOWLEDGE    �

    
LA

N

D
SC

A
PE

   
 

  LA
N

D
 C

O
N

VERSIO
N

              SOIL + FRESHWATER QUALITY        INVASIVE NON-NATIVE S
PEC

IES
    

   
N

IT
RO

G
EN

 +
 P

H
O

SP
H

O
RO

U
S 

                                                 G
EN

D
ER        POLITICAL        SOCIAL                  

 W
ATER

     
     

    SOCIAL            ENERGY          FOOD              H
EA

LTH
       LA

N
G

U
A

G
E                                                                                           

       
     

     
    

    
    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 IN

C
O

M
E 

   
   

   
 JU

ST
IC

E

                                                     EQ
U

ITY             VOICE              EQUITY       TRANSPORT     
 HOUSIN

G   
   

ED
U

C
AT

IO
N

   
    

    
     

    N
ETWORKS                                                                                                                                                                          

      
     

    
    

    
   

   
   

   
   

   

UNDERSTANDING
THE CHALLENGE

32

P
age 81



a plan Shaped By 
dialogue

The legal requirement to produce a Management Plan for the National Park lies with the officers of 
the National Park. The Plan is intended to mobilise a wealth of organisations and individuals beyond 
our staff body alone to deliver action. Extensive dialogue has been central to developing a collective 
vision for the future in which we hope everyone can see their part. 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act sets out five 
ways of working which have guided the development 
of Future Beacons and will guide the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority in catalysing the practical action 
needed to achieve the missions.

FIVE WAYS  OF 
WORKING

Acting in collaboration with any other person (or 
different parts of the organsiation) that could help the 
body to meet its well-being objectives 

COLLABORATION

INTEGRATION 

INVOLVEMENT 

LONG TERM

PREVENTION

Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives 
may impact on each of the well-being goals, on their 
other objectives, or on the objectives of other public 
bodies.

The importance of involving people with an interest in 
achieving the well-being goals, and ensuring that those 
people reflect the diversity of the area which the body 
serves.

The importance of balancing short-term needs with the 
need to safeguard the long-term needs

How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse may help public bodies meet their objectives 

Future Bannau has been developed in dialogue with a 
wide range of stakeholders including Natural Resources 
Wales, unitary authorities, Public Service Boards, 
Community Councils, civil society organisations including 
farming and environment groups, citizens, businesses, 
academics, National Park Authority members, and 
officers.
 
The extensive consultation helped to deepen and refine 
analysis of the problems and solutions as the Plan 
developed. We are very grateful to everyone who took 
time to make such thoughtful contributions.

DEVELOPING 
THE PLAN 

TOGETHER

The Five Ways of Working of the Well-being of Future Generations Act (2015)

33

P
age 82



34

P
age 83



FUTURE BANNAU

a plan to inSpire 
action 

Future Bannau is a plan for the whole of the National Park and will be used to define a collective vision for all our future 
action.  This diagram shows how the Management Plan provides the overarching strategic context for a range of plans and 
policies within the National Park, produced by the Authority and in partnership with others.  
 

35

P
age 84



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

IS
SU

ES
IS

SU
ES

36
Page 85



The National Park faces existential threats to its continued survival.  
 The communities that manage this landscape are facing an uncertain future.  
Demographic and economic changes, coupled with the impacts of the climate and nature 
emergencies are making it more and more difficult to maintain the traditional ways of 
life that have sustained this environment for generations.   
Our beautiful landscape, which underpins our reasons for being, 
will not be able to survive these changes unless concerted effort is taken today for the 
sake of tomorrow.

Protecting this National Park for the benefit of future generations is a national imperative 
and the key driver for the policy and strategy of this Plan.  
Our landscape provides a range of ecosystem services1, 
benefits from the natural world, which are vital to health and wellbeing.  
Our hills, lakes and streams generate the water which supplies most of South Wales and 
beyond.  
Our peat-land and woodlands sequester carbon generated in the towns and cities far 
beyond our borders to help mitigate against temperature rise.  
Our natural beauty providing those non-material benefits which so enrich our everyday, 
the spiritual the emotional, the reflective, the awe inspiring, simple enjoyment of a walk 
on the hill or the woods.

The following section looks at how these services are functioning today. 
 We utilise the key indicators of planetary and social health2 to draw out the issues that 
must be addressed if we are to ensure that the Brecon Beacons continue to delight and 
serve many many generations to come. 

1 Ecosystem services are the benefits provided by ecosystems that contribute to making human life 
both possible and worh living.
2 See Doughnut Model 

37

P
age 86

http://uknea.unep-wcmc.org/EcosystemAssessmentConcepts/EcosystemServices/tabid/103/Default.aspx
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/evidence-and-research/


ORIGNIAL ARTWORK TAYLOR MADE DESIGNS

THE NATIONAL 
PARK TODAY
THIS IMAGE portrays a typical landscape of the National Park as we 
see it in 2022.

Rugged bare uplands make way to a pastoral landscape, a patchwork 
of green grass of fields for grazing livestock interspersed with trim and 
traditional hedgerows.

The ploughed fields expose the red soil so characteristic of the area.

The few farm houses that populate the image are testament to this as 
a living and working landscape.

The river at the valley floor meanders its way through the scene.
A rural idyll that typifies the complexity of the interaction between 
man and nature, combines to form a picture of natural
beauty.

But for all its beauty this is not a benign landscape.

38

P
age 87



FUTURE BANNAU

The Brecon Beacons National Park, was 
designated in 1957.  The order conveying 
National Park status defines the purpose of 
the designation as conserving the natural 
beauty of the area and to promote its 
enjoyment by the public. Understanding 
the state of our natural beauty is therefore 
an overarching priority and one which 
underpins all our other activity.

We have previously defined natural beauty 
as encompassing a wide range of factors 
which combine landscape quality with 
ecological diversity and cultural associations 
(see also appendix 2). Although the 
experience and meaning of natural beauty 
is dependent on individual responses we 
understand it most clearly through the lens 
of landscape quality.  Understandably so as 
our exceptional landscape quality is what 
we are famous for, it is valued by millions 
of visitors each year, but this quintessential 
feature of the National Park is vulnerable to 
change. 

Despite the seemingly timeless quality of 
our landscape it is important to understand 
that it is not a static entity.  Our landscape 
itself is a product of millennia of geological, 
geomorphological and human processes, 

processes which continue today at various 
paces of change.  These impacts are already 
leaving their mark on our landscape.

An assessment undertaken in partnership 
with Reading University in 2021 found 
that just 5 out of the 16 landscape types 
displayed within the National Park are in 
Good condition as the table below shows.

St
at

e 
of

 n
at

ur
al

 b
ea

ut
y

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

515 square miles [which] includes the Brecon 
Beacons, the Black Mountains and the 
Carmarthenshire Vans [Y Mynydd Ddu], and 
its varied scenary of river and moorland, of 
mountain slope and wooded valley is among 
the finest in the country

1957 Designation Order

Brecon Beacons National Park

Condition Landscape type  

Good Ancient Pastoral farmlands
Lake-shore Wetlands
Moorland Hills & Slopes
Moorland Plateau
Upland Pastoral Enclosures

Moderate Limestone Hills & Slopes
Rocky Hills & Slopes
Settled Farmlands
Wooded Slopes & Valleys

Poor Ancient Farmed Lowlands
Settled Upland Pastures  
Village farmlands

Very Poor Forested Moorland Plateau
Forested Moorland Slopes
Forested Pastoral Enclosures
River Meadowlands

In general the findings of the assessment 
were unsurprising.  Those landscape types 
that have been characterised by recent 
human interventions such as post war 
coniferous planting (forested moorland 
slopes), or Common Agricultural Policy 
(CAP)  incentivised agricultural practice 
(e.g village farmlands), show lower overall 
conditions than those areas of landscape 
where visual impact from human activity is 
low and survival of semi-natural habitat is 
high, for example upland upland landscape 
types (Moorland Hills & Slopes) (Griffiths 
and Warnock 2021).

The diversity of landscapes across the Na-
tional Park requires different land manage-
ment options appropriate to the character 
of our varied landscape. However some 
common threats to the integrity exist1 
these can be summarised as:-
• Climate Change (water shortages /

flood risk/wildlife losses/reduced food 
security)

• Biodiversity change (habitat losses/ 
species losses/ species invasion / habitat 
fragmentation)

• Changing farming practice (Loss of 
farmers from the community / Loss of 
skills / Increased costs and/or loss of 
productivity incentivising intensification)

• Changing energy profile (Rising fuel 
costs/ reduced oil supplies / carbon 
emissions / drive for renewables)

• Population change (Inmigration / Aging 
Population / changing housing needs/ 
limited infrastructure)

• Transport needs (carbon emissions /
Fuel Costs / rural transport constraints)

• Globalization (loss of culture traditions 
/ increase waste / overconsumption)

1 For full discussion see Fiona Fyfe and 
Associates Landscape Character Assessmet (2012) 
Chapter 6 Forces for Change

39

P
age 88

https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/ac5059d6-630b-4914-99bd-2d2601939f2b/Brecon%20Beacons%20Landscape%20Project_28Jun21.pdf
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/6-0_Forces-for-Change_final_120930.pdf


FUTURE BANNAU

The Brecon BeaconsThe Brecon Beacons
ECOLOGICAL CEILINGECOLOGICAL CEILING
20222022
The ecological ceiling shows the key components that make up the The ecological ceiling shows the key components that make up the 
environmental elements of our first purpose.environmental elements of our first purpose.

For each element we have defined where the boundary of environmental For each element we have defined where the boundary of environmental 
sustainability lies.  These are shown as ‘goals’ on the diagram opposite.sustainability lies.  These are shown as ‘goals’ on the diagram opposite.

We have also identified key indicators that give us a snapshot of where we We have also identified key indicators that give us a snapshot of where we 
are and set these in the red boxes against our goals.are and set these in the red boxes against our goals.

We then use these indicators to approximate how far we are from We then use these indicators to approximate how far we are from 
meeting these goals, these are the red wedges that extend beyond the meeting these goals, these are the red wedges that extend beyond the 
green circle, the boundary of sustainability.  green circle, the boundary of sustainability.  

40

P
age 89



FUTURE BANNAU

2020 saw the publication of the latest 
Natural Resources Wales  State of Natural 
Resources Report. (SoNaRr)  This found 
that none of the ecosystems in Wales had 
all the necessary attributes of resilience.  
This echoed previous findings from similar 
assessments, such as the 2018, Living Planet 
Report from the World Wide Fund for 
Nature (WWF) which found that wildlife 
population sizes have fallen globally by 60% 
since 1970, or the 2019 State of Nature 
Report which highlighted the loss of 73 
species from Wales with a further 666 at 
risk of extinction.
 
It is clear from the above snapshot that 
nature is in crisis and, over the past few 
years we have learnt more about the 
extent of habitat and species loss on a 
global and national scale.  In 2020 with the 
publication of the State of the Park Report 
we evidenced how this crisis was playing 
out in the Park itself.  

 

Take for example our breeding and nesting 
birds data. Birds are powerful indicators 
of, and proxies for, good environmental 
health. Many birds sit at or near the top 
of terrestrial and marine food chains and 
understanding the drivers and impacts on 
their populations gives us an insight into 
the status of other wildlife.  A total of 
eight ‘red list’ species were shown to be 
declining by more than 50% in the Park 
area, including swift, greenfinch, grey wagtail, 
yellowhammer, curlew, wheatear and rook.  
Some of our most familiar birds such 
as chaffinch and blue tit were shown to 
decline between 25 - 50%. These declines 
were seen across multiple species and  
multiple habitats, which speaks of wide-
ranging problems within ecosystems.  This 
could have devastating consequences for 
humanity. 

This story isn’t unique to the landscapes 
and habitats of the National Park but 
it is an uncomfortable truth given our 
first purpose requires the organisation 
to conserve and enhance wildlife in all 
our activity.  The Royal Society for the 
Protection of Birds (RSPB) report  A 
Lost Decade for Nature  (2020) not only 
highlighted the UK had failed to reach any 
of the Aichi  targets set by the UN in 2010 
to halt the devastating loss of biodiversity, 
but more significantly that National Parks 
and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
appear less able than other areas to 
protect the most significant habitats in 
their care (p.4).  A study in England found 
that the condition of Sites of Scientific 
Interest is worse inside National Parks than 
outside1  Although comparative condition 
assessment inside and outside the National 
Park boundary has not been completed, 
we recognise that the condition of SACs 
(56% in unfavorable condition)  and SSSIs 
( 35% in unfavorable condition and only 
10% under appropriate management) 
within the National Park  is below where 
we would want it to be in terms of healthy 
ecosystems, and certainly a very far way 
from being enhanced.
 
The reasons for this picture are multiple 
but both SONARR (2020) and the WWF 
Wales’s Nature Crisis (2020) highlight the 
following as drivers of biodiversity loss 
within the UK:-
 
• Agricultural Management
• Climate change

1 Cox, K. et al (2018), National Parks or Nat-
ural Parks: how can we have both? British Wildlife 
30:2, December 2018. https://www.britishwildlife.
com/article/volume-30-number-2-page-87-95St

at
e 

of
 n

at
ur

e

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

41

P
age 90

https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/state-of-natural-resources-report-sonarr-for-wales-2020/?lang=en
https://livingplanet.panda.org/
https://livingplanet.panda.org/
https://nbn.org.uk/stateofnature2019/
https://nbn.org.uk/stateofnature2019/
https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/pa-documents/a-lost-decade-for-nature-2020#:~:text=This%20global%20stocktaking%20report%20comes,have%20never%20been%20more%20apparent.
https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/pa-documents/a-lost-decade-for-nature-2020#:~:text=This%20global%20stocktaking%20report%20comes,have%20never%20been%20more%20apparent.
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/state-of-natural-resources-report-sonarr-for-wales-2020/?lang=en
https://www.wwf.org.uk/wales/tackling-nature-crisis-wales
https://www.britishwildlife.com/article/volume-30-number-2-page-87-95
https://www.britishwildlife.com/article/volume-30-number-2-page-87-95


FUTURE BANNAU

The Brecon BeaconsThe Brecon Beacons
NATIONAL PARK CORENATIONAL PARK CORE
20222022
Between the ecological ceiling and the social foundation lies the just and Between the ecological ceiling and the social foundation lies the just and 
safe space.  Within the National Park’s version of the doughnut this is safe space.  Within the National Park’s version of the doughnut this is 
the space in which we would want our second purpose activities to take the space in which we would want our second purpose activities to take 
place.  In other words opportunities for understanding and enjoying the place.  In other words opportunities for understanding and enjoying the 
National Park should only happen in such a way that they do not cause National Park should only happen in such a way that they do not cause 
us to breach our ecological ceiling or push our residents below the social us to breach our ecological ceiling or push our residents below the social 
foundation.foundation.

For each element we have defined where this dual boundary lies. These For each element we have defined where this dual boundary lies. These 
are shown as ‘goals’ on the diagram opposite.are shown as ‘goals’ on the diagram opposite.

We have also identified key indicators that give us a snapshot of where we We have also identified key indicators that give us a snapshot of where we 
are and set these in the red boxes against our goals.are and set these in the red boxes against our goals.

We then use these indicators to approximate how far we are from We then use these indicators to approximate how far we are from 
meeting these goals, these are the red wedges that extend beyond the meeting these goals, these are the red wedges that extend beyond the 
purple circle.  Wedges that overshoot demonstrate that these factors purple circle.  Wedges that overshoot demonstrate that these factors 
are having an unsustainable environmental impact.  Wedges that show a are having an unsustainable environmental impact.  Wedges that show a 
shortfall are impacting community sustainability.  shortfall are impacting community sustainability.  

42

P
age 91



FUTURE BANNAU

The architects of National Park designation, 
saw National Parks as providing 
opportunities for free access to the 
countryside to all members of society, for 
what they termed, open air recreation.  
This was a key element of social reform 
introduced after the horror of the Second 
World War and was seen as critical to the 
social and economic restoration of the 
nation, alongside the creation of the welfare 
state, the NHS and paid holidays.
 
How people access and utilise the 
countryside has been totally transformed 
from this post war vision.  Not only has the 
population of the UK grown significantly - 
there are approximately 13 million more 
people in the UK than in 1949 - but car 
ownership has grown exponentially.  In 
1950 there were 4 million cars on the road, 
as of today that figure has grown to over 
38 million.  It is this combined growth in 
people and private car use that has had a 
big impact on the National Park and our 
ability to manage visitor pressures.  Tourism, 
both staying and day visitors is one of 

the most significant elements of the local 
economy.  Indeed visitor spend has on the 
whole increased by as much as 45% since 
2007.  Visitors come to the National Park 
for a whole host of reasons, but at the core 
people come to the National Park because 
it evokes feelings of wellbeing which 
benefit emotional health and happiness. The 
problem is not the people but their mode 
of access.
 
We started development of this plan in 
2020, which was very far from a typical year.  
For the first time in a decade large areas of 
the National Park were closed and public 
access made illegal.  Visit later became the 
tagline of the National Park in the 2020 
lock-down.
 

During lock-down, the daily local walk 
became a source of singular comfort 
for many.  The renewed opportunity to 
spend recreational time in outdoor arenas 
became synonymous with healing, akin to 
the vision of National Parks set out by 

Dower and Hobhouse back in the 1940s.

  As if to prove the point, when lock-downs 
were lifted, we saw visitors return at levels 
never seen before
 
Many visitors congregate on particular, 
iconic locations, notably the Central 
Beacons at Storey Arms and Waterfall 
Country at Pontneddfechan.  Often this 
means we see visitors accessing at numbers 
beyond carrying capacity of the area. This 
leads to a range of impacts which are 
not only detrimental to the quality of the 
visitor experience but have untold adverse 
impacts on the host communities who feel 
swamped by the enormity of the visitor 
presence.
 
Issues associated with visitor pressure 
beyond carrying capacity:-
• Transportation emissions
• Road congestion and parking issues
• Increase in holiday homes and second 

homes
• Inappropriate recreation activity
• Noise pollution
• Upland erosion
• Impacts on sensitive habitats and 

wildlife disturbanceSt
at

e 
of

 u
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 

&
 e

nj
oy

in
g 

th
e 

N
at

io
na

l P
ar

k

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

43

P
age 92



FUTURE BANNAU

BRECON BEACON’SBRECON BEACON’S
SOCIAL FOUNDATION SOCIAL FOUNDATION 
20222022
The social foundation shows the key components that make up the The social foundation shows the key components that make up the 
elements of our statutory purpose and dutyelements of our statutory purpose and duty

For each element we have defined where the boundary of socio-economic For each element we have defined where the boundary of socio-economic 
well-being lies.  These are shown as ‘goals’ on the diagram opposite.well-being lies.  These are shown as ‘goals’ on the diagram opposite.

We have also identified key indicators that give us a snapshot of where we We have also identified key indicators that give us a snapshot of where we 
are and set these in the red boxes against our goals.are and set these in the red boxes against our goals.

We then use these indicators to approximate how far we are from We then use these indicators to approximate how far we are from 
meeting these goals, these are the red wedges that fall into the hole at the meeting these goals, these are the red wedges that fall into the hole at the 
centre of the doughnut, beneath the basic foundation of well-being.centre of the doughnut, beneath the basic foundation of well-being.

44

P
age 93



FUTURE BANNAU

Our communities are at the heart of the 
National Park, but rural living is not without 
difficulty. Among the many issues currently 
facing communities in the National Park 
are - climate change; increased flood risk; 
fuel poverty; access to services; changes 
to agricultural subsidy regimes (see next); 
rural poverty; cost of housing; our aging 
population; equality and inclusion; inter-
generational equity; out-migration of young 
people and lack of public transport.  The 
impacts of many of these issues have been 
exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.
 
Demographic change is another key issue 
impacting our communities.  Over the 
past few decades we have seen a loss of 
young people from the area.  Why this 
happens is a complex story - partly it is 
about the pull of the bright lights of the 
big city, but it is also about a lack of quality 
employment opportunities in the National 
Park and the high price of housing.  The loss 
of young people means that our resident 
population is getting older, and this is 

exacerbated by the popularity of the area 
for incoming retirees.  People who are 
no longer tethered by the daily commute 
wish to spend their retirement in the 
countryside.  The result is higher house 
prices, loss of services and facilities such 
as schools from within communities.  This 
places significant pressure on our villages to 
absorb more growth and provide affordable 
housing for younger people whilst existing 
housing stock stands empty as holiday and 
second homes - leading to the creation of 
‘dormitory villages’.
 

Our economic make up owes much to the 
framework as a designation as a National 
Park.  We are less reliant on traditional 
economic sectors (such as manufacturing 
and industry) and more on the service 
economy built up around the tourist trade.  
In turn our appeal as a tourist destination is 
heavily reliant on a landscape that is mostly 
agricultural, and its character and resilience 
are dependent on the actions of farmers 
who make their living from the land.  

 Economic prosperity as expressed through 
key labour market indicators  can be seen 
to shift from more to less prosperous 
as you travel from the north to south of 
the Authority area.  The rural agricultural 
areas of the National Park demonstrate 
on average greater levels of income to 
the more urban settlements of the (now 
abandoned) coal fields of the South Wales 
Valleys on our southern periphery.  This 
spatial distinction is also borne out in levels 
of employment, education and multiple 
measures of deprivation, which all show a 
worsening trend from North to South.
 
Global economies have been decimated 
by the impacts of corona virus and the 
following cost of living crisis and shifts 
in behavior this has engendered .  The 
National Park economy is such that we 
are not impervious to the shocks being 
felt acutely within sectors such as retail 
and tourism.   In combination with the 
economic uncertainty embedded within 
the corona virus crisis, continued additional 
impacts are being predicted around Brexit, 
and future agricultural subsidy regimen. 
the Sustainable Farming Scheme.  This is 
predicted to impact on the Agricultural 
sector most acutely, but will also impact all 
sectors reliant on the import or export of 
goods and services with Europe, including 
tourism.
 

St
at

e 
of

 li
vi

ng
 a

nd
 w

or
ki

ng
in

 t
he

 N
at

io
na

l P
ar

k

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

45

P
age 94



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

VI
SI

O
N

VI
SI

O
N

IM
A

G
E

 (
C

) 
H

U
W

 J
A

M
E

S
 M

E
D

IA

46
Page 95



THE FUTURE NATIONAL PARK

To act in response to the identified issues and bring our action within our ecological 
ceiling and social foundation requires transformative and collaborative action.

To guide this action this plan defines a 25 year vision which seeks to implement our 
purposes and duty in a 21st century context, alive to the issues of the climate
and nature crisis.

The vision is supported by our fivemissions aimed at bringing about successful 
implementation of our purposes and duty to create a thriving National Park
for all.

47

P
age 96



ORIGNIAL ARTWORK TAYLOR MADE DESIGNS

THE 
Brecon Beacons

2048

This image takes us back to the same typical scene in 
the National Park.

This time however, we have moved the clock on 25 years 
to paint a picture of a possible landscape of the future.

This landscape is one where nature and farming work 
together to create a resilient biodiverse landscape. 

A sustainable future for the National Park will 
embrace nature recovery, nature-based solutions to 
climate change, green growth, and transitioning our 

communities to low carbon living that is accessible to all.
We hope others will be inspired to act and that our 

visitors will benefit and learn from closer contact with 
this nature rich world. This is the driving force of our 

vision that we are inviting all partners to share with us
.

We believe that this is an imperative that must be 
acted upon now, and where possible collaboratively with 

everyone who has a stake in the continued viability of 
the Park for people and nature.

48

P
age 97



FUTURE BANNAU

OUR VISIONOUR VISION

Our National Park will be aOur National Park will be a
place of inspiration, drivingplace of inspiration, driving

action for a vibrant andaction for a vibrant and
sustainable future.sustainable future.

We will harness the power of nature and peopleWe will harness the power of nature and people
working in balance to help us face climateworking in balance to help us face climate

change, biodiversity decline, change, biodiversity decline, 
economic recovery and the health and socialeconomic recovery and the health and social

care crisis.care crisis.

In 2048 the Brecon Beacons will be ecologicallyIn 2048 the Brecon Beacons will be ecologically
resilient and we will have surpassed net zero carbon.resilient and we will have surpassed net zero carbon.

Our communities will be connected, caring, collaborativeOur communities will be connected, caring, collaborative
and thriving. and thriving. 

The culture, natural beauty and environment of the Park will have broughtThe culture, natural beauty and environment of the Park will have brought
inspiration and joy inspiration and joy 

to all who live, work and visit here.to all who live, work and visit here.

49

P
age 98



A post card from 2047A post card from 2047
  
Sally Davies, Tirmawr FarmSally Davies, Tirmawr Farm

I am now 83 years old and still walking! I have lived and worked in the park all of my life. I am taking my I am now 83 years old and still walking! I have lived and worked in the park all of my life. I am taking my 
daily walk to try and keep fit and active. I have my youngest grandchild with me. I show her the hole in daily walk to try and keep fit and active. I have my youngest grandchild with me. I show her the hole in 
the tree made by a green woodpecker, the fox runs and badger setts. My daughter told me to take her the tree made by a green woodpecker, the fox runs and badger setts. My daughter told me to take her 
with me because she needs some fresh air but I know it’s just to keep an eye on me to make sure I don’t with me because she needs some fresh air but I know it’s just to keep an eye on me to make sure I don’t 
fall.fall.

 Its autumn and the trees are going into their dormancy. I can hear the River Usk roaring through the  Its autumn and the trees are going into their dormancy. I can hear the River Usk roaring through the 
valley after yet another heavy spell of rain. In the distance I can hear a chainsaw. My husband, daughter valley after yet another heavy spell of rain. In the distance I can hear a chainsaw. My husband, daughter 
and grandson are laying one of our hedges...passing the ancient skill on to the next generation.and grandson are laying one of our hedges...passing the ancient skill on to the next generation.

After the storm there is calm. The sun is shining down on my face, there is a brilliance of colour from the After the storm there is calm. The sun is shining down on my face, there is a brilliance of colour from the 
autumnal leaves. autumnal leaves. 

I pick up a chewed hazelnut shell. Red squirrels have returned to the area. I show my granddaughter I pick up a chewed hazelnut shell. Red squirrels have returned to the area. I show my granddaughter 
where the squirrel had nibbled the shell, removing the nut.where the squirrel had nibbled the shell, removing the nut.

I think of the past...I think of the past...

I shouldn’t have worried so much. I was so scared that the park was merely a preservation society. Its I shouldn’t have worried so much. I was so scared that the park was merely a preservation society. Its 
role being to stop any development in the park, allowing only the suited and booted to buy property. I role being to stop any development in the park, allowing only the suited and booted to buy property. I 
was afraid that the Park would become full of soulless dormitory villages, but I was wrong.was afraid that the Park would become full of soulless dormitory villages, but I was wrong.

Our farm business is a beef, sheep and eco-tourism business, which continues to thrive today. We are Our farm business is a beef, sheep and eco-tourism business, which continues to thrive today. We are 
grateful for the BBNP’s new approach which has enabled us to build a modular energy-efficient eco-grateful for the BBNP’s new approach which has enabled us to build a modular energy-efficient eco-
home within the farmstead. We were eligible as we could prove that we make our living principally home within the farmstead. We were eligible as we could prove that we make our living principally 
from the land, which incidentally carries over to other land-based sectors too. This means that my from the land, which incidentally carries over to other land-based sectors too. This means that my 
husband and I can still live on the farm where we have lived most of our lives and we are able to pass husband and I can still live on the farm where we have lived most of our lives and we are able to pass 
our knowledge on and support the future generations. I’m now able to watch the grand children while our knowledge on and support the future generations. I’m now able to watch the grand children while 
my kids tend to lambing, shearing and guiding school groups around the land. My grandchildren are also my kids tend to lambing, shearing and guiding school groups around the land. My grandchildren are also 
now able to live on the farmstead, which is of vital support to me too, keeping an eye on, fetching and now able to live on the farmstead, which is of vital support to me too, keeping an eye on, fetching and 
carrying, enabling me to still be independent and useful.carrying, enabling me to still be independent and useful.

When this area was designated a National Park my father-in- law went to Ystradfellte School, my mother-When this area was designated a National Park my father-in- law went to Ystradfellte School, my mother-
in-law went to Trallong school. In later years my husband went to Crai school and I went to Libanus in-law went to Trallong school. In later years my husband went to Crai school and I went to Libanus 
School - all of these schools were long gone by 2022. Young people were migrating out of the area School - all of these schools were long gone by 2022. Young people were migrating out of the area 
because of lack of jobs and housing. Now, in the year 2047, these trends have been reversed; not only is because of lack of jobs and housing. Now, in the year 2047, these trends have been reversed; not only is 
the wildlife flourishing but so are our communities, with different generations living alongside each other, the wildlife flourishing but so are our communities, with different generations living alongside each other, 
learning from each other and supporting each other.learning from each other and supporting each other.

Against the odds, the park managed to get the balance right. They didn’t merely preserve a landscape Against the odds, the park managed to get the balance right. They didn’t merely preserve a landscape 
– a photo in time – they have enabled it to become a living, breathing and dynamic place, with vibrant – a photo in time – they have enabled it to become a living, breathing and dynamic place, with vibrant 
communities of all ages, and all species. communities of all ages, and all species. 

50
Page 99



CLIMATE

WATER

NATURE

PEOPLE

PLACE

M
IS

SIO
N FU

TURE BEACONS    

 
 

WHERE NATURE AND COMMUNITY
 TH

RI
VE

 
WHERE NATURE AND COMMUNITY

 TH
RI

VE
 

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

51
Page 100



FUTURE 
BEACONS

A mission led approach 

We choose to go to the moon.  We choose to go to the moon in 
this decade and do the other things, not because they are easy, 
but because they are hard, because that goal will serve to organize 
and measure the best of our energies and skills, because that 
challenge is one that we are willing to accept, one we are unwilling 
to postpone, and one which we intend to win... ”  President John F. 
Kennedy, address at Rice University, September 12, 1962 

When President Kennedy set out his ambition to send humanity to the moon and bring him 
back safely, he created a single inspiring action which unambiguously galvanised  action.  From this 
statement a whole host of people, from experts to citizens started to work together in ways never 
seen before to deliver a central objective, urgently.   The activity itself, took hundreds of projects, risk 
taking, trial and error and many failures along the way, before finally meeting its objective (Mazzacato 
2021).

Sixty years since the launching of Project Apollo the challenges this Plan needs to address - climate 
change, nature recovery, water quality improvements, sustainable tourism and economic prosperity for 
our residents to name just a few - are complex and wicked problems which akin to the moon landing 
require the best of our energies and skill.

This is why Future Bannau takes a mission led approach to the management of the Park.  Setting out 
bold goals to act on our most pressing problems which will be achieved through collaboration across 
the public and private spheres.  From eNGOs to citizens, salaried officers of our public bodies to 
farmers out in the field, we need to come together, to act to achieve bold transformation for the sake 
of future generations.

52

P
age 101

https://www.wickedproblems.com/1_wicked_problems.php


MISSION family
Our Mission approach comprises five key interconnected mission areas.

We refer to them as our family of missions as they are all interconnected, reliant on one another and 
interrelated (see appendix 4).  

These subject areas are based on our reading of the National Park Doughnut (see above), and 
concentrate on the key areas where the National Park breaches safe operating limits the furthest 

(see Issues section). These areas are those where we are in dangerous proximity to irreversible 
tipping points. These must be acted on as a matter of urgency.  This understanding of the evidence 

requires concerted action in the following areas:-

 Climate
 Water
 Nature

And, in recognition of the significant breaches across almost the entirety of our social foundation and 
National Park Core, we have identified more generalised mission areas focused on:-

 People (visitors, residents and business owners)
 Place (the geographical area where impacts can be felt)

Each mission has its own chapter in this plan.  These chapters explains the mission, whilst also 
providing a wider contextualising rationale for the mission focus.  In creating mission based chapters, 

we acknowledge that we are establishing a false sense of delineation between the mission areas.  
We know such separation is false, unfortunately it is the clearest way we can find to best 

communicate our vision.  We want to acknowledge here that success for each mission area is actually 
dependent upon complex interacting systems between mission areas.  To understand how our 

actions impact across the full range of our missions we return to our doughnut model to provide a 
holistic understanding

 
These mission statements form our Wellbeing Objectives for the period 2023-2028 and 

demonstrate how the geographic area of the Park will contribute to the delivery of the 7 
wellbeing goals through the five ways of working.  (See appendix 3 for further detail)

The following pages provide more detail on both the way this plan expresses these missions (the 
make up of the mission chapters) as well as the ways of working necessary to deliver their ambition.

CLIMATE

WATER

NATURE

PEOPLE

PLACE

M
IS

SIO
N FU

TURE BEACONS    

 
 

WHERE NATURE AND COMMUNITY
 TH

RI
VE

 

WHERE NATURE AND COMMUNITY
 TH

RI
VE

 

53

P
age 102



Sustainability 
a definition

The phrase  sustainable and sustainability are utilised repeatedly in this plan.

To be clear, our use of the phrase follows the Brundtland definition of sustainability which  was 
defined in 1987 as ‘meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations 

to meet their own needs’

In Wales sustainability has been further defined by the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  (2015)
which places a duty on all public bodies to adhere to the Sustainable Development Principle 

The process of improving the economic , social environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking 
action in accordance with the sustainable development principle

Therefore any statement made in this plan which refers to an action, goal,  outcome or objective as 
‘sustainable’ must be read as requiring action which improves the economic, social, environmental 

and cultural well-being of Wales now and for future generations.  

54

P
age 103

https://www.un.org/en/academic-impact/sustainability


To help readers understand the 
extent of the mission’s reach across 
the National Park, we have defined a 
series of ambition statements which 
seek to provide a clear picture of 
what successful implementation of the 
missions means.

They express these changes as 
outcomes on the ground, and like our 
missions are evidence based and provide 
basis for future monitoring of this Plan.

 These big changes will require many 
varied organisations and individuals 
working together to achieve them – not 
just the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority. 

Overarching 

statement of 

ambition - objectives 

for Y Bannau

An example set of ambition statements 

Mission area 
Sub- topic - breaking 

up the mission into its 
component objectives

Outcome statement 
- what will have been 
achieved by 2028

AMBITIONS
defining success for the National 
Park

55

P
age 104



-011

FUTURE BANNAU

Although our Mission approach may seem hugely ambitious, we know that by pledging 
to commit our own resources, and working with our partners, the change that is 
needed can and will happen.

Think of each of our missions as building up a tower of blocks.  To build the tower you 
need many blocks all coming together to create the final structure, the tower itself,  
Each block is placed in turn, and builds on the foundation of the blocks below.  In our 
mission tower, each block represents a project, plan or activity, which in combination 
work together, to create the change that is needed.

The job of Future Beacons is to define the parameters for this future activity, it is 
not to prescribe the exact form it should take.  In accordance with our values of 
involvement and collaboration the shape of each block and the contribution it makes, 
is for our partners to determine working with us. In the following pages you will find 
case studies of activities which form the foundation of these missions towers, which 
we call our ‘Ser y Bannau’ and details of the partnerships we will be working with to 
help deliver mission Future Bannau.

MISSIONS 
A bold collaborative approach

THE NATIONAL PARK ROLE IN DELIVERY

To demonstrate our commitment to the Mission approach we, as an 
organisation, set out what we believe our role is in helping deliver the 
missions. They are the biggest contributions we think we can make to 
achieve the missions.

As well as our mission orientated 
approach, we also believe that we as an 
organisation have a central role which we 
define as our overarching contribution 
to mission y Bannau. These define future 
activity which spans all our missions and 
will define a general pattern of activity for 
the organisation as a whole.

56

P
age 105



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

1. We will use our convening powers to bring together key people and organisations to 

form delivery-focused partnerships to enable the sharing of knowledge and expertise, and 

the efficient coordinated use of resources. This document defines partnerships already in 

existence, already acting for the benefit of the National Park, which we will continue to 

support.  

2. We will expand the reach and breadth of our academic research partnership with the 

objective of bringing the expertise of academic research to bear on the real-world 

problems of the National Park. The partnership is in the process of creating core study 

groups around key topic areas, such as peat, phosphates and heritage which will support 

achieving the missions. Individual mission chapters may identify other areas where future 

research is needed to support delivery. 

3. We will embed the principles, values and missions of Future Bannau into all of the work 

of the organisation including our decision-making structures and ways of working, our 

financial management, our public communications and advocacy, and the development of 

all further plans and policies the organisation of the National Park is asked by statute or 

necessity to produce.  

4. We will utilise all available resource, both now and in the future, to contribute as much as 

possible to mission delivery.  We will advocate for mission delivery from all those bodies 

operating within the Park  who are bound by S62(2) of the Environment Act (1995) to 

have due regard to our purposes and duty in their activity. 

5. We will use our knowledge and expertise to help embed  Future Bannau thinking beyond 

our boundary, creating a mindset of exemplary and transformative action.

OUR contribution       
to mission delivery 

The following defines our organisation’s 
commitment to undertake overarching activity 
which will contribute towards achieving across 

our missions.

MISSION 
y Bannau

57

P
age 106



Project relationship 
to Future Bannau

An example Ser y Bannau

Project lead and 
author of case 
study

Project Name

Future Bannau is purposefully focused on 
articulating objectives and outcomes. It is 
not centered on the ‘how’ of delivery.  This 
is because we believe that the organisation’s 
role is to set the vision for the future of the 
area, not dictate how it should be delivered.

We want to work with our key partners 
to develop detailed action plans which can 
create the detailed route-maps to mission 
success.  In these co-designed plans, actions 
toward mission delivery can be proposed, 
agreed and owned by each and every 
organisation or public body that has a 
responsibility to the Park.

To illustrate the sort of action that we 
anticipate will aid mission delivery we 
have identified existing projects to act as 
pointers to spark ideas in the action planning 
of others and to demonstrate what sort 
of things make up the building blocks to 
mission delivery.

These case studies, authored by the project 
leads, we have called our Ser Y Bannau (stars 
of the Beacons).  Some of these examples 
highlight current work of the organisation, 
others are completely independent and 
demonstrate the inspiring potential of the 
action of others.

SER Y BANNAU
INSPIRING ACTION THROUGH 
THE WORK OF OTHERS

Project vision

Project actions

58

P
age 107



-017

FUTURE BANNAU

Future Bannau, is, as the name suggests all 

about the Future.  Despite the human race’s 

immense capacity for abstract thought, it is 

hard for us to properly imagine the future. 

Evolutionarily we are hard wired to concern 

ourselves with the here and now because 

that was essential for surviving – knowing and 

responding to difficulties in the future isn’t 

in our DNA, but it is essential if we are to 

collectively realise the need to take decisive 

action in the present for the sake of future 

generations. 

This ability to imagine the future is called 

by academics ‘Future Literacy’ and many are 

turning to story to help us all fully feel and 

understand the future.

So to help us here in the Brecon Beacons 

imagine what the future could be like  as a 

result of this plan, we have worked with a local 

writer, to bring you a glimpse of the future 

that might be possible, drawn through the 

eyes of the fictional Brychan family - seventh 

generation farmers here in the Brecon 

Beacons.  Each mission chapter ends with a 

glimpse into their world in 2048, a point at 

which we are nearing big societal goals on 

climate and nature.  By linking people to 

place and especially the cultural landscape of 

this Park we hope to ensure that this plan is 

understand fully in the context of the Brecon 

Beacons.

By imagining what could be- we hope to 

inspire action to help make it a reality.

Story or narrative takes those big ideas, abstract concepts, dry facts and translates Story or narrative takes those big ideas, abstract concepts, dry facts and translates 

them into something very specific that we can experience, and so feel, and that’s them into something very specific that we can experience, and so feel, and that’s 

what tells us how we feel about it emotionally, what it means to us and that’s what tells us how we feel about it emotionally, what it means to us and that’s 

what moves us into action.what moves us into action.

liSa cron

V
O

IC
E

S 
FR

O
M

 T
H

E
 F

U
T

U
R

E
 

59

P
age 108



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

C
LI

M
A

T
E

C
LI

M
A

T
E

60
Page 109



Mission
CLIMATE 

Reach  net-zero greenhouse 
gas emissions across the 
Brecon Beacon National Park 
by 2035 

61

P
age 110



FUTURE BANNAU

ACTION ACROSS THE NATIONAL PARK WILL MAXIMISE 
EFFORT TOWARD MEETING OUR FAIR SHARE OF THE PARIS 
AGREEMENT’S GOAL OF LIMITING GLOBAL TEMPERATURE 

RISES TO 1.5 DEGREES

DECARBONISATION

SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT
39% cut in emissions arising from travel within the National Park as a 
result of a shift away from petrol and diesel private vehicles to public 

transport, electric vehicles, and walking and cycling

SUSTAINABLE FOOD AND DRINK
22% cut in emissions arising from food consumption as a result of lower 

carbon food and drink consumption, whilst maintaining a healthy diet.

SUSTAINABLE ENERGY
51% cut in emission arising from energy usage as a result of energy effi-
ciency, and a shift away from fossil-fuels to heat and power homes, ser-

vices and businesses.

SUSTAINABLE LAND-USE
31% cut in non CO2 emissions arising from land use as a result of 
habitat restoration, and land use change and sustainable farming 

practices.  

ACTION WILL BE HAPPENING ACROSS THE NATIONAL PARK 
TO RESTORE NATURE’S ABILITY TO CAPTURE CARBON FROM 

THE ATMOSPHERE, IN LINE WITH THE CLIMATE CHANGE 
COMMITTEE’S SIXTH CARBON BUDGET RECOMMENDATIONS 

ON AGRICULTURE, LAND USE, LAND USE CHANGE AND 

HABITAT RESTORATION
Accelerated habitat restoration, especially peatland restoration in 
line with the National Peatland Programme, will maximise carbon 

storage in existing ecosystems.

LAND USE CHANGE
Increased woodland, agro-forestry and hedgerows, with the right 

trees in the right places,  will create new natural carbon sinks. 

SUSTAINABLE FARMING
Changing plants and practices in farming will improve the soil’s 

ability to hold carbon.

SEQUESTRATION
CLIMATE 

2028
What success looks like

62

P
age 111



FUTURE BANNAU

PEOPLE AND NATURE WILL BE MORE RESILIENT 
TO THE UNAVOIDABLE IMPACTS OF CLIMATE 

DESTABILISATION, IN LINE WITH PROSPERITY FOR 
ALL, THE CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION PLAN 

FOR WALES.  

NATURE RESTORATION
Restored, expanded and linked ecosystems and wildlife 

habitats will help nature to withstand pressures of a 
changing climate. Protected groundwater levels and ad-
equate flow in rivers will also promote healthy ecology 
and enhance natural resilience to drought. Sites most 
at risk of fire will be managed to reduce fire loading.

RESILIENT INFRASTRUCTURE
Flood risk will be reduced by restored nature limiting 
peak river flow, and by flood protection for vulnerable 
buildings. The impact of temperature rises locally will 
be mitigated by restored nature, changes to existing 
buildings, and behavior change. Land use planning will 

ensure that new developments are built to be resilient 
to climate impacts.

ADAPTATION

63

P
age 112



FUTURE BANNAU

The foundation of civilisation is a stable 

climate and a rich diversity of life. The 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 

has made clear that we are rapidly moving 

away from a safe climate for humanity on 

Earth, and this is the last possible decade for 

action to keep our planet inhabitable.

Already in the National Park we are 

experiencing the impacts of a destabilised 

climate - from extreme heat, drought and water 

scarcity, to extreme rainfall and flooding. This 

is affecting people’s wellbeing and livelihoods – 

from farming to public services and businesses- 

as well as impacting nature. Even if we take 

maximum action to reduce emissions now, 

we know that worsening impacts of climate 

change are inevitable. We need to take steps 

to adapt to unavoidable impacts

Whilst this is a global crisis, we know that what 

we do here will make a difference. Activity 

within the National Park is disproportionately 

contributing to climate breakdown. The UK 

is in the top 20 highest carbon emitters per 

person in the world, and the average Brecon 

Beacons resident carbon footprint is 20% 

higher than the average UK resident.

There are many changes we can make together 

that will reduce our impact on the climate 

whilst maintaining a high quality of life and 

restoring the natural environment we all rely 

on now and for future generations.

Some impacts of a changed climate are 

unavoidable and we need to plan to support 

people and nature to adapt.

E
xe

m
pl

ar
R

es
po

nd
en

ts

F U T U R E  B E A C O N S

We have been putting things off year after year, we have been raising targets We have been putting things off year after year, we have been raising targets 

and saying ‘Oh well, if we do it in the twenty years...’ The moment of crisis has and saying ‘Oh well, if we do it in the twenty years...’ The moment of crisis has 

come, we can no longer avoid action.come, we can no longer avoid action.

Sir David Attenborough

You would need to plant over 2,200 Premier League football pitches with 

broad-leaf trees, and let them grow for over 100 years, to mitigate the 

combined Greenhouse Gas emissions of the Park’s residents and visitors for 

the single year of 2019.

Greenhouse Gas Assessment Report, Small World Consulting, 

October 2022

The National Park has a huge potential and responsi-

bility to be a carbon sink and we need to help nature 

to recover to fulfill this vital role. This must happen in 

a way that retains the most productive agricultural land 

for food production and is fair to farmers, and it must 

happen in a way that enhances our rich culture and lo-

cal economy and protects the historical environment.

The Welsh Government has asked the Brecon 

Beacons National Park Authority to become an 

‘exemplar’ in responding to the Climate Emergency.

We have been asked to engage with communi-

ties within the National Park, and with visitors to 

develop emissions reduction solutions that de-

liver benefits for people and the environment.

Our starting point has been to commission ex-

pert analysis of the carbon footprint of the

National Park – the emissions we all produce 

through burning fossil fuels and consume through 

the products we buy here. We also had expert 

advice on the emissions reduction needed by

 everyone living and working in, and visiting, the Na-

tional Park in line with the Paris Climate Agreement.

We will work in partnership with councils and oth-

er public bodies, businesses, farmers, voluntary or-

ganisations, citizen groups, communities and in-

dividuals to shape and realise the action needed.

64

P
age 113

https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/558aac46-4b12-4894-bab5-02bf573774e0/Brecon%20Beacons%20National%20Park%20-%20Small%20World%20Carbon%20Budget.pdf


Stump Up 
For Trees

An ambitious, community 
based charity focused on 

woodland creation and 
enhancing biodiversity 

65

P
age 114



Our Vision 

We hope that by the time our project reaches matu-

rity, we will have made a real difference to both the 

treescape and biodiversity of the Park. We believe that 

success for our project means an improved treescape 

across the region, including more native broadleaf 

woodlands and hedges on farms, and the restoration of 

habitat at scale on common land.

Our Action 

Realising our ambition to plant a million trees within 

this living, working landscape means employing a variety 

of planting methodologies, not just the broadleaf wood-

lands you might associate with tree planting schemes: 

we support the reinstitution of old and the planting of 

new hedgerows, agroforestry (where food production 

and sivilicuture are combined), and the creation of 

wood pasture (we call ffridd) on commons. Fundamen-

tally, trees need to be planted in the best possible way, 

in the right place and for very good reasons.

Future Beacons is collective hope 

Knowing that we are part of a wider movement within 

the region to enhance the landscape for the benefit of 

humans and nature is of great value to us.

STUMP UP FOR 
TREES
Keith Powell and Robert Penn

Co-founders Stump Up For Trees 

We are Keith Powell, seventh generation Black 

Mountains farmer, and Robert Penn, local author 

and broadcaster  and together we are the founders 

of Stump Up For Trees, a community based charity 

situated in the East of the Brecon Beacons, with 

a mission to plant a million trees. The charity was 

only formed in 2020, but the idea had real traction, 

and now we have a wide range of local community 

members working with us as trustees, employees and 

volunteers. Our model is simple and we are focused 

on working with the local farming community to re-

purpose the least agriculturally productive areas of 

land for tree planting, biodiversity and natural

flood management.

Our pilot plant saw 135,000 native broadleaf trees 

planted on a 64-hectare section of deep bracken on 

the steep flanks of Bryn Arw Common, in the Black 

Mountains. Not only was this the biggest woodland 

created in Wales during the 2020-21 planting season, 

it was also the first plant at such a scale on common

land.

Our charity is hugely dependent on the local 

community for their support as landowners and 

managers, and also as volunteers - helping us to 

grow, plant and maintain trees, carry out ecological 

surveys and much more. We are also hugely 

grateful to lots of local businesses who sponsor 

our activities, and organisations like Coed Cymru 

and Coed Cadw. who share their expertise and 

knowledge with us.

FUTURE BANNAU66

P
age 115



Restoring damaged peatland 
which in turn will reduce 

carbon dioxide loss, improve 
water quality and movement 

whilst helping facilitate nature 
recovery. 

Peatlands are unique ecosystems and form an important part of 
Brecon Beacons National Park’s uplands landscape. Waterlogged 
conditions lead to slow plant and vegetation decomposition with 
consequent storage of huge amounts of carbon over thousands 
of years. Of the estimated 15,922 hectares of peatland in the 
Brecon Beacons National Park most is in unfavourable condition. 
Carbon is being released, both into the atmosphere and into the 
watercourses due to drying and erosion. The work we are doing 
forms part of efforts to conserve carbon stores worldwide in 
response to climate change..

At present the Authority has identified areas that are actively 
degrading and secured multi-year funding from the Sustainable 
Landscapes, Sustainable Places fund as well as Strategic 
Allocation Funding. With support from Dwr Cwmru we are also 
developing restoration projects that can improve drinking water 
quality within the Brecon Beacons Mega Catchment 

Peatland 
Recovery 
Project 

67

P
age 116



peatland recoVery

Sam Ridge

Peatland project Officer 

All of the restoration works within the Park form part 

of the Peatlands Restoration Strategy, which responds 

to the National Peatlands Action Programme. Natural 

Resources Wales / The National Peatland Action 

Programme This is a five-year plan for peat restoration 

within Wales, improving peatland ecosystem resilience. 

Over 200 hectares has been restored within the Park 

over the last ten years. Targeted restoration will also 

have a wider zone of benefit. 

Restoration work involves Authority staff including 

ecologists, archaeologists, GIS specialists and wardens. 

Volunteers generously give their time to helping 

with practical elements such as hands on restoration 

and surveying. The work relies on permission from 

landowners, the support of graziers and, where on 

a Site of Special Scientific Interest, permission from 

Natural Resources Wales.  

MULTIPLE CHALLENGES

 It is now widely recognised that we are in a climate 

emergency. Peatland restoration helps to mitigate 

against that challenge, improving the security of these 

massive carbon stores.  

Healthy functioning peatland plays an important role 

in nature recovery. Restored, re-wetted areas attract 

insects including damselflies and can support a range 

of ground nesting birds including curlews and golden 

plover. 

As restoration work scales up so does our need for 

detailed understanding of our peatlands. Collaborative 

working is a key component with support from a 

growing number of Universities. Their work improves 

knowledge of key elements including understanding 

peatland condition, function and associated carbon 

loss within the Park. 

Uncontrolled wildfires are increasing globally. Within 

the Park wildfires and arson threaten sensitive and 

protected areas including peatlands. Drying peatlands 

are more at risk of severe fire burning the peat and 

releasing vast stores of carbon. Restoration work aims 

to re-wet peat, improving its resilience against fires.

OUR AIM

is to create healthy peatlands across the Park, 

providing a stabilising and positive influence on carbon 

management, nature recovery, fire management and 

water quality within our uplands.  In delivering our 

aims, we will increase our peatland restoration work 

to help address the challenges we face, working with 

landowners and other agencies to help restore all of 

the degrading peatland areas within the Park.

FUTURE BANNAU

Future Beacons provides a framework of 

understanding that focusses on the key elements 

within the Park and the processes relating to 

them. Peatland condition impacts them all to a 

greater or lesser extent. I am also positive about 

the opportunities the Future Bannau approach can 

bring to improving our understanding of landscape 

scale ecosystem function as peatlands play such an 

important role..

FUTURE BANNAU68

P
age 117



OUR 
CONTRIBUTIONS       

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

1. 1. We will embed decarbonisation into all activities of our organisation - including our 

land and building management, transport, energy, procurement, policies and procedures, 

in line with the Welsh Public Sector Net Zero by 2030 goal. We will support our staff and 

members to adopt low carbon practices at work and at home.   

2. We will work with the experts and data to understand how climate change is expected to 

impact the National Park, our environment,  people, places and historical heritage, in the 

future so that we can collectively prepare and be resilient.  

3. We will work with climate experts, partners and local communities to develop Net Zero, 

Carbon Sequestration and Climate Adaptation plans for the National Park, guided by best 

practice including the UN Race to Zero initiative.  

4. We will support or build partnerships with businesses, communities, residents and visitors 

to develop and deliver projects to act on climate change including sustainable local 

transport, energy, carbon capture and food solutions. We will work together for solutions 

that also generate local income, provide skills, training and jobs, and that drive forward 

new ideas and technologies.  

5. We will share evidence and analysis with partners, stakeholders and the public to inform 

those wishing to act on climate change to and to encourage and support those who are 

uncertain how they can make a difference.  

CLIMATE

Climate Change is a global issue which has local impact and requires local 
action to both prevent and prepare for. 

Our role is to bring together the evidence and data to enable us all to 
understand better how our actions, lifestyles and behaviours with the 
National Park are causing climate change so that we can each target our 
efforts to reduce fossil fuel consumption, sequester carbon or adopt new 
technologies in the most effective way and places.

Our role is also to galvanise action, bringing together partner organisa-
tions, residents and visitors to build a sustainable low-carbon future in 
the National Parks.

69

P
age 118



FUTURE BANNAU

It breaks my heart when we fight; I just 
can’t sit with the hurt for long. We both 
said things after the funeral last week 
which cut deeply.  

Grandpa Ioan was a constant for us all, our 
last connection to a simpler time. His loss 
has unsettled things; thrown up questions, 
especially around the land - what to do with 
it, who will take it on, and as you rightly 
said, “who’s it for?” 

This is both an apology and an 
explanation, some words and reason that 
escaped me in the heat of the moment.

Have I been “cowardly”, “selfish”, and 
“complicit”? Those are poisoned darts my 
love, which will fester for a while yet while I 
search for answers. 

The reason I got so angry with your 
suggestion, to cover the far pasture with 
temporary shelters (or even hand it over 
altogether), is that I am so aware of all it 
took to get to where we are now.  I feel it 
- like pricks of ink that scratch the skin 
- this land, those hard years, have left me 
marked. 
Let me try and explain.

Your father and I took on the farm back 
in 2020. Back then, there were some hot 
dry summers and wet winters for sure, 
but everything still felt ‘normal’. Life 

ticked along - the valley as beautiful as 
ever, full of life and productivity. It was 
hard to imagine any emergency. The 
understanding that a fundamental change 
was already set in, that we had no choice 
but to move with it, was a slow creep. For me 
at least. 

You and Dylan were always our priority. 
While you scurried around my skirt, 
unsure of our new home, your father and 
I desperately tried to get to grips with the 
farm, from the day-to-day to the bottom 
line, which quickly narrowed to a tightrope.  

We did what had been done before, what we 
knew, focusing on our little corner, to make 
it work for us, for you. When things took a 
turn in the mid-20s, we could barely afford 
to keep the lights on, to buy feed or food. 
Just like the government, we tightened our 
belts and narrowed our focus even further.  
Our resolve sharpened; we were ruthless; we 
did what was needed to care for our own, to 
tend our patch. 

Of course, like everyone else, we look back 
at the end of the 20s now with shame. But 
there are only so many strains a family 
can endure at once. Our instinct then was 
to hunker down, take what we could from 
less and less available - blinkered, building 
barriers to protect what we cared for dearly 
but never really dealing with the problem.  
What seems clear as day now - the 

mistakes made, opportunities missed- at 
the time, living it, you must understand, 
was anything but. It has been a hard truth, 
hard-won. 

Now of course, since we turned things 
round in the years that followed, saw our 
neighbours and the land as allies once 
more, we’ve become a community looking 
out as well as in. You embody this my love 
and I could not be prouder: helping those 
less fortunate find sanctuary here, and 
constantly asking (and shouting!) for 
what is fair and just.  I know it isn’t easy; 
you must be weary with the struggle.  But 
be proud my dear too, of yourself, of our 
community, its intentions and its actions, 
the best of us that’s endured and drives us 
forward.

My own contributions over the last decade 
might seem quiet and quaint, only 
stretching over the hill and into town, but 
in some ways my priorities are just the 
same as they always were - to nurture and 
protect what we have.  Now though, we’re not 
alone, we have help and guidance to grow 
and connect, constantly, bigger, better, 
more joined up.  Our regen farming and 
local deliveries might not seem that radical 
to you, nor my weekly ‘gossip’ with the 
community energy group, but it is what 
feels manageable to me. All I know is that 
compared to those darker days, the missteps 
we took, I tell you, it feels nothing short of 
miraculous!

The fight in us is forged by the 
challenges of our youth; my response was 
to nurture and protect, whereas yours is 
to reach out and connect. There is space 
and need for both. I hope you can learn to 
have pride in what we have here, our green 
resilient home, a community renewed - to 
see it not only as a privilege inherited but 
also the result of many hands over many 
years. In return, I will do my best to look 
out and beyond, to realise that ours is a 
blessing to be shared.

So, was I “selfish” and “complicit”? I guess 
so, but just as much as anyone else was 
at the time.  Was I “cowardly”?  I don’t 
think so, no. I did what I thought I could 
and should, perhaps even bravely, it was 
just misdirected, misguided. And for 
that, of course, I will always carry regret.   

I hope at least you can understand me 
a little better now my love. So, let’s talk 
again, and I will try better to listen and 
be open to change.  After all, change is 
one of the only true constants we now 
have. Between us though, I am sure we can 
navigate it.

With all my heart,

Your proud and stubborn mother
Sian Brychan 

Letter from Sian Brychan to her daughter Megan
February 20th 2042

To my daughter Megan, 

P
age 119



F U T U R E  B E A C O N S

W
A

TE
R

W
A

TE
R

71
Page 120



Mission
WATER

Clean, safe, resilient, 
plentiful, water resources and 

water environments 
By 2030

72

P
age 121



A
do

be
 s

to
ck

 im
ag

e 
27

19
27

41
8

FUTURE BANNAU

S U P P O R T I N G  T H E  P R O V I S I O N  O F  C L E A N 
A N D  S U S T A I N A B L E  W A T E R  R E S O U R C E S 

F O R  T H E  B R E C O N  B E A C O N S  A N D
 B E Y O N D 

RESILIENT CATCHMENTS

NUTRIENT LEVELS

Within  the Usk and Wye Catchments nutrient levels will be within safe 
levels for ecological resilience. 

WATER FLOW

The water levels within our rivers, ground sources and soils are sufficient 
for ecological and human health.  

RESTORED ECOSYSTEMS

The ecological features for which the Rivers Wye, Towy and Usk are 
designated as Special Areas of Conservation are fully restored and in good 

ecological health. 

FLOODING

The height of flood peak from record 2020 levels in vulnerable towns on 
the Usk and Wye is reduced.

WATER 
2028

what success looks like

73

P
age 122



FUTURE BANNAU

A
do

be
 s

to
ck

 im
ag

e 
27

19
27

41
8

ENSURING THAT THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BENEFITS GAINED FROM HIGH QUALITY, NATURE 

RICH, WATER ENVIRONMENTS CAN BE EXPERIENCED 
BY ALL WHO LIVE WITHIN AND VISIT THE BRECON 

BEACONS.

HIGH QUALITY WATER 
ENVIRONMENTS

WATER QUALITY
Pollutants such as heavy metals, micro plastics and pharmaceuticals 
will be mostly eradicated by 2030 and a pathway of action for total 

eradication is known. 

BATHING WATERS
Areas of our water environment will have been allocated as being 
of bathing water standard, and a code of conduct for open water 

swimming will have been adopted across the Brecon Beacons.

LOVE YOUR RIVERS
Residents and visitors will have a renewed relationship with our 

water environments, especially the rivers of the Park.  They will be 
celebrated for their cultural, recreational and environmental value.

WATER 
2028

what success looks like

74

P
age 123



FUTURE BANNAU

Here in the National Park, the same threats are 

observed.  Rivers and wetlands are the most 

ecologically important features of the National 

Park .  They are an important part of our historical 

and cultural environment, providing extensive 

health and wellbeing benefits.  However, they 

are also the most threatened environment and 

resource we have.

A range of compounding impacts have breached 

tipping points meaning that self-regulating 

natural processes essential to the quality and 

quantity of water environments can no longer 

properly function.  This is particularly true in 

relation to phosphate levels which at the time 

of writing are so significant that there is a need 

for fundamental change in land management 

practice and water treatment.

This Plan’s ambitions for water quality, 

quantity and water environments are intended 

to ensure that this essential and life giving 

resource is protected for the benefit of future 

generations.

We will work across organisations, 

eNGOs, citizens groups and statutory bodies 

to ensure we can protect this resource for the O
ne

 w
el

l

F U T U R E  B E A C O N S

Water is the most fundamental substance 

associated with human and planetary health.  

It is the lifeblood that supports all plant 

and animal life on Earth as well as our key 

systems, such as food production, industry and 

sanitation.  

Water as a resource is being utilised at an 

unsustainable rate.  It is estimated that by 

2050 about half a billion people are likely to 

be subject to water stress.   This includes us 

here in the Brecon Beacons, and the wider 

catchments our water resources serve.  50% 

of Welsh Water’s water abstracted on a daily 

basis comes from within our boundary.

In 2021 the Stockholm Resilience Centre 

published new data, looking at ‘green water’ 

that is the water that is embedded within soil 

and atmosphere and fundamental to safeguard 

the functioning of planetary systems.  Their 

assessment found that as a total global human 

race we were using this resource at a rate 

and scale that is unsustainable and potentially 

threatening to our planetary stability, or our 

ability to maintain exploitation at current 

levels.  They urged a new research agenda to 

determine both the threat our use of water 

systems causes and a means of mitigating 

and adapting to changing availability within a 

changing climate.

It is not just water quantity that is under 

threat, very sadly there is both global and 

local data demonstrating that our water 

environments are being damaged through 

human impacts.  Our activity is adding excess 

nutrients chemicals, heavy metals and plastics 

into these vital systems.  Globally 35% of our 

wetlands have disappeared since 1970, leading 

to a decline in 83% of freshwater species.

All water on Earth is connected, so there really is just one source of water - one, All water on Earth is connected, so there really is just one source of water - one, 

global well - from which we all draw our water.  global well - from which we all draw our water.  

Every ocean wave, every lake, stream and underground river, every raindrop Every ocean wave, every lake, stream and underground river, every raindrop 

and snowflake and every bit of ice in glaciers and polar icecaps is part of this and snowflake and every bit of ice in glaciers and polar icecaps is part of this 

global well.global well.

So whether you are turning on a faucet in North America, pulling water from a So whether you are turning on a faucet in North America, pulling water from a 

well in Kenya or bathing in a river in India, it is all the same water.  And because well in Kenya or bathing in a river in India, it is all the same water.  And because 

it is all connected, how we treat the water in the well will affect every species it is all connected, how we treat the water in the well will affect every species 

on the planet, including us, now and for years to come.on the planet, including us, now and for years to come.

Rochelle Strauss

One Well: The Story of Water on Earth

75

P
age 124



F U T U R E  B E A C O N S

1. We will prioritise water and our water systems in all our activities and work with our 

staff and stakeholders to share the importance of the water mission for all. 

2. We will be exemplars in establishing the Usk Catchment partnership to lead in the full 

ecological recovery of the catchment for water quality, nutrient management, water 

security, amenity, wildlife and ecosystem services. 

3. We will work in partnership to protect and enhance all our water systems within the 

National Park, rivers, lakes, canals, peatlands, marshes and wetlands for their role in nature 

recovery, climate change, flood protection, water provision and supporting the wellbeing 

of our communities and visitors. 

4. We will support communities, households, businesses and visitors to re-connect to the 

blue landscape through the stories of history, culture and geology. We work in partnership 

with, and support, the agricultural sector to explore approaches to land management 

and practices that enable food production and ecological restoration to combine for the 

benefit of all. 

5. We will share the evidence and data so that we can all understand the impact our lives 

and behaviours have on our water, how we can protect our water-courses and ensure they 

can be enjoyed for years to come.

OUR CONTRIBUTIONS       
Water is the fountain of life, it is our most valuable resource and our most 
vulnerable. 

The communities of the Brecon Beacons have interacted with our water 
systems and the blue landscape throughout history. 

The people of Wales and beyond rely on our water systems for the physical, 
mental and recreational needs - water connects us. 

Our role is lead a new focus on the importance of water withing the 
National Park, to place the protection, repair and recovery of our water 
systems at the heart of all that we do. 

Water

76

P
age 125



Beacons 
Water 
Group
A partnership between Welsh Water and 

Beacons Water Group, piloting innovative 
approaches to agricultural practice that 

deliver improvements to raw water 
quality and farm efficiency.

Nigel Elgar
Project Manager

Brecon Beacons Mega Catchment Programme Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water

The Beacons Water Group is a Community Interest Company comprised of a 
cluster of six farmers, supported by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water.  The group takes 

inspiration from the pristine landscape of the high mountains of the Catskills, 
whose nature based approach to catchment management  is internationally 
renowned.  Together the group has developed an approach that recognises 
and values the contribution agriculture can make to protecting the water 

environment.
The approach empowers farmers to provide solutions to water quality risks that 

also provide benefits to their farm businesses.

At its heart this project  is about building trust between us as a statutory body 
and the farmers who work on the ground so we can get to a position of shared 
objectives and action.   Key to this is understanding and respecting each other’s 

perspectives 

77

P
age 126



FARMING FOR WATER QUALITY

The project seeks to understand how we can sustainably engage farm businesses as part of a 

whole system approach to the management of water quality.  We have been working together 

to identify those simple, replicable interventions that benefit both water quality and farm 

business efficiency, such as maximiaing utilisation of bought in fertilisers,  and simple measures 

to prevent soil erosion and run off.   

By identifying win/win solutions, we hope to develop a model that other landowners and 

farmers could easily pick up and implement elsewhere.  This will significantly reduce risks in 

the raw water environment whilst supporting a thriving agricultural sector.

Many of the farm interventions being piloted have the potential to deliver improvements to 

our natural environment whilst contributing to tackling the challenges presented by climate 

change. With the support of the Beacons Water Group members and Dwr Cymru Welsh 

Water we would like the National Park to contribute to and actively support the creation 

and facilitation of other farmer cluster groups throughout the National Park, replicating this 

pioneering approach.

WHAT FUTURE BEACONS MEANS TO US

 

A thriving and balanced farming sector should be a core building block on which to build 

Future Beacons

Farming has a key role to play in maintaining the beautiful landscape and natural environment, 

helping to tackle the impact of climate change, as well as supporting local business, 

communities and Welsh culture. Sustainable farming techniques will also contribute towards 

helping to safeguard drinking water sources from this strategically important area for future 

generations.

We believe that lasting change is possible, but it will take a mind set change across public 

bodies and land managers, we hope that we can count on the BBNPA to join us on this 

journey.

FUTURE BANNAU78

P
age 127



Invaders of 
the National 
Park

Working in partnership to manage 
Invasive Non Native Species within the 

National Park.

Bev Lewis
Invasive Non-Native Species Co-ordinator

Brecon Beacons National Park

We are working with a range of organisations, landowners, community groups 
and the public to address the issues of invasive non-native species within the 

Naitonal Park.  Invasive non-natives can be really damaging to our native wildlife 
and habitats, by working together to remove these invaders we can help recover 

wider ecosystems.

We are focussing on species including; Japanese knotweed, Himalayan balsam, 
Rhododendron & Cherry laurel . We have worked predominantly in the River 

Usk catchment as that is where the majority of invasive species have been 
recorded, but we also work on other species within the National Park area.

79

P
age 128



A GROWING PROBLEM

Invasive Non-Native Species are one of the biggest threats to biodiversity. Whilst most people 

are aware of habitat loss and fragmentation as the number one cause they are less aware of 

how much of an impact invasive species have to biodiversity, people, the economy and human 

health.

There are already a large number of non-native species in Britain and the number becoming 

established is likely to increase due to the growth in world trade and global tourism.  Climate 

change may also allow species that are currently benign in Britain to become invasive.

WHAT PROJECT SUCCESS WOULD MEAN 

We would like to see people with greater awareness regarding the threat to biodiversity 

from invasive non native species and as a result of that an improvement in their bio-security  

practices to prevent new invasions.

That would mean that any new invasive species would be noticed, recorded and managed 

early before they were at risk of becoming long term problems.

It would also mean that existing invasive species problems would be under active 

management.

OUR ACTIONS

‘Prevention is better, cheaper and more efficient than the cure’ we want people to be really 

aware about invasive species, to take bio-security precautions and to help us with recording 

new  and existing invasive species.

We will be looking to get some of the invasive species that have already established 

themselves under a plan of management in a co-ordinated sustainable way.

FUTURE BANNAU

This work cannot be done alone, it must be done in partnership in a joined up co-ordinated 

way with long term impetus behind the project.  Future Bannau provides  the overarching 

framework which helps join up the dots for us all.

FUTURE BANNAU80

P
age 129



Extract from a eulogy for Ioan Brychan
February 2042
By Dafydd Brychan

My father, Ioan Brychan, husband to Mair, beloved Grandpa to Dylan and Megan, was, amongst many 
things, a poet. Sadly, I am not.  If he could have written his own eulogy, it would have you both laughing 
and crying in the aisles. It would have been a fair tribute, I am sure.  

I sadly didn’t inherit his way with words, so won’t provide the lyrical send-off he deserves. I will do my 
best though, to provide some of the words we might need.

When I close my eyes and think of Dad, he is sitting next to water. The river runs along the southern 
edge of the farm and he had a deep connection with it. To understand the man, you must also 
understand the river.

In 1995, when I was 10, Dad taught me to fish. Looking back, I now see how much more he taught me 
by those banks.

In those days, the river was full of salmon, shad, trout, and young wriggling lamprey. We always threw 
back what we caught, “for the otter’s supper”. Dad believed that a healthy river was a treasure to 
share, “Nature in full song for all to enjoy”.  Those words have stayed with me ever since, and like the 
river, at his best, he was a man full of life, full of song. 

But also like the river, that spirit didn’t always flow.  During the drought of 2028, the water dropped 
lower than anything on record, lower than anyone could remember. The river stank, the harvests 
failed and water was rationed. If it weren’t such a painful memory it would be hard to imagine. Like 
most people, it nearly broke him. 

Yet, while others fought over local springs, Dad openly shared ours with neighbours. Mum thought 
he was mad. Maybe he was. But he earned a huge amount of respect that summer and when he later 
approached those same neighbours with plans to collectively deal with the droughts and floods - 
slowing the flow, holding freshwater, improving the soil - everybody listened. I even hear that Bryn 
plans to rename his storage pond in Dad’s honour! The old romantic would have loved that, I’m sure. 

Dad understood that no action, good or bad, exists in isolation. It might flow round the bend, out of 
sight, out of mind, but someone, somewhere downstream, would feel the effects. “No one else should 
ever have to tidy up your mess” he once screamed across the field, after catching me toss a can off 
the bridge. I never did it again. 

He lived his life by this idea, this responsibility. 

But, of course, as much as he protected his own stretch, he couldn’t control what happened up 
stream, or once it had passed. The river was on its knees in the early 20s; turned from green to 
brown.  After another decade of abuse, on 23rd May 2030, a visiting ecologist officially declared it as 
dead. With it, died a part of him. We watched from the house, as the next da, he sat silently for hours, 
carving a message into a boulder on the bank. When he was finished, he rolled it into the river and 
never spoke of it again. 

Twelve years later, we have a river again. In fact, the week before Dad died, we sat and watched a Grey 
Wagtail picking insects off its surface. He said it was the first he’d seen there for 15 years. It felt like a 
small miracle. In reality though, it’s been the result of many hands, many stubborn minds (many in this 
room), working together with the right guidance, to clear up the mess of others we would no longer 
tolerate. 

The morning after Dad died, I waded into the river at the spot he rolled his boulder in. After 20 
minutes of searching, I found it.
I want to finish by reading his words carved in stone.

“Mater o galon ddynol yw gofalu am afonydd, nid o afonydd eu hun.”  
The care of rivers is not a question of rivers but of the human heart. 

He might be gone, but our river lives again. I can think of no better way to honour this beautiful 
man and his most generous of human hearts than to continue to care for it as he did. Thank you for 
listening, and for all your support over the years. 

FUTURE BANNAU

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

P
age 130



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

N
A

TU
RE

N
A

TU
RE

82
Page 131



Image by Nigel Forster

NATURE
A Nature Positive Brecon 
Beacons National Park by 
2030

83

P
age 132



FUTURE BANNAU

A L L  M A J O R  H A B I T A T S  I N  T H E  N A T I O N A L 
P A R K ,  I N C L U D I N G  G R A S S L A N D ,  N A T I V E 

W O O D L A N D ,  U P L A N D  H E A T H L A N D ,  A N D 
P E A T L A N D ,  W I L L  B E  O N  A  P A T H W A Y  T O 

N E T  B I O D I V E R S I T Y  G A I N .

HABITAT RECOVERY

DECLINE HAS BEEN HALTED

Loss of habitat through land use change is halted, over-exploitation is cur-
tailed, and invasive non-native species are controlled

SITES OF SPECIAL SCIENTIFIC INTEREST ARE 
CONSERVED

All SSSIs are in favorable condition

DEGRADED HABITAT IS RESTORED

Increase in the proportion of each habitat that is in favourable condition

NATURE HAS RETURNED

Increase the total area for each habitat by restoring transformed land to 
natural habitat

NATURE
2028

What success looks
like

84

P
age 133



FUTURE BANNAU

F L A G S H I P  S P E C I E S ,  T H A T  A R E  E M B L E M A T I C  O F 
T H E  N A T I O N A L  P A R K  O R  S P E C I F I C  H A B I T A T S , 
A R E  I N C R E A S I N G  I N  N U M B E R S  A N D  E X T E N T 

SPECIES CONSERVATION

THREATS ARE REDUCED

Critical threats to species are reduced, including harmful land & water 
management and invasive non-nature species

NUMBERS HAVE INCREASED 

The number of each flagship species increases

RANGE HAS INCREASED

The range occupied by each flagship species increases

E C O S Y S T E M  F U N C T I O N S  A N D 
E C O S Y S T E M  S E R V I C E  G E N E R A T E D  B Y  T H E 

P A R K  A R E  E N H A N C E D 

ECOSYSTEM MANAGEMENT

RESILIENCE IS ENHANCED

Connectivity within and between ecosystems is increased to enhance 
nature’s adaptation to climate change 

ECOSYSTEM SERVICES ARE SUPPORTED

All ecosystems within the Park, including areas under intensive use, are 
managed to optimise ecosystem services, including food, water, climate 

and amenity values

ECOSYSTEMS ARE REHABILITATED

Ecosystem risks, including soil erosion, pollution, flooding and fire , are 
mitigated to support nature and society in adapting to climate change

85

P
age 134



FUTURE BANNAU

UK National Parks are Category V protected 

areas, meaning they are ‘living working 

landscapes’. It is vital that National Parks 

contribute fully to the UK Government’s pledge 

to achieve 30% of land and sea protected for 

nature by 2030,  and further that we meet the 

recommendations for designated landscapes 

set out by the Welsh Government arising from 

the ‘Biodiversity Deep Dive’. 

Our vision is for the National Park in its 

entirety to be functioning effectively as a 

protected area, supporting land uses and 

management strategies that contribute to 

habitat recovery, species conservation and 

ecosystem functioning.  The Brecon Beacons 

National Park Authority is guided by the 

British Ecological Society recommendations 

for National Parks to “deliver for nature in the 

long term (effectiveness)” and “build ecological 

resilience and improve biodiversity (in the face 

of climate change and other environmental 

pressures)”. 

Achieving a positive outcome for nature 

challenges us to evaluate the current state 

and trends in the National Park, and leverage 

significant additional resources where they 

are most needed. Effective collaboration, at 

a much larger scale, will be at the heart of 

delivering impact. Farmers form the biggest 

group of land users in the National Park and 

will be central to the innovations needed to 

achieve the nature mission.  
6t

h 
M

as
s 

E
xt

in
ct

io
n

F U T U R E  B E A C O N S

The 2019 Natural Resources Wales State of 

Natural Resources Report highlighted the 

loss of 73 species from Wales since the 1970s 

with a further 666 at risk of extinction. The 

State of the Park Report from 2020 found that 

eight ‘red list’ species were declining by more 

than 50% in the Brecon Beacons National 

Park area, including swift, greenfinch, grey 

wagtail, yellowhammer, curlew, wheatear and 

rook. Some of our most familiar birds, such as 

chaffinch and blue tit, were shown to decline 

between 25 - 50%. These declines were seen 

across multiple species and multiple habitats, 

which indicates wide-ranging problems within 

ecosystems, with profound consequences for 

nature and humanity.

The Nature Mission—ensuring that the Brecon 

Beacons National Park is Nature Positive 

by 2030—means turning the corner on the 

current state of decline, and by 2030 putting 

nature recovery on an upward trajectory. 

We need to halt the decline in habitats, restore 

those that are degraded, and revert some back 

to nature, and we must achieve this without 

allowing one habitat to trade-off against 

another . More action must be focused on the 

60 plus Biological Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest in the National Park to ensure they 

are in favourable condition and exemplars of 

conservation. Specific attention is needed to 

arrest the decline of flagship species and to 

increase their numbers and range, by reducing 

threats and expanding habitat. Ecosystem 

services generated by the National Park – 

from drinking water, to carbon sequestration, 

to a place to connect with nature – are vital to 

those in and beyond the National Park.    More 

coherent, more joined-up and bigger scale 

action is needed to safeguard these services , 

and support sustainable local food production.      

What if we go beyond damage limitation? What if our economic What if we go beyond damage limitation? What if our economic 

activities not only minimize impact, but also enhance ecosystems? activities not only minimize impact, but also enhance ecosystems? 

A nature positive approach enriches biodiversity, stores carbon, A nature positive approach enriches biodiversity, stores carbon, 

purifies water and reduces pandemic risk. A nature positive purifies water and reduces pandemic risk. A nature positive 

approach enhances the resilience of our planet, our societies and approach enhances the resilience of our planet, our societies and 

economies.economies.

Johan rockStrömJohan rockStröm

director, potSdam inStitute for climate impact reSearchdirector, potSdam inStitute for climate impact reSearch

ruSSell peterSon, declaration of interdependence, 1973 

86

P
age 135

https://gov.wales/biodiversity-deep-dive-recommendations-html


Image by Nigel Forster

Curlew 
Recovery 
Lifeline 

Working in partnership, at a 
landscape scale to help recover 
Curlew populations in the Brecon 
Beacons and prevent their extinction

Nicola Davies
Ecologist 

Brecon Beacons National Park

The Curlew is a pretty iconic species in our Welsh Countryside, with its distinctive call 
echoing through the lowland valleys signaling the coming of summer for generations upon 

generations. Sadly, since 1993 the population in Wales has fallen by over 90%. If this trajecto-
ry continues without intervention, it is predicted that the curlew will be facing country-wide 

extinction by 2033. Curlew is now considered to be the most pressing bird conservation 
priority in Wales. The population of curlew here in the Brecon Beacons is the most south-
erly breeding population found in lowland meadows in Wales and sadly, probably the most 

precarious in terms of the predicted impacts of climate change.

We are developing a project  called CWRLIP located in the Usk catchment and Llangorse 
area to prevent the extinction of curlews over the next few years . The project aims to take 
several approaches to the curlews recovery including working with farmers and landowners, 

survey and monitoring, education and publicity, influencing policy makers, habitat mapping, 
and habitat restoration.

We will be working with a wide range of stakeholders including research-based organisa-
tions, landowners, conservation organisations, policy makers, farming unions and the general 

public.

We are working in one of 12 Important Curlew Areas (ICA’s) across Wales using the 
“Wales Action Plan for the Recovery of Curlew” as a general framework for direction and 

alongside Gylfinir Cymru – a joint working group between organisations that represent 
sectors of government, conservation, farming and game management in Wales.

87

P
age 136



A PRESSING CHALLENGE

This project is not just about the curlew. 

Curlew are an ‘umbrella’ species, meaning that 

action to help the curlew survive by finding 

out more and protecting their habitats will 

also benefit a wide range of other wildlife. The 

problem is we know that these habitats are 

under large-scale and urgent threat, and time 

is running out to prevent the curlew being lost 

from our landscape for good.

THE IMPORTANCE OF THE FARMING 

COMMUNITY

The success of this project falls or succeeds 

on building a strong partnership with farmers 

and land-managers of the Usk valley. We will 

be working with farmers in targeted areas 

to help develop viable agricultural systems 

that support the curlew’s habitat through 

developing sustainable land management 

practices.

THE WORK OF THE NATIONAL PARK

We are a lead partner within the project, 

and are committed to supporting curlew 

conservation as part of a Wales wide network. 

We will endeavor to raise funds to deliver 

CWRLIP which will be based upon best 

practice, science and evidence, and through 

working with the farming community to 

recover curlew populations. We will also 

work to develop the key partnerships that 

are needed to make this project a success and 

work with our land managers, to combine their 

knowledge and expertise with our own to 

protect this magnificent bird for generations 

to come.

SUCCESS MEANS EVERYTHING

Failure doesn’t bear thinking about. We are 

focused on the success of this project. We must 

halt the decline of curlews in our landscape 

and work towards improving their ability 

to thrive alongside productive agricultural 

systems. If we fail here, not only do we lose an 

iconic species from the Brecon Beacons, we 

also would be witnessing an indicator of a far 

greater decline in ecosystem health and the 

biodiversity of this National Park.

FUTURE BEACONS, FUTURE HOPE

The ambitions set out in Future Beacons bring 

hope to an ecologist like me working at the 

grass roots of nature conservation. It is raises 

the possibilities, and gives me strength to know 

that there are a range of people out there that 

will be working together,  to halt the decline 

of nature for the benefit of humanity.

C
U

R
LE

W
 (

C
) 

B
E

N
 P

O
RT

E
R

FUTURE BANNAU88

P
age 137



Image by Nigel Forster Project partners meet with local farmers (c) Action for Conservation

the 
PENPONT 
Project

The Penpont Project is the UK’s first 
intergenerational nature recovery 
project of its kind, located on the 
Penpont estate within the Brecon 
Beacons National Park. 

Forrest Hogg
Project Manager
Penpont Estate

Launched in 2019 on the 2,000-acre Penpont estate in the Brecon Beacons National Park, 
the Penpont Project is an intergenerational nature recovery project bringing together young 

people, farmers, foresters, landowners, artists and ecologists to revive biodiversity, Welsh 
cultural heritage and to connect local people with nature, with all the benefits this brings. 

In Wales, the 2019 State of Nature report found that 1 in 6 species are at risk of extinction 
Whilst conservation action is vital today, we need to ensure our solutions that are long-

term, inclusive and strengthens diversity at all levels. This is why we are working across 
generations at Penpont. 

At the heart of this approach is the recognition that, as poet Gary Snyder wrote, “the wild is 
not about pristine landscapes. Instead, it’s about landscapes that are rich and diverse enough 
to be interesting for everybody, human and non-human alike.” In other words, we recognise 

that land and waterscapes are deeply invested with cultural meaning, and as such, empow-
ered and inclusive social processes are central to achieving lasting ecological regeneration 

and resilience. Through this work, we are creating new opportunities for young people and 
the local community to revive natural processes.

89

P
age 138



A SHARED CHALLENGE

We are living in one of the most biodiversity depleted 

lands in the world, and climate breakdown is beginning 

to have serious impacts all living beings. We have 

seen unprecedented floods devastate our homes, 

tree diseases wipe out our woodlands and extreme 

summer droughts impact our farming. 

We are also amidst a social crisis. Our children are 

spending less and less time in nature, and it is becoming 

more widely recognised how disconnection from 

nature negatively impacts young people’s learning, 

behaviour, health and wellbeing. Unless we change 

this, they are less likely to fight to protect our natural 

heritage as adults.

The Penpont Project seeks to address these 

interconnected issues through an intergenerational 

approach to restoring land back to health whilst 

providing numerous opportunities for young people, 

and community members, to connect with nature and 

take meaningful action. 

COLLABORATING FOR SUCCESS

Success comes through working together and co-

creating a landscape rich in habitat and biodiversity and 

where our cultural heritage is valued and preserved. 

The projects vision encompasses the needs and 

ambitions of a wide range of actors – the from young 

people visiting the site regularly to the farmers and 

community living and working at Penpont day-to-day. 

The agroecological movement offers a powerful 

roadmap to a land-sharing model were nature 

restoration and farming work together. Through 

restoring our hedgerows, increasing tree cover 

and habitat availability and adopting regenerative 

agricultural and conservation practices to regenerate 

land and waters capes, provide habitats to struggling 

and providing communities with a range of co-benefits. 

Wales is also leading the way with innovative legislation, 

namely the Wellbeing of Future Generations act, we 

hope to embody this through our work.

OUR PROJECT

We have formed a co-management council whom 

are deciding on how to regenerate over 450 acres of 

land using a blend of practices including conservation 

grazing, regenerative agricultural practices, agroforestry, 

habitat restoration and species support actions. We 

have conducted a wide range of ecological baseline 

surveys with a range of specialists and local ecologists 

in order to measure our success.

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has been 

a key supporter to the project so far. We are members 

of the Tree Mapping Scheme, and have collaborated 

with the Park’s Wardens and local community members 

to plant over 3,000 trees, restore hedgerows and sow 

wildflower seeds to targeted areas. We hope to work 

even closer with Park and other local groups as we 

continue to implement our action plan,

FUTURE BANNAU

This plan represents an ambitious vision for an 

inclusive and ecologically rich landscape that values 

our traditions and ways of life. We hope our project 

can contribute to this transformation and be a part of 

a growing community working together to meet the 

most urgent challenge of our times.

Lo
ca

l s
ch

oo
l s

tu
de

nt
s 

su
rv

ey
in

g 
in

se
ct

s 
(c

) A
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

co
ns

er
va

ti
on

FUTURE BANNAU90

P
age 139



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

1. We will embed nature recovery and the conservation of our living landscape in all our 

activities within the National Park,  building on our role to conserve and protect to 

become beacons for nature recovery in all that we do. 

2. We will be exemplars through prioritising the protection and recovery of our own land 

for nature recovery and target our support in priority protected species, habitats and 

ecosystems within the park e.g. SSSIs and SACs. 

3. We will use our data and that of our partners and researchers to develop Nature 

Recovery Action Plans, prioritise species, habitats and ecosystems of the National Park to 

protect and restore, and to monitor progress. 

4. We will establish partnerships with landowners and the agricultural sector to explore and 

establish regenerative farming and land management that also supports our rural economy 

and prepares us for the future. 

5. We will work in partnership to share best practice tools and strategies, supporting 

everyone to understand how they can actively contribute towards conservation and 

nature recovery, including managing invasive non-native species.

OUR 
CONTRIBUTIONS       

Our natural environment sustains us, physically, mentally, culturally and 
spiritually.

 
Y Bannau is s a living landscape, a mosaic of native, semi-native and 
managed habitats and ecosystems. Home to woodlands, peatlands, 

moorlands, pasture, meadows and more. 

Our role is to use our skills and data to understand this complexity, 
to use this information and knowledge to work in partnership with all 

those who own and manage the land of the Park (including ourselves) to 
protect, repair and regenerate our key habitats, species and ecosystems. 

We will explore and channel the emerging economic and social 
drivers for environmental change to support farmers, landowners and 

communities to establish new ways of working that support thriving 
communities whilst repairing and restoring our essential ecosystems.   

NATURE

91

P
age 140



Brychan story piece to be added prior to publication

92
Page 141



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

PE
O

PL
E

PE
O

PL
E

93
Page 142



PHOTO CREDIT GABRIELLA KARNEY

Mission
PEOPLE

Living, working, visiting - 
safely, equitably and 
sustainably

For the Brecon Beacons
By 2028 the people of the National Park will be able to meet their 

needs (whether health, economic, recreational or residential) whilst 
respecting and regenerating our environment.

 Visitor experience is enhanced by being firmly embedded within sus-
tainability principles.

94

P
age 143



FUTURE BANNAU

I M P R O V I N G  T H E  Q U A L I T Y  O F  L I F E  A N D  W E L L -
B E I N G  F O R  A L L  T H O S E  W H O  L I V E  W O R K  A N D 

P L A Y  I N  T H E  B E A C O N S

QUALITY OF LIFE 

PEOPLE
What success looks

like
2028

FUTURE FOOD
The sustainability and affordability of healthy food available to residents and 
visitors will have improved through the creation of local food networks of 

sustainable food production and retailing.

FUTURE SKILLS AND JOBS
The demographic mix of people living in the Park will have increased as a result 

of investment in rural skills for the future.

FUTURE HOMES
People who need to or want to live their lives here will be able to do so with-
in their means.  There will be extensive protection against second and holiday 

homes where necessary.  For those who cannot afford market prices there will 
be low carbon community led housing options available.  

FUTURE HEAT AND POWER
We will have achieved a just transition to low carbon forms of heat and power

FUTURE TRANSPORT
Availability and accessibility of low carbon transport options will have increased.  

Active travel options will be easier to utilise day to day as will other mobility 
schemes such as e-car share and e-bike hire.

FUTURE LIVES
The people of the Brecon Beacons feel connected (a sense of belonging) In com-

munities or visitor experiences which are caring, cohesive and enriching. 

FUTURE CONNECTIONS
Digital connectivity is improved and provides opportunities for equal access to 

services, facilities and jobs.  

FUTURE ECONOMY
Local communities and businesses will benefit from a vibrant and sustainable 
economy focused on local wealth generation and the foundational economy.  
Sustainable new investment will work alongside home grown busessinses to 

provide ood quality employment opportunities. 

EQUITY, DIVERSITY, INCLUSION
We will challenge and remove discrimination and barriers to participation wher-
ever they may occur, creating a National Park where everyone can find opportu-

nity and belonging.

95

P
age 144

https://businesswales.gov.wales/foundational-economy


FUTURE BANNAU

w

FUTURE VISITORS

We will have become the torchbearers for sustainable tourism.  Visiting the 
Brecon Beacons provides a unique experience, which enhances support for 

nature recovery, community wellbeing, and the local economy.  Visitors will know 
our story and be motivated to help us respond to key challenges, especially 

through their own actions and behaviours

WELSH LANGUAGE AND CULTURE

Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated as part of the rich tapestry of cultural 
lives of Wales.  There is an increased awareness and knowledge of the Welsh 
language and culture amongst our residents and visitors.  Welsh language and 

culture is loved and valued by all regardless of levels of language fluency. 

SUSTAINABLE BUSINESSES

There will be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a local sus-
tainable and equitable economy within the Brecon Beacons.

96

P
age 145



FUTURE BANNAU

The people of the Park are as varied as our 

landscape is ancient.  Here we talk of those 

who live within our boundaries, who have made 

lives here, homes here, raised families, loved, 

laughed and faced fears here.  We also refer 

to those who run businesses from the Park, 

maybe hosting one of the 5 million visitors 

we see each year, maybe farming the land, 

raising stock on the hills as has been done for 

generations, or doing something completely 

unrelated, just happens to be here in the Park, 

who knows.  We also refer to those visitors, 

those who come to soak up the views, tread 

lightly on our soil, enjoy a bit of our famous 

hospitality.

Our people are our strength, and it is through 

our people that we will bring about the change 

that is needed for a sustainable future.  It is 

also for our future generations of residents, 

visitors and business owners that we reiterate 

again and again this need for change.

Our resident population is however getting 

older, with time this means that we will face 

a shortage of younger people of working age 

which will in turn have a knock on effect on the 

provision of services, facilities, our economy 

and our future sustainability.  It also skews 

perceptions as young people’s voices are lost 

from our communities.

Communities are challenged by the high 

proportion of houses being used as second 

and holiday homes.  Although these bring 

economic benefit, they also create gaps in 

communities where houses are unoccupied, 

and communities dwindle in numbers, 

coherence and feelings of belonging suffer.

Our visitor profile has shifted dramatically 

since the covid lock downs.  We are seeing 

more visitors than ever before, some areas 

of the Park just don’t have the infrastructure 

to support the levels of visitors that come, 

as a result visitors and communities find 

Human societies are like car Human societies are like car 

engines that constantly redesign engines that constantly redesign 

themselves and within which every themselves and within which every 

component/person is connected to component/person is connected to 

every otherevery other

Why Demography MattersWhy Demography Matters

Danny DorlingDanny Dorling

themselves dealing with less than positive 

outcomes.

Taken in combination we see a population, 

both permanent and temporary which has 

moved beyond safe operating limits for the 

planet and society.  Our communities are 

compromised, their needs are not being met, 

our visitors are inadvertently causing harm to 

the natural environments they have come to 

visit and value so much.

This is why our mission focuses so strongly 

on meeting day to day needs in a manner 

that respects the limits of planetary systems.   

Shifting the way people live, work and access 

the Park is critical if we are to ensure the 

People of the Park a safe and sustainable future.T
he

 ju
st

 a
nd

 s
af

e 
sp

ac
e 

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

97

P
age 146



Duncan Fisher & Sue Holbrook
Project Managers

Our Food 1200 / Ein Bwyd 1200

We’re experienced and proactive local people working together through Our Food 
1200 / Ein Bwyd 1200, a community benefit society. We’re responding to an emergency 

that is threatening our climate, nature, food supplies and our health. We’re working 
through partnerships, including with the National Park and other Future Beacons 

partners.

Our 
Food

Building a new local food economy 
in Monmouthshire & and the 
Brecon Beacons that is carbon 
neutral, secure, inclusive, and more 
prosperous.

98

P
age 147



OUR FOOD

To create a vibrant local food economy, we need to 

grow demand for local food – from residents, from 

local authorities, and from neighbouring cities. At the 

same time, we need to grow more food locally, using 

regenerative principles that fix carbon and do not 

damage nature with phosphate or nitrate pollution. 

To do that we must find land, attract skilled growers 

to work this land, and support these new small 

farms with finance, housing, planning, marketing and 

technology.

We’re starting with fruit and veg because they’re 

weekly essentials and provide the foundation for a 

local food economy that can, as it grows, carry other 

locally grown food.

OUR AIMS

Success will be eight things: reduced carbon 

emissions in our region from growing and consuming 

food, safe local supplies for when global food chains 

are disrupted, more local jobs, providing healthy and 

more nutritious food, reduced pollution, protecting 

and enhancing biodiversity, stronger community 

cohesion around food trade, and helping to alleviate 

local food poverty.

OUR ACTIONS

We’re building demand for local fruit and veg – 

town-based marketing campaigns, working with 

local authorities to supply schools, and working 

with the Cardiff food programmes to build supply 

chains there. We’re supporting the development of 

small, highly productive, commercial horticulture 

businesses that use regenerative techniques (fixing 

carbon, building soil biodiversity, and following 

organic principles) and that employ about 1 

person/acre. We’re matching growers with private 

landowners, we’re looking for farms to buy into 

community ownership for multiple small food-

based enterprises, and we’re seeking county farms 

for the same purpose. We’re working to increase 

commercial horticulture training provision and 

talking to school pupils about a future career in 

growing. We’re helping new farmers to develop 

joint sales and marketing, find start-up and growth 

finance, find housing, and employ zero carbon 

small-farm technologies. We’re also working with 

local authorities and Welsh Government to develop 

supportive planning regulations and policies.

We want to communicate to the local public in 

unison with the National Park Authority. We also 

want to work with the Authority to create planning 

regulations that support small-scale regenerative 

farming.

FUTURE BANNAU

Future Beacons means we can work in partnership 

with the National Park and all its other partners. 

Like everyone else, we cannot achieve our aims 

without strong partnerships.

99

P
age 148



Black 
Mountains 
College

Building a learning community 
to explore how to adapt to the 
enormous changes about to unfold 
due to climate breakdown

Creating a future in which nature 
and human societies thrive through 
outdoor learning with positive social 
and ecological outcome

100

P
age 149



OUR ACTION 

We will be working with the National Park Authority 

on work placements, challenge briefs, citizen science 

and real world to implement change. We will also be 

attracting dozens if not hundreds of students to the 

Park, to enhance our economy, our culture and to 

make the Park a destination for innovation in thinking 

and designing new ways of doing things.

FUTURE BANNAU IS THE MANIFESTATION 

OF A DREAM

Which is a key part of our mission and also our offer 

to students. We hope and expect that students will 

partly be coming to Black Mountains College in order 

to play a part in realising this vision, learning from the 

experience and then going on to make other visions a 

reality elsewhere.

Black Mountain 
College
Ben Rawlence

Director

We started Black Mountains College in response 

the challenges Climate Breakdown brings. Climate 

breakdown is a new era that requires a huge change 

in how we organise our economies an societies and 

how we relate to nature.  The kernel of the idea was: 

what can a place teach you? If we are to interrogate 

future scenarios, what better place to do it than 

the beauty and the challenges facing the ecosystems 

of the Brecon Beacons National Park. Plus, what a 

lovely place to study? Our aim is to provide training 

in skills and mindsets for climate adaptation deeply 

rooted in the landscape of the National Park.

We believe that the central challenge has to be 

how to build sustainable societies within planetary 

boundaries. This is no small feat, and we believe our 

students have a significant role in finding ways to 

implement the strategy of Future Bannau, and by so 

doing showcasing our region as a beacon for the UK: 

this is how we can turn the super-tanker of over-

consumption and the destruction of nature around.

OUR VISION 

We would like to see material gains in biodiversity, 

human development and nature recovery in the 

National Park alongside hundreds of graduates who 

have helped make those changes as part of their 

studies. Further, if we can inspire a re-think about 

what National Parks are for – their founding purpose 

to educate and inform and re-connect people to the 

life support systems of our planet, then we will have 

succeeded.  We believe, in their widest sense, National  

parks should be seen as public universities with a civic 

mission.

101

P
age 150



OUR contributions       
Neither people nor nature can thrive without the other, we are all part of the 

complex landscape of the National Park. People have shaped the landscape and 
environment of the Beacons for thousands of years and have created it, protect-

ed and sometime damaged it. 

Our role is connect or reconnect people to the natural environment and to 
work in partnership so that we can restore the balance of healthy thriving com-

munities and people in the Park with nature.

PEOPLE
F U T U R E  B A N N A U

1. We will embed wellbeing in all that we do - we will prioritise equality, diversity 
and inclusion. We will ensure our policies and procedures are aligned with our 
priorities of sustainability, inclusion and  supporting the local economy. 

2. We will reach out to people to understand how they connect or not to the 
National  Park and learn how we can rebuild that connection. We will strive to 
remove the social and physical barriers to participation. 

3. We will support the local economy through working to support local social 
enterprise, local procurement of the products and services we buy and through 
exploring models for income generation that will support communities, agriculture 
and nature to thrive e.g. payment for ecosystem services. 

4. We will strengthen our connection with our communities, landowners/graziers, 
businesses, residents and visitors through being more visible, offering support, 
sharing our expertise and seeking ways to collaborate.  

5. We will celebrate and promote our Welsh language and culture. 

6. We will be exemplary in making the National Park more accessible to all people.  
We will work with the Local Access Forum to implement our Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan.

102

P
age 151



Brychan story piece to be added prior to publication

103
Page 152



Br
ec

on
 T

ow
n 

(c
) 

Br
ec

on
 S

to
ry

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

PL
A

C
E

PL
A

C
E

104
Page 153



PHOTO CREDIT PETER RHYS WILLIAMS

Mission 
PLACE

Thriving, beautiful, prosperous 
and sustainable places, 
celebrated for their cultural 
and natural heritage, now 
and forever

105

P
age 154



FUTURE BANNAU

COLLABORATING IN PLACE FOR A 
BETTER FUTURE

COLLABORATIVE  ACTION FOCUSED ON A RANGE OF SPATIAL AREAS TO CO-PRODUCE 
RESPONSES TO THE NATURE, CLIMATE AND ECONOMIC CRISES. 

RESILIENT PLACES

Which are sustainable into the future providing good access to housing,
employment and service provision to meet community needs.  They are measurably 
less reliant on external supply chains for essentials as a result of the increase in local 

renewable energy generation; local food supply and opportunities for community own-
ership.

PROSPEROUS PLACES 

Which have proportionally increased levels of community wealth generated within the 
local economy through development of the foundational economy, social enterprise 

and the green economy

INSPIRING PLACES 

Which build on the special qualities of the National Park and our international designa-
tions celebrating culture, heritage, the natural environment and Welsh language

PLACE
What Success Looks

Like

WELL PLANNED PLACES

Where everyone feels a connection to their place and this provides benefit to peoples 
health and wellbeing. Our Places provide a high quality built environment which provides 

our residents and visitors a safe place to meet, live, work, play and connect. Our 
businesses can thrive through connections to people, services and infrastructure.

INNOVATIVE PLACES 

Where connected networks of active citizens collaborate with businesses and key 
organisations to innovate place-based solutions to place based challenges.

HISTORIC PLACES 

Where the cultural and historic environment is in good condition, valued, celebrated 
and better understood by residents and visitors alike.  Where the synergy between the 
National Park’s landscape and our historic parks and gardens, historic farmsteads, rural 

cottages underpin our understanding and management of Place.

CENTRAL PLACES 

Our historic market towns are reinvigorated to become vibrant and viable centres for 
the future.

HEALTHY PLACES 

Where connection to our natural beauty provides healing, health and happiness.  We 
serve and support a range of ‘green’ and social prescribing options for our community 

and beyond. 

BEAUTIFUL PLACES

Where our natural beauty is conserved and where necessary restored, so that the 
majesty of our landscape can be valued and loved by all.

NATURE CONNECTED PLACES

Where everyday connections to a nature rich world are commonplace and valued.

106

P
age 155



FUTURE BANNAU

LANDSCAPES
Expansive spatial areas that function together to create our natural beauty, our 

historic environment and functioning ecosystems. These landscapes may be based 
on an upland area such as the Black Mountain Partnership (see PX), or a river 
catchments, like the Usk Catchment Partnership (see px). We focus on these 
places because of the essential connections between people and the environ-

ment, cultural heritage and nature with the aim of managing these interactions for 
mutual benefit.

TOWNS AND VILLAGES
Settlements where people live and work. These could be towns like Brecon or 
smaller more dispersed farming communities like Llanddeusant . We focus on 

these places because of the fundamental threats facing rural communities, with 
the aim of ensuring these communities can thrive for generations to come

HONEY POT PLACES
Places that people love to visit. These places have some particular special qualities 

that makes them attractive and can lead to detrimental levels of over tourism.  
Places like our Waterfall Area.  We focus on these places because of a need to 

manage the negative impacts from visitor pressure, turning this to positive gain for 
communities and the local economy, while enabling a positive visitor experience.

TRANSPORT CORRIDORS
The Park is host to some key transport corridors which have traditionally served 
as a means of moving private cars from A to B. Our focus on these places is to 
understand how sustainable transport solutions can help support communities, 

visitors and the local economy and the transition to net zero. 

Our
PLACES

The Places of the Brecon Beacons span mountain ranges, or nestle into tiny hamlets. They are homes and 
communities, vast ecosystems providing water or clean air beyond their boundaries, road networks that connect 
people and places. Places shape who we are, what we do and how we feel.  They impact every aspect of our lives.  

In the context of Future Beacons, our places can be loosely defined around four key groupings. For some of 
these groupings there are long established partnerships, many of these have contributed their own pledges to 
delivering Future Beacons Missions and you will find more detail in the following chapter on Partners In other 
areas there are opportunities for new partnerships to form, and we look forward to seeing how these develop 
over the lifetime of this Plan. 

This mission is centred around co-creating and delivering holistic Place Plans with the 
communities of the National Park.

A Place Plan is a collaboration between local communities and statutory organisations , co-creating an 
evidence based vision for the future and plan of action. The exact areas of focus and intervention will be 
based on an understanding of the issues and opportunities of individual locations, but could include for 
example, activity relating to:

• Future food security e.g. creating local food supply chains, changes in land use
• Future skills and jobs e.g. identifying training needs for skills for community resilience 
• Nature connectedness for preventative health provision including improving access to natural 

green spaces
• Sustainable tourism e.g., creating sustainable access for tourism to pressured areas.
• Climate mitigation and adaptation e.g., community energy planning
• Enhancing and protecting the built environment and its heritage
• Supporting the local economy and social enterprise.
• Community cohesion and wellbeing  
• Sustainable transport, EV charging networks
• Creation of Town Centres of the Future.

Holistic
PLACE PLANS

107

P
age 156



FUTURE BANNAU

The National Park is a designated landscape.  

A place that is protected for its scenic quality, 

its  intrinsic beauty,  to serve those deep 

connections people have to nature and natural 

beauty.

Our designation speaks to a period in our 

history where access to such landscapes 

was unequal and divided.  The National Park 

movement of the 1940s gave the Nation the 

gift of the right to experience these places for 

the health and wellbeing benefits they bring, 

benefits that were sorely needed in a world 

emerging from the horror of the Second 

World War.  

In a post covid, world we recognise that  these 

connections are needed now more than ever,  

but the 21st Century  has also brought with 

it another series of pressing needs, and asks 

of places such as National Parks.  The role of 

these landscapes now is to support nature 

recovery, support carbon capture in ways that 

urban settings cannot support.  We do this 

for the benefits of future generations in our 

role as a resource for the Nation.  This means 

that the National Park must work harder and 

smarter as a place, to connect people and 

nature to ensure that both thrive in a mutually 

beneficial way, now and for forever.

It is in Place, the anchor point of our missions, 

that this work comes together.  It is in place 

that we work together to implement the 

solutions, to drive the change, to build the 

future, for our climate, water, nature and 

people.   To work with the people and agencies 

who are deeply rooted in these places, at varying 

scales, to identify the key challenges, and work 

together to find the solutions that work on the 

ground.     In doing this we seek to get at the 

heart of what makes places function as great 

places to work, live, and play - as providers of 

ecosystem services such as clean air,  water, and 

locked in carbon.

Press your fingers close on this lichened Press your fingers close on this lichened 

sandstone.  With this stone and this grass, sandstone.  With this stone and this grass, 

with this red earth, this place was recieved with this red earth, this place was recieved 

and made and remade.  Its generations and made and remade.  Its generations 

are distinct but all suddenly presentare distinct but all suddenly present

People of the Black MountainsPeople of the Black Mountains

Raymond Williams

We have chosen to develop this mission 

through the act of holistic place planning 

as this embodies the guiding principles the 

International Union for Nature Conservation 

(IUCN) lays down for protected landscapes like 

the Brecon Beacons - to manage places  with 

and through local people and mainly for and by 

them.

We celebrate this local level planning a process 

of empowerment, of  distributing Authority 

from statutory actors to the people of the Park  

.  It is through this action that innovation and 

connections are born.  In this way and for that 

reason  the ambition to embed the process of 

place planning at different scales, in different 

places  is critical to the delivery of all our 

Missions.  

Through these connections we build up a 

resilient network of places of hope, ready to 

meet the challenges of the 21st Century.G
O

B
A

IT
H

  Y
  B

A
N

N
A

U
 

G
O

B
A

IT
H

  Y
  B

A
N

N
A

U
 

H
O

PE
 O

F 
T

H
E 

B
EA

C
O

N
S

H
O

PE
 O

F 
T

H
E 

B
EA

C
O

N
S

F U T U R E  B E A C O N S

108

P
age 157



Sustainable 
Transport 
Partnership
A partnership between key transport 
and travel stakeholders to support 
sustainable transport around the Park 
and reach decarbonisation goals.  

Helen Roderick
Stakeholder Manager

Brecon Beacons National Park

We are currently looking at how we can make getting around the 
Brecon Beacons more sustainable. As a National Park, we are racing 

to net zero by 2030, and transport is a big chunk of our emissions. 
Welsh Government have asked us to create a sustainable transport 

strategy to identify areas where we can decarbonise. We are 
working within the national policy context, aligning with the Wales-

wide transport strategy, electric vehicle strategy and active travel 
strategies.  

109

P
age 158



Travel accounts for 70% of visitor carbon footprint, and 31% of resident carbon footprint, so changing the way we 

travel is really a key part of our decarbonisation journey. A sustainable transport plan will ease the pressure on our 

honeypot sites, and in turn, our communities that are being affected by visitor car dominant travel. One of the first 

findings from our evidence gathering is (not surprisingly!) that parking and traffic management is difficult, and public 

transport frequency is patchy. 

We are reliant on partnership working to achieve our aims of sustainable transport, as our powers over transport 

legislation are very little. We are convening partners such as our local authorities, the National Trust, Natural Re-

sources Wales to line up our approach. This is a great opportunity to work with a number of organisations, as there 

are so many people already involved in transport around the Park, so finding that consistency and shared approach 

will be really key. 

Our aims are simply to create a National Park which has accessible, low carbon transport, which is non detrimental 

to the people that live and work here. 

At the moment we are in our evidence base phase, looking at the knowledge and facts which will help us form our 

vision, and pinpoint the priority areas for work. We will be piloting a ‘park and ride’ between Merthyr and Brecon 

which will cover some of our busy places like Pen y fan, and we will also be looking at the available technology to 

allow ease of parking. 

FUTURE BANNAU110

P
age 159



Hwb y Gors

A zero-carbon community
hub for arts, education and
enterprise

Emily Hinshelwood
Creative Director

Awel Aman Tawe

Awel Aman Tawe is a community renewables charity set up in 1998
to address the climate emergency while supporting community

resilience. 

We have set up the two largest renewable energy coops
in Wales: Awel Co-op and Egni Co-op. These support schools

and organisations to reduce their carbon emissions and become
more resilient. We also plough hundreds of thousands of pounds

back into the community via environmental projects and climate
education.

111

P
age 160



The idea behind Hwb y Gors is to create a community 

hub which is dedicated to building a zero-carbon com-

munity. We believe that the changes we need to make in 

order to curb our carbon emissions can be fun, creative, 

healthy and above all bring the community together.  

We want the Hwb to retain the bustle and chatter that it 

once had as a school, we want it to be a space for ideas, 

for creativity, for growth and nurturing. And all with a low 

carbon footprint: 90kW of solar on the roof, a 50kW 

ground-source heating scheme, cork insulation and tradi-

tional lime render.  

It has a strong arts focus because we believe that the 

arts – through improvisation, play and imagination - have 

a significant role to play in addressing the climate crisis. 

And we want to build positive partnerships with other 

organisations who have the same drive for a positive, 

ethical, sustainable future.

 The community is actively involved in parts of the re-

furbishment – for example, we’ve uncovered 62 win-

dows which had been concreted over. We are working 

with stained glass artist Simon Howard-Morgan who is 

running workshops with 62 participants to make new 

stained glass panels for these windows. We have also 

worked with over 150 people to create a heritage quilt 

for the café that remembers the school and the history 

of the area.  

To be a success, Hwb y Gors will be a thriving hub for 

the local community and beyond. We want our communi-

ty to be an example to the world of how to go zero-car-

bon while improving our well-being, our resilience and 

our long-term prospects. 

Hwb y Gors will host a repair café, a library of things, a 

community transport scheme as well as running a broad 

programme of workshops that help people to take cli-

mate action in all areas of their lives.  

We are involving the community from the outset, engag-

ing people in parts of the construction and decision-mak-

ing. As a school, the building has 110 years of memories 

and we want to ensure that people still feel a sense of 

ownership and care for its future.  

We also want to build partnerships with communities 

and organisations beyond the local area. We know that 

addressing the climate emergency requires us to work 

together, to pool resources, to make connections. We 

want share what we know and we want to learn from 

others. 

We are close to Y Bannau and we foresee plenty of po-

tential for working alongside the National Park - espe-

cially with our Nature Positive programme which aims 

to create a sustainable, edible, restorative garden in the 

playground of Hwb y Gors.

RELATIONSHIP TO FUTURE BANNAU

For us Future Bannau is a positive vision for change.  It 

believes in possibilities whilst supporting people to take 

the right action, whilst imagining the future we both want 

and need.

FUTURE BANNAU112

P
age 161



OUR contributions       
‘home is where the heart is’ - we all have a strong connection to places and 
every place is special with unique strengths, resources and characteristics. 
We recognise that each place is different and that by understanding 
a place we can best support the people of that place to thrive and to 
support our natural environment. 

Our role is therefore to use the data, skills and partnerships that we have 
to connect to people in their places and to work with them to plan, act 
and prepare for the future.   This shapes our contribution to the place 
mission to the following five key areas

PLACE

F U T U R E  B E A C O N S

1. We will use our data and evidence to map and understand the places that we own 

and manage, so that we can engage with those who work with us in these places to 

manage them for people, heritage and nature recovery. 

2. We will work with communities within the National Park to develop place plans 

that build on the special characteristics of their area, to improve quality of life, 

support economic well being and enhance the built and natural environment. 

3. We will ensure that the special places of the National Park - our Geopark, Dark 

Skies, World Heritage Site, Visitor Centres, places of importance for culture, 

heritage, recreation and protected environments - are managed to be inclusive, 

accessible and exemplars where nature and people connect and thrive together.  

4. We will work in partnership to connect places and make connections within and 

beyond the National Park boundaries. We will take the wonder of the National Park 

to people and we will help visitors, businesses and residents understand, celebrate 

and value the special qualities and places of the National Park. 

5. We will work in partnership to support the local economy and develop sustainable 

transport solutions that help create resilient and thriving places.

113

P
age 162



It’s now been a month since Ioan passed. I finally got 
round to clearing up his office and found this on his 
desk under some newspapers. It very nearly ended 

up in the bin! Needless to say, it had me in tears, but 
it also filled me with hope and gratitude. 

Anyway, off to take Bran for a walk now (the only 
one he left out of the poem!) but thought you’d all 

appreciate it. 

For once, I’ll let him have the final word….

See you soon 
Grandma

Beacon

We climb the hill in darkness
Seven silent silhouettes
We climb the hill with answers
Wishes, worries and regret

Tonight, we light a beacon each
A symbol of intent
Seven private fires lit 
With each a message sent 

Sian lights a warning  
Illuminates the land 
A reminder of impermanence 
That hills are shaped by hands

Mair lights a celebration
Nature in full song 
Let me loose, let me protect you
Learn these notes to sing along

Dylan builds a lighthouse 
For those struggling in the dark 
Here there is refuge
Know that you can ask

Maya builds a hearth
A fire to warm and nourish
A flame, self-sustaining
Fuels resilience and courage 

Dafydd lights a pyre 
Burning doubts that hold us back 
We are rich in resources 
For years we thought we lacked

Megan sparks passion
Pride in people and a space
Where action and intention 
Matter more than birthplace

My own flame
Flickers in remembrance
Of tales, words, and art
There are lessons in old stories
But no living in the past

Too tired, too cold
To linger on this hill
Slowly turning home
On old bones - I’ve had my fill 

Looking back, a hill aglow
Dazzling in the night
Seven fires lit
One beacon burning bright

We climbed the hill in darkness
We climb down in the light

Email from Mair Brychan to the rest of the family 

Date: March 8th 2042 
Subject: Grandpa having the final word…

To my beloved family

FUTURE BANNAU

P
age 163



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

PA
RT

N
E

R
S

PA
RT

N
E

R
S

115
Page 164



D
el

iv
er

in
g 

th
e 

P
la

n 
To

ge
th

er

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

We do not work alone when it comes to 

delivering our missions.

We are dependent on the help, expertise, 

advise and practical skills of a range of 

partners, working with us towards our 

collective aims.

We have throughout this Plan showcased 

a range of projects which demonstrate the 

kind of action needed at scale if we are to 

achieve our visions (see Ser y Bannau).  Now 

we would like to turn to showcase those 

partnerships with whom we aim to work to 

help develop the detailed actions needed to 

create the shifts necessary.

We feel very privileged to be working in 

such a range and variety of partnerships, and 

believe it is testament to the commitment 

and passion felt towards the Brecon Beacons 

by such a range of people and organisations.

Some of these partnerships (like our Local 

Nature Partnership for example) focus on 

a specific topic and receive specific funding 

streams to act.  Others are grouped around 

spatial areas (for example Meithryn Mynydd), 

and address the breadth of issues felt in 

place.  In this way we are able to distribute 

authority and delegate decision making 

to the most local level possible, an aim of 

best practice management of living working 

landscapes like ours.

Developing, supporting and working within 

healthy partnerships is a key objective of this 

Plan and a key value of our organisation.  Our 

commitment is to champion collaborative 

decision making wherever possible; to value 

relationship building as core to success and 

to ensure all those who are impacted by 

decisions have been involved in their co-

design.

Partnership working is central toPartnership working is central to

the delivery of sustainable development withinthe delivery of sustainable development within

the National Parks because of the range ofthe National Parks because of the range of

interests that it convenes.interests that it convenes.

NNATIONAL PARK MANAGEMENT PLANS GUIDANCEATIONAL PARK MANAGEMENT PLANS GUIDANCE

countrySide council for WaleS countrySide council for WaleS 20072007

Partnership working is defined by the United 

Nations as:  

An ongoing collaborative relationship between or 

among organisations from different stakeholder 

types aligning their interests around a common 

vision, combining their complementary resources and 

competencies and sharing risk, to maximise value 

creation and deliver benefit to each of the partners

Within these pages we identify the following 

Partnerships as being significant to the delivery 

Mission Y Bannau.  Each section has been 

developed by the Partnership themselves, it is 

them in their own words, just as each partnership 

is an entity in of itself.

This list is not exhaustive and we hope over the 

course of this plan we will be able to keep it 

updated, as new partnerships form and develop for 

now we are very grateful to the following for their 

commitment to the Brecon Beacons National Park 

and the vision of this Plan:-

• Black Mountains Land Use Partnership

• Dark Skies Board

• Destination Management Partnership

• Geopark Management Partnership

• Historic Environment Partnership

• Local Nature Partnership

• Meithryn Mynydd 

• Usk Catchment Partnership

• Waterfalls Partnership

FUTURE BANNAU116

P
age 165

https://www.iucn.org/content/management-guidelines-iucn-category-v-protected-areas-protected-landscapesseascapes
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf


al

PHIL STOCKER
CHAIR OF THE BLACK MOUNTAINS LAND USE PARTNERSHIP

eStaBliShed through the WelSh goVernment’S nature fund 
in 2015, the partnerShip promoteS the reStoration and 

SuStainaBle management of the Black mountainS’ natural 
reSourceS and haBitatS, and iS a forum for diScuSSion and 

collaBoration on the current and future management, 
SuStainaBility and conSerVation of the Black mountainS.

the partnerShip aimS to improVe the quality of farming 
and enVironmental haBitatS, promote a SuStainaBle and 

reSponSiBle ViSitation ethoS, protect and conSerVe itS 
natural capital Such aS Water and Soil, Wildlife and 

BiodiVerSity, and improVe the Well Being and economic 
reSilience of thoSe Who liVe and Work in thiS iconic area.

A pioneering, cross border, landscape-scale 
partnership delivering continued improvement 
and management of the upland areas in the 
Black Mountains

Black Mountains 
Land Use 
Partnership

117

P
age 166



FUTURE BANNAU

BMLUP consists of graziers who live, work and 
manage livestock on the Black Mountains. We work 
in partnership with major landowners in the area, 
such as the Glanusk Estate; Tregoyd estate, and Bal 
Mawr/Bal Bach to name a few. Regulatory bodies 
including the BBNPA, Welsh Water, NRW and Young 
Farmers Club are also present, alongside represen-
tation from our local community. 

The Partnership and its area is primarily focused 
on teh upland areas to the North and East of 
Crickhowel, up to and including Hay-on-Wye, ad 
the he west of Craswall and Longtown.  The area 
covers 24,600 Ha, with approximately a thrid of 
this being a designated Site of Special Sceintific 
Interest.

We promote the restoration and sustainable man-
agement of the natural resources in our patch of 
land, working to ensure these bring rich benefits to 
those who live and work here. We  aim is to bring 
about positive social, economic and environmental 
change through implementation of cooperative and 
sustainable land management practices in the Black 
Mountains.

Our objectives are 

• To improve the quality of habitats including heather 
regeneration.

• To increase the area and quality of grazing land.
• To control erosion on strategic sites.
• To stabilise peat resources.
• To provide a source of materials to be used for res-

toration works in eroded peat/mineral soil areas to 
improve bog condition.

• To improve access at strategic locations particularly 
around turnout points to increase ease of turning 
out stock on the hill and improve visitor experience.

• To provide for climate change adaptation and mitiga-
tion actions which improve and enhance ecosystems 
connectivity, biodiversity and wildlife

• To promote understanding and awareness of tradi-
tional and contemporary grazing, conservation works 
and other upland management practices used on the 
hill and the skills that these require

• To promote and support wellbeing and economic 
resilience of those who live and work in the area and 
encourage safe and sustainable visits to it

• To protect and nurture the cultural heritage of the 
area

• To collect, record, collate and share data and evi-
dence pertaining to the sustainable management of 
the Black Mountain 

The role of the Partnership is:-
• To raise awareness of and champion the sustain-

able management of the Black Mountains.
• To foster good communication between interest 

for the sake of coordinating activity in pursuit of 
the Partnership’s purpose.

• To work together on and, if appropriate, shape 
funding proposals for priorities identified by the 
Partnership.

• To seek funding for projects which further Part-
nership objectives.

• To lead the implementation of funded schemes 
in furtherance of Partnership objectives.

• To monitor the effectiveness of such schemes 
and evaluate their impact.

 
The Partnership is very much action orientated and 
innovative in our approach.  We have had significant 
success since our inception -  implementing land 
management improvements (rewetting and 
revegetating 60 Ha of Peatland; restoring 
1500 meters of footpaths and bridleways and 
bracken management over 400Ha) in delivering 
skills development (investing over £45,000 
in rural skills training, engaging over 500 
schoolchildren) and promoting safe sustainable 
visitation to the area (creating a range of 
ambassador schemes, publishing a guide book 
and online resources).  However there is 
still much to do, Future Bannau provides an 
overarching framework, well aligned with our 
own priorities in which to progress further in 
the future.

118

P
age 167



DARK SKIES 
maintaining and enhnacing the dark 
SkieS of the Brecon BeaconS

The Dark Sky Board of the Brecon Beacons National Park

THE INTERNATIONAL DARK SKY RESERvE (IDSR) STATUS WAS ACHIEvED FOR 
THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK IN 2013. THE DARK SKY BOARD 

PARTNERSHIP WAS FORMED IMMEDIATELY AFTERWARDS TO WORK TO MAINTAIN 
THE STATUS. SINCE ITS FORMATION THE PURPOSE OF THE BOARD HAS BEEN TO 
MAINTAIN IDSR STATUS. THE BOARD HAS EvOLvED IN THE INTERvENING PERI-

OD AND HAS AGREED THAT ITS PRINCIPAL OBjECTIvE IS NOW TO MAINTAIN AND 
ENHANCE THE NOCTURNAL NATURAL ENvIRONMENT. THE NAME OF THE BOARD 

(THE DARK SKY BOARD OF THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK), AND 
ITS MEMBERSHIP ALSO NOW REFLECTS THIS FOCUS. 

119

P
age 168



FUTURE BANNAU

WHO WE ARE
Our members include representatives from the Usk 
Astronomical Society, Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority, the Brecon Beacons Parks Society and 
Monmouthshire County Council. 

OUR CORE PURPOSE
The Dark Skies Board aims to protect and enhance the 
dark skies and nighttime environment. 
Our area of fucous is the Brecon Beacons National 
Park however we also seek to protect and maintain 
an External Buffer zone around this boundary to help 
prevent light spill into the protected area.

We aim to do so through a holistic action and advocacy 
which highlights the importance of dark skies for 
wildlife, nature, human health, the climate, economy and 
education.

OUR VISION
To create throughout the Brecon Beacons National Park 
a night sky of natural darkness that provides multiple 
benefits, safeguards the environment, and provides a 
sense of shared heritage of primeval connectedness and 
wonder. 

Success for the board, is measured in terms of the 
maintenance of International Dark Skies Reserve 
status for the National Park.  Already this long-standing 
achievement, has supported and promoted the Brecon 
Beacons for the the quality of the nighttime environment 

FUTURE CHALLENGES
The work of the Board is entirely voluntary and achieved 
through negotiation and agreement.  Neither the Board 
nor the organisation of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park has statutory power to require improvements to 
lighting, neither does it control development around its 
borders, making the task of the board one of champion-
ing the benefits of dark sky enhancement and preserva-
tion.

FUTURE ACTION
Alongside our existing schedule of outreach and edu-
cational work we are, with the Officers of the National 
Park working towards two long term aspirations

1. A long established and high quality night sky and night 
time environment in the Brecon Beacons National Park, 
appreciated locally and nationally for the benefits it 
brings. 

2. The value and importance of darkness is mainstream in 
Wales with widespread lighting control measures in place 
and supported by the Welsh Government 

FUTURE BANNAU
We recognise the importance of the Managmenet Plan 
to our work, and have been involved with development 
since the Vision and Objectives stage when Drakness 
was first introduced as an element of the Park’s special 
qualities.  We look forward to working with officers of 
the Park in the future on projects which seek to deliv-
er shared aims around the night time environment- for 

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

(c
) 

D
re

w
 B

uc
kl

ey

120

P
age 169



(c
) 

N
ei

l M
an

GEOPARK 
MANAGEMENT 
GROUP

We are the management group of the international 
Geopark designation covering the Western half of the 
National Park.  The group brings together public, private, 
educational and charity sector organisations to support 
sustainable tourism, education and (geo)conservation

We are part  of the ‘bottom-up’ global geoparks movement which began 
in the early 2000s, now numbering c180 around the world, with just nine 

in UK. We were accepted  into the European Geoparks Network in 2005, 
and became a UNESCO project in 2016. Although the BBNPA is the lead 
partner , we collaborate with NRW, academia, trade and outdoor activity 

bodies, wildlife and heritage bodies and representatives of various tiers 
of local government, for their complimentary expertise, perspective and 

funds.

121

P
age 170



FUTURE BANNAU

OUR ROLE
Our principle aim is to protect and promote a  deeper understanding of the natural and 
cultural heritage of the western half of the Brecon Beacons National Park, and encourage 
appropriate economic development based on sound sustainability principles

OUR VISION
Our vision would be the flourishing of vibrant communities living in harmony with healthy 
ecosystems, and welcoming visitors who bring benefits rather than create further issues.  
Whilst engendering a deeper understanding on part of residents and visitors alike of the 
inter-relatedness of geodiversity, biodiversity and a sustainable local economy.

FUTURE ACTION
We will be further developing the geopark ‘hub’ at Craig Y Nos Country Park whist refresh-
ing our  ‘outreach’ activities across the Geopark.  We also want to expand along e coalfield 
fringe to help these communities better integrate into the geopark with the aim of improv-
ing health and economic outcomes.

FUTURE BANNAU
This Plan, and its process of development,  provides a welcomed framework within which 
the Geopark can action plan its activities with the hope of making a positive difference to 
this landscape, its communities and businesses, and visitors to it

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

(c) Neil Mansfield

122

P
age 171



(c) Toby Driver

al

HISTORIC 
ENVIRONMENT 
PARTNERSHIP

TO CELEBRATE, CONSERvE AND ENHANCE THE HISTORIC 
ENvIRONMENT OF THE NATIONAL PARK, THROUGH ESTABLISHING 
A vOLUNTARY NETWORK OF HERITAGE ORGANISATIONS AND 
COMMUNITY GROUPS WHO SHARE THIS AIM.

Alice Thorne
Heritage Officer BBNPA 

CO-ORDINATING OFFICER 

Our partnerhsip is one of the new partnerships established to help devliver 
Future Bannau through the co-design of an Action Plan (HEAP) to drive 

improvements in the collective management of the historic environment of 
the National Park.  Representatives from the Brecon Beacons National Park, 

Cadw, the Clwyd - Powys Archaeological Trust, Brecon Story, Brecknock 
Society & Museum Friends, Royal Commission on the Ancient and 

Historical Monuments of Wales, Brecon Beacons Park Society and the Young 
Archaeologists Club have contributed to development of the Action Plan, 

with consultation and input from a broader network of individuals, groups 
and agencies working in the sector .

The plan does not purport to encompass all activity – but aims to provide 
a foundation and framework to identify shared objectives, improve co-

ordination, and focus resources. The HEAP will provide a mechanism for 
helping to prioritise, deliver and monitor the conservation and celebration 

of our heritage. This will be a working document, to be updated regularly in 
the coming years. .  

123

P
age 172



 (
c)

 R
oy

al
 C

om
m

is
si

on
 fo

r 
H

is
to

ri
c 

M
on

um
en

ts
 (

W
al

es
)

FUTURE BANNAU

Our historic assets are a finite resource. Once destroyed, they are lost forever. Damage, neglect and loss, 
including loss of access, can affect the value and significance of historic sites. A commitment to managing 
change carefully is therefore essential to protect our Historic environment, and the special qualities of the 
National Park. 

However, existing under-resourcing and capacity issues in the sector will be accentuated by the challenges 
facing us all in the years ahead.  Partnership working, and sharing action plans is one way we can work 
to overcome some of these resouving challenges without lessening the protection afforded the historic 
environment.  

Through our partnership and joint action plan we will be aiming to 

1. define a suite of shared objectives and secure commitment to delivery 
2. To promote the conservation management of the historic environment 
3. To engage with communities and visitors in promoting understanding of the historic environment and 
cultural heritage of the Park
4. To improve collaboration, resourcing and capacity in order to support projects to enhance, manage, 
research, monitor, and celebrate the beautiful and varied character of the historic environment and heritage.

Our emerging Plan has been developed in partnership, to protect our Historic Environment and promote 
cohesion and alignment of the different groups and organisations working in the National Park. It will sit 
alongside other partnership plans, such as the Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP) as background evidence 
for the National Park Management Plan Future Beacons, and will help the National Park Authority plan for 
the future. It has been prepared to help us look after the historic environment all around us.

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

124

P
age 173



Local Nature
Partnership

reconnecting people With nature, 
WhilSt enSuring natureS protected 
and nurtured noW and for 
generationS to come

Maria Golightly 
CO-ORDINATING OFFICER 

OUR LOCAL NATURE PARTNERSHIP IS UNIqUELY PLACED TO DELIvER EFFECTIvE 
ACTION AT THE LOCAL LEvEL, WHICH CONTRIBUTES TO THE OvERALL NATIONAL 

NATURE RECOvERY AGENDA.   THERE IS A LOCAL NATURE PARTNERSHIP IN 
EvERY AREA OF WALES, WHOSE COORDINATOR IS HOSTED BY THE LOCAL 

AUTHORITY OR NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY. THESE COORDINATORS DEvELOP 
AND DELIvER ACTIvITIES TO CONNECT PEOPLE WITH NATURE, AS WELL AS 

vARIOUS MONITORING AND REPORTING DUTIES.

125

P
age 174



FUTURE BANNAU

NATURE RECOVERY ACTION PLAN 
We are working to the objectives of the  The 
Nature Recovery Action Plan - A Future With 
Nature At Its Heart  This is a collaboration which 
is open to all who want to contribute. A desire 
and commitment to help deliver the plan is the 
only requirement to be involved. Current partners 
include representatives from a wide range of 
organisations, groups and individuals who all have 
a common interest in protecting and strengthening 
the National Park’s ecosystems.

REVERSING DECLINE
The partnership’s goal is to help reverse the 
decline in biodiversity by focusing on developing 
resilient ecological networks (in other words 
“nature recovery networks”) which are more 
diverse, greater in extent, in better ecological 
condition and better joined up.

We need to help people understand and connect 
with the idea of a healthier natural environment 
and the many benefits it provides when in good 
condition. We must celebrate and share our 
knowledge of the Park’s natural assets, explain 
the potential for nature recovery and adapt our 
message to the audiences we’re working with, to 
demonstrate nature’s relevance to everyone

THE KEY OBJECTIVES
Our key objectives are:
• To improve our evidence, understanding and mon-

itoring of ecological resilience within the National 
Park. 

• To work with partners at all levels to unify local 
action for nature recovery and ensure integration 
with relevant natural resources plans and strategies. 
Protection, restoration and creation of habitats 

• To increase the resilience of our natural environment 
by protecting existing semi-natural habitats, restoring 
degraded habitats and creating new areas of habitat. 
Deliver action for focal species and habitats

• To identify and deliver targeted action for key species 
and habitats as part of a wider, integrated nature 
recovery action programme. Inclusive and well com-
municated 

• To engage with a diversity of audiences about nature 
recovery using different language and techniques to 
highlight nature’s relevance to us all and thus build 
engagement and action at all levels.

FUTURE BANNAU
With it’s focus on nature recovery for people and place, 
Future Bannau helps bring our message to wider audi-
ences.  The Plan provides a strong foundation from which 
to develop our next Nature Recovery Action Plan, which 
will, we hope look to strengthen mission delivery.

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

126

P
age 175

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/environment/nature-recovery-action-plan/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/environment/nature-recovery-action-plan/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/environment/nature-recovery-action-plan/


Meithryn 
Mynydd

Sharing information for the Better 
management of common land in the 
WeSt of the national park

Judith Harvey
CO-ORDINATING OFFICER 

Meithrin mynydd iS a partnerShip of grazierS aSSociationS, 
grazierS repreSentatiVeS, common landoWnerS and releVant 

puBlic Sector BodieS coVering mynydd du in the WeSt of 
the Brecon BeaconS national park.

our partnerShip ShareS ValuaBle information and facilitateS 
the management of the common land unitS. We aim to 

gain thiS collaBoratiVe approach of Working acroSS the 
Whole landScape, promoting SucceSSful and effectiVe land 

management for people, nature and natural Beauty.

 

(c
) 

N
ei

l M
an

sfi
el

d

127

P
age 176



FUTURE BANNAU

OUR ROLE
A voluntary grouping, we come together to address shared problems with the aim of better outcomes for 
the upland areas in our management.

We currently have a range of work areas ongoing, including

- Addressing increased recreational pressures and attempting to prevent impact on livestock grazing.
- Addressing fire-load management through effective grazing of uplands
- Conservation grazing for benefit of Garn Goch Scheduled Ancient Monument 
- Habitat assessments of our uplands and how agricultural practice can contribute towards nature 
recovery
- Addressing rural skills shortage and associated socio-economic challenge.

OUR VISION 
The commons will continue to be grazed, maintaining the economic viability of small farms. These small 
farms are fundamental in enhancing and protecting the Welsh heritage of the Park. They are a deeply valued 
part of our cultural heritage, and Welsh language-speaking communities. With this support, we will see 
appropriate levels of grazing, which supports biodiversity gains and reduces the risk of fire load.

FUTURE  ACTIONS
We aim to develop a Management Plan to support the continued conservation and enhancement of Y 
Mynydd Ddu through traditional land management practice.  We aim to ensure that traditional sheep 
farming in the West of the Park remains economically viable whilst enabling nature to thrive.  We aim for 
this plan to be the foundation of a range of interventions aimed at achieving our vision for the region.

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

(c) Peter Fry ARPS

128

P
age 177



an emergent partnerShip Seeking to 
Build Back ecological reSilience to 
the riVer uSk and itS catchment

Helen lucocq
STRATEGY AND POLICY MANAGER BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK

THE RIvER USK IS THE LONGEST PROTECTED RIvER SYSTEM IN WALES, IT IS 
DESIGNATED BOTH AS A SITE OF SPECIAL SCIENTIFIC INTEREST AND AS A SPECIAL 

AREA FOR CONSERvATION.
RESEARCH PUBLISHED BY NATIONAL RESOURCES WALES FOUND THAT 87% OF 

THE WATER-BODIES WITHIN THE USK CATCHMENT ARE FAILING TARGET LEvELS 
FOR THE NUTRIENT PHOSPHORUS.  PHOSPHORUS IS WIDELY CONSIDERED TO BE 
THE NUTRIENT MOST HARMFUL TO AqUATIC ECOSYSTEMS, AND THAT MOST AT 

RISK OF FUTURE  INCREASE DUE TO CLIMATE CHANGE.
  RESEARCH UNDERTAKEN IN THE CATCHMENT IDENTIFY THAT A RANGE OF 
FACTORS WERE CONTRIBUTING TO THE NUTRIENT LEvELS WITHIN THE USK

AND THAT RESOLvING THE ISSUES COULD ONLY BE POSSIBLE THROUGH A 
PARTNERSHIP APPROACH TO ACTION.

Usk Catchment
Partnership

129

P
age 178



FUTURE BANNAU

FUTURE CHALLENGES 
Phosphates are not the only issue the Usk 
catchment is facing.  Over the last few years 
the extent and frequency of flooding events has 
increased causing significant social and economic 
harm.  The catchment has been identified as an 
area threatened by a range of harmful invasive 
non-native species.  There are other potential 
contaminants which as yet data has not been 
made available eg Nitrates and Ammonia, and their 
implications such as water pH changes and raised 
biological oxygen demand. Extraction levels in the 
Usk are very high, in part to service the Brecon 
and Monmouthshire canal, but also for drinking 
water and agricultural use. Recreational pressure 
on the Usk is high, with many utilising the waters 
for fishing and water sports.

All these factors, in combination, have taken the 
Usk past a tipping point of ecological integrity. 
Decisive action is needed urgently to address the 
crisis and bring about the transformative change in 
land management and behaviour needed.

We have been lucky to secure funding from the 
Welsh Government to help address the phosphate 
issues the Usk is facing however through the 
partnership we believe, that it cannot be addressed 
in isolation.  That is why the partnership for the 
Usk is focusing on re-establishing and protecting 
the protected features of the Usk for the benefit 
of future generations.

A CO-DESIGN APPROACH
To date the partnership has been focused on 
developing a robust structure representative of 
the range and diversity of interests and issues 
that need to be addressed.  Significant resource 
has been dedicated to co-designing this structure 
to ensure that it has the capacity to develop a 
deliverable action plan for the Usk.  By focusing on 
co-designing the partnership’s structure, we have 
aimed to bake in consensus from the beginning.
Partners involved in the co-design have included
DCWW, NRW, Monmouthshire County Council, 
Powys CouNewport City Council, Canal and 
Rivers Trust, Wye and Usk Foundation, FUW, 
NFU, Beacons Water Group (local farming group), 
eNGOs.  Our Work continues to be supported by 
the Welsh Government and their Phosphate Action 
Plan. 

FUTURE ACTION
The partnership is now looking to commission 
further evidence in order to collaboratively 
identify actions needed to build back the ecological 
resilience of the catchment.  The partnership is 
supported in this work by a technical advisory 
group, and a wider catchment forum which includes 
representatives of user and recreation groups.  The 
aim is to produce an Action Plan which will be co-
implemented by all members of the partnership 

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

130

P
age 179



Waterfalls 
Partnership

taking action to enSure that the 
Waterfall area iS a Safe and enJoyaBle 
place to liVe, Work and ViSit.

Helen Roderick
STAKEHOLDER MANAGER BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK

WE are a group of local people and employed officers coming 
together to take action on key issues facing the Waterfalls area.  
Our membership is necessarily broad, we have representatives 
from the relevant Unitary Authorities, community groups and 

land managers like the National Trust, the National Park Authority 
and National Resources Wales.  We work to manage the area as 

a visitor destination which brings benefit to the environment and 
community. 

 We were formed some time and at that point our focus was more strategic 
bringing together key agencies to combine thinking on how the area should 

be collectively managed into the future. However the pandemic saw such 
an increase in visitor numbers to the Waterfalls - way beyond the carrying 

capacity of the existing infrastructure- that our focus by necessity was 
very heavily orientated toward re-mediating the impacts such visitor levels 
bring. This action orientated approach has proved successful in making key 

changes but there is still more to be done.

131

P
age 180



FUTURE BANNAU

FUTURE CHALLENGES 
The waterfalls area is one of the most popular 
visitor destinations within the whole of the 
National Park.  This is testament to its spectacular 
landscape quality -majestic waterfalls plunging 
dramatically through lush steep wooded valleys, 
rich in wildlife, creating a breath-taking experience.

The challenge comes in managing the Waterfall 
Country’s popularity in relation to the capacity of 
the area to safely accommodate the numbers that 
visit recent years the  Waterfalls area have become 
sites of over-toursim, that is visitor numbers are 
now causing harm to the area at a rate and degree 
that urgent action is needed.

VISITOR NUMBERS
A huge conundrum to the partnership is the question 
of visitor access.  We want and welcome visitors to the 
area, we know that this area is cherished by many visitors 
and locals alike, but the numbers coming to the area has 
gone past a tipping point of safety . These visitor num-
bers are damaging to the fragile ecosystems that make 
up the environment of the Waterfalls, and also damag-
ing to those who live in the host communities that get 
swamped by visitor cars each year. 

SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT
At present the only real viable way for visitors to come 
and enjoy waterfall country is by private car.  Not only 
does this create huge levels of parking pressure within 
small rural villages, but also generates significantly 

towards our GHG emissions and air pollution.  The 
numbers of cars create chaos and disrupt the special 
qualities of the Park.  The emissions impact on the nature 
and biodiversity crisis.

PROVIDING COMMUNITY BENEFIT
The visitor economy has the potential to contribute 
significantly to the income of the area and its surrounds, 
especially the more deprived areas of the upper Neath 
valley.  At present, for whatever reason, visitor spend is 
exceptionally limited and the areas see little economic 
benefit from the levels of visitors that pass through each 
year.

FUTURE VISION
We want to create a future where the waterfalls are a 
sustainable visitor destination.  Managed in partnership, 
and contributing towards the local visitor economy.  
Meeting this vision is dependent upon the continued 
work of this partnership long into the future.  Only in 
pooling the resources we have are we going to be able 
to make visiting waterfall country a safe and enjoyable 
experience.

FUTURE BANNAU
Future Bannau is well aligned with the values of the Part-
nership.  We believe tjat we a;readu make a significant 
contribution towards the goals of the Plan and we hope 
that wew can raise the profile of sustainable visitor man-
agement as acting for nature, water and climate as well as 
for people and place,

F U T U R E  B A N N A U

132

P
age 181



M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 

133
Page 182



For the sake of Future Generations, Future Bannau must be 
more than a strategy that sits on a shelf.  It must be more than 
words.

The urgency of the issues we face mean that we must ensure 
that we embed its delivery into everything we do, whilst 
working with our partners to encourage them to do the same.

To ensure that this plays out in the years that follow 
publication, the NPA will put resource into monitoring the 
impacts of this plan, reporting on them, and advocating for 
further action where the data shows us the plan is not being 
effective.

MEASURING, 
MONITORING, 
EVALUATING 
AND 
REPORTING

The plan is based on the primary goal to enable the 
users of the Park: 

• To utilise the Natural Resources of the Park within 
planetary boundaries (not use more of natural 
resources than the Earth can sustain for the benefit 
of future generations)

• whilst at the same time ensuring all people have 
enough resources to meet their basic needs 
(achieving the wellbeing goals) by raising living 
standards above the social foundation 

To visualise this goal we use an adapted version of Kate 
Raworth’s Doughnut Model of planetary and social 
boundaries. It shows us where we are in relation to this 
overarching objective.  For that reason it provides the 
most appropriate tool to help us monitor our progress.  
in delivering this plan. We can use the key indicators of 
the Doughnut to measure the progress made towards 
lasting social and environmental sustainability for the 
Park.

This chapter looks at each sector of the Doughnut 
and defines how we want to  measure our progress 
towards the just and safe space.  We take a long term 
view on this action, and for that reason it has been 
necessary to develop a series of indicators along a 
trajectory over a period of about 50 years.

AIMING FOR 
THE JUST AND 
SAFE SPACE

FUTURE BANNAU134

P
age 183



Currently in development with assistance from Stakeholder Reference Panel

135
Page 184



F U T U R E  B A N N A U

ap
pe

nd
ic

ie
s

ap
pe

nd
ic

ie
s

136
Page 185



APPENDICES

APPENDIX ONE THE POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT

APPENDIX TWO THE DEFINITION OF NATURAL BEAUTY

APPENDIX THREE CORRELATION BETWEEN FUTURE BEACONS AND THE SEVEN 
WELLBEING GOALS AND WAYS OF WORKING OF THE WELLBEING OF FUTURE 
GENERATIONS ACT

APPENDIX FOUR INTERRELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MISSION AND MISSION OBJECTIVES

APPENDIX FIVE GLOSSARY OF TERMS

137

P
age 186



FUTURE BANNAU

 o
n

e
t

h
e
 l

e
g

iS
la

t
iV

e
 a

n
d

 p
o

li
c

y
 c

o
n

t
e

x
t

CLIMATE WATER NATURE PEOPLE PLACE

• The Environment (Wales) Act 
Part 2 sets Wales’ national 
carbon budget and interim 
emissions reductions targets. 
Carbon budgets 2 (20212025) 
and 3 (2026-2030) cover the 
time period of Future Beacons

• Welsh Government Public 
Sector Net Zero by 2030 
commitment

• UN Race to Zero
• Climate Change Committee 

Third Climate Change Risk 
Assessment for the UK

• Prosperity for All: A Climate 
Conscious

• Climate change adaptation 
plan for Wales

• Climate Change Committee 
(2020) – Land Use: Policies for 
a Net Zero UK

• Climate Change Committee 
(2020) – The Sixth Carbon 
Budget including particularly: 
Agriculture and land use, 
land use change and forestry; 
Surface Transport; Fuel Supply; 
Electricity Generation; and 
Buildings

• Beyond Recycling: A strategy 
to make the circular economy 
in Wales a reality

• The Environment (Wales) Act 
Part 1, Section 6

• Welsh Government Nature 
Recovery Action Plan

• National Peatland Action 
Programme (Wales), 2020-
2025

• National Forest for Wales 
target of planting 43,000 
hectares of trees by 2030 and 
180,000 hectares by 2050

• Habitats Regulations 2017
• Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 (as amended)
• Countryside Act 1968 

Habitats and Species Directive 
1992

• Badgers Act 1992 Wild 
Mammals Protection Act 1996

• Hedgerow Regulations 1997 
Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Regulations 2004

• Commons (Wales) Act 2006
• Heather and Grass etc. 

Burning (Wales) Regulations 

• The Environment (Wales) Act 
Part 1, Section 6

• Water Environment (Water 
Framework Directive)(England 
and Wales) Regulations 2017

• NRW’s Compliance 
Assessment of Welsh River 
SACs against Phosphorus 
Targets (Report No. 489) 
January 2021

• Written Statement: River 
Pollution Summit at the Royal 
Welsh Show - sets out an 8 
point intervention plan

• Flood and Water Management 
Act 2010

• Socio-economic Duty 
•  Welsh Government Strategic 

Equality Plan.
•  Welsh Government Gender 

Equality Plan.
•  Welsh Government 

Framework for Action on 
Disability.

•  Cymraeg 2050 Welsh 
language strategy.

•  Tourism Strategy for Wales 
2020-25

•  Welsh Government Economic 
Action Plan

• Valued and Resilient: The 
Welsh Government’s 
priorities for Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty 
and National Parks (2018).

• Welsh Government Economic 
Action Plan

• Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000

• IUCN Protected Area 
Management Categories 
Statement of Compliance 
for the UK National 
Park Authorities on why 
they should continue to 
be recognised as IUCN 
Protected Areas Cat V.

• The European Landscape 
Convention

• UK Signature: 21/02/2006
• UK Ratification: 21/11/2006
• UK Entry into force: 

01/03/2007
• Valued and Resilient: The 

Welsh Government’s 
priorities for Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty 
and National Parks (2018).

• LANDMAP - the Welsh 
landscape baseline:

• The Mid Wales Area 
Statement

• The South West Wales Area 
Statement

• The South East Wales Area 
Statement

• The South Central Wales Area 
Statement

• DCfW Placemaking Charter
• CCW Statement on Natural 

Beauty
• Planning (Wales) Act 2015

Emergent new legislation and 
policy  

• Food (Wales) Act 
• Updated Natural Resources 

Policy
• National Biodiversity 

Strategy
• Sustainable Farming Scheme

Emergent new legislation and 
policy  

• Race Equality Action Plan 
(REAP) for Wales

• Welsh Government 
LGBTQ+ equality Action 
Plan.

• Welsh Government Cultural 
Strategy.

138

P
age 187



A STATEMENT ON NATURAL BEAUTY 

 

Purpose of a statement on natural beauty in Wales 
 

Natural beauty as a concept emerged in the 19
th
 and the first half of the 20

th
 century, 

and was used mainly to reflect the value attached to the aesthetic and scenic aspects of 

landscape.  In Welsh this broadly equates to the concept of ‘Tirlun’.  Over the years 

since the original concept of ‘natural beauty’ emerged, a number of important socio-

economic and land use changes have occurred, as well as significant changes in the 

policy context. 

 

Although the term natural beauty is widely used, due to the lack of legal definition it 

has been open to a number of different interpretations.  The whole concept of natural 

beauty is currently under debate, as a result of the new designations in England and in 

particular due a recent legal challenge resulting in the so called ‘Meyrick Judgement’, 

which returned to a highly literal definition of natural beauty.  The Natural England 

and Rural Communities (NERC) Act seeks to address the issues raised by this 

judgement and provides a framework for the application of the term natural beauty 

but does not present a formal definition. 

 

The National Parks Review in Wales in 2003-4 undertaken by Land Use Consultants 

for the Welsh Assembly Government (WAG), concluded that the concept of natural 

beauty was: “not well understood by all those who take decisions affecting National 

Parks.  There is a need, therefore, for a statement describing the full scope and reach 

of the first purpose”.  In the Review Action Plan The Countryside Council for Wales 

(CCW) was charged with progressing a number of different actions, including 

Recommendation 26 which requests CCW to “produce a statement on the full scope 

of ‘natural beauty’ in the first purpose including the protection of natural resources, 

important perceptual qualities of landscape and the breadth of cultural influences.” 

 

CCW commissioned Professors Selman and Swanwick at the University of Sheffield 

to research and compile information relating to natural beauty, and out of this process 

to draft a statement on natural beauty.  This draft statement was issued by CCW for 

consultation in January 2006.  Following comments from consultees and building on 

the emerging consensus the statement was further refined through a stakeholder 

workshop held in February 2006. 

 

As a result of this process of research, consultation and engagement, the following 

revised statement on natural beauty has emerged.  The statement is in two parts, with 

the first part seeking to provide clarification on the full scope of natural beauty and  

the second part providing a list of key elements which in combination make up natural 

beauty in support of the statement. It is a resource based approach which relates to the 

Welsh concept of ‘tirwedd’ and reflects the definition of landscape as defined in the 

European Landscape Convention.  Ultimately as a statutory term used in legislation, 

any definition of natural beauty will be open to legal interpretation.  However this 

collaborative work resulting in the statement aims to contribute towards a shared 

understanding of how this legal term is applied, and provide clarification for partners 

and to enhance their understanding of the purposes of protected landscapes.  The 

revised statement was endorsed by CCW Council on 8
th
 May 2006 and is presented 

for consideration by The Welsh Assembly Government. 

139
Page 188



 2 

A STATEMENT ON “NATURAL BEAUTY” 
 

“Natural beauty”, when used both generally and specifically as in the 

1949 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act and other 

legislation, is a complex and multifaceted concept that is concerned with 

landscape in its broadest sense
1
.  It relates primarily to unspoiled, but not 

necessarily extensive, rural landscapes that are largely free from the 

effects of disfiguring development or urbanisation
2
.  Although the 

legislation makes clear that it includes flora, fauna, geological and 

physiographic features, it applies not only to landscapes where nature is 

dominant but also to those which have been shaped and nurtured by 

human activities
3.
  People perceive and appreciate “natural beauty” 

through all their senses, responding to many different aspects of the 

landscape, including its distinctive character
4
, its aesthetic qualities, the 

presence of wildlife, its cultural and historical dimensions and its 

perceptual qualities such as, for example, tranquillity, remoteness and a 

sense of freedom
5
.  Perceptions of, and preferences for “natural beauty” 

are informed by people's personal characteristics, cultural backgrounds 

and individual interests.  “Natural beauty” occurs, to varying degrees, in 

many, though by no means all landscapes.  Some places may, however, be 

judged to display “natural beauty” to an outstanding degree and may as a 

result be recognised as warranting a national level of protection.
6 

 

Explanatory Notes 
 

1.  Landscape is broadly defined as; the interaction between the physical 

(geology, landform, air and climate), natural (soils, flora and fauna), and 

cultural/social (land use, enclosure, settlement) components of our 

environment and the way this is perceived and interpreted by people, both 

visually, in terms of aesthetic aspects like colour, form, texture and pattern, 

and by other senses, and also through individual perceptions and preferences, 

which are affected by people’s cultural backgrounds and interests.  “Natural 

beauty” therefore embraces all of these components and aspects of landscape; 

 

2.  There are no truly ‘natural’ landscapes in the British Isles, but there is a 

spectrum of degrees of relative naturalness.  “Natural beauty” in the British 

context means predominantly rural landscapes that have been shaped and will 

be shaped by the interaction of nature and human management over centuries 

and may include, for example, farmland, fields and field boundaries, designed 

parkland, small settlements, larger villages and small towns, provided that 

they are integral to and in keeping with, the character of the landscape (see 

Note 4); 

 

3.  The human activities that have shaped landscapes are many and varied. The 

concept of “natural beauty” does not, for example, automatically exclude the 

remains of small scale industrial activity which may in some cases be an 

important historic or cultural asset in its own right and make a significant 

contribution to landscape character; 

  

140
Page 189



 3 

4.  “Natural beauty” is related to and to some degree a reflection of landscape 

character, in that it will often find expression in areas of landscape which have 

a distinct character and a strong and recognisable sense of place.  Landscape 

character is, however, found everywhere whereas "natural beauty" is not and 

is a quality found particularly in valued landscapes; 

 

5.  The perceptual aspects of “natural beauty” will vary according to the character 

of the landscape.  For example, tranquillity, remoteness and a sense of 

freedom may be experienced in wild upland landscapes but not in more settled 

landscapes with farms, villages and small towns, which may instead have a 

sense of timelessness and of a long working together of people and nature.   

 

6.  The identification of landscapes of outstanding “natural beauty” requires 

careful thought about why some landscapes are valued more than others. In 

the 19th and the first half of the 20th centuries, when landscape was still 

viewed largely as a static scene or picture, “natural beauty” was synonymous 

with scenery.  It reflected the value attached to the aesthetic and scenic aspects 

of landscape and their spiritual and emotional effects on people.  Times have 

now changed and so have cultural interpretations of landscape.  The aesthetic 

and perceptual values attached to landscape, though still important, are only 

one of the reasons why landscape is valued today.    Today judgements about 

“natural beauty” are really the same as judgements about landscape value, 

which in turn requires consideration of the different reasons why society may 

attach value to particular places. Defining areas of particular “natural beauty” 

is a matter of judgement, based on the use of professional trained eyes, but 

also drawing on informed consensus, including an understanding wherever 

possible of public perceptions.   Drawing on both English and Welsh sources 

the criteria that can be taken into account in defining landscape value and 

hence defining landscapes which have outstanding “natural beauty” include 

some of the following: 

 

• Scenic quality, in terms of the aesthetic aspects of landscape (those 

which give pleasure to the senses), its perceptual dimensions and the 

spiritual or emotional impact that both have on people.  There should be 

a consensus of opinion about the beauty of the landscape, among both 

experts and the public; 

 

• Sense of place, in terms of unity and distinctiveness of landscape 

character; 

 

• Landscape quality, in terms of the intactness of the landscape and its 

condition, in so far as this helps to deliver distinctiveness of landscape 

character in a particular locality; 

 

• Integrity, in terms of intact rural character and general lack of large-

scale, visually intrusive or otherwise inharmonious development; 

 

• Perceptual qualities which make a particular contribution to sense of 

place, including wildness and tranquillity; 

 

141
Page 190



 4 

• Important associations of the landscape with people, places or events 

relevant to a particular place; 

 

• Evidence of importance through expressions or descriptions of the 

landscape in art, literature, music and other art forms, through language 

and folklore, and through modern media; 

 

• Rarity or representativeness, either of the landscape as a whole, or of 

individual elements and features within it; 

 

• Conservation interest, through the presence of features of particular 

wildlife, earth science or archaeological, historical and cultural interest 

which add value to the landscape as well as having conservation value 

in their own right. 

 

  

 

Countryside Council for Wales 

May 2006 

 

 

 

DATGANIAD AR BRYDFERTHWCH NATURIOL 

 

Amcan datganid ar brydferthwch naturiol yng Nghymru. 
 

Ymddangosodd prydferthwch naturiol fel cysyniad yn 19C  a hanner cyntaf y 20C, a’i 

ddefnyddio gan fwyaf i ddisgrifio’r gwerth esthetig a thirlunol y dirwedd ac, yn wir, 

yn y Gymraeg mae hyn yn gyfystyr yn fras â’r cysyniad ‘Tirlun’. Dros y 

blynyddoedd, ers i’r cysyniad gwreiddiol ymddangos bu nifer o newidiadau pwysig 

yn yr economi, mewn defnydd tir yn ogystal â newidiadau  o fewn y cyd-destun 

polisi. 

 

Er bod cryn ddefnydd o’r term prydferthwch naturiol, gan nad oes iddo ddiffiniad 

cyfreithiol, bu’n agored i aml i ddehongliad. Y mae’r holl gysyniad o brydferthwch 

naturiol o dan y chwyddwydr yn dilyn dynodiadau newydd yn Lloegr a hefyd, yn 

benodol, drwy her gyfreithiol o dan ‘Dyfarniad Meyrick’ - dyfarniad llythrennol dros 

ben o brydferthwch naturiol. Y mae Deddf ‘Naural England and Rural Communities’ 

(NERC) yn ceisio mynd i’r afael â’r materion a godwyd gan y dyfarniad drwy greu 

fframwaith i ddefnydd y term prydferthwch naturiol ond nid yw’n cynnig diffiniad 

ffurfiol. 

 

Gwnaethpwyd Adolygiad Parciau Cenedlaethol Cymru 2003 - 2004, gan Land Use 

Consultants ar ran Llywodraeth y Cynulliad (LlyC), a’r farn yno oedd bod cysyniad 

prydferthwch naturiol “heb ei ddeall yn iawn gan y sawl sydd yn gwneud 

penderfyniadau yn effeithio ar Barciau Cenedlaethol. Y mae angen , felly, am 

ddatganiad i ddisgrifio ystod a chyrhaeddiad y pwrpas cyntaf.” Yng Nghynllun 

Gweithredu’r Adolygiad gofynnwyd CCG i weithredu ar nifer o bwyntiau gan 

gynnwys Argymhelliad 26 sydd yn gofyn i CCG “i ffurfio datganiad ar ystod lawn 

142
Page 191



 5 

‘prydferthwch naturiol’ yn y pwrpas cyntaf gan gynnwys diogelu adnoddau naturiol, 

gwerthoedd canfyddiad o dirwedd ac ehangder dylanwadau diwylliannol.” 

 

Comisiynwyd y ddau Athro, Selman a Swanwick o Brifysgol Sheffield i ymchwilio a 

chasglu gwybodaeth yn berthnasol i brydferthwch naturiol, ac yn deillio o’r broses 

yna, i fynd ati i lunio datganiad drafft ar brydferthwch naturiol. Dosbarthwyd y drafft 

ar gyfer ymgynghoriad ym mis Ionawr 2006 gan CCG. Yn dilyn sylwadau ac yn 

adeiladu ar y consensws oedd yn ffurfio, bu fwy o hogi ar y datganiad mewn 

cynhadledd i rhan-ddeiliad ym mis Chwefror 2006. 

 

Fel canlyniad i’r broses hon o ymchwilio, ymgynghori ac ymgyfranogi, lluniwyd y 

datganiad sydd yn dilyn. Y mae’r datganiad mewn dau ran, gyda’r rhan gyntaf yn 

ceisio cynnig eglurhad a’r ystod eang y term  prydferthwch naturiol a’r ail ran yn 

cynnig rhestri o’r elfennau allweddol sydd, gyda’i gilydd, yn sail i brydferthwch 

naturiol. Edrychir ar y term o ochr adnoddau ac mae’n cysylltu â’r term Cymraeg 

‘tirwedd’ sydd hefyd yn adleisio'r dirwedd fel y’i diffinnir yn  y  Confensiwn Tirwedd 

Ewropeaidd. Yn y pen draw, fel term statudol o fewn cyfraith gwlad, bydd unrhyw 

ddiffiniad o brydferthwch  naturiol yn agored i ddehongliad cyfreithiol. Er hynny , 

bydd y cydweithio sydd wedi arwain at y datganiad yn cyfrannu tuag at ennill deall-

ar-cyd ar sut i weithredu’r term cyfreithiol gan gynnig eglurhad i bartneriaid a gwella 

eu dealltwriaeth o amcanion tiroedd dynodedig. Cadarnhawyd y datganiad diwygiedig 

gan Gyngor CCG ar Fai 8fed 2006 ac fe’i cyflwynir i Lywodraeth Cynulliad Cymru. 

 

DATGANIAD AR HARDDWCH NATURIOL 
 

Mae "Harddwch naturiol”, pan fydd yn cael ei ddefnyddio mewn ystyr 

cyffredinol a phenodol, fel yn Neddf Parciau Cenedlaethol a Mynediad i 

Gefn Gwlad 1949, ac mewn deddfwriaeth arall, yn gysyniad cymhleth ac 

amlweddog sy’n ymdrin â thirwedd yn ei ystyr ehangaf
1
. Mae’n cyfeirio’n 

bennaf, ond nid yn unig, at dirwedd estynedig yng nghefn gwlad lle nad 

oes effeithiau datblygiad niweidiol a threfoli i’w gweld. 

 

Er bod y ddeddfwriaeth yn ei gwneud hi’n glir bod y cysyniad yn 

cynnwys, planhigion ac anifeiliad daeareg a ffisiograffeg, mae’n cyfeirio 

nid yn unig at dirweddau lle mae byd natur yn arglwyddiaethu ond hefyd 

at dirweddau a gafodd eu siapio a’u meithrin gan weithgareddau dyn
3
. 

Mae pobl yn defnyddio’u holl synhwyrau i ganfod ac i werthfawrogi 

“harddwch naturiol”. Maen nhw’n ymateb i nifer o wahanol agweddau ar 

y tirwedd, gan gynnwys hynodrwydd ei gymeriad
4
, ei nodweddion 

estheteg, presenoldeb bywyd gwyllt, y dimensiwn diwylliannol a 

hanesyddol a nodweddion, ymdeimladol  megis llonyddwch, cael bod yn 

ymhell o phawb a phobeth a chael bod yn rhydd
5
. Cymeriad, cefndir 

diwylliannol a diddordebau unigol sy’n dylanwadu ar ganfyddiadau a 

dewisiadau pobl mewn perthynas â harddwch naturiol. Mae “harddwch 

naturiol” i’w weld, i wahanol raddau, mewn nifer fawr, ond nid y cyfan o 

bell ffordd, o dirweddau. Ond gellir ystyried bod rhai lleoedd yn 

arddangos “harddwch naturiol“ eithriadol a’u bod, o’r herwydd, yn 

haeddu cael eu gwarchod yn genedlaethol
6
. 

 

 

143
Page 192



 6 

Nodiadau esboniadol 
 

1. Diffinnir tirwedd yn fras fel; y rhyngweithiad rhwng elfennau’r amgylchedd sy’n 

ffisegol (daeareg, tirffurf a hinsawdd), naturiol (pridd, fflora a ffawna) a 

diwylliannol, cymdeithasol (defnydd tir, patrwm caeau, anheddiad) a’r modd y 

mae hwn yn cael ei ganfod a’i ddehongli gan bobl, boed yn weledol drwy 

agweddau estheteg fel lliw, ffurf, ansawdd/gwead a phatrwm neu drwy synhwyrau 

eraill a hefyd drwy ganfyddiadau a dewisiadau unigol sy’n cael eu dylanwadu gan 

gefndir diwylliannol a diddordebau pobl. Mae “harddwch naturiol” felly yn 

cwmpasu’r holl elfennau a’r agweddau hyn o’r tirwedd. 

 

2. Nid oes unrhyw dirwedd gwirioneddol ‘naturiol’ i’w cael o fewn Ynysoedd 

Prydain ond ceir ystod o dirweddau sy’n naturiol i wahanol raddau, o’u cymharu 

â’i gilydd. Mewn cyd-destun Prydeinig mae “harddwch naturiol” yn golygu 

tirweddau gwledig yn bennaf, sydd wedi cael eu siapio gan ryngweithiad rhwng 

natur a rheolaeth tir dros y canrifoedd. Gall y tirweddau hyn gynnwys, er 

enghraifft, tir fferm, caeau a therfynau, parciau a ddylunwyd anheddau bychain, 

pentrefi mwy a threfi bychain, cyn belled â’u bod nhw’n rhan gynhenid o gymeriad 

y tirwedd ac yn cyfrannu ato  (gweler nodyn 4). 

 

3. Mae’r gweithgareddau dynol sydd wedi siapio tirweddau yn niferus ac yn 

amrywiol. Er enghraifft, nid yw’n wir, yn awtomatig, bod y cysyniad o “harddwch 

naturiol”, yn eithrio gweddillion gweithgaredd diwydiannol ar raddfa fechan - gall 

y rhain weithiau fod yn ased hanesyddol neu ddiwylliannol a chyfrannu yn 

arwyddocaol at gymeriad tirwedd. 

 

4. Mae "harddwch naturiol" yn perthyn i, ac i raddau yn adlewyrchu cymeriad 

tirwedd, gan ei fod yn aml yn cael ei ddefnyddio mewn perthynas ag ardaloedd o 

dirwedd sydd â chymeriad hynod ac ymdeimlad cryf  ac amlwg o lle. Ond mae 

cymeriad tirlun i’w ganfod ym mhob man  - ni ellir    dweud yr un peth am 

“harddwch naturiol”. Mae’n nodwedd sy’n cael ei amlygu mewn tirweddau 

penodol o ansawdd cydnabyddedig.  

 

5. Bydd yr agweddau hynny o “harddwch naturiol” sy’n ymwneud â chanfyddiadau, 

yn amrywio o le i le, yn ôl cymeriad y tirwedd. Er enghraifft, gellir profi 

llonyddwch, cael bod yn bell o phawb a phobeth  a bod yn rhydd mewn tiroedd 

anystywallt yn yr ucheldir ond nid o fewn tirweddau sydd â nifer o anheddau fel  

ffermydd, pentrefi a threfi bychain. Yn y mannau hyn, synhwyrir efallai rhyw 

deimlad o barhad ac o hanes hir o gydweithio rhwng pobl a byd natur. 

 

6. Rhaid meddwl yn ofalus ynglŷn â pham y mae rhai tirweddau yn cael 

eu gwerthfawrogi’n fwy na rhai eraill wrth geisio adnabod tirweddau sydd â 

“harddwch naturiol” eithriadol. Yn y 19eg a’r 20fed G, pan oedd tirwedd yn dal i gael 

ei ystyried fel golygfa ddigyfnewid neu ddarlun, roedd “harddwch naturiol” yn 

gyfystyr â ‘golygfa’. Roedd yn adlewyrchu’r gwerth a roddai pobl ar agweddau 

estheteg a golygfaol tirwedd ac ar effaith ysbrydol ac emosiynol yr agweddau hyn ar 

bobl. Gyda threigl amser, mae dehongliadau diwylliannol o dirwedd wedi newid. Er 

bod y gwerth estheteg a chanfyddiadol a gysylltir gyda thirwedd yn dal i fod yn 

bwysig, mae rhesymau eraill, erbyn heddiw, yn cyfrif am y gwerth a roddir ar 

dirweddau. Bellach, pan fynegir barn am “harddwch naturiol”, mae’n farn ynglŷn â 

144
Page 193



 7 

gwerth tirwedd;  yn ei dro, mae hyn yn gofyn am ystyried y gwahanol resymau sy’n 

gyfrifol am y gwerth y mae cymdeithas yn ei osod ar leoedd arbennig . Mater o farn 

yw diffinio ardaloedd gyda “harddwch naturiol” - barn sy’n seiliedig ar lygad 

broffesiynol, ond sy’n tynnu hefyd ar gonsensws gwybodus ynghylch y pwnc ac sy’n 

cynnwys dealltwriaeth o ganfyddiadau’r cyhoedd lle bynnag y bo hynny’n bosib. Gan 

dynnu ar ffynonellau Cymreig a Seisnig, gellir rhestru’r meini prawf ar gyfer diffinio 

gwerth tirwedd, ac felly ar gyfer diffinio tirweddau gyda “harddwch naturiol” 

eithriadol fel a ganlyn (heb fod mewn unrhyw drefn benodol):    

 

• Priodweddau golygfaol, o safbwynt agweddau estheteg y tirwedd (yr 

agweddau hynny sy’n rhoi pleser i’r synhwyrau), y dimensiwn 

ymdeimladol a’r effaith ysbrydol ac emosiynol y mae’r ddau beth yma 

yn ei gael ar bobl. Dylai fod consensws barn ynglŷn â harddwch 

tirwedd ymhlith arbenigwyr a’r cyhoedd; 

 

• Ymdeimlad o le, o safbwynt undod a hynodrwydd cymeriad y tirwedd; 

 

• Ansawdd y tirwedd, o ran cyfanrwydd a chyflwr y tirwedd, i'r graddau 

y mae hyn yn helpu sicrhau hynodrwydd  cymeriad tirwedd mewn 

unrhyw fan. 

 

• Cyfanrwydd, yn nhermau cyflwr  y cymeriad gwledig ac absenoldeb 

cyffredinol unrhyw ddatblygiadau mawr sy’n tarfu ar y tirwedd neu 

sydd, fel arall, yn anghymarus. 

 

• Priodweddau canfyddiadol sy’n cyfrannu mewn ffordd arbennig at 

ymdeimlad o le, gan gynnwys natur wyllt a llonyddwch; 

 

• Cysylltiadau pwysig rhwng y tirwedd a phobl, lleoedd neu 

ddigwyddiadau sy’n berthnasol i fan arbennig; 

 

• Tystiolaeth o bwysigrwydd y tirwedd drwy gyfeiriadau neu 

ddisgrifiadau mewn celf, llenyddiaeth, cerddoriaeth neu ffurfiau 

celfyddydol eraill, drwy iaith a llen gwerin a thrwy gyfryngau cyfoes; 

 

• Pa mor brin, neu gynrychioliadol yw’r tirwedd, un ai yn ei gyfanrwydd 

neu elfennau ohono a nodweddion oddi fewn iddo; 

 

• Diddordeb cadwraethol, boed yn fywyd gwyllt , gwyddor daear, 

archeoleg neu’n ddiddordeb hanesyddol a diwylliannol, sydd yn 

ychwanegu gwerth at y tirwedd yn ogystal â bod yn gynhenid 

werthfawr o safbwynt cadwraeth. 

 

 

 

Cyngor Cefn Gwlad Cymru Mai 2006 

145
Page 194



three
Well-Being of future generationS act and future 

Bannau 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act requires all public bodies in Wales to carry out 
sustainable development. As part of this, they must set well-being objectives and take all 
reasonable steps to meet them.  

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is a public body. The missions and mission 
objectives set out in Future Bannau are the well-being objectives set by Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority. They include objectives to be achieved by the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority, and by partners and wider society. 

The WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT (WALES) 2015 defines sustainable 
development in Wales as 

The process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by 
taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the 
well-bing goals.

Plans to meet the missions and objectives will be developed and delivered with partners 
during the course of the five-year Future Bannau management plan period. The Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority Corporate Plan set out the main steps the public body 
itself will take to meet the well-being objectives.

hoW future Bannau miSSionS and oBJectiVeS align 
With the Well-Being of future generationS act  

Wellbeing goal Future Bannau mission /objective / ambition

A Prosperous Wales 

An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); and 
which develops a skilled and well-educated 
population in an economy which generates 
wealth and provides employment oppor-
tunities, allowing people to take advantage 
of the wealth generated through securing 
decent work.

People mission:
By 2028 the people of the National Park will be able 
to meet their needs (health, economic, recreational, 
and residential) whilst respecting and regenerating our 
environment. Visitor experience is enhanced by being 
firmly embedded within sustainability principles

People mission future economy ambition:
Local communities and businesses will benefit from 
a vibrant and sustainable economy focused on local 
wealth generation and the foundational economy.  
Sustainable new investment will work alongside home-
grown businesses to provide good quality employment 
opportunities.

Place mission objective
Collaborative action focused on a range of spatial 
areas to co-produce responses to the nature, climate 
and economic crises. 

Place mission prosperous places ambition:
Places which have proportionally increased levels of 
community wealth generated within the local econo-
my through development of the foundational economy, 
social enterprise, and the green economy.

146

P
age 195



Wellbeing goal Future Bannau mission /objective / ambition

A Resilient Wales
A nation which maintains and enhances 
a biodiverse natural environment with 
healthy functioning ecosystems that sup-
port social, economic and ecological resil-
ience and the capacity to adapt to change.

Climate mission: Reach net-zero greenhouse gas 
emissions across the Brecon Beacon National Park by 
2035.

Water mission: Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful, water 
resources and water environments by 2030.

Water mission ambition: Supporting the provi-
sion of clean and sustainable water resources for the 
Brecon Beacons and beyond.

Nature mission: A Nature Positive National Park by 
2030

• Nature mission ambition - habitat recovery: all 
major habitats in the National Park, including grass-
land, native woodland, upland heathland, and peatland, 
will be on a pathway to net biodiversity gain.
• Nature mission ambition - species conser-
vation: flagship species, that are emblematic of the 
national park or specific habitats, are increasing in 
numbers and extent.
• Nature mission ambition – ecosystem man-
agement Ecosystem functions and ecosystem service 
generated by the park are enhanced

People mission - future visitors objective:
We will have become the torchbearers for sustain-
able tourism.  Visiting the Brecon Beacons provides a 
unique experience, which enhances support for nature 
recovery, community wellbeing and the local economy.  
Visitors will know our story and be motivated to help 
us respond to key challenges, especially through their 
own actions and behaviour.

Wellbeing goal Future Bannau mission /objective / ambition

A More Equal Wales
A society that enables people to fulfil their 
potential no matter what their background 
or circumstances (including their socio 
economic circumstances)

People mission:
Equity, diversity, inclusion objective: We will challenge 
and remove discrimination and barriers to partici-
pation wherever they may occur, creating a National 
Park where everyone can find opportunity and be-
longing.

People mission future food ambition:
The sustainability and affordability of healthy food 
available to residents and visitors will have improved 
through the creation of local food networks of sus-
tainable food production and retailing.

People mission future skills and jobs ambition:
The demographic mix of people living in the Park will 
have increased as a result of investment in rural skills 
for the future.

People mission future homes ambition:
People who need to or want to live their lives here 
will be able to do so within their means.  There will 
be extensive protection against second and holiday 
homes where necessary.  For those who cannot afford 
market prices there will be low carbon community led 
housing options available.

People mission sustainable businesses objective:
There will be a support network of businesses ded-
icated to building a local sustainable and equitable 
economy within the Brecon Beacons.

A Healthier Wales
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in 
which choices and behaviours that benefit 
future health are understood.

Water mission ambition:
Ensuring that the health and wellbeing benefits gained 
from high quality, nature rich, water environments can 
be experienced by all who live within and visit the 
Brecon Beacons.

Place mission healthy places ambition:
Places which have wide ranging benefits to public 
health and wellbeing.

People mission future food ambition:
The sustainability and affordability of healthy food 
available to residents and visitors will have improved 
through the creation of local food networks of sus-
tainable food production and retailing.

147

P
age 196



Wellbeing goal Future Bannau mission /objective / ambition

A Wales of Cohesive Communities
Attractive, safe, viable and well-connected

People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion ambi-
tion:
We will challenge and remove discrimination and bar-
riers to participation wherever they may occur, creat-
ing a National Park where everyone can find opportu-
nity and belonging.

Place mission well planned places ambition:
Where everyone feels a connection to their place, and 
this provides benefit to peoples health and wellbeing. 
Our Places provide a high-quality built environment 
which provides our residents and visitors a safe place 
to meet, live, work, play and connect. Our businesses 
can thrive through connections to people, services, 
and infrastructure.

Place mission innovative places ambition:
Where connected networks of active citizens collabo-
rate with businesses and key organisations to innovate 
place-based solutions to place based challenges.

A Globally Responsible Wales
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, environmen-
tal and cultural well-being of Wales, takes 
account of whether doing such a thing 
may make a positive contribution to global 
well-being.

Missions and objectives have been adopted in line 
with global standards of science and equity wherever 
relevant. For example Climate mission: decarboni-
sation toward or beyond our fair share of action to 
halve global emissions by 2030, in line with the Paris 
Agreement goal of limiting global temperature rises to 
1.5 degrees.

The Place mission has a resilient places ambi-
tion:
Places which are sustainable into the future providing 
good access to housing, employment and service pro-
vision to meet community needs.  They are measurably 
less reliant on external supply chains for essentials as a 
result of the increase in local renewable energy gener-
ation; local food supply and opportunities for commu-
nity ownership.

hoW future Bannau miSSionS and oBJectiVeS align 
With the WayS of Working

Ways of Working Future Bannau

Long-term 
The importance of balancing short-term 
needs with the needs to safeguard the 
ability to also meet long-term needs

Future Bannau is a five-year management plan for 
the National Park with a 25-year horizon. Some 
of the missions have a beyond five-year time span 
including the climate and nature missions. 
Monitoring framework is being developed in part-
nership looking at goals up to 2050 (or beyond 
where relevant)

Integration
Considering how the public body’s 
well-being objectives may impact upon 
each of the well-being goals, on their 
objectives, or on the objectives of other 
public bodies

Future Bannau is shaped by Doughnut Economics 
which combines the concepts of planetary boundar-
ies with the UN Sustainable Development Goals to 
create an integrated approach to achieving well-be-
ing.

Involvement
The importance of involving people with 
an interest in achieving the well-being 
goals, and ensuring that those people 
reflect the diversity of the area which the 
body serves

Future Bannau was developed over an extended 
period through extensive engagement with stake-
holders. A People’s Assembly and a Stakeholder 
Reference Panel were set up, and an extensive range 
of policy deep dive sessions were held to facilitate 
informed input into the Plan.

People mission Equity, diversity, inclusion 
objective:
We will challenge and remove discrimination and 
barriers to participation wherever they may occur, 
creating a National Park where everyone can find 
opportunity and belonging.

Place mission BBNPA contribution:
We will work with communities within the National 
Park to develop place plans that build on the special 
characteristics of their area, to improve quality of 
life, support economic well-being and enhance the 
built and natural environment.
 
Involvement is the core of our delivery mechanism 
as highlighted through the Ser y Bannau within each 
mission and Partner section.

148

P
age 197



Ways of Working Future Bannau

Collaboration
Acting in collaboration with any other 
person (or different parts of the body 
itself) that could help the body to meet its 
well-being objectives

Place mission: 
To work with the people and agencies who are 
deeply rooted in these places to identify the key 
challenges, and work together to find the solutions 
that work on the ground. In doing this we seek to 
get at the heart of what makes places function as 
great places to work, live, and play - as providers 
of ecosystem services such as clean air, water, and 
locked in carbon.

Delivery mechanism embraces collaboration, for 
example through the Ser y Bannau, within each mis-
sion and Partner section.

Prevention
How acting to prevent problems occurring 
or getting worse may help public bodies 
meet their objectives

Future Beacons missions are shaped in response to 
the climate and nature emergencies and the cost of 
living and wellbeing crises. Acting at scale and speed 
on these challenges is the best way to prevent prob-
lems getting worse.

FUTURE BANNAU149

P
age 198



FUTURE BANNAU

four MISSION CROSS 
REFERENCE

THE MISSIONS AND THEIR SUPPORTING OBJECTIVES 
ARE INTERLINKED AND INTERTWINED

THIS TABLE ATTEMPTS TO DEMONSTRATE THE 
EXTENT OF THEIR RELATIONSHIPS.  

FURTHER REFINEMENT WILL BE POSSIBLE DURING 
ACTION PLANNING STAGE.

150

P
age 199



151

P
age 200



152

P
age 201



153

P
age 202



154

P
age 203



FUTURE BANNAU

FIVE glossary 
 

Biodiversity 

The variability among living organisms from all sources including terrestrial, marine and other aquatic eco-
systems. Includes diversity within and between species, habitats and ecosystems.  

Carbon footprint 

Measures the total greenhouse gas emissions caused directly and indirectly by a person, organisation, 
event or product.  

Carbon sequestration 

(also storage and capture) (also sequestering carbon, carbon storage, carbon capture) The uptake of car-
bon containing substances, in particular carbon dioxide to a storage reservoir (e.g. trees, soils) so reducing 
atmospheric carbon dioxide.  

Circular economy  

 circular economy is an alternative to a traditional linear economy (make, use, dispose) in which we keep 
resources in use for as long as possible, extract the maximum value from them whilst in use, then recover 
and regenerate products and materials at the end of each service life.  

Climate change 

A change in the state of the climate that can be identified by changes in the mean and/or variability of its 
properties, and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer.  

Condition (of a species or habitat) 

The capacity to yield services relative to its potential capacity. This is usually described in relation to a 
desired reference state (good or favourable condition) and is typically defined in terms of extent, distri-
bution, structures and functions, and species composition for habitats and population size structure and 
habitat quality for species.  

Connectivity 

The degree to which the landscape facilitates or impedes movement among resource patches.  

Doughnut economics 

A visual framework for sustainable development – shaped like a doughnut – combining the concepts of 
planetary boundaries with the UN Sustainable Development Goals. The name derives from the shape of 
the diagram, i.e. a disc with a hole in the middle. The centre hole of the model depicts the proportion of 
people that lack access to life's essentials (healthcare, education, equity and so on) while the crust rep-
resents the ecological ceilings (planetary boundaries) that life depends on and must not be overshot. The 
diagram was developed by Kate Raworth.    

 

Ecological footprint 

An indicator of the total environmental burden that society places on the planet. It represents the area 
of land needed to provide raw materials, energy and food, as well as absorb pollution and waste created 
and is measured in global hectares.  

Ecosystem 

Communities of interacting animals, plants and other organisms and their non-living (physical and chem-
ical) environment.  

Ecosystem services  

Typically used to categorise the benefits people obtain from ecosystems. The four categories are: provi-
sioning services e.g. food and water; regulating services e.g. flood and disease control; cultural services 
e.g. spiritual and recreational; and supporting services e.g. soil formation and nutrient cycling.  

Greenhouse gases 

A group of gases that contribute either directly to climate change (including global warming) owing to 
their positive radiative forcing effect, or indirectly because they can produce increases in tropospheric 
ozone concentrations and this increases radiative forcing (warming of the atmosphere).  

Groundwater 

All water which is below the surface of the ground in the saturation zone and in direct contact with the 
ground or subsoil. It provides baseflow to springs, rivers and wetlands and contributes to drinking water 
supplies  

Habitat 

An ecological or environmental space/area that is inhabited by a particular organism or ecological 
community. It is characterised primarily by its physical features (e.g. soil, climate, water quality etc.) and 
secondarily by the species of plants and animals that live there. See also "Broad habitat".  

Invasive non-native species 

Plants, animals, fungi and microorganisms whose introduction and/or spread outside their natural past 
or present ranges pose a risk to biodiversity or have other unforeseen negative consequences. 

Mission 

A big goal designed to set a strategic direction, inspire and galvanise action. 

Natural resources 

The living and non-living components of ecosystems. 

155

P
age 204



FUTURE BANNAU

Net zero 

Cutting greenhouse gas emissions to as close to zero as possible, with any remaining emissions re-ab-
sorbed from the atmosphere, by natural processes. 

Nature positive 

Halting and reversing the current decline in biodiversity so that species and ecosystems begin to recover. 

Planetary boundaries 

A set of nine processes that regulate the stability and resilience of the Earth within which humanity can 
continue to develop and thrive for generations to come. Crossing these boundaries increases the risk of 
generating large-scale abrupt or irreversible environmental changes. Devised in 2009 by former Stock-
holm Resilience Centre director Johan Rockström with a group of 28 internationally renowned scientists. 

Protected sites (or protected areas) 

Areas that have been designated under EU and/or UK legislation for specific biological or geological fea-
tures.  

Public Service Boards 

A group (board) set up in each local authority area as defined in the Wellbeing of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act. The boards comprise of the local authority, the local health board for an area any of part 
of which falls within the local authority area, the Welsh fire and rescue authority for an area any part of 
which falls within the local authority area, and the Natural Resources Body for Wales (Natural Resources 
Wales, NRW). 

Regulation(s) (in a legal sense, not the same as regulation of processes and services) 

A "regulation" is a binding legislative act. It must be applied in its entirety across Wales, the UK or EU 
(depending on the scale the regulation applies to).  

Resilience (of ecosystems) 

The capacity of ecosystems to deal with disturbances, either by resisting them, recovering from them, or 
adapting to them, whilst retaining their ability to deliver services and benefits now and in the future.  

Risks 

The likelihood of an outcome (usually negative) to the environment, or the potential impact of a pressure 
on the environment.  

Semi-natural habitats 

Habitats in which the vegetation is mostly composed of native plant taxa, but where human land use and 
other activities play a key role in community development and maintenance. Examples are numerous, 
ranging across the spectrum of major habitat classes in Wales, including most forms of deciduous wood-
land, dwarfshrub heathland, and many coastal formations. Habitat expressions least influenced by human 
activities are sometimes called ‘near-natural’; at the other end of the spectrum certain degraded habitats, 

such as modified bog, are also treated as semi-natural.  

 Sustainable Development Goals 

17 goals adopted by all United Nations Member States in 2015 to provide a shared blueprint for peace and 
prosperity for people and the planet, now and into the future.  

1. No Poverty. 2. Zero Hunger. 3. Good Health and Wellbeing. 4. Quality Education. 5. Gender Equality. 6. 
Clean Water and Sanitation. 7. Affordable and Clean Energy. 8. Decent Work and Economic Growth. 9. 
Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure. 10. Reduced Inequalities. 11. Sustainable Cities and Communities. 
12. Responsible Consumption and Production. 13. Climate Action. 14. Life Below Water. 15. Life on Land. 16. 
Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions. 17. Partnerships for the Goals. 

Targets 

A target is a clear expression of a policy priority, setting out exactly what the Government wants to have 
done and by when. Targets let those responsible for delivery know what needs to happen, so that they can 
plan, monitor and deliver the specified change.  

Well-being 

A context- and situation-dependent state, comprising basic material for a good life, freedom and choice, 
health and bodily well-being, good social relations, security, peace of mind, and spiritual experience.  

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

This Act is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. It will 
make the public bodies listed in the Act think more about the long-term, work better with people and com-
munities and each other, look to prevent problems and take a more joined-up approach. This will help us to 
create a Wales that we all want to live in, now and in the future. To make sure we are all working towards 
the same vision, the Act puts in place seven well-being goals. Public Service Boards are required to put to-
gether Well-being Assessments to help implement action to improve well-being. Wellbeing Indicators will be 
used to measure success of actions. 

156

P
age 205



I rode my electric bicycle. The National Park now 
has progressive vehicle-free zones, with some 
roads now used as cycle paths. The old railway line 
through the park has been restored and electric 
trams serve the local area, and connect the Park to 
the outside world.

As a resident I like to cycle, it gives me a sense of 
freedom; I can go at my own pace, stop whenever 
I want to. I love to feel the air on my skin, and the 
wind in my face, and the sun on my skin. The old 
Celtic Blessing has never been more apt!

I hear silence. I hear the voice of nature. I hear birds 
calling and singing. A golden eagle shrieks high in the 
sky above me. Once common throughout Wales 
in the 1800s, they were successfully reintroduced 
into the park 10 years ago. I hear the wind rustling 
through the leaves of the trees. There are so many 
more trees now, and with climate change many dif-
ferent species have been successfully introduced to 
replace the native stock that tragically suffered from 
the tree pandemics of the 2020’s.

I stop on a river crossing. It runs clear and clean, 
and the sound of rippling water fills my ears, I hear a 
large swoosh in the water and notice an otter play-
ing in the shallows with her cub. Water birds sing 
from the undergrowth and the banks, a Reed War-
bler flits through the rushes in the nearby bog. Since 
the traffic has been controlled the aural soundscape 
has become so enlivened with the sounds of nature, 
it is wonderful to now experience this.

There is a scent of late summer floral blossom in 
the air, The hedges are full of meadowsweet, hon-
eysuckle and mallow in blossom. Changes in agri-
cultural methods have resulted in the hedgerows 
becoming much wilder and more abundant with 
flowers, berries and insect life. The heather on the 
moor above me is beginning to flower. Bees are out 
collecting late season nectar.

The late season hay is being cut in the wild flower 
meadows, and there is a wonderful rich smell of dry-
ing herbage that permeates the late evening air as 
the sun turns the  landscape gold. The electric pow-
ered tractor silently turns the hay, sending insects 

and dust up into the surroundings, reflecting gold 
in the evening light. Lime trees and sweet chestnut 
in savannah style field plantings, are in flower and 
their canopies are humming with life and the air 
around them is sweet with the smell of pollen

I strip off and find a swimming hole in the River 
Usk, the water is beautifully clean, and cool for the 
time of year. The fresh water invigorates my skin 
and as I lie on a shingle bank half floating half sus-
pended, I gaze up at the blue sky above me. I am 
totally at peace; nothing can beat this sensation. 
The Usk has recently been declared the cleanest 
river in Wales, and a colony of fresh water mussels 
have successfully reinhabited the upper reaches of 
the river. It is abundant with life and I am feeling 
lucky that I can share this with all the other crea-
tures that now can safely call this their home.

As I leave the water something catches my eye, 
I reach down and pick up a small elongated cy-
lindrical object, I’m pretty sure that it is some 
kind of scat or spraint. I check on my phone and 
it confirms my thought that this is Beaver drop-
pings. Over the last 10 years Beavers have made 
the upper reaches of the Usk their home. Being 
nocturnal animals, they have been hard to spot, 
but this evidence now confirms their presence in 
this region. A group of land managers and farmers 
have been working together on a landscape scale 
rewinding project of the upper Usk valleys and it 
is a joy to start to see the results of this work.

I have lived in the park for over 50 years now, 
and have worked on the land for all of that time, 
dedicating my work to conservation of the land, 
woodlands and organic agriculture. I am happy 
to see that at long last the efforts of the farming 
community are starting to reverse the trend of 
biodiversity loss. A renewed mindset has come 
into being and nature has at last been valued; 
we no longer talk of ‘GDP’ and refer to Natural 
capital growth. It has taken decades to move away 
from unsustainable practices, and the new educa-
tional hubs and colleges in the park are providing 
exciting opportunities into the latest growing 
generation of land workers and managers.
It brings joy to my heart that I am able to witness 

this change, and leave behind me an environment 
that has strong beating heart, one that provides 
prosperity to all that call this place home.
 
‘Yes, it was worth it.’

Everyone’s combined efforts have created a rich 
and diverse mosaic of habitats which now sup-
ports a rich array of flora and fauna, far richer than 
2022.

Farming systems have radically changed, working 
together in cluster groups, sharing ideas, equip-
ment and workloads. The Welsh Government have 
finally found the right balance, supporting agricul-
ture to both produce nutrient dense food and a 
diverse range of environmental benefits.
In some areas, old field systems have been re-
stored, with messy hedgerows that have become 
havens for wildlife. In other areas, enclosed land 
has been opened up into rich extensive wildlands, 
where livestock are monitored via local area 
networks and GPS tracking devices. Hedges have 
become wild havens, spilling over creating shade 
and habitat. Animals graze in savannah style sys-
tems and are monitored for their impact on the 
land at all times of the year. Wildflower meadows 
are now abundant throughout the park, and many 
more trees have been planted, occupying about 
30% of the land now.

There are many more ponds and wetlands and 
this has radically changed the landscape, adding so 
many benefits to all.

Human communities within the park, are now 
much more self-sufficient, and local food now sup-
plies 80% of the community’s needs. New schools 
and community centers have been built, binding 
rural people together, and providing opportunities 
for the younger generations.
Making the changes has been immensely challeng-
ing for everyone. Aided by some dynamic leaders 
and strong community bonds, a new way of life 
was developed. It has created a much healthier and 
vibrant environment for Life, for decades to come.

‘Yes, it was worth it.’

A Post Card from 2047

A vision by 
Gavin Hogg
Penpont Estate

FUTURE BANNAU114

P
age 206



157
Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



Sustainability Appraisal 

(Draft to inform decision) 

Future Bannau 
The statutory Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park 2023-2028 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National Park Authority 16th December 2022 

 

Initial Report prepared by Christopher O’Brien MRTPI October 2021 

Refined by Helen Lucocq MRTPI November 2022 

Statutory bodies consulted 29th November 2022 

 

Page 209



Sustainability Appraisal 

i 
 

Contents 

Contents 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

1. Context for the planning process. .................................................................................................. 3 

2. Context: Macro issues. ................................................................................................................... 5 

3. Context: Detailed issues. ................................................................................................................ 7 

4. What is the National Park Management Plan? And how can it help? ........................................... 20 

5. Context: Alternatives considered throughout the process and assessment methodology. ........ 25 

Alternatives ....................................................................................................................................... 25 

Assessment methodology ................................................................................................................. 25 

Difficulties encountered in compiling the required information ...................................................... 27 

6. Results - Likely significant effects .................................................................................................. 29 

The Vision and Objectives ................................................................................................................ 29 

Analysis.............................................................................................................................................. 29 

Likely significant effects ..................................................................................................................... 34 

Biodiversity, flora and fauna .............................................................................................................. 34 

Population and human health ............................................................................................................ 35 

Soil ..................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Water ................................................................................................................................................ 36 

Air ..................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Climatic factors ................................................................................................................................. 37 

Material assets ................................................................................................................................... 37 

Cultural heritage, including architectural and archaeological heritage ............................................. 38 

Landscape .......................................................................................................................................... 38 

The inter-relationship between the issues referred to in sub-paragraphs ....................................... 39 

The likely significant effect on well-being ......................................................................................... 39 

The likely significant effect on the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources......................... 43 

The likely significant effect on Welsh language ................................................................................. 47 

7. Analysis - What do the Likely Significant Effects mean – what will be affected? .......................... 49 

8. Recommendations - How can we avoid adverse effects and strike a sustainable balance? ......... 50 

10.  How are we going to check our assessment predictions? ....................................................... 51 

Appendix 1: Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes – Brecon Beacons 

National Park Management Plan 2022. ..................................................................................... 1 

Appendix 2: Details of the Special Areas of Conservation considered in the Habitats 

Regulations Assessment screening report. ............................................................................ 10 

Page 210



Sustainability Appraisal 

ii 
 

Appendix 3: Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. ............................ 19 

Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives Stage – in the 

form of a gap analysis .................................................................................................................. 20 

Appendix 4 – Interrelationships in Mission Objective/Delivery ..................................... 39 

Appendix 5 – NPA contributions in Mission Objective/Delivery ................................... 41 

 

Page 211



Sustainability Appraisal 

1 
 

Introduction 
 

1.1 This report identifies the process and outcomes of the sustainability appraisal of the final  National 

Park Management Plan known as Future Bannau (“the Plan”). This report also acts as the statutory 

‘Environmental Report’, required under the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

(Wales) Regulations 2004 (as amended). It also provides the assessment of the Plan’s contribution to 

Wellbeing, the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources (SMNR), and the Welsh Language. 

1.2 The assessment draws on the Habitats Regulations Assessment which has considered the potential for 

the Plan to impact on the features of Special Areas of Conservation within the National Park or 

within 15km of its boundary. 

1.3 The Habitats Regulations Assessment found there are no likely significant effects on National Sites 

Network as a result of the Plan; the missions and objectives, of which, are drafted as statements of 

aspiration without the level of detail which would enable any meaningful detailed assessment.  

1.4 The assessment concludes likely significant positive effects across each of the assessment topics 

although the magnitude of these effects and avoiding adverse effects depends on the design of projects 

and programmes that implement the Plan. 

1.5 Whilst the positive likely significant effects identified for different environmental topics and 

assessment themes are not comparable, they may broadly be summarised as follows: 

Topic Positive likely significant effects 
(a)biodiversity:  Increased abundance and diversity supported by resilient ecological 

networks. 

(b)population:  Health and well-being benefits from access to and interpretation of 

the landscape. Economic benefits derived from support to sustainable 

businesses, and expansion of ‘green’ economy. 

(c)human health;  Physical and mental health benefits from landscape-based recreational 

activity  

(d)fauna;  Increased abundance and diversity supported by resilient ecological 

networks. 

(e)flora;  Increased abundance and diversity supported by resilient ecological 

networks. 

(f)soil;  Peatland restoration, nutrient management, and footpath works 

tackling upland erosion. 

(g)water;  Water quality improved and run-off slowed through habitat 

restoration 

 

(h)air; Improved by promoting active travel, woodland expansion and 

decarbonising energy/communities. 

 

(i)climatic factors;  Mitigated through GHG budget, sequestration (peatland restoration 

and woodland expansion) adaptation through place based initiatives, 

nature based solutions to flood risk and temperature rise, minimised 

by promoting active travel and adaption through resilient ecological 

networks. 

(j)material assets;  Enhancing the Public Rights of Way network, historic environment 

and resilient communities, improving access to services and facilities. 

 

(k)cultural heritage, 

including architectural and 

archaeological heritage;  

Understanding, safeguarding and improving condition and protection 

of the historic environment. 

Page 212



Sustainability Appraisal 

2 
 

(l)landscape;  Overall condition enhanced. 

 

(m)the inter-relationship 

between the issues 

referred to in sub-

paragraphs (a) to (l):  

Maintaining the special qualities of the National Park and providing 

opportunities for people to enjoy them through peaceful recreation. 

Table 1. Positive likely significant effects by assessment topic. 
 
1.6 Whilst no likely significant adverse effects have been identified.  Objectives supporting future visitors.  

Following assessment explanatory text has been added to the Plan to clarify meaning of the word 

‘sustainability’ and its implications in meeting the Missions/Objective. Further these matters are likely 

to be mitigated / offset by working through thematic and spatial partnerships; strong project 

development and management processes and detailed assessments, Habitats Regulations Assessments, 

Environmental Impact Assessments and others as necessary. 

1.7 To help understand the ‘just and safe space’ within which the National Park can continue to provide 

nationally significant recreational benefits, a ‘National Park Doughnut’ has been developed. We are 

going through a process of integrating the Doughnut Indicators with the sustainability appraisal 

methodology;, it is a work in progress with the aspiration to fully integrate in the near future. The 

doughnut model will help focus research and environmental monitoring and will, in the future, replace 

and act as the State of the Park Report.  This synthesis and aspiration is expressed within section 13 

of the Plan which considers how we monitor the Plan’s impact in the medium to long term. 

 

Page 213



Sustainability Appraisal 

3 
 

1. Context for the planning process. 

The environmental protection objectives, established at International, Community or Member State 

level, which are relevant to the plan or programme and the way those objectives and any 

environmental considerations have been taken into account during its preparation. 

 

2.1 As the most important policy document for the Brecon Beacons National Park, the Plan is to be 

shared by all relevant authorities1 whose actions and decisions affect the National Park.  

2.2 The Plan also provides broad direction for people, communities, charities and businesses with an 

interest in the National Park and who want to contribute to its success as a nationally important 

‘factory of well-being’.  

2.3 Delivering the purposes towards which management should aspire is a shared task which needs to be 

undertaken in partnership. The purposes are — 

(a)of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the Brecon 

Beacons National Park; and, 

(b)of promoting opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of 

the Brecon Beacons National Park by the public. 

2.4 In large part, implementation of the Plan necessarily relies on other relevant authorities having regard 

to these purposes and working constructively with the National Park Authority and other 

stakeholders. 

2.5 Where these is unreconcilable conflict between the purposes, the former prevails. This is known as 

the ‘Sandford principle’ and is important to the Brecon Beacons National Park’s continued recognition 

as a Category V Protected Area by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). 

2.6 Appendix 1 outlines the environmental protection objectives, established at international, Community 

or Member State level, which are relevant to the National Park Management Plan. The climate and 

biodiversity emergencies mean these objectives are being updated a-pace.  

2.7 Of key importance to shaping the Plan are: 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Designation Order (1957), as amended. The notice accompanying 

this order identifies the purpose of the designation is “to preserve the natural beauty of the area 

and to promote its enjoyment by the public”.  

The Environment Act (1995) amended Part 11 of the National Parks and Access to Countryside Act 

1949, the provisions of which have effect “of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, 

wildlife and cultural heritage of the areas specified in the next following subsection; and of 

promoting opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of those 

areas by the public.” 

Note: In pursuing these purposes, the National Park Authority is also under a duty to seek to foster 

the economic and social well-being of local communities within the National Park, and it shall co-

operate with local authorities and public bodies whose functions include the promotion of economic 

or social development within the area of the National Park. 

The National Well-being Goals focus Wales’ contribution to the 17 UN Sustainable Development 

Goals. The UK’s progress towards meeting these was presented in the Voluntary National Review to 

                                                           
1 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62 

Page 214



Sustainability Appraisal 

4 
 

the UN High-Level Political Forum in July 20192, to which the Welsh Government prepared a 

supplementary report3 linking the National Well-being Indicators with the 17 UN Sustainable 

Development Goals.  The NPA Doughnut Model is in turn linked to these indicators. 

Setting expectations with regards to contribution of the National Park towards meeting the National 

Well-being Goals (of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015), along with the Term 

of Government Remit letter to National Park Authorities of Wales4, : Valued and Resilient: The 

Welsh Government’s Priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and National 

Parks (2018) sets out the Welsh Government’s priorities for National Park Authorities. Importantly, 

this states it is the Welsh Government’s intention to place the National Park Authorities under the 

duty to pursue the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources at the earliest legislative 

opportunity.  

As the Plan also acts as the National Parks Authority’s Well-being Plan, of significance is the report of 

the Future Generations Commissioner: The Future Generations Report 2020: Let’s create 

the future together.5  

Natural Resources Wales’s Area Statements, which have been published to set out place-based 

priorities for implementing the Welsh Government’s Natural Resources Policy. Each are informed 

by State of Natural Resources Report (2020) which sets out the 4 aims of the Sustainable 

Management of Natural Resources. 

2.8 Formal guidance on plan preparation is provided by Countryside Council for Wales (now Natural 

Resources Wales) / Welsh Assembly Government (now Welsh Government) National Park 

Management Plans Guidance (2007). 

2.9 Party to statement of compliance made to the IUCN, the Brecon Beacons National Park is recognised 

globally as a ‘Category V Protected Area’ for which the World Commission for Protected Areas has 

published best practice management guidelines on “Processes and plans”. 

2.10 The Plan must also complement the management plans of other designations including the Brecon 

Beacons International Dark Skies Reserve, Fforest Fawr Geopark and Blaenavon World Heritage Site 

(both UNESCO). 

                                                           
2https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/23678UK_12072019_UK_Voluntary_National_R
eview_2019.pdf 
3 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-07/supplementary-report-to-the-uk-review-of-
progress-towards-the-sustainable-development-goals-2030_0.pdf 
4 https://gov.wales/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter  
5 https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf 
 

Page 215

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/23678UK_12072019_UK_Voluntary_National_Review_2019.pdf
https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/23678UK_12072019_UK_Voluntary_National_Review_2019.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-07/supplementary-report-to-the-uk-review-of-progress-towards-the-sustainable-development-goals-2030_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-07/supplementary-report-to-the-uk-review-of-progress-towards-the-sustainable-development-goals-2030_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf


Sustainability Appraisal 

5 
 

2. Context: Macro issues. 

The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the likely evolution thereof without 

implementation of the plan or programme. 

 

3.1 The Welsh Government has declared both Climate and Nature emergencies. Action is urgently 

required to: 

 Rapidly decarbonise in harmony with nature and act to adapt to climate change risks; and, 

 Halt and reverse the decline in biodiversity; and,  

 Improve well-being, tackle poverty and reduce socio-economic inequality. 

 

The National Park Authority term of government remit letter makes an expectation of National 

Park Authorities that they will become ‘exemplars in responding to the Nature and Climate 

Emergencies’ 

3.2 Indicative of this, Natural Resources Wales’ State of Natural Resources Report 2020 (SoNaRR 2020), 

which is an assessment of the extent to which Wales is achieving the sustainable management of 

natural resources (SMNR), concludes that Wales is not yet meeting the four long-term aims of 

SMNR: 

Aim 1.  Stocks of natural resources are safeguarded and enhanced 

Aim 2.  Ecosystems are resilient to expected and unforeseen change 

Aim 3.  Wales has healthy places for people, protected from environmental 

risks 

Aim 4.  Contributing to a regenerative economy, achieving sustainable levels 

of production and consumption 

Table 2: The four aims of the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources. 

3.3 SoNaRR 2020 reports that: 

 Wales is not maintaining stocks of natural resources, as described in aim 1 -  with the 

example that iconic species like curlews are predicted to become extinct in Wales within a 

couple of decades.  

 The state of natural resources has an impact on the resilience of our ecosystems. Aim 2 finds 

resilience to be declining in line with global trends. The United Nations predict that globally, 

one million of the eight million species on the planet, will be extinct within 20 years.  

 Without stable levels of natural resources and resilient ecosystems, aim 3 will continue to 

show that people across Wales are not free from environmental hazards and do not all have 

healthy places to live in.  

 A regenerative economy, in aim 4, cannot be achieved while economic activity takes place at 

the expense of the environment.  

3.4 SoNaRR 2020 also cites the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem 

Services (IPBES) global assessment of 2019 which concludes that with the current model of economic 

development ‘We are eroding the very foundations of our economies, livelihoods, food security, 

health and quality of life worldwide.’ 

3.5 Many of these issues are apparent in the National Park.  

3.6 For the National Park (area) to make its ‘fair’ contribution towards the Paris Agreement, it needs to 

stay within a maximum cumulative carbon dioxide emissions budget of 1,557 thousand tonnes 

Page 216



Sustainability Appraisal 

6 
 

(ktCO2), for the period of 2020 to 2100. At 2017 CO2 emission levels, this entire budget would be 

spent within 6 years from 2020. 

3.7 The River Usk is reported as being “by some distance the worst performing Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) river in Wales with respect to its phosphorus targets and is the only river where 

there are extensive failures in the headwaters.” In 2020, just one of the SAC’s nine designated 

features was assessed as being in favourable condition status (the Twaite shad with medium 

confidence). The SAC is recorded as having an issues relating to site features within Natural 

Resources Wales’ Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans for Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015); 

Diffuse Water Pollution (2015); Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) and Woodland 

Management (2015). 

3.8 Despite having been designated a National Park in 1957, the general condition of landscape types in 

the National Park has recently been reported, with just 5 of 16 landscape types in good condition 

(2021):  

Condition 2021 Landscape type 

Good Ancient Pastoral farmlands 

Lakeshore Wetlands 

Moorland Hills & Slopes 

Moorland Plateau 

Upland Pastoral Enclosures 

Moderate Limestone Hills & Slopes 

Rocky Hills & Slopes 

Settled Farmlands 

Wooded Slopes & Valleys 

Poor Ancient Farmed Lowlands 

Settled Upland Pastures   

Village farmlands 

Very poor  Forested Moorland Plateau 

Forested Moorland Slopes 

Forested Pastoral Enclosures 

River Meadowlands 

Table 3: General condition of landscape types in the National Park (2021).6 

3.9 Without an aspirational and optimistic Plan, the need for local responses to these issues and threats 

may not be brought into such sharp and timely focus as is required. Wales has the framework in 

place, in the form of the Well-being of Future Generations and Environment Acts, to deliver 

transformative change and transition to a sustainable future, but progress feels slow in comparison to 

the scale and pace of change needed i.e., a fundamental, system-wide reorganization across 

technological, economic, and social factors, including paradigms, goals and values. 

 

                                                           
6 https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/cc902b62-e803-4fab-
a5b2-c0d86c0a0845/Brecon%20Beacons%20Landscape%20Project_28Jun21.pdf 
 

Page 217

https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/cc902b62-e803-4fab-a5b2-c0d86c0a0845/Brecon%20Beacons%20Landscape%20Project_28Jun21.pdf
https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/cc902b62-e803-4fab-a5b2-c0d86c0a0845/Brecon%20Beacons%20Landscape%20Project_28Jun21.pdf


Sustainability Appraisal 

7 
 

3. Context: Detailed issues. 

Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the plan or programme including, in 

particular, those relating to any areas of a particular environmental importance, such as areas 

designated pursuant to Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds (1) and the 

Habitats Directive. 

 

4.1 Wild birds 

Produced by The British Trust for Ornithology (BTO), the Welsh Ornithological Society (WOS), 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and RSPB Cymru, the State of Birds in Wales (2018) brings 

together results from annual, periodic and one-off surveys across Wales showed that with changes to 

the environment and climate impacting on their habitats and way of life iconic birds such as corn 

buntings, dotterels and nightingales have been lost completely from Wales and among the birds of 

upland farmed habitats, number of curlews, golden plovers, black grouse, red grouse and ring ouzels 

all declined.7 

In 2020, the National Park Authority commissioned the BTO to prepare a report: A summary of the 

state of terrestrial wild bird populations in and around the Brecon Beacons National Park based on 

data from the BTO/JNCC/RSPB breeding bird survey, 1994 – 2018.  

The report found that overall, the indicator plots suggest that bird populations in the Brecon Beacons 

region have broadly followed the patterns for Wales, although with greater variation between years, 

particularly for the woodland bird indicator. The farmland bird indicator showed declines of 20-30% 

over the Breeding Bird Survey period, in accordance with the pattern for farmland birds in Wales. 

The Brecon Beacon woodland indicator shows an increase (12% in Brecon cf. 30% in Wales) and the 

‘other habitats’ indicator broadly stable (15% increase in the Brecon Beacons region cf. 7% increase in 

the corresponding Wales trend). The upland indicator is the exception as there is a slight increase in 

the Brecon Beacon trend (8%), whereas the Welsh trend slightly declines by 13%. 

4.2 The Habitats Directive  

With varying levels of confidence, 47 out of 65 SAC features (>72%) are in unfavourable conservation 

status (NRW indicative assessments 2020).  

Threats and opportunities relevant to Special Areas of Conservation in the National Park and within 

15 km of the boundary are identified by Natural Resources Wales the following LIFE N2K Thematic 

Action Plans8 (See appendix 2) and Prioritised Improvement Plans (although accessing the latter 

requires a data licence):  

 Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015)  

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 Cross-Cutting Action Plans (2015) 

                                                           
7 https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/documents/wales/state-of-birds-wales-2018_bilingual.pdf 
8 https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/our-projects/nature-projects/life-n2k-wales/life-n2k-thematic-action-

plans/?lang=en 

Page 218



Sustainability Appraisal 

8 
 

 Climate Change and Habitat Fragmentation (2015) 

Critical load exceedances for Phosphates within riverine Special Areas of Conservation in the 

National Park are highlighted in NRW Evidence Report 489; furthermore, recently released mapping9 

by the Air Pollution Information Service makes clear that nitrogen and sulphur deposition (from long- 

and short-range sources) are exceeding, for some Special Areas of Conservation, site relevant critical 

loads. NRW is currently discussing with WG producing Nitrogen Profiles for every Site of Special 

Scientific Interest in Wales; these would help target short range ammonia source reduction at the 

most sensitive sites. 

4.3 SoNaRR assessments of SMNR  

SoNaRR 2020 provides relevant assessments of progress towards the sustainable management of 

natural resources in the following broad ecosystems found in the National Park and by eight cross-

cutting themes10. These are highlighted in the table below: 

Broad ecosystem Existing environmental problems and challenges relevant to 

the Plan 

Enclosed farmland Agricultural productivity has remained relatively stable for the last two 

decades. The provision of food has negative impacts on other 

ecosystem services. Ammonia emissions and nutrient run-off have the 

potential to cause pollution to land, water and air. This, along with the 

planting of crops and species-poor grassland, causes the loss of native 

biodiversity. 

 

Agriculture faces a major challenge in reducing its contribution to 

climate change. It needs to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and has a 

role to play in storing carbon. 

 

More efficient use of nutrients at field, farm and catchment scales could 

reduce diffuse pollution and improve soil condition without affecting 

the amount of food production. However, system changes to current 

agricultural practices are required to fully address both the nature and 

climate emergencies. 

Freshwater In Wales, only 44% of rivers are achieving good ecological status under 

the Water Framework Directive 2018 interim classification. A range of 

pressures are compromising the health of our freshwater ecosystems, 

including climate change, pollution, physical modification, abstraction 

and invasive non-native species. 

 

The sustainable management of freshwater ecosystems is intimately 

linked with the neighbouring land within their catchments. 

 

Freshwater ecosystems provide important ecosystem services including 

water supply, renewable energy production, flood management, waste 

disposal, fisheries and recreation. Balancing the use of these services 

with one another and the sustainable management of catchments is a 

significant challenge. 

Mountain moorland and 

heath (MMH) 

The majority of MMH ecosystems occur in the uplands, the land lying 

above the upper limit of enclosure. This upland part of the ecosystem 

accounts for 19.3% of the Welsh land making it the largest continuous 

block of habitat. It includes large areas of acid grassland much of it 

resulting from overgrazing of heath and bog. 

                                                           
9 http://www.apis.ac.uk/app  
10 https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/state-of-natural-resources-report-
sonarr-for-wales-2020/sonarr2020-our-assessment/?lang=en 
 

Page 219

http://www.apis.ac.uk/app
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/state-of-natural-resources-report-sonarr-for-wales-2020/sonarr2020-our-assessment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/state-of-natural-resources-report-sonarr-for-wales-2020/sonarr2020-our-assessment/?lang=en


Sustainability Appraisal 

9 
 

 

In contrast, the lowland peatlands and heathlands are frequently small, 

highly fragmented and impacted by neighbouring land uses. Decline in 

traditional grazing and other management practices are often apparent 

and lead to loss of valued features. 

 

Problems are compounded in both upland and lowland MMH by aerial 

and groundwater pollution with high levels of reactive nitrogen. 

Semi-natural grassland Semi-natural grasslands dominated the Welsh lowland landscape less 

than 100 years ago. They declined by more than 90% during the latter 

part of the 20th century. The decline was driven by land-use policies 

focused on agricultural production. Remaining areas of the ecosystem 

are often small and highly fragmented. 

 

They now occupy about 9% of the land area of Wales. They are mostly 

found within the farmed countryside, associated with low-intensity 

management, including nil or very low usage of man-made fertilisers. 

They are usually grazed by livestock for the production of meat or 

other animal products. 

 

Most ecosystem services are higher in semi-natural grasslands than in 

agriculturally improved grassland, particularly those relating to 

biological diversity, crop pollination, carbon storage, pollution control 

and cultural heritage. 

 

Woodlands The character of woodland in Wales has been influenced by both 

historic land use and previous government policy. Woodlands now 

cover approximately 15% of the land area of Wales. In the early 1900s, 

coverage was as low as 5% but this increased significantly in the mid-

1900s as state owned forests were established. However, Wales 

remains one of the least wooded countries in Europe and there is a 

strong push to increase the rate of new woodland creation; unless well 

designed such interventions can have adverse impacts, or risk 

opportunities to maximise the many benefits that well designed 

interventions can bring for a range of ecosystem services.  

 

Urban As most people live in urban areas, their impact on other ecosystems is 

significant. At the same time, this concentration of people presents 

opportunities for innovation that helps to reduce impacts on the wider 

environment. 

 

Through rethinking urban design, transport and planning, urban areas 

can be thought of as 'urban ecosystems' at the forefront of addressing 

the climate and nature emergencies.  

 

Urban areas cannot solve their problems at the local level alone. Better 

policy integration and new governance, involving closer partnership and 

coordination at the local, regional and national levels, are required. 

 

Urban ecosystems are where most people live and therefore: 

 Are the source of most of humanity’s demands on other 

ecosystems 

 Are where the impacts of environmental change on most 

people are felt 

 Offer great opportunities to create a healthy, productive, zero 

carbon society; and 

 Need an adequate supply of green infrastructure to secure 

liveable places for both people and places 

Page 220



Sustainability Appraisal 

10 
 

Relevant cross-

cutting theme 

Existing environmental problems and challenges relevant to 

the Plan 

Biodiversity The State of Nature report (Hayhow et al., 2019) identified the most 

significant pressures acting on terrestrial and freshwater nature in the 

UK as agricultural management, climate change, urbanisation, pollution, 

hydrological change, INNS, and woodland management. 

Climate Change Changes in the climate are threatening ecosystem resilience and 

ecosystem services through: 

 Altering the ranges of species 

 Localised extinctions 

 Changes to life-cycle events such as migrations and breeding. 

 Rising sea level 

 Increasing numbers of invasive species and the diseases they 

can spread 

Climate change is also projected to increase the frequency and intensity 

of droughts, river and coastal floods and heatwaves. This is expected to 

reduce ecosystem resilience further. 

 

Globally and within Wales, some of the impacts of climate change 

including sea level rise and coastal erosion will be irreversible. A whole 

systems approach, integrating adaptation and mitigation measures, is 

required to help achieve net zero emissions and biodiversity goals. 

Invasive non-native 

species 

Tackling INNS is important to protect biodiversity and to improve the 

resilience of ecosystems so that they are better able to adapt to threats 

such as climate change. 

 

INNS can have significant negative economic impacts and are estimated 

to cost the economy of Wales at least £125 million a year. Climate 

change and the increased movement of people and goods have been 

identified as major factors likely to affect the introduction and spread of 

INNS in future. 

Air quality Whilst air pollution from industry, energy generation and transport has 

decreased in recent decades, concentrations of ammonia and ozone 

continue to steadily increase causing harm and impacting the natural 

balance of our ecosystems. 

 

In Wales the impact of nitrogen, in particular ammonia pollution, is 

significant with 88% of sensitive habitats being damaged. Evidence 

shows that agriculture is the largest source of airborne ammonia 

pollution and concentrations are likely to increase unless measures to 

control agricultural emissions are implemented. 

Land use and soil Wales's soil and its interaction with the climate determines how land 

can be used sustainably. Society puts pressures on soil and its 

supporting services (soil formation, nutrient cycling) through land use 

and by changing the environment. 

 

Agriculture currently accounts for the largest land use area in Wales 

(around 80%), followed by forestry and woodlands (around 15%) and 

then built environment (human made). 

Resource efficiency 

energy 

Although our use of renewable energy makes significant and increasing 

contributions, Wales is still mostly reliant on using imported natural 

gas. 

 

Despite increases in renewable energy generation and use of natural 

gas to replace coal and other fossil fuels, total emissions from the 

power sector in Wales has grown by 44% between 1990 and 2016. 

Over the same period, overall UK emissions of greenhouse gases from 

the sector reduced by 60%. 

Page 221



Sustainability Appraisal 

11 
 

Resource efficiency 

water 

Whilst Wales experiences more intense rainfall events, it is also 

experiencing prolonged dry periods. Therefore, it is necessary to make 

sure that there is enough water available to get through these times. 

 

Wales's rivers, lakes and wetlands support a huge variety of species, 

from salmon and otter, to insects (such as damselfly) and plants. These 

ecosystems and species rely on sufficient water in the environment. 

Taking less water when ecosystems and species are most vulnerable, 

such as at times of low flows, helps them be more resilient to 

increasing pressures. These include climate change pressures such as 

prolonged dry periods. 

Waste Living in a ‘disposable’ society where waste is continually generated 

increases pressure on the use of our natural resources. If waste is not 

handled and treated properly it can be harmful to ecosystems, 

biodiversity and the well-being of the population. 

 

Preventing waste and using waste as a resource are important to 

ensure our society lives more sustainably. When things are no longer 

needed they must be seen as a valued resource rather than an 

unwanted burden. By doing so it reduces the environmental pressures 

associated with economic activities and the demand for raw materials, 

whilst benefitting the economy. 

Table 4: Illustrative extracts from SoNaRR assessments by broad ecosystem and cross-cutting theme. 

 

4.4 Brecon Beacons National Park  

In the context of SoNaRR (2020) citing the IPBES global assessment of 2019 which looks through the 

lens of extant models of economic development ‘We are eroding the very foundations of our 

economies, livelihoods, food security, health and quality of life worldwide.’, it is important to 

understand, broadly, the current economic sectors, visitor numbers to and resident population in the 

National Park. 

The National Park provides a strategic recreational resource of UK significance and is also seen as a 

‘Mega Catchment’ provisioning much of South Wales’ water supply. 

Forecasts of Brecon Beacons workforce jobs by industry (Experian Regional Planning Service March 

2019) indicate total workforce jobs in the National Park would be at 18,290 in 2019, rising to 18,670 

by 2030 when each of the following industries would provide more than 1,000 jobs: Agriculture, 

Forestry and Fishing (1,350); Wholesale (1,040); Retail (1,560); Accommodation and food services 

(1,150); Public Administration & Defence (1,230); Education (1,910); Health (1,660) and Residential 

Care & Social Work (1,460). 

Visitor Numbers to the National Park are reported in the Annual STEAM Report. In the 10 years to 

2019 trends show a steady increase in total tourist numbers, from 4.05 – 4.31 million per year, and 

total visitor days to the National Park rising from 5.02 – 5.67 per year. In 2019 the report states this 

contributed £326.20 million to the economy. 

The resident population of the National Park is also projected to increase, with a changing and aging 

demographic. The 2019 mid-year estimated population of the National Park is 33,977. This is 

projected to increase to 35,173 in 2030. The projection suggests a negative rate of natural change 

(deaths outnumbering births) will be outstripped by positive net migration to the National Park (more 

people moving to, than away from, the National Park).  

Page 222



Sustainability Appraisal 

12 
 

Within the National Park, wealth and social inequality is stark with second homes and investment 

properties such as peer to peer short term lets located in communities where some people are 

homeless or are in temporary accommodation, are reliant of food banks and face in-work poverty. 

4.5 The National Park Doughnut and State of the Park Report 

The emerging concept of the National Park Doughnut is developing the State of the Park Report, its 

initial findings raise significant concerns and issues to be addressed.  

Figure 1: Emerging National Park Doughnut (2021). Red segments showing where ecological ceiling are being 

exceeded and social foundations not met. Action is needed to eliminate these red segments.   

Indicators and assessment for the model can be found here https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-

authority/evidence-and-research/  

 

Page 223

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/evidence-and-research/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/evidence-and-research/


Sustainability Appraisal 

13 
 

 

 

 

Page 224



Sustainability Appraisal 

14 
 

 

The following table links the current SOPR11 with each of the Environmental Report assessment topics and the key indicators of the Doughnut Model.  

Assessment topic for the 

Environmental Report 

National Park Doughnut Indicator (2021) and corresponding SOPR 

Indicator12 

Within just and safe space ? 

Trend as per SoPR 

(a)biodiversity; 

(d) fauna 

(e) flora 

Biodiversity loss 

 

All SAC features in favourable condition and all SSSIs in appropriate 

management 

 

NO – 10% of SSSIs in the Park are in appropriate 

Management – 44% of SACs in Favourable Condition  

Informed by 

SOPR 

indicators  

Indicator 1 - Condition of Geological SSSIs  

Indicator 2 - Condition of Biological SSSIs 

Indicator 3 - Natura 2000 

Indicator 10 - Breeding/Nesting Birds 

Indicator 11 – Bats 

 

POSITIVE TREND 

NEGATIVE TREND 

NEGATIVE TREND 

NEGATIVE TREND 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

Nitrogen and 

phosphorous 

loading 

 

N and P levels within critical loads for freshwater and terrestrial 

habitat 

NO - 67% of waterbodies within the Wye catchment and 

88% of Usk waterbodies fail critical load levels for 

phosphorus. Nitrogen levels to be reported.  

Informed by 

SOPR 

indicators 

 

Indicator 4 - Water Quality 

Indicator 6 - River Discharge 

Indicator 8 - Condition of Soils/Peat 

NEGATIVE TREND 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

Invasive non-native 

species 

Zero instances of reinfestation in areas where INNS control has 

been implemented  

 

NO - 28 Invasive non-native species recorded in the Park in 

2019 

Informed by 

SOPR 

indicators 

Indicator 12 - Invasive Non-Native Species 

 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

 

(b)population; Food 

 

No resident in food poverty NO - Brecon food bank serves the majority of the BBNP 

area. In 2020 they saw a 103% increase in the number of food 

vouchers processed from March 2019. 405% increase in 

terms of food weight compared with 2019 

 

                                                           
11 https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Approved-SoPR-2020.pdf 

 
12 SoPR indicators shown in Grey Text are considered contextualising rather than directly correlating   

P
age 225

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Approved-SoPR-2020.pdf


Sustainability Appraisal 

15 
 

Assessment topic for the 

Environmental Report 

National Park Doughnut Indicator (2021) and corresponding SOPR 

Indicator12 

Within just and safe space ? 

Trend as per SoPR 

Informed by 

SOPR 

indicators 

Indicator 20 – Population 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

Indicator 21 - Housing 

NEGATIVE TREND 

NEGATIVETREND  

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

Visitor knowledge 

 

Improvement of knowledge and understanding of the Park and it’s 

Special Qualities 

 

MORE RESEARCH NEEDED  - Data for this indicator looks 

at the extent visitors are gaining knowledge about the park, 

its wildlife, heritage and challenges through their visits. Data 

collection is a research need - however the experience of 

BBNPA staff is that a very small number of visitors exhibit 

challenging behaviour . At present this indicator shows 

breaches of ecological and social boundaries. 

Visitor transport 

 

At least 75% of visits to the Park are supported by a sustainable 

form of transport, including electric vehicles or public transport. 

NO -Car parks at pressure points (waterfall country and 

Storey arms) were 62.5% and <200% oversubscribed. Out of 

423 visitors surveyed in waterfalls country in 2017, only 1% 

arrived through public transport 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 7 - Air Quality 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Sustainable Transport Feasibility 

Assessment (BBNPA) 

POSITIVE TREND 

Language 

 

All residents reporting some knowledge of Welsh NO - 77.5% of the Park residents have no skills at all in 

relation to the Welsh Language 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 15 - Welsh Language 

Indicator 16 - Cultural Events 

NEGATIVE TREND 

POSITIVE TREND 

Income 

 

No resident living below the poverty line MORE RESEARCH NEEDED - WIMD data shows the area as 

'least deprived' for income indicators. However research 

conducted in 2016 shows all areas of the Park fall below 

Welsh average incomes for those resident within the park 

and jobs located within the park 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

NEGATIVETREND 

Justice 

 

Crime and conviction rates at national target levels YES - WIMD data shows the area as 'least deprived' for crime 

and safety indicators 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

NEGATIVE TREND 

P
age 226



Sustainability Appraisal 

16 
 

Assessment topic for the 

Environmental Report 

National Park Doughnut Indicator (2021) and corresponding SOPR 

Indicator12 

Within just and safe space ? 

Trend as per SoPR 

Gender equity 

 

Eradication of gender pay and pension gap within the region NO - At present data is only available at a UK level - Gender 

pay gap for all employees is 15.5%. For women over 40 the 

pay gap for full time employees is 10% 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

NEGATIVE TREND 

Political voice 

 

Decision making in local government subject to community input UNCERTAIN – at present a proxy of voter turn out at 

general election is utilised, using this indicator a small 

overshoot is recorded although this is shown to be above 

national average, with Brecon & Radnorshire 74.5% turnout 

in last election; East Carms & Dinefwr turnout 71.4% - Wales 

turnout is 66.6%  

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Electoral Commission  

 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

Social equity All residents ensured equal access to essential services and facilities NO - WIMD data shows the area as 'most deprived' for 

access to services and facilities 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

NEGATIVE TREND 

Education 

 

All residents achieve pass grades in English and maths MORE RESEARCH NEEDED - WIMD data shows the area as 

'least deprived' for education indicators- however post 16 

education options are limited. 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

NEGATIVE TREND 

Transportation 

 

All residents are able to utilise public transport with minimal 

inconvenience to undertake daily activities 

NO - Commuting options by public transport are hugely 

limited with only one bus journey viable after 5pm to most 

major centres of employment (BBNPA in house research) 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Public Transport provision (BBNPA) 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

Social networks 

 

levels of reported loneliness below N. European averages MORE RESEARCH NEEDED - 78% of our settlements have 

an indoor community meeting space available  

P
age 227

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums


Sustainability Appraisal 

17 
 

Assessment topic for the 

Environmental Report 

National Park Doughnut Indicator (2021) and corresponding SOPR 

Indicator12 

Within just and safe space ? 

Trend as per SoPR 

 Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

Indicator 22 – Town Centre Vacancy 

Rates 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Loneliness levels (BBNPA) 

Wellbeing Assessments 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

(c)human health; Health Life expectancy and morbidity rates at or equal to Northern 

European averages 

MORE RESEARCH NEEDED - WIMD data shows the area as 

'least deprived' for health indicators - further research 

needed in relation to mental health. - peripheral communities 

mostly score 'most deprived' 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Wellbeing Assessments 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

Visitor experience All visitors have a positive experience when visiting the Park NO - 85% of visitors surveyed In 2016/17 selected the 

highest ranking of visitor satisfaction (Very good) 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Visitor Survey (BBNPA) 

 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

Access An accessible well connected rights of way network NO - Data gathered in 2019 demonstrates Just over 10% 

were closed and 76% were signposted. 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Indicator 13 - Rights of Way 

 

POSITIVE TREND 

(h)air; Air pollution WHO recommended upper limit of 20 microgram per cubic meter 

annual mean for PM10 and PM2.5 NP area 

MORE RESEARCH NEEDED – At present particulate data is 

not gathered at a meaningful rate across the National Park . 

Data for other air borne pollutants is available, which 

demonstrates a need for further close monitoring  Ammonia 

concentration 0.72 

Nitrogen deposition21.4kg/ha (average) Sulphur (per 1km) 

0.7kg/ha (2018 figures) 

Informed by SOPR 

indicators 

 

Indicator 7 - Air Quality 

 

POSITIVE TREND 

P
age 228



Sustainability Appraisal 

18 
 

Assessment topic for the 

Environmental Report 

National Park Doughnut Indicator (2021) and corresponding SOPR 

Indicator12 

Within just and safe space ? 

Trend as per SoPR 

(i)climatic factors; Climate change Carbon consumption at a level commensurate with fair share of 

Paris target 

Non CO2 GHG to be reduced by 30% from 2021 levels by 2030  

 

NO - The Park's energy emissions were measured at 

250ktCO2 in 2020.  At this rate of usage the Park would 

have breached Paris target by 2027 - the end of this plan 

period. 

46% of Green House Gasses within the Park are derived 

from non CO2 sources. 

Informed by SOPR 

indicators 

 

Indicator 5 - Flood Risk 

 ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES  

GHG emissions (BEIS) 

Consumptive Carbon Budget (and updates) (Small World 

Consulting) 

UNCLEAR 

(j)material assets; Housing Housing costs no more than three times median salary NO- Average house price is £244,099 - to purchase this you 

would need to earn over 8.6x the average income within the 

park. There were 192 affordable homes needed within PCC 

area of the Park at time of writing 

Informed by SOPR 

indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 

Indicator 21 - Housing 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Housing Needs Assessments  

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

NEGATIVE TREND 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

Energy No resident in fuel poverty 

 

NO - Research conducted within the Park in 2018 showed 

high percentage of communities in fuel poverty 

Informed by SOPR 

indicators 

 

Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

 

(k)cultural heritage, 

including architectural and 

archaeological heritage; 

Historic 

environment 

Favourable condition of all historic features within our 

townscapes and landscapes whether scheduled or not. 

NO - Data gathered in 2019 demonstrates that 18% of the 

Park's 358 Scheduled Ancient Monuments were in 

unfavourable condition. 

Informed by SOPR 

indicators 

 

Indicator 17 - Scheduled Ancient Monuments 

Indicator 18 - Listed Buildings 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Historic Environment Action Plan 

 

NEGATIVE TREND 

POSITIVE TREND 

Cultural heritage No net loss in traditional community events and activities, eg 

Agricultural Shows and Eisteddfodau 

MORE RESEARCH NEEDED – We know that there were 64 

cultural events held in 2019, what is uncertain is what this 

means relative to previous and following years. 

P
age 229

https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/baef4446-c56d-49e6-954a-d8b742a75a03/200810%20National%20Parks%20greenhouse%20gas%20emissions%202017.xlsx


Sustainability Appraisal 

19 
 

Assessment topic for the 

Environmental Report 

National Park Doughnut Indicator (2021) and corresponding SOPR 

Indicator12 

Within just and safe space ? 

Trend as per SoPR 

Informed by SOPR 

indicators 

 

Indicator 16 - Cultural Events 

 

POSITIVE TREND 

 

(l)landscape; and Landscape 

 

1. No detrimental change 

2. Improve the areas identified as poor  

3. Seek ways to improve the quality and condition of the whole 

Park 

NO - The 2021 University of Reading Landscape Assessment 

identifies 4 out of 12 landscape character types in need of 

restoration 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

Strength of character and condition of each 

level 2 LDU*. 

 

ADDITONAL DATA SOURCES 

Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape 

Mapping Project  

 

UNCERTAIN TREND 

Tranquillity The factors which contribute to our tranquillity are quantified 

and mapped and their integrity retained 

No change above >0.5% radiance for NP area 

YES - NRW tranquillity mapping shows that 83.6% of the 

Park is classed as 'undisturbed' 

The majority of the park registers as the lowest level of 

radiance emissions, meaning we are an area where dark skies 

predominate. 

Informed by 

SOPR indicators 

 

  

(m)the inter-relationship 

between the issues referred 

to in sub-paragraphs (a) to 

(l). 

Are the special qualities intact and resilient in the short-medium term? UNCERTAIN – more research is needed at landscape scale. 

 

Table 5: Indicators by Environmental Report assessment topic. 

 

 

P
age 230

https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/d03841eb-836c-441a-9718-9d79ede94667/Brecon%20Beacons%20Landscape%20Project_28Jun21.pdf
https://authorityapi.beacons-npa.gov.uk/EvidenceRepository/EvidenceFileDownload/d03841eb-836c-441a-9718-9d79ede94667/Brecon%20Beacons%20Landscape%20Project_28Jun21.pdf


Sustainability Appraisal 

20 
 

4. What is the National Park Management Plan? And how can it help? 

An outline of the contents and main objectives of the plan or programme, and of its relationship (if 

any) with other relevant plans and programmes. 

 

5.1 The purpose of the Plan is as detailed in s66 (1) of the Environment Act 1995: 

“…every National Park authority shall…prepare and publish a plan, to be known as a National Park 

Management Plan, which formulates its policy for the management of the relevant Park and for the 

carrying out of its functions in relation to that Park.” 

 The next question is what are National Parks? They were originally envisaged as: 

“[R]egions of our finest landscape brought into full public service-preserved in their natural beauty, 

continued in their farming use, and kept or made accessible (insofar as they are not cultivated) for 

open air recreation and public enjoyment and particularly for cross country walking.”  

(The standing committee on national parks March 1945) 

5.2 With the passing of the years, National Parks retain much of their original significance. Welsh 

Government’s ambition for Wales’ National Parks is to ensure that they are managed as landscapes 

for everyone; an exemplar in the sustainable management of natural resources, biodiversity recovery 

and sustainable green energy generation; to be places where opportunities for decarbonisation and 

the Welsh language are embraced and the economic potential of landscape is realised through 

sustainable economic development, tourism and outdoor recreation (Welsh Government, 2018). 

5.3 The guidance on preparing National Park Management Plans explains: 

“…the National Park Management Plan is of national importance. National Park Management Plan 

objectives and policies therefore prevail over regional and local policy as it is delivered in the National 

Parks.” 

5.4 In 2015 National Landscapes: Realising their Potential - The Review of Designated Landscapes in 

Wales reported:  

“The wider governance of designated landscapes is directed through their management plans. 

These plans are key documents that utilise both horizontal and vertical governance 

interactions with stakeholders in their formation” 

“Management plans are not created as plans for the NPA but for managing the National Park 

for the benefit of all, in line with the National Park purposes”. 

5.5 The NPA is soon expecting to be under a duty to pursue the sustainable management of natural 

resources (SMNR) when exercising its functions; a significant contextual change as the SMNR 

objective is “to maintain and enhance the resilience of ecosystems and the benefits they provide and, 

in so doing meet the needs of present generations of people without compromising the ability of 

future generations to meet their needs and contribute to the achievement of the well-being goals.” 

5.6 This new duty means that the NPA will need to demonstrate how it is pursuing the SMNR objective 

by using natural resources in a way and at a rate that promotes achievement of the SMNR objective, 

by taking other action that promotes achievement of the SMNR objective and by not taking action 

that hinders achievement of the SMNR objective. 

5.7 In seeking to deliver the National Park purposes, the NPAs are not expected to work alone – this is a 

shared task for all. Under Section 62(2) of the Environment Act 1995, relevant authorities have a duty 

Page 231



Sustainability Appraisal 

21 
 

to “have regard to” the purposes of the National Parks when carrying out their work. This underlines 

that delivery of the park purposes through the National Park Management Plan needs to be 

undertaken in partnership with others – both key policy makers and fund holders, including 

government agencies and local authorities – and with those whose day-to-day activities have been 

responsible for creating the landscape of today: the farmers, landowners, conservation groups and 

NGOs, local businesses and local communities of the Parks. (Countryside Council for Wales, 2007, p. 

4) 

5.8 Responding to this context, the emerging Management Plan vision is as follows:  

Our National Park will be a place of inspiration, driving action for a vibrant and 

sustainable future. 

We will harness the power of nature and people working in balance to help us face 

climate change, biodiversity decline, post covid economic recovery and the health and 

social care crisis. 

In 2048 the Brecon Beacons will be ecologically resilient and we have surpassed net zero 

carbon.  

Our communities will be connected, caring, collaborative and thriving. 

The culture, landscape and environment of the Park will have brought inspiration and 

joy to all who live and visit here. 

5.9 To deliver on this vision a series of five interacting Missions areas have been identified.  These 

Missions are the overarching objectives for the Plan and the National Park for next 25 years.  They 

also form our Wellbeing Objectives.  The interconnections between these missions are defined in 

appendix 6. 

Climate: Reach net-Zero greenhouse gas emissions across the National Park by 2035 

Water: Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful water resources and water environments by 2030 

Nature: Nature positive Brecon Beacons National Park by 2030 

People: Living, working, visiting safely, equitably and sustainably 

Place: Beautiful, thriving,  and sustainable places.  Celebrated for their natural and 

cultural heritage now and forever  

5.10 To achieve these visions, the plan sets out a series of ambitious objectives aimed to clearly express 

the outcomes the Plan is seeking to achieve.  These are supported by a statement of NPA 

contribution (see Appendix 5 to this report) 

5.11 The objectives are defined as follows 

Climate Decarbonisation: The national park will maximise effort toward or Beyond our fair share of 

action to halve global Emissions by 2030, in line with The Paris agreement’s goal of limiting 

global Temperature rises to 1.5 degrees.  

Page 232



Sustainability Appraisal 

22 
 

Outcomes linked to  Sustainable transport 

Sustainable food and drink 

Sustainable energy  

Sustainable land use 

Sequestration Action will be happening across the national park To restore nature’s ability to 

capture carbon from The atmosphere, in line with the climate change Committee’s sixth carbon 

budget recommendations on Agriculture, land use, land use change and forestry  

Outcomes linked to Habitat restoration 

Land use change 

Sustainable Farming 

Adaptation: People and nature will be more resilient to the unavoidable impacts of climate 

destabilisation, in line with prosperity for all, the climate change adaptation plan for Wales 

Outcomes linked to Nature restoration 

Resilient infrastructure 

Water Resilient catchments supporting the provision of clean and sustainable water resources for 

the Brecon Beacons and beyond  

Outcomes linked to Nutrient levels 

Water flow 

Restored ecosystems 

Flooding 

High quality water environments ensuring that the health and wellbeing Benefits gained 

from high quality, nature Rich, water environments can be experienced by all who live within 

and visit the Brecon Beacons.   

Outcomes linked to Water quality  

Bathing waters 

Love your rivers 

Nature Habitat recovery all major habitats in the national park, including grassland, native woodland, 

upland heathland, and peatland, will be on a pathway to net biodiversity gain 

Outcomes linked to Decline has been halted 

SSSIs conserved 

Degraded habitat restored’ 

Nature returned. 

Species conservation Flagship species, that are emblematic of the national park or specific 

habitats ,are increasing in numbers and extent-- including reintroductions of indigenous species 

where appropriate consents and safeguards are met 

Outcomes linked to Threats are reduced 

Numbers have increased 

Range has increased 

Ecosystem Management 

Ecosystem functions and ecosystem service generated by the Park are enhanced 

Outcomes linked to Resilience in enhanced 

Ecosystems are supported 

Ecosystems are rehabilitated 

 

Page 233



Sustainability Appraisal 

23 
 

People Quality of life Improving the quality of life and well-being for all those who live work and play 

in the Brecon Beacons 

Outcomes linked to Future food 

Future skills and jobs 

Future homes 

Future heat and power 

Future transport 

Future lives 

Future connections 

Future economy 

Equity, diversity and inclusion 

Future Visitors We will have become the torchbearers for sustainable tourism .Visiting the 

Brecon Beacons National Park provides a unique experience, which enhances support for 

nature recovery, community wellbeing and the local economy. Visitors will know our story and 

be motivated to help us respond to key challenges, especially through their own actions and 

behaviour. 

Welsh culture and language: Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated as part of the Rich 

tapestry of cultural lives of Wales. There is an increased awareness and knowledge of the Welsh 

Language and culture amongst our residents and visitors . Welsh language and culture is loved 

and valued by all regardless of level of language fluency 

Sustainable businesses There will be a support network of businesses dedicated to building a 

local sustainable and equitable economy within the Brecon Beacons 

Place Collaborating in place innovative collaborative action focused on a range of spatial areas to 

co-produce responses to the nature, climate and economic crises.  

 Outcomes linked to Resilient places 

Prosperous places 

Inspiring places 

Innovative places 

Historic places 

Central places 

Healthy places 

Beautiful places 

Well planned places  

Table 6 Future Bannau Objectives and related outcomes grouped by mission area 

5.12 Locally, the missions and objectives will be implemented through action plan development (post 

adoption) within place-based and thematic partnerships including, but not limited to: 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Local Nature Partnership 

 Brecon Beacons Historic Environment Partnership 

 Brecon Beacons Destination Management Partnership 

 Brecon Beacons Local Access Forum 

 Brecon Beacons Research Partnership 

 Black Mountains Land Use Partnership 

 Brecon Beacons Mega-catchment / Central Beacons Partnership 

 Mynydd Meithryn 

 Waterfall Country Partnership 

 Usk Catchment Partnership  

 Llangors Lake Partnership (to be established) 

 Place Planning Groups 

Page 234



Sustainability Appraisal 

24 
 

5.13 Further detail on these partnerships and future delivery potential at chapter X of Future Bannau 

 

Page 235



Sustainability Appraisal 

25 
 

5. Context: Alternatives considered throughout the process and assessment methodology. 

An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a description of how the 

assessment was undertaken including any difficulties encountered in compiling the required 

information. 

 

Alternatives 

 

6.1 Reasonable alternatives are to be assessed throughout the plan-making process.  

6.2 Rather than review and amend the existing National Park Management Plan (2010, as amended in 

2015), a decision was made to prepare afresh a light-touch ‘plan of plans’ management plan. 

6.3 The nature of the plan-making process has ensured that alternatives have been debated and analysed 

through formative meetings, data gathering and final drafting. Stages of involvement have included an 

issues consultation and involvement and consultation on a vision and objectives document. Each has 

informed this current draft Plan which is set to be published for a four-month period of consultation.  

6.4 An alternative suite of policies was prepared in response to a gap analysis of the strategic policies and 

future policy objectives detailed in the vision and objectives document. Presented in Appendix 3, this 

gap analysis and resulting alternative option was considered alongside responses to the consultation in 

setting the current draft Plan.   

6.5 The draft Plan for public consultation reflected stakeholder input including from the Citizen’s 

Assembly, Stakeholder Reference Panel and National Park Authority Members and Staff via ‘Policy 

Forum’ and the National Park Authority’s ‘Policy Programme Group’.  

 

6.6 The final plan was further refined following significant consultation input details of which have been 

summarised in The Report of Consultation.13 

Assessment methodology 

 

6.6 The assessment focuses on two areas of the Plan  

- The Mission Statements 

- The Mission Objectives 

In combination these form the aspirational statements of policy which will direct the management of 

the National Park for (at least) the next 5 years.  Other elements of the Plan such as the ambition 

statements do not direct action in of themselves, rather provide an expression of outcome linked to 

policy/mission achievement, they have helped inform the assessment process, but have not been 

assessed directly themselves.  The statements of contribution are procedural matters aimed at 

delivering the Mission Statements and have not been directly assessed. 

6.7   Due to their aspirational nature assessment has focused on  ‘sustainability objectives’ rather than 

detailed baseline-led / modelled assessments. The ‘sustainability objectives’ each of the assessment 

topics of the Environmental Report and are compatible with each other. 

                                                           
13 https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Consultation-Report-June-2022-Final-reduced.pdf 
 

Page 236

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Consultation-Report-June-2022-Final-reduced.pdf


Sustainability Appraisal 

26 
 

Assessment topic Key environmental protection aims. 

*Indicates the aims related to the socio-economic duty and the welsh language standard 

(a)biodiversity; All SAC features in favourable condition and all SSSIs in appropriate Management 

 

 

(b)population; Maximise opportunities for all people in Wales to access the health and well-being 

benefits of the natural environment and landscape features of National Parks. 

*To deliver better outcomes for those who experience socio-economic disadvantage. 

(c)human health; Maximise opportunities for all people in Wales to access the health and well-being 

benefits of the natural environment and landscape features of National Parks. 

* Life expectancy and morbidity rates at or equal to Northern European averages 

(d)fauna; Reduced number of INNS within the Park  

Conservation and enhancement of flagship species within the Park  

(identified for the purposes of monitoring as breeding farmland birds and bat 

populations) 

(e)flora; Reduced number of INNS within the Park 

Conservations and enhancement of habitat in favourable condition  

(identified for the purposes of monitoring as Mountain Moor and Heath, Semi-natural 

grassland and woodland) 

(f)soil; Preventing further soil degradation and preserving its functions and restoring degraded 

soils to a level of functionality which will enhance ecosystem resilience. 

(g)water; To ensure that all inland waters reach at least “good status” (or good ecological 

potential for artificial or heavily modified water bodies) unless less stringent objectives 

have been set for certain water bodies. 

(h)air; To keep levels of pollution as low as reasonably practicable. 

(i)climatic factors; To contribute to a 100% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, To increase 

resilience to the adverse impacts of climate change in the National Park, through both 

near- and long-term adaptation measures in affected sectors, areas and communities; 

leading to a reduction of expected socio-economic losses associated with climate 

change and variability. 

(j)material assets; To safeguard and improve assets essential to the National Park: 

 Study centres and other facilities for learning about the history, natural 

features, flora and fauna of the National Park and the objects of architectural, 

archaeological or historical interest therein; 

 Public sanitary conveniences in proper and convenient situations; 

 Receptacles for refuse or litter; 

 Facilities of any description for use by the public for sailing, boating, bathing 

and fishing and other forms of recreation; 

 Camping sites for holiday and recreational purposes, to be used primarily as 

places for setting up tents, with space for parking vehicles and a means of 

access to and from a road; 

 Picnic sites for motorists and others using the roads, with space for parking 

vehicles and a means of access to and from a road; 

 Parking places and means of access thereto and egress therefrom; 

 Accommodation; 

 Public Rights of Way, open access land and access infrastructure. 

 

(k)cultural 

heritage, including 

architectural and 

archaeological 

heritage; 

Identify and protect those individual historic sites or landscapes that matter to us and 

fully integrate their value in future plans for revitalising our communities. 

 

*To contribute to the number of Welsh speakers reaching 1 million by 2050.  

(l)landscape; and To protect and sustain important landscapes and the associated nature conservation 

and other values created by interactions with humans through traditional management 

practices. 

(m)the inter-

relationship 

between the issues 

For the National Park to be recognised as an important place for the recovery of 

nature and the wellbeing of people.  

Page 237



Sustainability Appraisal 

27 
 

Assessment topic Key environmental protection aims. 

*Indicates the aims related to the socio-economic duty and the welsh language standard 

referred to in sub-

paragraphs (a) to 

(l). 

Table 7: Sustainability objectives for each of the assessment topics of the Environmental Report. 

6.8 However, this approach significantly limits the level of confidence which can be attributed to the 

assessments; which take the form of a compatibility analysis. Whilst it has generally been possible to 

identify the nature of the effect (positive or negative), it has not been possible with any level of 

certainty to precisely attribute the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility and spatial extent 

of effects of the Plan.  

6.9 The National Park is identified as a sensitive area in the various Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations, as they apply to Wales.  The National Park is a high value landscape which is recognised 

nationally and internationally through multiple designations, often overlapping spatially. Being of 

national significance for recreation, impacts on the national population must be considered alongside 

those on communities local to the National Park. Effects identified are therefore likely to be of 

greater magnitude and significance than would otherwise be the case in places without such 

designations.   

6.10 As demonstrated in Table 6, the current ‘State of the Park Report 2020’ shows many negative trends 

which are indicative of the fact that multiple environmental quality standards or limit values are being 

exceeded. This also means that the significance of effects identified may be of greater magnitude than 

otherwise would be the case, particularly with biodiversity, flora, fauna and human physical and mental 

health which rely on and are impacted by environmental conditions. 

6.11 Any detailed plans and programmes which emerge from the Plan will be screened to 

understand whether more detailed assessments are necessary. Strong matrix and 

partnership working in partnership practices thorough project development and 

management processes will ensure benefits are realised across each of the relevant 

assessment topics. 

6.12 Although aligned with the ‘Park Doughnut’, it is a key principle that the Plan is to be considered as a 

whole. The National Park Authority’s Senior Policy Officer in consultation with the Head of Policy has 

drafted the assessment, alongside the draft Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report.   

6.13 The Draft ISA was subject to a 12 week period of consultation from November 2021 to March 2022. 

During that time the NPA received comments from the statutory Nature Conservation Body, Natural 

Resources Wales.  These comments have been utilised to revise the assessment process utilised in 

this draft.  Following further consultation with statutory consultees this assessment will be finalised 

and a Statement of Adoption published. 

Difficulties encountered in compiling the required information 

 

6.14 As described, each of the assessments are objective-led rather than baseline-led meaning that the 

judgements of the Officers drafting the report has had a significant bearing on the assessments to 

date.  The objective-led nature of the assessment and the nature of the policy wording as aspirational 

statements of policy led to some difficulty in identifying with any precision the magnitude of likely 

significant effects, and in in particular those of a secondary and cumulative nature.  

6.15 Difficulties in compiling cumulative and synergistic effects were experienced because it was hard to 

identify the availability of monitoring information on the Likely Significant Effects of other plans, 

Page 238



Sustainability Appraisal 

28 
 

programmes and projects. One opportunity to address this would be to develop a Wales-wide ‘SEA’ 

database, such as that which is available in Scotland14.  

6.16 As plans and programmes are developed under the Plan, consideration should be given to the extent 

to which any further elements of any subsequent assessments can be baseline-led. This will be 

particularly important where they are screened as having likely significant effects on the National Sites 

Network and therefore need to be informed by an Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats 

Regulations. The evidence to inform interventions in the Brecon Beacons National Park is ever 

growing; co-ordinating and presenting this through the National Park Doughnut project and the 

Authority’s website also offer scope for improving the assessment processes. 

                                                           
14 https://www.strategicenvironmentalassessment.gov.scot/ 
 

Page 239

https://www.strategicenvironmentalassessment.gov.scot/


Sustainability Appraisal 

29 
 

6. Results - Likely significant effects 

The likely significant effects  on the environment, including short, medium and long-term effects, permanent and temporary effects, positive and negative effects, and secondary, cumulative and synergistic effects, on issues including— 

(a)biodiversity; 

(b)population; 

(c)human health; 

(d)fauna; 

(e)flora; 

(f)soil; 

(g)water; 

(h)air; 

(i)climatic factors; 

(j)material assets; 

(k)cultural heritage, including architectural and archaeological heritage; 

(l)landscape; and 

(m)the inter-relationship between the issues referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) to (l). 

 

The Vision and Objectives  

 

Analysis 

 

7.1 Taken in the context of the Welsh definition of Sustainable Development, the National Park Purposes, the statement of conformity to the IUCN and the forthcoming duty to pursue the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources, and in the 

context of Natural Resources Wales’ State of Natural Resources Report (2020), the Plan vision and objectives are entirely compatible with the sustainability objectives.  

7.2 A previous version of the vision was assessed and it was recommended that “it could be worded more positively “more sustainable” to “sustainable”; “multiple problems” to “face climate change…”. Furthermore, in 2045 (later updated to 2048) 

ecosystems should be ‘resilient’ – this is more than just diverse (see DECCA, Lawton, Nature Recovery Policy), and rather than ‘less carbon reliant” we should have reached net zero GHG (Carbon budget).” These recommendations have informed 

the amended version of the vision now in the final Plan.  

7.3 Symbols  depicting the overall assessment of each of the Objectives/Missions against the sustainability objectives are summarised below. Likely significant positive effects are shaded green, likely significant adverse effects are shaded in red (although 

none are identified). 

👍👍 Positive 

❤❤ Significant Positive 

🤷♀🤷♀ Uncertain / no predicted effect 

🤷♂️🤷♂️ Adverse 

⚠⚠⚠ Significant Adverse 

  Table 8: Symbols  depicting the overall assessment (compatibility) of each of the Missions/Objectives with the sustainability objectives. 

  

P
age 240



Sustainability Appraisal 

30 
 

 

National Park Management Plan 

Missions / ISA assessment topic 

(a
)b

io
d
iv

e
rs

it
y;

 

(b
)p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
; 

(c
)h

u
m

an
 h

e
al

th
; 

(d
)f

au
n
a;

 

(e
)f

lo
ra

; 

(f
)s

o
il;

 

(g
)w

at
e
r;

 

(h
)a

ir
; 

(i
)c

lim
at

ic
 f
ac

to
rs

; 

(j
)m

at
e
ri

al
 a

ss
e
ts

; 

(k
)c

u
lt
u
ra

l 
h
e
ri

ta
ge

, 
in

cl
u
d
in

g 

ar
ch

it
e
ct

u
ra

l 
an

d
 a

rc
h
ae

o
lo

gi
ca

l 

h
e
ri

ta
ge

; 

(l
)l
an

d
sc

ap
e
; 
 

(m
)t

h
e
 i
n
te

r-
re

la
ti
o
n
sh

ip
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 

is
su

e
s 

re
fe

rr
e
d
 t

o
 i
n
 s

u
b
-p

ar
ag

ra
p
h
s 

(a
) 

to
 (

l)
. 

Climate Change 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 

Water ❤❤ 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ 👍👍 

Nature ❤❤ 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ 👍👍 

People 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 

Place 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 

 

 

National Park Management 
Plan objectives / ISA 
assessment topic 

(a
)b

io
d

iv
er

si
ty

; 

(b
)p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
; 

(c
)h

u
m

an
 h

ea
lt

h
; 

(d
)f

au
n

a;
 

(e
)f

lo
ra

; 

(f
)s

o
il;

 

(g
)w

at
er

; 

(h
)a

ir
; 

(i
)c

lim
at

ic
 f

ac
to

rs
; 

(j
)m

at
er

ia
l a

ss
et

s;
 

(k
)c

u
lt

u
ra

l h
er

it
ag

e,
 in

cl
u

d
in

g 

ar
ch

it
ec

tu
ra

l a
n

d
 a

rc
h

ae
o

lo
gi

ca
l 

h
er

it
ag

e;
 

(l
)l

an
d

sc
ap

e
; 

 

(m
)t

h
e 

in
te

r-
re

la
ti

o
n

sh
ip

 b
et

w
e

en
 t

h
e 

is
su

es
 r

ef
er

re
d

 t
o

 in
 s

u
b

-p
ar

ag
ra

p
h

s 
(a

) 

to
 (

l)
. 

Decarbonisation 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 

Sequestration ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 

Adaptation 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 

Resilient catchments ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ ❤❤ 👍👍 

P
age 241



Sustainability Appraisal 

31 
 

National Park Management 
Plan objectives / ISA 
assessment topic 

(a
)b

io
d

iv
er

si
ty

; 

(b
)p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
; 

(c
)h

u
m

an
 h

ea
lt

h
; 

(d
)f

au
n

a;
 

(e
)f

lo
ra

; 

(f
)s

o
il;

 

(g
)w

at
er

; 

(h
)a

ir
; 

(i
)c

lim
at

ic
 f

ac
to

rs
; 

(j
)m

at
er

ia
l a

ss
et

s;
 

(k
)c

u
lt

u
ra

l h
er

it
ag

e,
 in

cl
u

d
in

g 

ar
ch

it
ec

tu
ra

l a
n

d
 a

rc
h

ae
o

lo
gi

ca
l 

h
er

it
ag

e;
 

(l
)l

an
d

sc
ap

e
;  

(m
)t

h
e 

in
te

r-
re

la
ti

o
n

sh
ip

 b
et

w
e

en
 t

h
e 

is
su

es
 r

ef
er

re
d

 t
o

 in
 s

u
b

-p
ar

ag
ra

p
h

s 
(a

) 

to
 (

l)
. 

High quality water 
environments  

❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ 👍👍 ❤❤ 👍👍 

Habitat recovery ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ ❤❤ 👍👍 

Species conservation  ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ 👍👍 ❤❤ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ ❤❤ 👍👍 

Ecosystem Management ❤❤ 👍👍  👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ ❤❤ 👍👍 

Quality of life 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍  ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍  

Future Visitors 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♂️🤷♂️ 🤷♂️🤷♂️ 👍👍 

Welsh Culture and Language 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 

Sustainable businesses 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 👍👍 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 🤷♀🤷♀ 

Collaborating in Place 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 👍👍 ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ ❤❤ 👍👍 

Table 9: Overall assessment of each of the Missions/ objectives against the sustainability objectives in the form of a compatibility analysis. 

7.4  When assessing Missions and their supporting objectives, the following questions helped. 

Assessment topic and Objectives To help frame the reporting of significant effects of the plan for each assessment topic.  

What is the plan component’s…. 

(a)biodiversity; 

Objective: All SAC features in favourable condition and all SSSIs in 

appropriate Management 

 

 

Contribution to meeting SAC conservation objectives? 

Contribution to meeting SSSI management objectives? 

 

(b)population; 

Objective 1: Maximise opportunities for all people in Wales to access 

the health and well-being benefits of the natural environment and 

landscape features of National Parks. 

Objective 2:To deliver better outcomes for those who experience socio-

economic disadvantage. 

 

 

Contribution to improving the experience of people facing socio-economic disadvantage? 

Contribution to the local community? 

Contribution to national well-being? 

Contribution to reducing housing/social and gender inequality? 

Contribution to improving social networks? 

P
age 242



Sustainability Appraisal 

32 
 

Assessment topic and Objectives To help frame the reporting of significant effects of the plan for each assessment topic.  

What is the plan component’s…. 

(c)human health; 

Objective 1: Maximise opportunities for all people in Wales to access 

the health and well-being benefits of the natural environment and 

landscape features of National Parks. 

Objective 2: Maximise opportunities to ensure life expectancy and 

morbidity rates at or equal to Northern European averages 

 

Contribution to improving human health? 

Contribution to improving preventative health care? 

Contribution to increasing connections to ‘natural’ landscapes for health and wellbeing benefits? 

(d)fauna; 

Objective 1: Maximise opportunities to reduce the extent and range of 

INNS (fauna) within the Park. 

Objective 2: Maximise opportunities for the conservation and 

enhancement of flagship species within the Park  (identified for the 

purposes of monitoring as breeding farmland birds and bat 

populations) 

Contribution to meeting SAC conservation objectives for fauna?  

Contribution to improving conditions for all birds and s7 fauna? 

Contribution to combating the extent, spread, and number of fauna INNS within the Park? 

 

(e)flora; 

Objective 1: Reduced number of INNS within the Park 

Objective 2: Conservations and enhancement of key habitat in 

favourable condition  

(identified for the purposes of monitoring as Mountain Moor and 

Heath, Semi-natural grassland and woodland) 

Contribution to meeting SAC conservation objectives for flora? 

Contribution to enhancing the resilient ecological network and improving conditions for all s7 flora? (including:- 

Contribution to conserving/restoring extent and condition of Mountain Moor and Heath/broadleaf and semi-natural woodland/semi natural grassland 

within the Park? 

Contribution to combating the extent, spread, and number of flora INNS within the Park? 

 

(f)soil; 

Objective: Preventing further soil degradation and preserving its 

functions and restoring degraded soils to a level of functionality which 

will enhance ecosystem resilience. 

Contribution to preserving soil function, preventing further soil degradation and restoring degraded soils to a level of functionality which will enhance 

ecosystem resilience? In particular 

Contribution to enhancing soil carbon content? 

Contribution to reducing legacy nutrients within soil? 

Contribution to enhancing water absorbing properties of soils? 

Contribution to reducing upland erosion  

 

(g)water; 

Objective: To ensure that all inland waters reach at least “good 

status” (or good ecological potential for artificial or heavily modified 

water bodies) unless less stringent objectives have been set for certain 

water bodies 

 

Contribution to meeting phosphate target levels in rivers and lakes? 

Contribution to water conservation and reducing the rate of runoff? 

Contribution to reducing other water bourn pollutants/particulates? 

Contribution to reducing extent of flood? 

(h)air; 

Objective: To keep levels of pollution as low as reasonably practicable 

Contribution to reducing air pollution? 

Contribution to reducing noise pollution? 

(i)climatic factors;  

Objective 1: To contribute to a 100% reduction in greenhouse gas 

emissions by 2050, including 30% reduction in global methane. 

Objective 2: To increase resilience to the adverse impacts of climate 

change in the National Park, through both near- and long-term 

adaptation measures in affected sectors, areas and communities; 

leading to a reduction of expected socio-economic losses associated 

with climate change and variability. 

Contribution to decarbonisation? 

Contribution to minimising the impact of Climate Change on communities and visitors? 

Contribution to reducing other non carbon GHG? 

(j)material assets; 

Objective: To safeguard and improve assets essential to the National 

Park: 

 

Contribution to material assets of value to the local community? 

Contribution to material assets of value to the National Park? 

Contribution to the provision of services and facilities to the local community? 

(k)cultural heritage, including architectural and 

archaeological heritage; 

Objective 1: Identify and protect those individual historic sites or 

landscapes that matter to us and fully integrate their value in future 

plans for revitalising our communities. 

Contribution to maintaining and enhancing the historic environment? 

Contribution to the everyday use of the Welsh language? 

Contribution to the maintenance of traditional settlement/land use patterns? 

Contribution to the enhancement of factors of life of significant value to the cultural heritage of the area’? 

 

P
age 243



Sustainability Appraisal 

33 
 

Assessment topic and Objectives To help frame the reporting of significant effects of the plan for each assessment topic.  

What is the plan component’s…. 

Objective 2: To contribute to the number of Welsh speakers reaching 

1 million by 2050. 

(l)landscape; and 

Objective: To protect and sustain important landscapes and the 

associated nature conservation and other values created by 

interactions with humans through traditional management practices. 

Contribution to the strength of character and condition of the landscape character area / unit? 

Contribution to dark skies? 

Contribution to tranquillity? 

Contribution to the natural beauty of the area? 

(m)the inter-relationship between the issues referred to 

in sub-paragraphs (a) to (l). 

Objective: For the National Park to be recognised as an important 

place for the recovery of nature and the wellbeing of people 

Contribution to maintaining and enhancing the special qualities of the National Park? 

 

Table 10: Questions to help analyse the policies. 

P
age 244



Sustainability Appraisal 

34 
 

Likely significant effects 

 

Biodiversity, flora and fauna 

 

7.5 The Plan has been subject to screening under the Habitats Regulations at every iteration. Following a 

preliminary screening, all aspects of the Plan were screened as having no likely significant effect, either 

alone or in combination with other plans and projects, upon any Special Area of Conservation. 

 

7.6 The outcome of the Habitats Regulations Assessment is perhaps not surprising given the nature of the 

Policy objectives of the Plan  (high-level statements of policy ambition) and:  

• The statutory purpose of the National Park and its Management Plan; 

• The statutory obligations of BBNPA; 

• That BBNPA is party to a statement of confirmation made to the International 

Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN); the statement being the basis on which the 

Brecon Beacons National Park is recognised as a Category V protected area and included on 

the world database of protected areas; and, 

• The exceptionally high standards of ecological expertise maintained within the staff 

body of the National Park Authority. 

 

7.7 Many of the Mission and Objectives are considered to offer the potential for likely significant positive 

effects on biodiversity, in particular  

 

 Water Mission 

 Nature Mission 

 Sequestration 

 Habitat Recovery  

 Ecosystem Management 

 Resilient Catchments 

 High Quality Water Environments 

 Species Conservation 

  

7.8 This will help to guide and shape actions and interventions towards ecosystem resilience in the 

National Park (resilience being the synergy of diversity, extent, condition and connectivity). Tackling 

Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS) in the National Park is a major challenge and is of huge 

importance and is to be progressed through implementing this policy. 

 

7.9 No likely significant adverse effects are identified, although much depends on the way in which the 

Plan is implemented, in particular the following objectives were assessed to have uncertain outcomes 

 

 Future visitors 

 Welsh culture and language 

 Sustainable businesses 

 Quality of life 

 

With optimism, these objectives can work in harmony with nature and deliver biodiversity benefits 

appropriate to the landscape of the National Park, if mis-applied they add further pressure on 

ecosystems.  It avoid any uncertainty  and to ensure that the former occurs, it is recommended that 

the term ‘sustainable’ (upon which much weight is given in  the Plan’s Mission and Objective setting) is 

explicitly defined at the outset of the Plan to mean adhering to the principle of sustainability as defined by 

the WBFG Act which is to act in such a way as to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 

well-being of Wales. 

 

7.10 General environmental conditions, many of which are outside the direct control of the Plan are likely 

to have significant adverse effects on the abundance of biodiversity, and species and distribution of 

flora and fauna of the National Park. These changes, as well as those from changing weather 

conditions, the result of climate change, and pollution such as atmospheric deposition of ammonia, are 

likely to be significant of themselves.  

 

Page 245



Sustainability Appraisal 

35 
 

7.11 Natural Resources Wales’ State of Natural Resources Report 2020 (SoNaRR) quotes Sir David 

Attenborough: “We need to learn how to work with nature, rather than against it”. The report also 

cites the IPBES global assessment of 2019 which concludes that the current model of economic 

development ‘[erodes] the very foundations of our economies, livelihoods, food security, health and 

quality of life worldwide.’  

 

7.12 SoNaRR also recognises the need for behaviour change at the level of lifestyle / production and 

consumption in order for SMNR to be fully realised. Wales's overall consumption of resources needs 

to drop if we are to achieve ‘one planet living’. Again, it cites the IPBES report which says, what is 

needed is ”transformative change, a fundamental, system-wide reorganization across technological, 

economic and social factors, including paradigms, goals and values.” 

 

Population and human health 

 

7.13 The National Park seeks to ensure, in the national (UK) interest, opportunities for those wishing to 

pursue recreation peacefully in surroundings of natural beauty. In doing so, the National Park provides 

nationally important cultural benefits for health and well-being. Ensuring environmental protection 

and, ultimately, addressing the climate crisis will also be critically important to human health 

outcomes.  

 

7.14 The predicted likely significant positive effects across the policies of the Plan are greater for these 

sustainability objectives than for any other and there are no predicted significant adverse effects, 

although much depends on the way in which missions/objectivesare implemented.  

 

7.15 Many of the Mission and Objectives are considered to offer the potential for likely significant positive 

effects on Population and Human Health, in particular  

 

 Water Mission 

 Climate Mission  

 Nature Mission  

 People Mission 

 Place Mission  

 Quality of life 

 Collaborating in Place 

 High Quality Water Environments 

 

 

7.16 Given the significance of peatland of the National Park, both for nature recovery and carbon 

sequestration but also for slowing run-off (climate adaptation against flooding) and to water quality for 

the population of South Wales (Brecon Beacons Mega Catchment), objectives relating to 

Sequestration are identified as having a likely significant positive effect for population and human 

health.  It is noted that this intersects with objectives for soil, water, air and biodiversity. 

 

7.17 Uncertain impacts on population and human health have been identified in relation to the following 

objectives 

  

 Decarbonisation 

 Ecosystem Management 

 Future Visitors 

 Sustainable Businesses 

 

Again the potential for positive impacts exist, decarbonisation and ecosystem management are to be 

fundamental in the future wellbeing of our residents, however there is potential for adverse effects 

:-  decarbonisation mechanisms could place additional cost burdens on the most economically 

vulnerable; objectives relating to optimising ecosystems, including areas under intensive use, could 

raise costs of food production;  and that the objective to service visitor needs within the Future 

Visitor Objective may leave indigenous communities at an economic disadvantage within the housing 

Page 246



Sustainability Appraisal 

36 
 

market.  It is considered that there are sufficient mitigative positions within other policy areas to 

act in defence of such negative impacts, for example, collaborating in place attempts to balance these 

competing demands to achieve a sustainable and equitable distribution of resources. 

Soil 

 

7.18 Missions and Objectives considered to bring about likely significant effects for soils are as follows:- 

  

 Climate Mission 

 Water Mission 

 Nature Mission  

 Sequestration 

 Habitat Recovery 

 Ecosystem Management 

 Resilient catchments 

 High quality water environments  

 

 

7.19 Uncertain are the impacts of the objectives linked to the People Mission (Quality of Life) and  Future 

Visitors and Sustainable Businesses, although much depends on the way in which 

missions/objectivesare implemented and additional Plan wording previously discussed relating to a 

definition of sustainability will hopefully provide some protection against negative impacts.. No likely 

significant adverse effects are identified.  

 

Water 

 

7.20 A ‘Mega Catchment’, the National Park is of strategic importance for provisioning water to South 

Wales. Designated features of the riverine Special Areas of Conservation depend on water quality, as 

do many recreational activities (Llangors lake and the Brecon and Monmouth Canal). Intense rainfall 

also poses a risk to material assets (damage by flooding, waterlogging of rights of way) and soil (e.g., 

loss through run off and erosion) and biodiversity. 

 

7.21 Given its strategic importance, a specific Water Mission is included in the Plan and this is predicted to 

bring likely significant positive effects (along with its supporting objectives Resilient Catchments  and  

High Quality Water Environments), this is also the case for the Nature Mission and its supporting 

objectives (Species Conservation; Habitat Recovery and Ecosystem Management) 

 

 

7.22 No likely significant adverse effects are identified.  Uncertain effects are identified for the objective 

relating to Sustainable Businesses , although much depends on the way in which this objective is 

implemented, and again refer to the need for a clear definition of sustainability and its implications in 

action planning. 

 

Air 

 

7.23 Air quality is impacted both by long- and short-range factors, with secondary effects for both human 

health and biodiversity (critical load exceedances of Nitrogen and Sulphur deposition are recorded on 

Special Areas of Conservation in the National Park). Transportation, commercial, industrial and 

residential combustion and agriculture contribute to the short-range sources of Nitrogen and Sulphur 

in the air. Major industrial installations and international shipping, for instance, contribute to long-

range sources.  

 

7.24 The following Missions and specific supporting objectives were seen to have a likely significant positive 

effects:- 

 

 Climate Change Mission 

Page 247



Sustainability Appraisal 

37 
 

o Decarbonisation 

o Sequestration  

 Nature 

o Habitat Recovery 

o Ecosystem Management 

 People 

o Quality of life (elements relating to increased digital connectivity and sustainable 

transport/active trave) 

 

 

7.25 There is less certainty around People Mission objectives, future visitors and sustainable businesses If 

implemented appropriately, these could contribute to tackling emissions, alternatively there is a risk 

they could conceivably drive them further (e.g., , increasing transportation and 

production/consumption ). 

 

Climatic factors 

 

7.26 Mitigating and adapting to climate change is a key driver for the Plan and is inextricably linked with 

Nature Recovery and creating sustainable and resilient places . Setting a ‘Carbon budget’ will enable 

all those with an interest in the National Park to understand the scale and pace of change necessary 

to decarbonise energy, heating transportation and sectoral emissions in line with the Paris Agreement 

and this is predicted to have a positive effect. However, consumption drives carbon emissions globally 

(carbon knows no boundaries) and interventions, such as Global Carbon Pricing and Border Taxation 

appear necessary if emissions are to be kept to the Paris Agreement.  

 

7.27 Action is necessary and the Plan’s Mission approach is considered to have a likely significant positive 

effect at the local scale. Especially in the following areas 

   

 Climate Change Mission 

o Decarbonisation 

o Adaptation 

o Sequestration 

 Nature Mission  

o Habitat recovery 

o Species Conservation 

o Ecosystem Management  

 Place Mission 

o Collaborating in Place 

 People Mission 

o Quality of life (as delivering ambitions around Future Heat and Power. Future Transport, 

Future Connections and Future Food) 

 

7.28 No likely significant adverse effects are identified, although much depends on the way in which the 

missions are implemented especially objectives around Sustainable Businesses and Future Visitors – 

care must be taken to ensure their implementation guards against driving further unsustainable 

consumption and land-use change. 

 

7.29 Many of the objectives are considered to have a positive impact, offering scope to help minimise or 

reduce emissions either directly (active travel and treescapes) or indirectly, for example partnership 

working, Place Planning and work on our water based ecosystems. 

 

Material assets 

 

7.30 The People and Placees Missions seeks to manage the impact of visitor on material assets and protect 

others for the benefit of resident communities. Many landscape and historic environment feature are 

material assets (e.g., buildings of historic interest) and so the Collaborating in Place objective is 

considered to bring a likely significant positive effect. 

 

Page 248



Sustainability Appraisal 

38 
 

7.31 Although indirectly, The Climate and Nature Missions (each as a means of mitigating and adapting to 

climate change) are considered to have a positive impact, as does the quality of life objective within 

the People Mission especially as it relates to  Future skills. 

 

7.32 Supporting communities local to the national park become more resilient through People and Place 

Missions will also help bring resilience to their material assets and so these mission areas area also 

considered to bring a likely significant effect, cumulatively, across the National Park.  

 

Cultural heritage, including architectural and archaeological heritage 

 

7.33 The National Park has rich cultural heritage and historic environment of global, national and locally 

significance. Again the Place Mission is seen as having a likely significant positive effect, especially 

through the Collaborating in Place objective,  as pertains to the ambition for Historic Places. The 

People Mission, Welsh Culture and Language objective is also for clear reasons seen to have a 

significant positive effect. 

 

7.34 This topic by far the most ‘uncertain’ effects with those recognised for the following 

 

 Decarbonisation 

 Sequestration 

 Adaptation 

 Species conservation 

 Habitat recovery 

 Ecosystem Management 

 Quality of life 

 Sustainable businesses  

 Resilient catchments 

 

7.35 In addition potential negative impacts were identified through the assessment of the Future Visitors 

Objective and the potential that unmanaged visitor pressures could result in negative impacts on 

cultural heritage (in particular increases in land values and pressure on protected sites, integrity and 

setting). 

 

7.36 This exposes the inherent vulnerability of this element of our core purpose and clear effort must be 

undertaken to ensure that any action that arises as a result of this Plan must be assessed for its 

potential impact on our cultural and historic environments.  It is believed that measures to address 

other unknown impacts through a clear definition of sustainability – and one which includes 

protection of cultural and historic environments – will also be mitigative to this potential identified 

harm. 

 

Landscape 

 

7.37 Recognised as a Category V Protected Area by the IUCN and being a landscape-based designation, 

much of the Plan is considered to bring likely significant positive effect for the landscape.  

 

7.38 These include the following, which, seek to improve the current condition of the landscape and 

elements of it through the lens of the sustainable Management of Natura Resources.  

 Water Mission 

o Resilient Catchments 

o High Quality Water Environments 

 Nature Mission 

o Habitat Recovery 

o Species Conservation 

o Ecosystem Management 

Page 249



Sustainability Appraisal 

39 
 

 Place Mission 

o Collaborating in Place 

 Whereas the People Mission has been assessed to have a likely positive effect, the Welsh 

Culture and Language objective has been assessed to offer likely significant positive effects. 

7.39 Less certain are the effects from objectives within the People Mission aimed at addressing quality 

of life, again much will depend on implementation and lower tier levels of assessment to prevent 

any negative harm from occurring. 

7.40 In addition potential negative impacts were identified through the assessment of the Future 

Visitors Objective and the potential that unmanaged visitor pressures could result in negative 

impacts on landscape value (in particular in intensification of recreational activity and resulting 

impact on natural beauty).  Again clarification of the anticipated outcome of any action termed 

‘sustainable’ and local level assessment is considered sufficient to mitigate any future potential 

risk. 

 

 

The inter-relationship between the issues referred to in sub-paragraphs 

 

7.41 In the context of the National Parks in Wales and England, there are significant inter-relationships 

between the landscape, its resident population and visitors. Underpinning the landscape and its special 

qualities are landform, biological and geological diversity and human interactions with them over 

millennia. The existing natural resources provide a nationally important cultural service and contribute 

to international network. Natural resources are under pressure from biodiversity loss, the climate 

crisis and competing economic and cultural interests. It is essential that they are sustainably managed 

and that this takes place in the context of the National Park designation and polices in the draft Plan. 

It must be recognised that the nature of these pressures is evolving quickly; we are in earth’s 6th Mass 

extinction, which is being driven by human induced Climate Change. Globalisation and market forces 

have acted to strain the link and dependency between communities and their environs, leading to 

wider and greater competition over the natural and built resources in the National Park, impacting on 

the cultural traditions of the area. The National Park Authority has dual purposes (conservation and 

recreation). Where these conflict the duty of conversation should prevail. A new duty, that of 

pursuing the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources, is due to be placed on the Welsh 

National Parks at the next legislative opportunity. This will place ecosystem resilience at the heart of 

decision making.  

The likely significant effect on well-being 

 

7.42 The National Park’s designation in providing nationally important cultural benefits, positively 

contributes to international cultural networks which has significant benefit to our national well-being. 

It is considered that the Management Plan will in its implementation have a significant positive impact 

on each of the national well-being goals and WG priorities for action as outlined in the Term of Office 

Remit Letter. Notwithstanding this important national contribution to well-being, local wealth 

inequality pressures community cohesion and remains an issue of focus.  

Ways of working Demonstration throughout the Plan of 

implementation through collaboration.  Case 

Studying collaborative projects termed sêr y 

Bannau  
And section 12 of the Plan highlighting delivery 

through a range of existing 

Partnerships/Collaborative ways of working. 

Page 250



Sustainability Appraisal 

40 
 

Long term horizon of plan addresses ambitions 

for 50 years time 

Focus on adaptation across plan looks at 

preventative action aimed at building resilience. 

Plan developed with involvement, including 

Citizen Assemblies, Stakeholder Reference Panel 

and Thematic Partnerships. 

A Prosperous Wales People Mission, objective aimed at quality of life, 

expresses outcomes in relation to future food, 

skills and jobs, homes, heat and power, 

transport, lives, connections, economy and 

Equality. 

The Just and Safe Space of the Doughnut model 

correlates to  

A Resilient Wales All plan missions aim at increasing the resilience 

of the National Park in the face of future 

challenges.  In particular 

Climate mission – addresses the need for the 

Park to work in place to develop adaptation 

plans.  

A More Equal Wales Missions relating to People and Place focus on 

the need to improve how the Park provides a 

more equal service in the Future. 

 

A Healthier Wales The Collaborating in Place objective underlying 

the Place Mission includes ambitions in relation 

to the creation of healthy places in the Park 

 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities This objective lies at the heart of our People and 

Place Missions.. 

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving 

Welsh Language 

Clear objectives linked to Welsh Language and 

Culture.. 

A Globally Responsible Wales Recognised by the IUCN as a Category V 

Protected Area, the Brecon Beacons National 

Park is included on the World Database of 

Protected Areas.  

 

Fundamental to this recognition is giving 

biodiversity a high priority in the National Park 

Management Plan.  

 

 

Other international designations include:  

Fforest Fawr Geopark (UNESCO) 

International Dark Skies Reserve (IDA) 

Blaenavon World Heritage Site (UNESCO)   

Table 11: Missions/objectivescontributing to each of the national wellbeing goals and ways of working. 

7.43 Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s Priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

and National Parks - 10 cross-cutting themes aim to improve resilience and realise the full value of 

Wales’ landscapes: 

Landscapes for everyone People Mission  

Quality of Life Objective with outcomes 

linked to improved championing Equity, 

Inclusion and Diversity in implementation 

Exemplars of the sustainable management of 

natural resources 

Nature Mission 

Page 251



Sustainability Appraisal 

41 
 

With reference to the Habitat Restoration, 

Species Conservation and Ecosystem 

Management Objectives. 

See also Water Mission and objective 

linked to resilient catchments. 

 

Halting the loss of biodiversity Nature Mission 

With reference to the Habitat Restoration, 

Species Conservation and Ecosystem 

Management Objectives. 

See also Water Mission and objective 

linked to resilient catchments and Climate 

Mission linked to sequestration and 

adaptation. 

 

Green energy and decarbonisation Climate Mission with objectives linked to 

decarbonisation 

People Mission objective linked to 

improving quality of life, especially 

outcomes linked to future heat and power 

and future transport. 

 

Realising the economic potential of landscape Climate Mission and objectives linked to 

sequestration 

Water Mission and objectives linked to 

resilient catchments and high quality water 

environment. 

Nature Mission and objective linked to 

Ecosystem Management. 

 

Growing tourism and outdoor recreation People Mission and objectives linked to 

Future Visitors and Sustainable Businesses. 

 

Thriving Welsh language People Misison and objective linked to 

Welsh Language and Culture 

Place Mission and objectives linked to 

collaborating in place, especially outcomes 

linked to resilient places and inspiring 

places. 

 

All landscapes matter Place Mission and outcomes linked to the 

development of beautiful places. 

. 

Delivering through collaboration Ser y Bannau 

Partners chapter. 

Innovation in resourcing Ser y Bannau 

Partners chapter 

Table 12: Missions/objectivescontributing to each of the 10 cross-cutting themes identified as 

priorities for National Parks by the Welsh Government. 

7.44  National park authorities: term of government remit letter, updates Valued and Resilient and aligns 

Ministerial priorities for National Park activity to the Welsh Governments Programme for 

Government. The following key objectives are identified for NPAs in Wales to respond to  

 Build an economy based on the principles of fair work, sustainability and the industries and 

services of the future 

 Build a stronger, greener economy as we make maximum progress towards decarbonisation 

 Embed our response to the climate and nature emergency in everything we do 

Page 252



Sustainability Appraisal 

42 
 

 Celebrate diversity and move to eliminate inequality in all of its forms 

 Push forward towards a million Welsh speakers, and enable our tourism, sports and arts 

industries to thrive 

 Make our cities, towns and villages even better places in which to live and work 

These are further refined to areas of action for NPs linked to the WG four themes of action  

WG Theme of 

Action  

Including action linked to 15 NPMP response 

Environment  Contribute to achieving a zero-carbon 

economy  

 Support a shift to sustainable transport 

 Proactively help facilitate carbon sequestration 

 Take action to improve the connectivity, 

condition, scale/extent and diversity of 

ecosystems, and maintain and enhance resilient 

ecological networks,  

 Support the National Peatland Action 

Programme (NPAP) 

 Engage actively in Local Energy Planning 

 Engaging positively in initiatives to promote 

reuse and repair, to grow the circular economy 

 

 

Climate Mission 

Objectives relating to  

- Decarbonisation 

- Sequestration 

- Adaptation 

Water Mission  

Objectives relating to 

- Resilient catchments 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management 

People Mission  

Objective relating to Quality of 

life and in particular outcomes for 

Future heat and power; Future 

transport; Future skills and jobs; 

Future food and Future 

connectivity 

Place Mission  

Objective to Collaborate in Place 

and in particular outcomes linked 

to Resilient Places; Prosperous 

Places and Innovative Places 

 

People and 

Place 
 Contribute to the co-design and 

implementation of the Sustainable Farming 

Scheme. 

 Contribute to the Community Food Strategy 

to encourage the production and supply of 

locally sourced food. 

 Work with Housing Authorities, Community 

Land Trusts and private developers, to develop 

innovative solutions to acute housing issues 

 Implement solutions to the pressures of 

visitors on local infrastructure, including more 

sustainable transport systems, and 

communication campaigns to ensure 

responsible recreation 

 You must balance that with the importance of 

tourism to our economy, and the role you play 

Water Mission  

Objectives relating to 

- High quality water 

environments. 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management  

NPA contributions also highlight 

the prpoposal to establish 

partnerships with the agricultural 

sector to help implement  

 

People Mission  

Objective relating to 

                                                           
15 The areas for action here are purposefully  incomplete, those that relate to Authority business, rather than 
impact within the geographical area of the designation are not listed.  Full text can be found in Annex A here 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-
letter.pdf 
  

Page 253

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/national-park-authorities-term-government-remit-letter.pdf


Sustainability Appraisal 

43 
 

WG Theme of 

Action  

Including action linked to 15 NPMP response 

at the heart of this in meeting the needs of 

visitors 

 Support the designation of inland bathing 

waters and deployment of Sustainable Drainage 

Systems 

 Engage with the development of the proposed 

all-Wales framework for social prescribing 

 Collaborate with key partners to deliver 

against Priorities for the Historic Environment 

in Wales 

 Develop policies that ensure that that the 

Welsh language is able to thrive, delivering 

against Cymraeg 2050: Our plan for 2021 to 

2026 

 Increase engagement in opportunities for 

people in vulnerable or disadvantaged groups 

and under-represented communities to benefit 

from the landscapes you manage 

 Increase provision of skills training, 

apprenticeship and volunteering opportunities 

-  Quality of life and in 

particular outcomes for 

Future food; Future skills 

and jobs; Equity, 

Diversity and Inclusion; 

and Future Homes 

- Future Visitors 

- Sustainable Businesses 

- Welsh Culture and 

Language 

Place Mission  

Objective to Collaborate in Place 

and in particular outcomes linked 

to Resilient Places; Prosperous 

Places; Inspiring Places; Historic 

Places; Healthy Places  and 

Innovative Places 

 

Excellence in 

Governance 

and Planning 

 Proactively contribute to setting local and 

regional planning policy, including through the 

CJC structure and through regional and national 

collaboration to implement the policies in 

Future Wales (with particular reference to 

Policy 9 and the requirement to secure resilient 

ecological networks and green infrastructure). 

 

Place Mission  

Objective to Collaborate in Place 

and in particular outcomes linked 

to Well-planned places. 

 

Partnership section of Plan  

Collaboration  our designated landscapes should punch above 

their weight in responding to WG priorities in so 

doing must ramp up collaborative efforts. 

Ser y Bannau 

Partnership section of Plan. 

Table 13: NPMP contributions to WG Ministerial priorities for Welsh National Parks 

The likely significant effect on the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources 

 

7.45 Natural Resources Wales’ SoNaRR 2020 identifies necessary bridges to the ‘future if SMNR is to be 

achieved. In the following table the contribution of the draft Plan to these ‘bridges’ is identified.  

SoNaRR 2020 NPMP Policy response 

SMNR AIM 1: Stocks of natural resources are safeguarded 

and enhanced 

SMNR AIM 1 

Decarbonise: Ensure Wales releases less greenhouse gas into the 

atmosphere by burning less fossil fuels and retaining, improving and 

expanding habitats that help to lock in carbon deposits. 

Climate Mission 

- Decarbonisation 

- Sequestration 

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place and 

outcome linked to resilient 

places 

 

. 

Improve land management: Improve sustainability of land use by 

changing management of agriculture, forestry and development. 

Climate Mission 

- Decarbonisation 

- Sequestration 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

Page 254



Sustainability Appraisal 

44 
 

SoNaRR 2020 NPMP Policy response 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management  

People Mission  

Objective relating to 

- Quality of life and in 

particular outcomes for 

Future food; 

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place 

 

Recognise biodiversity as an asset: Recognise that biodiversity 

is part of Wales’s wealth and that it should be safeguarded like other 

assets. 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management  

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place 

 

Address resource use and its impacts: Achieve sustainable 

levels of production and consumption by improving the efficiency 

and volume of resource use 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management  

People Mission  

Objective relating to 

Quality of life and in particular 

outcomes for Future food 

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place 

 

SMNR AIM 2: Ecosystems are resilient to expected and 

unforeseen change 

SMNR AIM 2 

Develop the assessment of ecosystem resilience: Assessing 

ecosystem resilience is complex, and there are few relevant 

published tools or methods available to measure ecosystem 

resilience at a national scale. 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management  

 

Nature recovery - ecological 

networks mapping. 

Doughnut monitoring (State of the 

Park Report). 

Effective ecosystem management: Ecological resilience can be 

improved by maintaining and enhancing habitats and species to aid 

the recovery of biodiversity and restore functionality to ecosystems. 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management  

Water Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Resilient catchments 

Build on Wales’s policy framework: Wales already has the 

policy framework to promote a healthy and resilient place for 

people and nature. In implementing the Future Generations, 

Environment and Planning Acts there are many opportunities to 

pursue Wales' ambition for sustainable development. 

The whole Plan. 

Page 255



Sustainability Appraisal 

45 
 

SoNaRR 2020 NPMP Policy response 

Optimising regulation: The resilience of ecosystems relies upon 

the regulation of activities that act as pressures on the environment. 

Controls are in place to regulate these activities, but there is a need 

to ensure that they are implemented consistently with the objective 

of sustainable management of natural resources. 

Partnership working. 

Build wider engagement: A commitment to transformative 

change is needed from all parts of society. This can be achieved by 

wider engagement and working together on the importance of 

nature-based solutions, promotion and adoption of good practice, 

and more integrated policy interventions. 

Partnership working. 

Ser Y Bannau 

Place Mission and objectives linked 

to Place Planning at different scales. 

SMNR AIM 3: Wales has healthy places for people, 

protected from environmental risks 

SMNR AIM 3 

Establish equal and sustainable communities: Provide 

accessible and affordable amenities and services, good quality 

housing, education and integrated transport systems. These all 

contribute to creating and sustaining healthy communities. 

People Mission 

Objective relating to Quality of life 

especially outcomes linked to 

- Future food 

- Future Skills and jobs 

- Future Homes 

- Future heat and power 

- Future Transprot 

- Future lives (connections to 

place) 

- Future [digital] connections 

- Future Economy 

- EDI  

Place Mission 

Objective to collaborate in place to 

create the following outcomes 

- Resilient places 

- Prosperous places 

- Inspiring places 

- Healthy places 

- Innovative places 

- Well-planned places 

Healthy, active, connected communities: Deliver public health 

approaches for social, economic and environmental benefits, such as 

safe green spaces and active transport. These have been shown to 

be cost-effective with potential returns on investment. 

. People Mission 

Objective relating to Quality of life 

especially outcomes linked to 

- Future food 

- Future Skills and jobs 

- Future Homes 

- Future heat and power 

- Future Transport 

- Future lives (connections   

to place) 

- Future [digital] connections 

- Future Economy 

- EDI  

Place Mission 

Objective to collaborate in place to 

create the following outcomes 

- Resilient places 

- Prosperous places 

- Inspiring places 

- Healthy places 

- Innovative places 

- Well-planned places 

Green growth and innovation: Economic growth and 

development should ensure the sustainable use of our natural 

People Mission 

Page 256



Sustainability Appraisal 

46 
 

SoNaRR 2020 NPMP Policy response 

resources, through smart and innovative technologies, renewable 

energy generation, social procurement and nature-based solutions. 

Objective relating to Quality of life 

especially outcomes linked to 

- Future Economy 

Place Mission 

Objective to collaborate in place to 

create the following outcomes 

- Resilient places 

- Innovative places. 

 

Move toward a regenerative economy, with sustainable 

levels of production and consumption:  

Manage the life-cycle of natural resources, from extraction through 

the design and manufacture of products, to using waste as a 

resource, to build a regenerative economy. 

Climate Mission 

- Decarbonisation 

- Sequestration 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Ecosystem Management  

People Mission 

Objective relating to Quality of life 

especially outcomes linked to 

- Future Economy 

Place Mission 

Objective to collaborate in place to 

create the following outcomes 

- Resilient places 

- Innovative places. 

 

 

SMNR AIM 4: A regenerative economy - Wales needs more 

sustainable patterns of production and consumption 

The DISRUPT framework (below) can be used to set out 

the opportunities for action: 

SMNR AIM 4 

Design for the future: A whole systems approach to product life-

cycle design, ensures products can be repaired and re-made to 

extend the use of natural resources. 

People Mission 

Objective relating to Quality of life 

especially outcomes linked to 

- Future Economy 

Place Mission 

Objective to collaborate in place to 

create the following outcomes 

- Resilient places 

Innovative places 

Incorporate digital technology: Develop the 'internet of things' 

(digital technology) to support decarbonisation. Replace the use of 

physical goods with digital services, such as streaming music. 

Park Doughnut project and State of 

the National Park Report. 

Sustain and preserve what is already there: Expand and 

effectively manage the current network of protected areas, including 

terrestrial, freshwater and marine areas. 

Climate Mission 

- Decarbonisation 

- Sequestration 

Nature Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Habitat recovery 

- Species conservation 

- Ecosystem Management  

Water Mission 

Objectives relating to 

- Resilient catchments 

Page 257



Sustainability Appraisal 

47 
 

SoNaRR 2020 NPMP Policy response 

- High quality water 

environment 

People Mission  

Objective relating to 

- Quality of life and in  

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place 

Rethink the business model: Encourage sharing, re-use and 

resale; for example through community fridges and repair cafes. 

Extend producer responsibility from packaging and electrical goods 

to other products. Ensure producers fund the full net costs of end 

of life management and encourage eco-design. 

People Mission  

Objective relating to 

- Quality of life and in  

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place 

Use waste as a resource People Mission  

Objective relating to 

- Quality of life and in  

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place 

Prioritise regenerative resources: Substitute renewable for 

non-renewable resources (for example timber for steel, and 

concrete or bioplastics for petroleum-based plastics). 

 

People Mission  

Objective relating to 

- Quality of life and in  

Place Mission 

- Collaborating in place 

Team up to create joint value: Work across the public, private 

and voluntary sectors to reduce material consumption and waste 

production aligning with Wales’s industrial and innovation policies. 

Partnership section 

Ser y Bannau 

Table 14: Missions/Objectives contributing to SMNR ‘bridges to the future’. 

The likely significant effect on Welsh language 

 

7.46 In the following table the contribution of the draft Plan to meeting the goal of 1 million Welsh 

language speakers by 2050 is considered via relevant elements of the Welsh Language Standard. 

Welsh language: A million Welsh speakers by 

2050. 

Plan response 

Will the plan impact on the number or 

percentage of people able to speak Welsh (or 

any other skill)? 

Indirectly, the plan seeks to conserve and 

enhance the national park making it an attractive 

place to visit, live and invest. Land use-change 

and trends towards increasing visitor numbers 

and population increases through positive 

migration to the National Park offer both 

opportunities to promote every-day use of 

Welsh (conserving and enhancing cultural 

heritage is a first purpose of the National Park), 

but also risk diluting the everyday use of Welsh 

in communities where its use is strong 

(particularly in the west of the National park).  

Will the plan impact on the number or 

percentage of people who use Welsh? 

As above. 

Will the plan be undertaken in Welsh? Yes. The Plan will be available in Welsh. 

Will the plan protect, promote and enrich 

heritage and culture within the area in question 

in relation to the Welsh language? 

Yes, in particular missions relating to people and 

place and key objectives around Welsh Culture 

and Language. 

Positive effects on the Welsh language The plan provides an opportunity to promote 

use of the language through outcomes related to 

Inspiring Places amongst commitments to 

undertake delivery of the Plan at the local level 

utilising holistic place planning. 

Page 258



Sustainability Appraisal 

48 
 

Adverse effects on the Welsh language Land use-change and trends towards increasing 

visitor numbers and population increases 

through positive migration to the National Park 

risk diluting the everyday use of Welsh in 

communities, particularly in the west of the 

National Park. 

consider how the plan could promote 

opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 

language more widely, and 

The way in which the plan is delivered, through 

partnership working, is a key opportunity to 

promote opportunities for persons to use the 

Welsh language. Furthermore, broadening 

participation in plan preparation, for example 

through the Citizens Assembly and Stakeholder 

Reference Panel broaden the range of views and 

perspectives influencing the Plan and can act to 

ensure opportunities to use the Welsh language 

are considered. 

Consider whether the plan will mean treating 

the Welsh language less favourably than the 

English language. 

There is the potential for the Plan to drive 

actions which treat the Welsh language less 

favourably than the English language. The scale 

and pace of change mean that some relevant 

research or evidence may only be available in 

English language. 

Table 16: Plan response to the Welsh Language Standard.

Page 259



Sustainability Appraisal 

49 
 

7. Analysis - What do the Likely Significant Effects mean – what will be affected? 

The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly affected. 

 

8.1 The National Park Management Plan covers the whole of the National Park, the landscape and 

environment of which are generally described in the books ‘Brecon Beacons National Park’ (National 

Parks Commission, 1967) and ‘Brecon Beacons’ (Mullard, 2014). The current condition and 

sustainability of the national park are explored in the emerging National Park ‘Doughnut’ included in 

the Plan and State of the Park Report 2020. 

8.2 The landscape is nationally designated as a National Park and internationally recognised as a Category 

V Protected Area and is included on the World Database of Protected Sites. The area of the National 

Park includes multiple other designations, some global such as the UNESCO Geopark and World 

Heritage Site and Important Plant Areas, some national including landscapes of special and outstanding 

historic interest in Wales, Special Areas of Conservation and sites of special scientific interest (both 

geological and ecological) and some are locally designated such as Conservation Areas and Sites of 

Importance for Nature Conservation. Each is mapped and spatial information is available on them 

through Geographic Information Systems (GIS).  

8.3 The special qualities of the National Park are described and captured in art and poetry in Management 

Plan. Where positive significant effects are identified in this assessment, these will act to enhance 

these special qualities and enable their enjoyment and understanding.  

8.4 The National Park Landscape Character Assessment (2012) draws together much of this work and 

identifies 15 Character Areas across the National Park. This has recently been supplemented with 

work prepared by Reading University relating to 16 landscape typologies in the National Park. 

8.5 Likely significant effects have been screened out on Special Areas of Conservation within the National 

Park and 15km of its boundary. Further detailed assessment will be undertaken during preparation of 

the place, thematic and spatial plans and through project development and partnership working as 

detailed project plans and interventions are developed.  

 

Page 260



Sustainability Appraisal 

50 
 

8. Recommendations - How can we avoid adverse effects and strike a sustainable balance? 

The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse 

effects on the environment of implementing the plan or programme. 

9.1 At this stage, there are no likely significant adverse effects identified. An ecosystem approach is being 

followed, with place-planning and thematic action plans encouraged as a means of working in 

partnership to identify and deliver place-appropriate actions and interventions. This is reliant on 

project development and management protocols ensuring that decisions are appropriately informed 

through statutory assessment and consenting processes.  

9.2 Key to maximising benefits and preventing, reducing and offsetting any significant adverse effects on 

the environment will be aligning project identification and design objectives and standards with the 

National Park purposes.  

9.3 Given identified uncertainties and potential for negative impacts from objectives linked to future 

visitors, it is recommended that an additional definition of ‘sustainable’ is included in the plan to 

explicitly state that any actions linked to objectives which include the phrase ‘sustainable’ means in 

practice, adhering to the principle of sustainability as defined by the WBFG Act which is to act in such a way 

as to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales without causing harm to 

any element component. 

 

Page 261



Sustainability Appraisal 

51 
 

10.  How are we going to check our assessment predictions? 

A description of the measures envisaged concerning monitoring in accordance with regulation 17. 

10.1 The National Park Doughnut project will evolve and act as the focus for collating and reporting 

monitoring information including that on likely significant effects identified through this assessment / 

appraisal process.  

10.2 The project will also bring together the National Park Research Partnerships and a wide range of 

monitoring mechanisms including the Welsh Government’s Well-being and ERAMMP monitoring and 

the National Park’s own emerging vital signs project, well-being reporting, including s6 Environment 

Act reporting and monitoring undertaken by partnerships.  

10.3 Over time, incorporating a spatial dimension into the National Park doughnut based upon the 

Landscape Character Areas and /Landscape Character Units may lead to more detailed understanding 

of the ‘State of the National Park’.  

10.4 Where significant information is unavailable and primary research is required to obtain it, a prioritised 

list of evidence needs has been prepared for funding16. The NPA has a research partnership with the 

Sustainable Places Research Institute17 and with the University of South Wales (UoSW)18, is an 

associate of the Environment Platform Wales and works closely with the University of Swansea and 

Reading University amongst others. In follow up to the major three Parks workshop that UoSW 

hosted in September 2017, a research local workshop hosted in 2017 has moved the NPA closer to a 

co-developed research portfolio. A further workshop is due to be repeated before the National Park 

Management Plan is approved. 

 

                                                           
16 Brecon Beacons National Park Research Prospectus 2013 
17 https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/sustainable-places/research/places/brecon-beacons-national-park 
18 https://www.southwales.ac.uk/news/news-2017/university-south-wales-joins-forces-brecon-beacons-national-

park/ 

Page 262

https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/sustainable-places/research/places/brecon-beacons-national-park
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/news/news-2017/university-south-wales-joins-forces-brecon-beacons-national-park/
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/news/news-2017/university-south-wales-joins-forces-brecon-beacons-national-park/


Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

1 
 

Appendix 1: Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes – Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2022. 

To identify the environmental protection objectives, established at international, Community or Member State level, which are relevant to the plan or programme. 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

Primary objective 

To protect and sustain important landscapes/seascapes 

and the associated nature conservation and other values 

created by interactions with humans through traditional 

management practices. 

 

Other objectives 

 To maintain a balanced interaction of nature and 

culture through the protection of landscape 

and/or seascape and associated traditional 

management approaches, societies, cultures and 

spiritual values; 

 To contribute to broad-scale conservation by 

maintaining species associated with cultural 

landscapes and/or by providing conservation 

opportunities in heavily used landscapes; 

 To provide opportunities for enjoyment, well-

being and socio-economic activity through 

recreation and tourism; 

 To provide natural products and environmental 

services; 

 To provide a framework to underpin active 

involvement by the community in the 

management of valued landscapes or seascapes 

and the natural and cultural heritage that they 

contain; 

International Union for Conservation of 

Nature – Category V protected area. 

 

IUCN Protected Area Management Categories 

Statement of Compliance for the UK National Park 

Authorities on why they should continue to be 

recognised as IUCN Protected Areas Cat V. 

Statement of conformity - summary of the 

ambition and vision for nature conservation in 

the areas: 

 

While the legislative and policy framework for 

National Parks allows for a high priority to be given to 

natural beauty, there are a number of external factors 

that could undermine conservation efforts, including 

climate change, development pressure and competing 

land uses. In order to address this, the National Parks 

have identified and signed up to major ambitions for 

the future of nature conservation in their areas and 

are becoming increasingly recognised as places where 

biodiversity conservation should be focused.  

 

The National Park Authorities recognise that while 

much progress has been delivered, there is much 

more that can be achieved in terms of conserving and 

enhancing biodiversity.  

 

IUCN can expect those National Parks who are a 

party to this Statement of Compliance to make sure 

that all future management plans give a high priority to 

P
age 263



Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

2 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

 To encourage the conservation of 

agrobiodiversity and aquatic biodiversity; 

 To act as models of sustainability so that lessons 

can be learnt for wider application. 

 

the conservation of nature. This priority will be 

explicit in the aims and objectives of the new plans. 

The aims of this Convention are to promote landscape 

protection, management and planning, and to organise 

European co-operation on landscape issues. 

 

 

The European Landscape Convention 

UK Signature: 21/02/2006 

UK Ratification: 21/11/2006 

UK Entry into force: 01/03/2007 

The States Parties to the Convention recognise that 

the landscape has an important public interest role in 

the cultural, ecological, environmental and social fields, 

and constitutes a resource favourable to economic 

activity. The landscape is a key element of individual 

and social well-being. Its protection, management and 

planning entail rights and responsibilities for everyone. 

National Park purposes: 

 

(a) For the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 

natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage, and; 

 

(b) For the purpose of promoting opportunities for the 

understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities by 

the public. 

 

Section 61 of the Environment Act 1995, which 

amended Section 5 of the National Parks and 

Access to the Countryside Act1949. 

The statutory definition of natural beauty (above) 

includes geomorphology and landform, concepts that 

are embraced by IUCN in its definition of “nature”.  

 

This is, therefore, a wider definition than those 

normally subsumed under the term “wildlife”.  

 

The two purposes are equal in law, except where 

there appears to be a conflict between them, in which 

case priority shall be given to the first purpose. This is 

the long-established Government policy often 

referred to as the “Sandford Principle” and since 1995 

enshrined in law. It requires that the conservation of 

natural beauty and cultural heritage be given greater 

P
age 264



Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

3 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

weight if there is a conflict with recreational or 

educational activity.  

 

The Environment Act 1995 is definitive and 

unambiguous that the first purpose “shall” be given 

greater weight in such circumstances. This means it is 

a requirement rather than optional.  

 

In practice, there are very few instances where 

recreational or educational activity would be in 

conflict with conservation of natural beauty or cultural 

heritage, not least because the National Park 

Authorities adopt an integrated approach to the 

management of the Park’s ‟special qualities”.  

 

In pursing the statutory purposes, the National Park 

Authorities have a duty to seek to foster the social 

and economic well-being of their local communities.  

 

The legislation makes clear that this duty is subsidiary 

to the purposes and its fulfilment should not 

undermine the priority that is given to nature 

conservation. 

P
age 265



Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

4 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

 

Furthermore, National Parks are a national 

designation, established in legislation, and defined by 

the National Park purposes. Section 62(2) of the 

Environment Act 1995 requires all relevant authorities 

to have regard to the National Park purposes in all 

their work in the Parks. Indeed, the imperatives of the 

National Park purposes should be reflected in these 

other Plans. 

 

Sustainable Development in Welsh National 

Parks: 

 

Valued Places 

1. Landscapes for everyone 

 

Resilient Environments 

2. Exemplars of the sustainable management of 

natural resources 

3. Halting the loss of biodiversity 

4. Green energy and decarbonisation 

Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s 

priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

and National Parks (2018). 

Senedd Cymru / Welsh Parliament has legislative 

competence in relation to countryside and open 

spaces (including the designation and regulation of 

national parks and areas of outstanding natural beauty 

(AoNBs)). This is subject to any reservations in 

Schedule 7A to the Government of Wales Act 2006. 

 

It is reasonable to assume the Welsh Government’s 

priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

and National Parks (2018) acts to guide the delivery of 

the National Park purposes through the National Park 

Management Plan, having regard to: 

 

 IUCN objectives for Category V protected 

areas; 

P
age 266



Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

5 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

 

Resilient Communities 

5. Realising the economic potential of landscape 

6. Growing tourism and outdoor recreation 

7. Thriving Welsh language 

 

Resilient Ways of Working 

8. All landscapes matter 

9. Delivering through collaboration 

10. Innovation in resourcing 

 

 Aims of the European Landscape Convention; 

 National Park purposes; 

 All other relevant Welsh Legislation and 

Government Policy including the 

Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and the 

Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016, 

Planning Policy Wales and associated 

Technical Advice Notes, National Peatland 

programme, Woodlands for Wales and 

future proposals for agricultural payments. 

 

 

 

The Welsh Government Environment & Rural 

Affairs Monitoring and Modelling Programme 

 

The overall aim of ERAMMP is to deliver a programme of 

monitoring and modelling which collects data across the 

Welsh landscape and links any changes to their impacts 

on a wide range of benefits including their economic 

consequences.  

Welsh Government Environment & Rural Affairs 

Monitoring and Modelling Programme: 

https://erammp.wales/en 

 

The programme will be a key source of data for future 

editions of the State of Natural Resources Report 

(SoNaRR). The programme will also undertake 

modelling for the EU exit process and the design and 

evaluation of programmes delivering to the Natural 

Resources Policy. 

 

P
age 267

https://erammp.wales/en


Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

6 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

 

LANDMAP - the Welsh landscape baseline: 

 

An all-Wales landscape resource where landscape 

characteristics, qualities and influences on the landscape 

are recorded and evaluated in a nationally consistent data 

set. 

 

LANDMAP - the Welsh landscape baseline: 

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-

advice/business-sectors/planning-and-

development/evidence-to-inform-development-

planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-

baseline/?lang=en 

LANDMAP is used to inform planning, policy, 

strategies, evidence and advice, including National 

Park management plans, special qualities and ‘State of’ 

reports. 

 

 

State of natural resources report (SoNaRR) 

 

Natural Resources Wales must prepare and publish 

reports containing its assessment of the state of natural 

resources in relation to Wales. Each report must, among 

other things, set out— 

(a)NRW's assessment of the extent to which 

sustainable management of natural resources is 

being achieved; 

The Environment Act 1995 (s66, (7A) (a)): 

 

A National Park authority for a park in Wales 

which is proposing to publish, adopt or review any 

plan under this section must have regard to the 

state of natural resources report published under 

section 8 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

 

SoNaRR is used to inform planning, policy, strategies, 

evidence and advice, including National Park 

management plans, special qualities and ‘State of’ 

reports. 

 

It sets out the four aims of SMNR as:  

1. Stocks of natural resources are safeguarded 

and enhanced. 

2. Ecosystems are resilient to expected and 

unforeseen change. 

P
age 268

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en


Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

7 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

(b)NRW's assessment of biodiversity (including 

the living organisms and types of habitat included 

in any list published under section 7); 

(c)what NRW considers to be the main trends 

and factors that are affecting, and are likely to 

affect, the state of natural resources; 

(d)any aspects of the state of natural resources 

about which NRW considers that it does not 

have sufficient information to make an 

assessment. 

 

3. Wales has healthy places for people, 

protected from environmental risks 

4. A regenerative economy - Wales needs more 

sustainable patterns of production and 

consumption. 

And provides relevant assessments of progress 

towards the sustainable management of natural 

resources in the following broad ecosystems found in 

the National Park and by eight cross-cutting themes. 

Area Statements: 

 

For the purpose of facilitating the implementation of the 

national natural resources policy, Natural Resources 

Wales has prepared and published ‘area statements’ 

covering the whole of Wales. 

 

Each area statement must explain why a statement has 

been prepared for the area, by reference to 

(i)the natural resources in the area; 

The Environment Act 1995 (s66, (7A) (b)): 

 

A National Park authority for a park in Wales 

which is proposing to publish, adopt or review any 

plan under this section must have regard to any 

area statement published under section 11 of that 

Act for an area that includes all or part of the park. 

 

 

7 Area Statements were published on 1st April 2020; 4 

are partly within the National Park. Themes include: 

Mid Wales: 

1 Improving biodiversity - responding to the nature 

emergency 

2 Sustainable land, water and air - working towards 

sustainable farming and land management 

3 Reconnecting people and places - improving health, 

wellbeing and the economy 

4 Forest resources - managing timber resources 

effectively 

P
age 269



Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

8 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

(ii)the benefits which the natural resources 

provide; and 

(iii)the priorities, risks and opportunities 

for the sustainable management of 

natural resources which need to be 

addressed. 

 

5 Climate emergency – adaptation and mitigation 

across four themes 

South East Wales: 

1 Linking our Landscapes 

2 Climate ready Gwent 

3 Healthy active connected 

4 Ways of working 

South Central Wales: 

1 Building resilient ecosystems 

2 Connecting people with nature 

3 Working with water 

4 Improving our health 

5 Improving our air quality 

South West Wales: 

1 Reducing health inequalities 

2 Ensuring sustainable land management 

3 Reversing the decline of, and enhancing, biodiversity 

P
age 270



Appendix 1 – Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

9 
 

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National Park 

Management Plan 

4 Cross-cutting theme: Mitigating and adapting to a 

changing climate 

 

 

 

   

 

P
age 271



Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

10 
 

Appendix 2: Details of the Special Areas of Conservation considered in the Habitats Regulations Assessment screening report. 

 

 SAC Scanning and site selection 

1 Aberbargoed Grasslands 

SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

 

The National Park is beyond the recommended 2km buffer for its mobile designated feature, the Marsh fritillary butterfly. 

Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC is also designated for its Purple moor-grass meadows habitat.  

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) identifies both features as 

being as among those most frequently adversely affected by air pollution (Table 1, page 9).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts from air pollution on 

Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce nitrogen deposition on 

sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on 

Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural point sources such 

as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions originating from large numbers motor 

vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which may need national scale or international scale interventions 

to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

2 Blaen Cynon SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Bog 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

The Blaen Cynon SAC is designated for the Marsh fritillary butterfly. The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the 

potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Climate Change and Habitat Fragmentation (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Cross-Cutting Action Plans (2015) 

 

3 Brecon Beacons SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

The Brecon Beacons SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Dry heaths. 

 Plants in crevices in base-rich rocks. 

 Plants in crevices on acid rocks. 

P
age 272

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030071.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/670637/Aberbargoed%20Grasslands%20Core%20SAC%20plan%20jan08.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0030092
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671013/Blaen%20Cynon%20core%20management%20plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030096.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

11 
 

Upland 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

 Tall herb communities. 

 

The SAC is located within an area of open access land; which is heavily visited and is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the 

potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 

4 Cernydd Carmel SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Bog 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National Park and has no mobile designated features. Cernydd Carmel SAC is 

designated for its:  

 Active raised bogs. 

 Dry heaths. 

 Wet heathland with cross-leaved heath. 

 Mixed woodland on base-rich soils associated with rocky slopes. 

 Turloughs. 

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) identifies those 

features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites 

(Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts from air pollution on 

Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce nitrogen deposition on 

sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on 

Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural point sources such 

as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions originating from large numbers motor 

vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which may need national scale or international scale interventions 

to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

5 Coedydd Nedd a Mellte 

SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

The Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Mixed woodland on base-rich soils associated with rocky slopes. 

 Western acidic oak woodland. 

 

P
age 273

https://naturalresources.wales/media/671043/Brecon%20Beacons%20SAC%20plan%20_Eng_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030070.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671239/Cernydd%20Carmel%20SAC%20Management%20Plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030141.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

12 
 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Woodland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

The SAC is located within an area promoted as ‘Waterfall Country’ and is heavily visited. The SAC is recorded as having an issue 

relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

6 Coed y Cerrig SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Alluvial forest 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

The Coed y Cerrig SAC is designated for its Alder woodland on floodplains habitat. 

 

The SAC is also a National Nature Reserve is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site 

features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

7 Cwm Cadlan SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Bog 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

The Cwm Cadlan SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Calcium-rich springwater-fed fens. 

 Purple moor-grass meadows. 

 

Although not a honey-pot site, the SAC is located partially within a National Nature Reserve and is crossed by Public Rights of 

Way leading to open access land with significant historic environment interest (Mynydd-y-Glog). 

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 

2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 

8 Cwm Doeithe Mynydd 

Mallaen SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Woodland 

 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Cwm Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen 

SAC is designated for its:  

 Dry heaths. 

 Western acidic oak woodland. 

 

P
age 274

https://naturalresources.wales/media/671444/Coedydd%20Nedd%20a%20Mellte%20SAC%20plan%2018%20April%202008%20_English_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012766.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671319/Coed%20y%20Cerrig%20%20SAC%20%20Management%20Plan%20_English_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013585
https://naturalresources.wales/media/675014/cwm-cadlan-sac-plan-english.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

13 
 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Grassland/ 

Heathland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) identifies those 

features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites 

(Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts from air pollution on 

Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce nitrogen deposition on 

sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on 

Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural point sources such 

as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions originating from large numbers motor 

vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which may need national scale or international scale interventions 

to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

9 Cwm Clydach Woodlands 

SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Woodland 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Grassland/ 

Heathland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

The Cwm Clydach Woodlands SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Beech forests on acid soils. 

 Beech forests on neutral to rich soils. 

 

The SAC is located partially within a National Nature Reserve and is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to 

adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

10 Drostre Bank SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Drostre Bank SAC is designated 

for its:  

 Alder woodland on floodplains. 

 Purple moor-grass meadows. 

 

P
age 275

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030127.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/675017/cwm-clydach-sac-plan-english.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012878.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

14 
 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Woodland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) identifies those 

features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites 

(Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts from air pollution on 

Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce nitrogen deposition on 

sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on 

Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural point sources such 

as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions originating from large numbers motor 

vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which may need national scale or international scale interventions 

to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

11 Llangorse Lake/ Llyn 

Syfaddan SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Lake 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

The Llangorse Lake/ Llyn Syfaddan SAC is designated as a freshwater habitat; a naturally nutrient-rich lakes or lochs which are often 

dominated by pondweed. The lake is located within an area promoted as a tourist destination and is heavily visited.  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 

2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Plan Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 

12 Mynydd Epynt SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Upland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Mynydd Epynt SAC is designated 

for its Slender green feather-moss. 

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) identifies those 

features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites 

(Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts from air pollution on 

Natura 2000 features. 

 

P
age 276

https://naturalresources.wales/media/671765/Drostre%20Bank%20SAC%20Plan%20Jan%2008%20_A_.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180430-preliminary-hra-screening-report.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180430-preliminary-hra-screening-report.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/672671/Llangorse%20lake%20core%20management%20plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030221.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673042/Mynydd%20Epynt%20SAC%20%20Management%20Plan%20April%202008%20_English_A_.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

15 
 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce nitrogen deposition on 

sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on 

Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural point sources such 

as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions originating from large numbers motor 

vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which may need national scale or international scale interventions 

to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

13 River Usk SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Riparian 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 

Part of the River Usk SAC and its catchment are within the National Park. It is designated for: 

 Allis shad.  

 Atlantic salmon.  

 Brook lamprey.  

 Bullhead.  

 Otter.  

 River lamprey.  

 Rivers with floating vegetation often dominated by water-crowfoot. 

 Sea lamprey. 

 Twaite shad.  

 

The SAC is within the National Park and is closely connected with (is fed by and receives overflow from) the Monmouthshire and 

Brecon Canal. Some of its upper tributaries are dammed and provide water for Swansea and Newport. Furthermore, settlements 

including Sennybridge, Brecon and Crickhowell are on the Usk.  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 

2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

It is also likely that matters relating to Access and Recreation Management are relevant. 

 

Water quality in the river is currently exceeding critical limits (phosphates) demonstrating existing in combination impacts within 

the catchment are harming the designation. Evidence: NRW Evidence Report 489 (January 2021). 

14 River Wye SAC 

 

Part of the River Wye SAC and its catchment are within the National Park. It is designated for: 

 Allis shad. 

P
age 277

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0013007.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673384/River_Usk%20SAC%20core%20plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012642.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

16 
 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Riparian 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Bog 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 Atlantic salmon.  

 Brook lamprey.  

 Bullhead.  

 Otter.  

 River lamprey.  

 Rivers with floating vegetation often dominated by water-crowfoot. 

 Sea lamprey.  

 Twaite shad.  

 Very wet mires often identified by an unstable `quaking` surface. 

 White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) crayfish. 

 

The SAC is partly within the National Park and is hydrologically connected with Llangros Lake and the settlements of Talgarth and 

Hay-on-Wye. 

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 

2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

Water quality in the river is currently exceeding critical limits (phosphates) demonstrating existing in combination impacts within 

the catchment are harming the designation. Evidence: NRW Evidence Report 489 (January 2021). 

15 Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC 

Woodland 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

The Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC is designated for its Western acidic oak woodland habitat. The SAC is recorded as having an issue 

relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

16 Usk Bat Sites SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Bats 

The Usk Bat Sites SAC is designated for the following habitats and species. 

 Blanket bog. 

 Caves not open to the public. 

 Degraded raised bog. 

 Dry heaths. 

P
age 278

https://consult.environment-agency.gov.uk/psc/ta5-1ud-nnb-generation-company-hpc-limited-2/supporting_documents/EA5%20%20River%20Wye%20SAC%20Core%20Management%20Plan%20Natural%20Resources%20Wales%20September%202017.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030072.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/674063/Sugar_Loaf_Woodlands_core_management_plan_Mar_2008%20_A_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0014784.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

17 
 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Grassland/ 

heathland, Bogs, Upland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

 Lesser horseshoe bat.  

 Mixed woodland on base-rich soils associated with rocky slopes. 

 Plants in crevices in base-rich rocks. 

 

The SAC is large (1686.025 Ha.) and range of the lesser horseshoe bat (suggested buffer of 15km. Schofield, H. (2010) Lesser 

Horseshoe Conservation Handbook. Bat Conservation Trust).  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issues relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 

2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Thematic Action Plan Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

 

17 Rhos Goch SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Bog 

 

Secondary Natura 2000 

category or categories: 

Grassland 

 

Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Rhos Goch SAC is designated for 

its:  

 Active raised bogs. 

 Alder woodland on floodplains. 

 Bog woodland. 

 Purple moor-grass meadows. 

 Very wet mires often identified by an unstable `quaking` surface. 

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) identifies those features 

identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites 

(Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts from air pollution on 

Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce nitrogen deposition on 

sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on 

Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural point sources such 

as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites,  

P
age 279

https://naturalresources.wales/media/674281/Usk%20Bat%20Sites%20Management%20Plan%20Feb%2008.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0014792.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/682684/rhos-goch-sac-core-management-plan-english.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consideration of National Sites Network from Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

18 
 

emissions originating from large numbers motor vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which may need 

national scale or international scale interventions to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

18 River Tywi SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 2000 

Category: 

Riparian 

 
Core management plan/ 

conservation objectives Link 

Part of the River Tywi SAC and its catchment are within the National Park. It is designated for 

 Allis shad.  

 Brook lamprey.  

 Bullhead.  

 Otter.  

 River lamprey.  

 Sea lamprey.  

 Twaite shad.  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 

2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015)  

 

Water quality in the river is not optimal, existing impacts within the catchment are harming the designation. Evidence: NRW 

Evidence Report 489 (January 2021). 

 

 

P
age 280

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013010
https://naturalresources.wales/media/670732/Afon_Tywi_-_Man%20Plan%20English.pdf


Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

19 
 

Appendix 3: Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

NPMP Option 1 – Vision and Objectives Stage – Suite of objectives and policies issued for consultation. 

Draft NPMP 

Landscape and nature recovery. 

Objective 1 Objective: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient landscapes across the 
Brecon Beacons. 

 Outcome: People will benefit from the Park’s resilient landscapes, full of flourishing wildlife and 
valued heritage. 

Strategic Policy. 

SP1 To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural Resources based solutions for 
climate change working collaboratively with land managers. 

SP2 To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce flood risk, and maintain those 
improvements. 

SP3 To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the 
best outcomes for the natural environment of the National Park. 

SP4 To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net benefit for biodiversity and provides 
broader environmental net-gain, demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

Inspiring people and places.  

Objective 2 Objective: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the heritage, places and 
special qualities of the Brecon Beacons.  

 Outcome: People will be able to access, understand and enjoy what makes the national park special. 

Strategic Policy. 

SP5 To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of accessing the Park for our visitors. 

SP6 To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

SP7 To develop a programme of interpretation, education and communication linked to nature recovery 
projects in the National Park. 

SP8 Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the Historic Environment working with 
objectives around nature recovery. 

Community and Rural Enterprise. 

Objective 3 Objective: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit from sustainable 
livelihoods and green infrastructure.  

 Outcome: People living and working in the Park will benefit from strong communities, sustainable 
livelihoods, healthy lifestyles and widespread decarbonisation.  

Future policy objectives: 

FPO1 To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with Payments for Ecosystem Services at 
its heart. 

FPO2 To enable and support community development of Place Plans with the aim of developing 20-minute 
communities. 

 

 

 

Page 281



Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

20 
 

Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives Stage – in the form of a gap analysis 

 

National Park Purposes NPMP Objective / Strategic Policy / Future Policy Objective Recommendation to inform alternative policy.  

(a) For the purpose of conserving and 

enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and 

cultural heritage, and; 

 

Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient landscapes across 

the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status , reduce flood risk, and maintain those 

improvements. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net benefit for biodiversity and 

provides broader environmental net-gain, demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the Historic Environment working 

with objectives around nature recovery. 

Objective 1: Consider changing the word landscape for ecosystems? 

 

SP2: Two key asks – the first (why protected water bodies only?) and by when. The second reduce 

flood risk to whom/what and where, by what magnitude and how? Relies on NRW CC projections. 

Could go further and suggest by appropriate nature-based solutions rather than engineered solutions?  

 

SP4: Must be based on a principle of appropriate net benefit / net gain in the context of the National 

Park. We do not want to be exporting the National Park’s biodiversity of enabling any development or 

land use change which detracts from the cultural ecosystem services provided by the National Park. 

Add something on our planning / advocacy function? 

 

SP8: Is cultural heritage wider than the Historic Environment? Good to link with nature recovery but 

also perhaps with landscape management recommendations?  

 

Further room for improvement: 

 Incorporate landscape management recommendations. 

 Consider policy to continually explore the concept of Natural Beauty of the National Park 

 Consider policy specifically on Nature Recovery 

 Tightly define cultural heritage (i.e., understanding of past lived experience of the National 

Park?) so as not to confuse with trying to conserve and enhance the current lived experience 

of  different people / communities / groups into the future (largely outside our control and 

may embed further inequality).  

 

(b) For the purpose of promoting opportunities 

for the understanding and enjoyment of the 

special qualities by the public. 

 

Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the heritage, places 

and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP6: To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and communication linked to nature 

recovery projects in the National Park. 

 

 

Objective 2: The word people is inclusive and all groups of people will therefore be diverse. Consider 

either dropping the ‘diverse groups’ or look to the strategic equality plan and identify the specific 

characteristics of people the term was intended to identify. Perhaps consider alignment with wording 

in existing Nat Park communications e.g., NPUK Parks for all: accelerate an improvement in equality of 

access to National Parks to underrepresented communities. Isn’t there a NPW policy document called 

landscapes for all? 

 

SP6: To who would we be promoting the Park as A Natural Health Service and why? People? Welsh 

Government (i.e., Advocacy)? Investors? NHS (mainstream funding)? Perhaps promoting the health 

benefits of conditions and experiences which may be found in the Brecon Beacons National Park? 

Would need to link this assertion to evidence – perhaps link with NPUK Nature Health Network 

 

SP7: Just checking - why only nature recovery projects? Are these currently an omission? Perhaps 

incorporate nature recovery within education programme? 

 

Further room for improvement: 

 Accessibility of information on the National Park enabling visits to be planned in advance. 

 Ensuring appropriate infrastructure and facilities so that all people can enjoy the National Park 

(i.e., changing places) 

 Sharing research evidence and monitoring. 

 Education of special qualities, cultural ecosystem services and the origins of the National Park 

movement. 

 Approach to providing skills and information for people to enjoy the National Park safely (e.g., 

outdoor education such as map reading and info on the countryside code) 

 

 

P
age 282

https://www.nationalparks.uk/green-recovery/


Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

21 
 

IUCN statement of conformity 

 

IUCN Cat V NPMP Objective / Strategic Policy / Future Policy Objective Recommendation 

Primary objective 

To protect and sustain important landscapes/seascapes and the associated nature 

conservation and other values created by interactions with humans through 

traditional management practices. 

Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich 

and resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce 

flood risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the 

natural environment of the National Park. 

 
SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the 

Historic Environment working with objectives around nature 

recovery. 

SP3: Consider whether to advocate for appropriate traditional management practices to play a part 

in the future Sustainable Farming Scheme. 

 

Further room for improvement: 

 Incorporate landscape management recommendations. 

 Consider alternative policy support for appropriate traditional management practices 

(Perhaps with exemplars at the visitor centre?) 

 

To maintain a balanced interaction of nature and culture through the protection of 

landscape and/or seascape and associated traditional management approaches, 

societies, cultures and spiritual values. 

Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich 

and resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net 

benefit for biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-

gain, demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

SP1: Full stop after resources. Make clear that all Authority decisions (including as LPA) will be 

made in the context of the forthcoming SMNR duty.  

 
SP4: Perhaps broaden to include the need also to protect the societies, cultures and spiritual values 

associated with the landscape. 

 
Further room for improvement: 

 Seek to ensure, as far as possible within the scope of the National Park designation to 

protect the societies, cultures and spiritual values associated with the landscape by 

working to understand them and building them into Equalities Impact Assessments? 

To contribute to broad-scale conservation by maintaining species associated with 

cultural landscapes and/or by providing conservation opportunities in heavily used 

landscapes. 

Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich 

and resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 
SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce 

flood risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 
SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the 

Historic Environment working with objectives around nature 

recovery. 

 

SP2: Draw on our species imperative (SAC designated features) as part of  focus. Also, BIS are 

doing a culturally important species project. Potential to link in.  

 

SP8: Broaden historic environment by including cultural landscapes (see culturescapes project).  

Refer to species recovery plans (are they in NRAP?) associated with historic environment / cultural 

landscapes (e.g., Curlew?).  

To provide opportunities for enjoyment, well-being and socio-economic activity 

through recreation and tourism. 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 
SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the 

natural environment of the National Park. 

 

SP5: To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of 

accessing the Park for our visitors. 

 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon 

Beacons benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green 

infrastructure. 

 

SP3: Broaden to best outcomes for natural environment and recreation opportunities of the 

national park? 

 

Broaden scope of Objective 3 to visitors and include appropriate infrastructure to support 

recreation and forecast visitor numbers. 

 

Further room for improvement: 

 

On providing the infrastructure necessary for tourism e.g.:  

 NP Visitor Centre 

 Public Rights of Way 

 Picnic sites 

 Camp sites 

 Information and website 

 

On how people can get involved in managing the National Park e.g., Volunteering.  

P
age 283



Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

22 
 

FP01: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park 

with Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

 

 

 

To provide natural products and environmental services. Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon 

Beacons benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green 

infrastructure. 

 
FP01: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park 

with Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

 

Broaden FP01 for green growth to embrace natural products and outline in more detail 

environmental services (perhaps with links to the BMLUP PES prospectus?) 

To provide a framework to underpin active involvement by the community in the 

management of valued landscapes or seascapes and the natural and cultural 

heritage that they contain. 

FPO2: To enable and support community development of Place 

Plans with the aim of developing 20-minute communities. 
Broaden objective 3 to include concept of community involvement in the decisions of the NPA and 

in managing the National Park.  

 

Further room for improvement: 

 

Perhaps additional policies for: 

 Volunteering programme; 

 Community involvement activities; and, 

 Evidence, research and monitoring. 

 

To encourage the conservation of agrobiodiversity and aquatic biodiversity. Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich 

and resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce 

flood risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the 

natural environment of the National Park. 

 

Objective 1: Draw on our species imperative (SAC designated features e.g., Bats and others such as 

Wild birds) as part of  focus. 

 

SP2: Draw on our species imperative (SAC designated features) as part of  focus. 

 

SP3: add in… biodiversity, ecosystem resilience and natural beauty of the National Park (or 

wildlife and natural beauty) whatever is easiest. 

To act as models of sustainability so that lessons can be learnt for wider 

application. 

 

Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich 

and resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 
SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP1: Finish sentence at Resources and hyperlink to Objective, Definition, and principles in the Env 

Act.  The model of sustainability must be in the context of the designation as a National Park and 

the landscape character units within the National Park. i.e., cultural regulating and supporting 

ecosystem services appropriate to place. Provisioning ecosystem services to respect the National 

Park designation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 284



Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

23 
 

WG Valued and resilient (i.e., Prosperous Wales)  

Valued and resilient NPMP Objective / Strategic Policy / Future Policy Objective Recommendation 
1. Landscapes for everyone Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and 

understand, the heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon 

Beacons. 

 

SP5: To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of 

accessing the Park for our visitors. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and 

communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park. 

 

SP7: Why only nature recovery projects – what about the aspects of landscape and skills 

development. 

 

Further room for improvement: 

 Policy on accessibility 

 Nothing on visitor information/ infrastructure/ accommodation needed 

 

2. Exemplars of the sustainable management of natural resources Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and 

resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

Objective1: SMNR is about ecosystem resilience perhaps amend word landscapes to 

ecological networks / ecosystems. Alternatively repeat the SMNR objective as Objective 1? 

 

SPI: SNMR is about informing decision making (including working with land managers) 

leading to outcomes – does the ‘Park’ in this instance mean the BBNPA? Stop after 

resources but perhaps explain a little more what SMNR is to make it accessible? 

 

Further room for improvement: 

 Include strategic policy on directly implementing the definition of SMNR 

(ecosystem resilience) via nature recovery (NRAP), peatland restoration etc.  

 

3. Halting the loss of biodiversity Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and 

resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 
SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 
SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce flood 

risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the natural 

environment of the National Park. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net benefit 

for biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, 

demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and 

communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park. 

 

SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the 

Historic Environment working with objectives around nature recovery. 

 

 

Objective 1: Species rich - suggests halting biodiversity loss but not explicitly.  

 

SP1: The focus of SMNR is on ecosystem resilience rather than climate change – reconsider 

wording. Halting loss is a major part of SMNR.  

 

SP2: Perhaps expand to provide the reason of SAC designated feature condition recovery. 

 

SP3: Perhaps include…and halt the loss of biodiversity. 

 

SP4: Net gain also needs to be based on no unacceptable net loss. 

 

SP8: Perhaps include…and halting the loss of biodiversity. 

 

Further room for improvement: 

 Role as LPA and EIA 

 Role in research and monitoring 

4. Green energy and decarbonisation Outcome 3: People living and working in the Park will benefit from 

strong communities, sustainable livelihoods, healthy lifestyles and 

widespread decarbonisation.  

 

SP5: To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of 

accessing the Park for our visitors. 

 

 

Decarbonisation only referred to directly in outcome 3. Neither in an objective or strategic 

policy. Include strategic policy either on carbon budgeting on taking achievable steps to 

decarbonise rapidly.  

 

SP5 is an important step towards decarbonisation; but does it go far enough? What is 

sustainable travel (active travel / car sharing?). Consider timed modal shift away from cars?  

 

Further room for improvement: 

 Strategic policy on decarbonisation of the National Park (i.e., as an authority and of 

visitor activities we promote, projects we undertake and all partnership activity). 

P
age 285



Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

24 
 

 Strategic policy on green energy (NDF mandates a Brecon Heat Network: Work 

with WPD / Community energy audits?)  

 

 

5. Realising the economic potential of landscape SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

Must start with the position of being a National Park and scoping ways of  achieving the 

economic potential of the National Park as a designated landscape in ways provide multiple 

benefits:  social, cultural, environmental…(Essentially SMNR in the context of the National 

Park).  

 

The green growth strategy is a route towards establishing an economic vision however 

would, for instance, Growing Mid Wales / those with objectives other than National Park 

purposes concur? Suggest advocacy strategy alongside the green growth strategy would be 

needed.  

  
6. Growing tourism and outdoor recreation FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 
Not explicit but could/ should form the basis of the green growth strategy so perhaps add 

wording after PES…tourism and appropriate outdoor recreation…at its heart.  

7. Thriving Welsh language Nothing. Further room for improvement: 

 Either dedicated strategic policy or through other means – perhaps in Objective 3. 

 

8. All landscapes matter Nothing. Further room for improvement: 

 Incorporate landscape management recommendations. 

9. Delivering through collaboration SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the natural 

environment of the National Park. 

 

FPO2: To enable and support community development of Place Plans 

with the aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

Further room for improvement: 

 Policy around partnership working and organisational development. 

 

10. Innovation in resourcing FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

Further room for improvement: 

 Policy around partnership working 

 Policy around organisational development, project planning and resource allocation 

 Policy around community involvement and volunteering 

 Policy around ‘Charity’ status as a means of attracting additional funding and 

donations etc.  

WG remit letter 2021   

 

 

 

 

P
age 286



Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

25 
 

NRW Area Statements 2020 (i.e., NRP) 

 

Mid Wales   
1 Improving biodiversity - responding to the nature emergency Objective1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and 

resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce 

flood risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net 

benefit for biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, 

demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and 

communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National 

Park. 

 

SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the 

Historic Environment working with objectives around nature recovery. 

 

Include biodiversity within Objective 1? See RSPB / Cardiff Uni Biodiversity and the Area Based 

Approach: 

http://orca.cf.ac.uk/113208/7/CU_RSPB_2018_Biodiv_Area_Statements_Full_Report.pdf 

 
Alternatively, add a specific Strategic Policy on improving biodiversity, species and nature 

recovery?   

2 Sustainable land, water and air - working towards sustainable farming and land 

management 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce 

flood risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the natural 

environment of the National Park. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

 

Air quality not directly addressed although a key determinant of SAC feature condition and is a 

Natural resource (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/3/section/2/enacted) 

 

See NRW report on the Environmental Information Portal: Critical Levels for ammonia for all 

SSSI’s including those that underpin the National Ste Network and the locations of ancient 

woodlands and parklands that are known to be sensitive to nitrogen (ammonia) pollution. 

 

3 Reconnecting people and places - improving health, wellbeing and the 

economy 

Objective2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and 

understand, the heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon 

Beacons. 

 

SP6: To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and 

communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National 

Park. 

 

Objective3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons 

benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

 

FPO2:To enable and support community development of Place Plans 

with the aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

Good coverage. Perhaps broaden to understand the ‘National’ value of national parks, as a place 

for all people –is the NPMP focus on those living and working in the National Park and everyone 

else who may benefit from visiting the National Park right? 

P
age 287

http://orca.cf.ac.uk/113208/7/CU_RSPB_2018_Biodiv_Area_Statements_Full_Report.pdf


Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

26 
 

 

4 Forest resources - managing timber resources effectively SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

SMNR is primarily about resilient ecological networks. Perhaps a separate strategic policy on 

forestry and woodland creation in the National Park or to work towards a concordat with WG 

and NRW as is in place in England. Recent landscape work highlights the impact of the forestry in 

the landscape and ERAMMP has a great evidence base for the Welsh National Forest: 

https://erammp.wales/en/r-forest-evidence 

 
5 Climate emergency – adaptation and mitigation across four themes SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net 

benefit for biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, 

demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

 

SMNR (resilient ecological networks are an important means of mitigating the impact of climate 

change on people and biodiversity but this is not their focus).  

 

Include a strategic policy on Nature Based Solutions and other management measures as a means 

of mitigating the consequences of intense weather events – also need to build into monitoring / 

citizen science of weather events and their impacts on people, biodiversity, the landscape and 

environmental conditions.  

 

Decarbonisation only not currently in an objective or strategic policy. Include strategic policy 

either on carbon budgeting on taking achievable steps to decarbonise rapidly.  

 

Further room for improvement: 

• Strategic policy on decarbonisation of the National Park (i.e., as an authority and of 

visitor activities we promote, projects we undertake and all partnership activity). 

• Strategic policy on green energy (NDF mandates a Brecon Heat Network: Work with 

WPD / Community energy audits?) 

South East Wales   
1 Linking our Landscapes Objective1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and 

resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

Consider a strategic landscape policy and make more of our landscape work and monitoring: 

 NRW landscape evidence incl. LANDMAP 

 BBNPA LCA 

 LDU level 2 study 

 LNP ecological network mapping project 

 Culturescapes work / Geopark  

 
2 Climate ready Gwent SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net 

benefit for biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, 

demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

 

SMNR (resilient ecological networks are an important means of mitigating the impact of climate 

change on people and biodiversity but this is not their focus).  

 

Include a strategic policy on Nature Based Solutions and other management measures as a means 

of mitigating the consequences of intense weather events – also need to build into monitoring / 

citizen science of weather events and their impacts on people, biodiversity, the landscape and 

environmental conditions.  

 

Decarbonisation only not currently in an objective or strategic policy. Include strategic policy 

either on carbon budgeting on taking achievable steps to decarbonise rapidly.  

 

Further room for improvement: 

• Strategic policy on decarbonisation of the National Park (i.e., as an authority and of 

visitor activities we promote, projects we undertake and all partnership activity). 

• Strategic policy on green energy (NDF mandates a Brecon Heat Network: Work with 

WPD / Community energy audits?) 

 
3 Healthy active connected Objective2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and 

understand, the heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon 

Beacons. 

 

SP5: To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of 

accessing the Park for our visitors. 

 

SP6: To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

 

Opportunity to make more of Active Travel Networks (Incl. PRoW and bridleways, long distance 

routes (Walking, cycling and trekking), routes suitable for disabled people as a means of accessing 

benefits of cultural ecosystem services with benefits for health / wellbeing. And linking with 

infrastructure, facilities and equipment providers. 

P
age 288

https://erammp.wales/en/r-forest-evidence


Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

27 
 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and 

communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National 

Park. 

 

Objective3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons 

benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

4 Ways of working FPO2:To enable and support community development of Place Plans 

with the aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

 

Further room for improvement: 

• Policy around partnership working 

• Policy around organisational development, project planning and resource allocation 

• Policy around community involvement and volunteering 

South Central Wales   
1 Building resilient ecosystems SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

 

The objective of SMNR is to maintain and enhance the resilience of ecosystems and the benefits 

they provide. 

 

Building resilient ecosystems (i.e., the enhance) will draw upon the LNP resilient ecological 

networks mapping project but would importantly also require using natural resources in a way 

and at a rate which helps maintain and enhance ecosystem resilience, taking action in accordance 

with the objective and not taking action which hinders it (i.e., the definition of SMNR). 

 

Any green growth strategy would need to be based on SMNR.  

2 Connecting people with nature Objective2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and 

understand, the heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon 

Beacons. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and 

communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National 

Park. 

 

Objective3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons 

benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

None of the policies deal with the infrastructure or equipment needed to connect people with 

Nature. This could be via accessible PRoW (i.e., miles without styles), enhancements to the 

mountain centre / making equipment available at the mountain centre or by volunteering and 

outreach in monitoring projects or even via nature watching events.  

 

SP7 could be much broader and perhaps link with eNGO initiatives (such as NT 

https://www.nationaltrust.org.uk/50-things-to-do / YHA https://www.yha.org.uk/generationgreen) 

/ https://www.rspb.org.uk/fun-and-learning/for-families/family-wild-challenge/activities/have-a-wild-

sleepout /  Local Wildlife Trust events / BIS events / BBNPS events) 

 

Alongside our fantastic education offer, we will work with all of the wonderful eNGOs and arts bodies who 

do such a great job of helping people connect with nature, the landscape and the area’s cultural 

heritage...We will also find ways tell the story of the Brecon Beacons National Park as an internationally 

recognised Protected Area and what might become of the landscape in the future...  

 

3 Working with water SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce 

flood risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 

Combined SP1 (sustainable management of) and SP2 (climate change mitigation and water quality 

measures) provide a framework for working with water. Perhaps broaden SP2 to broaden the 

consideration of water? It reads a little like an objective rather than a policy.  

 

However, Brecon Beacons is seen as a Mega Catchment (important for provisioning ecosystem 

services to SE Wales); Water is also a habitat (Riverine SAC and Llangors Lake SAC) and a 

recreation resource (Brecon and Monmouth Canal). These have different impacts (most notably 

reservoirs) but are also under pressure with critical loads of P having been found to have failed – 

linking to source apportionment / monitoring and regulatory work (Agri and WwTW). Peat 

restoration, visitor infrastructure (toilets), tree planting and planning all have links to this topic. 

Wet weather can make the PRoW unusable and so increase pressure on indoor attractions.  

 

4 Improving our health Objective2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and 

understand, the heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon 

Beacons. 

 

SP6: To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

 

Objective3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons 

benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

Helping people access and enjoy the special qualities of the National Park and undertake 

appropriate and affordable recreational activities will help well-being. This needs to be made 

available for everyone via appropriate provision, information, and facilities (e.g., PRoW / green 

Infrastructure).  

 

In many ways the story of the National Park movement is one entwined with physical and mental 

health and it’s renewed telling would go a long way to continuing the case for National Parks and 

ensuring people are aware of their benefits.  

 

Regarding Objective 3: What is a sustainable livelihood? 

(https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-10-0983-9_5) 

P
age 289

https://www.nationaltrust.org.uk/50-things-to-do%20/
https://www.yha.org.uk/generationgreen
https://www.rspb.org.uk/fun-and-learning/for-families/family-wild-challenge/activities/have-a-wild-sleepout%20/
https://www.rspb.org.uk/fun-and-learning/for-families/family-wild-challenge/activities/have-a-wild-sleepout%20/
https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-10-0983-9_5


Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

28 
 

 

5 Improving our air quality SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

Air quality not directly addressed although a key determinant of SAC feature condition and is a 

Natural resource (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/3/section/2/enacted) 

 

See NRW report on the Environmental Information Portal: Critical Levels for ammonia for all 

SSSI’s including those that underpin the National Ste Network and the locations of ancient 

woodlands and parklands that are known to be sensitive to nitrogen (ammonia) pollution. 

 

Other than this minimal air quality testing; need to improve intelligence on subject in National 

Park so build into ‘State of the Park’ project i.e., monitoring; research; scenario development and 

assessment… 

South West Wales   
1 Reducing health inequalities Objective2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and 

understand, the heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon 

Beacons. 

 

SP6: To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

 

Objective3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons 

benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

SP6: Do we need to target promotion of the Park as a Natural Health Service to those 

experiencing Health Inequalities? Or go further and explore ways of to proactively bring people 

facing health inequalities to the National Park and ensure we have facilities available for those 

experiencing health inequalities to visit the National Park?  

 

Objective 3: Is there a potential to go further and improve green infrastructure and associate 

facilities which would help to facilitate health benefits (e.g., PRoW – Miles for styles, active travel 

routes and access to waterways and bridleways etc.).  

2 Ensuring sustainable land management SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the natural 

environment of the National Park. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

 

SP1: Only if SMNR is considered in the context of the National Park designation would land 

management be able to be considered ‘sustainable’ in the National Park. 

 

SP3: Focusses on the agricultural community; there are also other land-uses e.g., Forestry and 

sectors (public sector / NGO including our own land management) with whom we need to work 

with to ensure that land management in the National Park is sustainable.  

 

FPO1: Detail will be needed through the green growth strategy: will this be Natural Capital 

approach (Palladium?) and be based on the benefits of the National Park designation. 

3 Reversing the decline of, and enhancing, biodiversity Objective1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and 

resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce 

flood risk, and maintain those improvements. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net 

benefit for biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, 

demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and 

communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National 

Park. 

 

SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the 

Historic Environment working with objectives around nature recovery. 

 

 

Include biodiversity within Objective 1? See RSPB / Cardiff Uni Biodiversity and the Area Based 

Approach: 

http://orca.cf.ac.uk/113208/7/CU_RSPB_2018_Biodiv_Area_Statements_Full_Report.pdf 

 

Alternatively, add a specific Strategic Policy on improving biodiversity, species and nature 

recovery? in addition to landscape / as an aspect of landscape.  

4 Cross-cutting theme: Mitigating and adapting to a changing climate SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of 

Natural Resources based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers. 

 

SMNR (resilient ecological networks are an important means of mitigating the impact of climate 

change on people and biodiversity but this is not their focus).  

 

Include a strategic policy on Nature Based Solutions and other management measures as a means 

of mitigating the consequences of intense weather events – also need to build into monitoring / 

P
age 290



Appendix 3 – Identification of options at Vision and Objectives Stage. 

29 
 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net 

benefit for biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, 

demonstrating carbon neutrality where relevant. 

 

citizen science of weather events and their impacts on people, biodiversity, the landscape and 

environmental conditions.  

 

Decarbonisation only not currently in an objective or strategic policy. Include strategic policy 

either on carbon budgeting on taking achievable steps to decarbonise rapidly.  

 

Further room for improvement: 

• Strategic policy on decarbonisation of the National Park (i.e., as an authority and of 

visitor activities we promote, projects we undertake and all partnership activity). 

• Strategic policy on green energy (NDF mandates a Brecon Heat Network: Work with 

WPD / Community energy audits?) 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 291



Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

30 
 

CCW NPMP guidance 2007 

CCW NPMP guidance 2007 (Page 19)   
Issues relating to climate change   
Issues relating to the delivery of international, national, regional and local 

policies within the National Park, and the potential for conflict between these 

policy areas if not orchestrated and filtered through the National Park 

Management Plan. 

 

(Practically every aspect of policy has the potential to affect the Parks, from 

future water resource proposals and policies for renewable energy at the 

national and regional level, to transport and economic development policies 

which may not necessarily take full account of the purposes for which the 

National Parks were designated.) 

 

See response to Valued and Resilient See response to Valued and Resilient 

Issues raised by the review of evidence As per option suite 1 As per option suite 1 

Issues arising from the monitoring of the National Park Management Plan and 

key indicators set out in the State of the Park Report 

As per option suite 1 As per option suite 1 

Issues identified through other relevant plans and strategies, which should be 

highlighted by partners during the process of plan preparation. 

  

Issues identified through participation of stakeholders and National Park 

communities and visitors in the preparation of the Plan 

  

CHECKLIST OF TOPICS (Page 22)   

Sustainable development Objectives 1 – 3 are the Authority’s Well-being Objectives 

Together with the strategic policies and future policy objectives, these are 

intended as a response to Sustainable Development.  

 

Consider including within the introduction of the Management Plan a statement on how 

the NPA sees sustainable development within the context of a National Park: 

i.e., Development which brings multiple benefits appropriate to the strategic context of 

the National Park designation and purposes. 

Climate change SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net benefit for 

biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, demonstrating carbon 

neutrality where relevant. 

 

SMNR (resilient ecological networks are an important means of mitigating the impact of 

climate change on people and biodiversity but this is not their focus).  

 

Include a strategic policy on Nature Based Solutions and other management measures 

as a means of mitigating the consequences of intense weather events – also need to 

build into monitoring / citizen science of weather events and their impacts on people, 

biodiversity, the landscape and environmental conditions.  

 

Decarbonisation only not currently in an objective or strategic policy. Include strategic 

policy either on carbon budgeting on taking achievable steps to decarbonise rapidly.  

 

Further room for improvement: 

• Strategic policy on decarbonisation of the National Park (i.e., as an authority 

and of visitor activities we promote, projects we undertake and all partnership activity). 

• Strategic policy on green energy (NDF mandates a Brecon Heat Network: 

Work with WPD / Community energy audits?) 

Landscape character Objective1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient 

landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

 

Consider a strategic landscape policy and make more of our landscape work and 

monitoring: 

 NRW landscape evidence incl. LANDMAP 

 BBNPA LCA 

 LDU level 2 study and condition reporting 

 LNP ecological network mapping project 

 Culturescapes work / Geopark  

 

Consider making more of our IUCN status and membership and resources and 

opportunities presented by landscape networks such as Europarcs Atlantic Isles, 

Europarcs, National Parks UK / SNPS and the Designated Landscapes partnership.  

 

Wildlife / biodiversity Objective1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient 

landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

Include biodiversity within Objective 1? See RSPB / Cardiff Uni Biodiversity and the 

Area Based Approach: 

http://orca.cf.ac.uk/113208/7/CU_RSPB_2018_Biodiv_Area_Statements_Full_Report.pdf 

 

P
age 292

http://orca.cf.ac.uk/113208/7/CU_RSPB_2018_Biodiv_Area_Statements_Full_Report.pdf


Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

31 
 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce flood risk, 

and maintain those improvements. 

 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net benefit for 

biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, demonstrating carbon 

neutrality where relevant. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and communication 

linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park. 

 

SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the Historic 

Environment working with objectives around nature recovery. 

 

Alternatively, add a specific Strategic Policy on improving biodiversity, species and 

nature recovery? 

 

It appears the focus of Policy is on improving habitats / environmental conditions as a 

means of supporting wildlife. Explain the theory of why we are not working specifically 

towards endemic / emblematic species goals? 

 

Link with BIS project on iconic species of the BBNP and work toward their success and 

as a tangible way of helping people connect with nature.  Explain the means by which we 

will do this in our role as competent authority / as consultee to statutory processes / in 

carrying out land management practices. 

Geodiversity Objective: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient 

landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural Resources 

based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land managers. 

 

Perhaps an omission? 

 

Include strategic policy on geodiversity of the National Park or include within strategic 

policy on landscape character and our understanding of the National Park? 

Link with: 

 Geopark and management partnerships; 

 Culturescapes; 

 Cultural heritage; 

 Education and interpretation; 

 Regulatory role and as consultee; 

 Research and monitoring.  

 

Woodlands SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

SMNR is primarily about resilient ecological networks. Perhaps a separate strategic 

policy on forestry and woodland creation in the National Park or to work towards a 

concordat with WG and NRW as is in place in England. Recent landscape work 

highlights the impact of the forestry in the landscape and ERAMMP has a great evidence 

base for the Welsh National Forest: https://erammp.wales/en/r-forest-evidence 

 

Consider the role of woodlands delivering multiple benefits (recreation, biodiversity, 

landscape enhancement, water attenuation etc.) and building resilient ecological 

networks depending on where they are? 

 

How will we play our role as statutory consultee to forestry EIA? Planning permission 

for community facilities in community woodlands? Convenor for special projects e.g., 

black poplar at Pencelli? Payments for ecosystems services? 

 

Management of common land Objective1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient 

landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

Perhaps an omission? 

 

Include strategic policy on how we will engage with common land to deliver SMNR: 

 On land owned by the BBNPA (incl. site management plans) 

 On common land within the NP not owned by the NPA (as open access land / 

historic environment / biodiversity / landscape). 

 

Or is this part of the green growth strategy with PES at its heart?  

 

Remoteness and tranquillity Objective: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons. 

Perhaps an omission? Or does this form part of the special qualities?  

 

Include within monitoring section – tranquillity is a key special quality – NRW are 

linking this with Dark Skies. 

 

P
age 293

https://erammp.wales/en/r-forest-evidence


Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

32 
 

How does this relate with our statutory (Section 4?) map? How will our role as 

regulator / consultee help achieve this and what is the interaction which changes to 

access legislation mean?  

 

Natural resources of air, soil and water Objective1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient 

landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

 

SP2: To return our protected water bodies to good status, reduce flood risk, 

and maintain those improvements. 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the Sustainable 

Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the natural environment of the 

National Park. 

 

Although natural resources are defined in Env (Wales) Act 2016, SMNR does not 

specifically mention them. Perhaps include a page (alongside sustainable development) in 

the NPMP explaining what SMNR is about.  

Settlement pattern and built heritage Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the Historic 

Environment working with objectives around nature recovery. 

 

SP8 reads like an action rather than a policy, a plan could be developed within which 

settlement pattern and built heritage could feature. There is no policy on landscapes or 

on the historic built environment within the National Park which may be an omission 

given our historic towns and settlements and farmsteads and role as Local Planning 

Authority in their conservation and enhancement. This links into evidence underpinning 

planning decisions, the Historic Environment Partnership and the way in which we will 

seek to make the most of them. What is the interaction of this with place planning? E.g., 

Hay Castle? And the Hay Town Plan?  Perhaps policy SP8 could be broadened?  

Archaeology and historic landscapes Objective 1: To re-establish a connected network of species rich and resilient 

landscapes across the Brecon Beacons. 

 

Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP8: Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the Historic 

Environment working with objectives around nature recovery. 

 

SP8 reads like an action rather than a policy, a plan could be developed within which 

archaeology and the historic landscape could feature – but should an integrated 

approach not be proposed drawing on the landscape as a means of inspiration and 

learning about the cultural heritage on the places in the National Park?  

Social history / customs and traditions Not directly addressed. Opportunity to address within SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education 

and communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park if broadened and 

less focussed on Nature Recovery.  

Association with the arts Not directly addressed. Opportunity to address within SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education 

and communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park if broadened and 

less focussed on Nature Recovery and included through the promotion of the arts. . 

Awareness raising amongst partners and stakeholders, local communities and 

wider Wales, about the National Park, its special qualities, the opportunities 

that it offers, the threats facing it, and its fragility. 

Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons.  

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and communication 

linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park 

Opportunity to address within SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education 

and communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park if broadened and 

less focussed on Nature Recovery. 

 

This should also promote the National Parks Movement (BBNPS / CNP) and the benefit 

and opportunities brought to the area through our association e.g., with the IUCN, 

Europarcs and NPUK.  

 

Interpretation and education focusing on increasing understanding of the special 

qualities of the National Park. 

Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons.  

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and communication 

linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park 

Opportunity to address within SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education 

and communication linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park if broadened and 

less focussed on Nature Recovery and more broadly on Special Qualities? 

 

Recreation provision and the opportunities for quiet enjoyment offered by the 

rights of way network and open countryside, as well as opportunities for other 

sports and recreational pursuits. 

Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons. 

 

SP6: To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

 

Not directly addressed. Appropriate recreation (and the associated health and wellbeing 

benefits) was the purpose for National Parks. However, it does not remain front and 

foremost. PRoW and access land are key as is development control to maintain the 

quality of the environment from which the benefits may be realised.  

 

P
age 294



Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

33 
 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

Include an additional strategic policy on support and infrastructure for appropriate 

recreational opportunities in the National Park and make this a key driver of green 

growth and means of deriving health benefits. Also linking with a National Park 

‘experience’ whereby interpretation and education is delivered on top. 

 

Visitor patterns and management including trends in visitor use and the 

addressing of management issues. 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

This depends on the NPAs comprehension and understanding of what a National Park. 

Placing the national benefits of the National Park first and foremost leads to a much 

different place-based interpretation of SMNR (i.e., sustainable yield management of 

cultural ecosystem services) i.e., understanding our primary role is to manage the 

interaction of visitors and the special qualities of the National Park through appropriate 

interventions. Other models of SMNR (depending on interest) set the balance of 

ecosystem services towards their ends (e.g., Dwr Cymru on provisioning ecosystem 

services first and foremost – e.g., Mega Catchment). Where does the NPA need to get 

involved (place its multi-disciplinary resource and efforts) to pursue the NP purposes 

and what portfolio of projects and partnerships does this look like?  

SMNR could mean a focus on managing pressure on: 

 PRoW 

 Waterfall Country 

 PenyFan 

 Llangors lake 

 Llanthony 

 Towns… 

 

Tourism trends, markets, accommodation and attractions as informed by 

regional and more local tourism surveys and strategies, including those for the 

National Park, and the opportunities for promoting sustainable tourism that 

help underpin the first purpose. 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

Appropriate Tourism (i.e., aligned with NP ethos and Park Purposes and which is 

accessible to all) could be mentioned specifically within FPO1 – Tourism is indirect 

payment for ecosystem services….i.e., the landscape is the draw – the tourist economy 

is built on the back of it. 

Social inclusion and opportunities for enjoyment of the National Park by the less 

able and socially excluded, from both within and outside the Park. 

Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons.  

 

SP5: To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of accessing the 

Park for our visitors. 

 

SP6: To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service. 

 

SP7: To develop a programme of interpretation, education and communication 

linked to nature recovery projects in the National Park 

 

Nothing directly on access for all or disabled people or socially excluded. Objective 2 

could be reworded. SP5 could be broadened to ensure sustainable and accessible travel 

is included. Accessibility requires facilities e.g., Changing places and toilets – but also 

means being financially accessible.  

 

SP6: Needs to ensure that those who may benefit from the Natural Health Service can 

access the benefits: What are the barriers to accessing? Equipment? Affordable 

accommodation? Feelings of exclusion / relative poverty exacerbated when visiting the 

National Park?  

 

SP7: Why linked to Nature Recovery projects? Landscape as a whole? Why not 

understanding and enjoyment (which are linked the more you understand the more you 

can take enjoyment) as in our purpose?  

Accessing the National Park and associated transport issues, especially for those 

who do not have access to a private car. 

Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons.  

 

SP5: To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of accessing the 

Park for our visitors. 

 

Consider the wording of SP5: Accessible Public Transport to and within the National 

Park from key hubs and to key opportunities to explore the National Park.  

 

 

Transport Objective 2: To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand, the 

heritage, places and special qualities of the Brecon Beacons.  

 

SP5: To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of accessing the 

Park for our visitors. 

 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO2: To enable and support community development of Place Plans with the 

aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

 

SP5 could be broadened to ensure sustainable and accessible travel is included. 

Accessibility requires facilities e.g., Changing places and toilets – but also means being 

financially accessible. Transportation within the National Park (with the likely changes to 

access legislation) may be a great opportunity.   

P
age 295



Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

34 
 

Agriculture SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the Sustainable 

Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the natural environment of the 

National Park. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

SP3: Should we not also work with the Welsh Government as scheme designers? But 

also with those designing PES schemes. Our value will be as multi-disciplinary approach 

and to highlight the distinctiveness of issued driven by the designation (i.e., same 

argument as SMNR argument that the National Park needs to be different). There is 

also a role in traditional skills and responding to the recommended management 

strategies in the recent landscapes work.  

 

The role of the market (farm purchases) and whether the planning system facilitates 

development in rural areas (incl. the conversion of farms to homes/ holiday business 

rather than diversification) and insodoing compromising agricultural opportunities are 

key interactions as will be the relationship with the Ecological Networks Mapping and 

PRoW Improvement Plans.  

 

SP1 – What’s our view of SMNR and why the focus on ‘based solutions for climate 

change’? SP3 – Why natural environment? FPO1 – What is the green growth strategy?  

Sustainable tourism Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

What is sustainable tourism – where the multiple benefits derived by those visiting 

deliver benefits also for the places they visit – e.g., pay for environmental enhancements, 

are respectful of local communities and support jobs paying sufficiently for people 

working in them to live close to where they work? 

 

Objective 3 – What is a sustainable livelihood in the context of the BBNP? Why is the 

green growth strategy focussed on PES? What about addressing wage depression and 

wealth inequality? i.e., should this be focussed on skills development and be much 

broader than just economic return?  

Reflecting on the character of the wider rural economy within the Park and its 

fit with the delivery of the National Park purposes and maintenance of the 

economic and social well-being of local communities. 

SP1: To make the Park an exemplar of Sustainable Management of Natural 

Resources based solutions for climate change working collaboratively with land 

managers. 

 

SP3: To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the Sustainable 

Farming Scheme delivers the best outcomes for the natural environment of the 

National Park. 

 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

Maintenance of economic and social well-being? Are they in a fit state to be maintained? 

How does the economy progress the NP’s key competitive advantage – that it’s a NP 

without detracting from its quality as a common pool resource – is a very sensitive 

balance and is the reason we are a Planning Authority. It is easy to capitalise on a NP 

location right up until the point that the reason we are a NP and our Special Qualities 

have been eroded so much that our purpose as a National Park can no longer be 

fulfilled although this would not be of concern to those having capitalised and exited. 

Longevity.  

The retention of social capital Not addressed.  Whilst conserving and enhancing cultural ‘heritage’ is a purpose of the NP – to what 

extent should the authority try and intervene in / engineer any particular future ‘social 

capital’ over any other?   

The provision of local services and facilities Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO2: To enable and support community development of Place Plans with the 

aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

What about visitor infrastructure, services and facilities? Why the focus on people living 

and working in the National Park at the exclusion of our visitors? Consider changing the 

wording of Objective 3 and FPO2 so that they support more broadly the infrastructure 

which would benefit our visitors (i.e., be of national benefit) as well communities within 

the National Park.  

Addressing the need for affordable housing Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO2: To enable and support community development of Place Plans with the 

aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

Need for affordable housing not directly mentioned in any of the SP. Need to define 

which need we are trying to address within the National Park and the role of the 

National Park to accommodate it within the current housing / investment property 

markets largely unfettered, wage stagnation and demographic profile. 

Promoting the role of market towns within the Parks as sustainable 

communities with opportunities for sustainable business development that can 

help support the economic / social well-being of the Park 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO2: To enable and support community development of Place Plans with the 

aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

Nothing specifically mentioned on role of Towns within the National Park. This is 

important as could bring a distinctive element to the strategic policies and future policy 

objectives. 

Renewable energy and self-sufficiency with support for bottom-up approaches 

to meeting local energy and natural resource needs, of a scale and type 

appropriate to their locality. Indeed, the emphasis on self-sufficient communities 

SP4: To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net benefit for 

biodiversity and provides broader environmental net-gain, demonstrating carbon 

neutrality where relevant. 

 

Potential for SP4 to be more directive and proactive i.e., to support communities to 

become self-sufficient in terms of energy generations… 

Potential to broaden FPO2 to encompass self-sustaining communities but must also be 

able to cater for visitors similarly.  

P
age 296



Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

35 
 

as part of the sustainable development agenda for National Parks should be an 

important goal. 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO2: To enable and support community development of Place Plans with the 

aim of developing 20-minute communities. 

Promotion of rural skills and training that link to the delivery of the National 

Park purposes. 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

What are the place-based skills? And how can we incorporate them within the green 

growth strategy? 

 Ecology 

 Geology 

 Landscape 

 Archaeology 

 Landscape Architecture 

 Building conservation / traditional materials 

 Traditional management practices 

 Sustainable land management practices 

 Arts / film making 

 Mountain leading 

 Partnership working 

 Tourism and hospitality 

 Caring 

 Environmental Assessment 

 Project management 

 

What are the non-place-based skills which would help the National Park?  

 

How do we build these skills and training into the green growth strategy? Does PES 

need to be at its heart?  

 

How to respond to the changing nature of rural economies and communities 

with only a small proportion of local communities actively engaged in traditional 

rural industries? 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

Consider the role of traditional rural industries and our involvement with them as NPA? 

Talgarth Mill example? 

Some very difficult questions will arise. How can we conserve the cultural heritage? 

Keep the traditional industry afloat? Or film/ record it whilst it is still happening?  

How to support local micro-businesses that directly link to the delivery of the 

park purposes? 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

This goes back to SMNR question and if micro-businesses (need definition) depend on 

the National Park – is the best thing we can do not to pursue our purposes to maintain 

their competitive advantage rather than trying to support them each directly and 

individually? This also feeds into the green growth strategy which should perhaps be 

broader in scope than focussing on PES?  

How to keep money recycling in the local economy, especially in ways that help 

support the delivery of the park purposes? 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

This goes back to SMNR question and if micro-businesses (need definition) depend on 

the National Park – is the best thing we can do not to pursue our purposes to maintain 

their competitive advantage rather than trying to support them each directly and 

individually? This also feeds into the green growth strategy which should perhaps be 

broader in scope than focussing on PES? 

How to maintain and strengthen those networks and mutual support systems 

that are so essential to the vitality and survival of rural communities? 

Not addressed.  Governance – by speaking and involving them in the National Park and the Authority’s 

business and thereby maintaining their relevance for people? Accepting the vitality and 

survival of communities will be impacted by socio-economic and political issues much 

more than the actions and delivery of the National Park Authority.  

How to raise understanding of the major economic contribution made by the 

National Park to the region in which it sits? 

Objective 3: To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit 

from sustainable livelihoods and green infrastructure. 

 

FPO1: To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with 

Payments for Ecosystem Services at its heart. 

FPO1: This should draw on the strengths of the National Park designation and work 

with rather than against them when feeding into regional and national economic 

development programmes (e.g., Growing Mid Wales). Our focus should perhaps be on 

payments for Cultural Ecosystem Services (e.g., tourism) with focusses also outlined for 

provisioning, regulating and sustaining ecosystem services.  

Mention of planning within the Management Plan is only necessary where it 

concerns setting the policy context in which the Local Development Plan will 

operate. 

Noted. Noted. 

P
age 297



Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

36 
 

NPMP Option 2 – which emerged from Gap analysis above 

Mindful of: SoNaRR - SMNR 

 Sustainable stocks of Natural Resources 

 Resilient ecosystems 

 Healthy places 

 Regenerative economy 

 
NPMP 

Definition of 

Nat Park 

contribution 

to Sustainable 

Development 

Within the context proved by our designation and recognition by the IUCN as a Category V Protected Area, the term sustainable development is to 

be taken to mean development enabling people to benefit from cultural ecosystem services which are derived from accessing and enhancing their 

understanding of landscape. geodiversity, natural processes and landforms, wildlife, cultural heritage and community life in the National Park in ways 

which enable future generations to benefit equally from the cultural ecosystem services within the National Park. 

 

Objectives  To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

 To promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the Brecon Beacons National Park by the public. 

 To ensure appropriate (nationally important) recreational infrastructure and services provided by the National Park Authority are delivered  in ways 

which also benefit local communities. 

 

Outcomes  Enhanced natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage providing sustainable cultural ecosystem services. 

 The public will be able to access, understand and enjoy what makes the national park special. 

 That local communities benefit from the National Park designation.  

 

Policies Within the context proved by our designation and recognition by the IUCN as a Category V Protected Area, we will: 

  work in partnership to promote and tell the enduring story of the national park movement, why national parks remain so relevant today and 

what might become of the Brecon Beacons landscape in the future 

  establish protocols for our partnership working based on THE SDG PARTNERSHIP GUIDEBOOK 

  develop an engagement and involvement strategy with opportunities for people to contribute to the success of the National Park 

  communicate the extent of the National Park Authority’s powers so that local communities and visitors are aware that many of the issues 

faced within the National Park are the result of much broader political / socio-economic factors and decisions 

  work in partnership to develop policies for organisational development, project development and resource allocation 

  help facilitate rapid decarbonisation within the National Park and, as an organisation, act to ensure that the carbon intensity of our 

operations, the recreational and educational activities we promote, the projects we undertake and our partnership activities are minimised 

  work in partnership to promote the everyday use of Welsh and awareness of the Welsh language 

  promote the Brecon Beacons Park Society, the Campaign for National Parks and  the UK National Parks Charity Foundation (as charities 

supporting the national parks movement).  

P
age 298

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/26627SDG_Partnership_Guidebook_0.95_web.pdf


Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

37 
 

  support the profile of the huge number of charities aligned with our values and who provide such excellent services and facilities and to 

whom we are grateful for undertaking such fantastic work in the Brecon Beacons National Park 

  

 Within the context proved by our designation and recognition by the IUCN as a Category V Protected Area, we will: 

  work to share with local communities and visitors, the educational opportunities presented by our membership of EUROPARC Atlantic Isles 

and by the many organisations providing opportunities for people to connect with nature, unearth the rich cultural heritage and explore the 

landscape, geodiversity and natural processes in the National Park 

  work with partners to: 

• communicate citizen science opportunities which aid our understanding of the National Park; 

• map and collate a directory of environmental and socio/economic data and monitoring activity in the National Park; 

• develop and maintain an accessible evidence base to inform policy and decision making in the National Park; 

• ensure the National Park Research Partnership benefits local communities and visitors; and 

• identify priorities and gain funding for implementing the National Park research prospectus. 

  work with local communities and in partnership with organisations to explore ways of supporting and recording cultural events and 

community-based arts and sporting activities and life in the National Park 

  

 Within the context proved by our designation and recognition by the IUCN as a Category V Protected Area, we will: 

  work in our formal role as an Authority and with partners and across a portfolio of projects and assessment processes to maintain and 

enhance the landscape character, natural beauty, tranquillity and dark skies of the National Park  

  work in partnership to enhance the interpretation, accessibility, condition, recording and monitoring of the historic environment, to research 

and tell the story of time-deep local cultural heritage and of how the historic environment and cultural heritage have each been shaped by 

the geodiversity, landforms and natural processes found within the National Park 

  act to maintain and enhance the resilience of ecosystems so the benefits they provide are sustainable and available for future generations to 

enjoy.  

  use, and advocate the use of, natural resources* in a way and at a rate which acts to halt biodiversity loss and helps to re-establish a resilient 

network of ecosystems across the National Park. 

*As defined by Environment (Wales) Act 2016 

  prioritise nature-based solutions and low-carbon interventions as a means of mitigating the consequences of extreme and prolonged 

unseasonal weather conditions 

  work in partnership to ensure that the target levels of Phosphorus within Welsh River SACs are met and maintained thereafter 

  work with partners towards the aim of halting biodiversity loss and re-establishing a resilient network of ecosystems supporting sustainable 

populations of priority species and birds 

  advocate, practice and work in partnership to support sustainable land management and appropriate traditional management practices across 

all land-use sectors within the National Park 

  work in partnership to ensure common land is managed sustainably 

  work in partnership to deliver multiple benefits from restoring and maintaining peatland within the National Park 

P
age 299



Appendix 3 – Identification of alternatives at Vision and Objectives stage 

38 
 

  work in partnership with the National Designated Landscape Partnership to develop a concordat with WG and NRW on forestry and 

woodland creation in the National Park and to influence future payment schemes for public goods 

  

 Within the context proved by our designation and recognition by the IUCN as a Category V Protected Area, we will: 

  work in partnership to ensure the sustainability of National Park’s cultural ecosystem services so they may be enjoyed by current and future 

generations 

  work with partners across a portfolio of projects to monitor, manage and address the impact of people pursuing recreational activities on 

the special qualities of the National Park through appropriate enhancement projects, with accessibility a key consideration 

  work with local communities and in partnership with organisations to ensure that the provision for accessible recreation in the National Park 

is expanded and that existing provision is enhanced appropriately communicated 

  work in partnership to support actions that will encourage people to use sustainable and accessible means of transportation and to make the 

most of our Public Rights of Way as an active way to enjoy the National Park 

  work in partnership to promote the health benefits which may be gained from time spent perusing recreational activities within the Brecon 

Beacons National Park 

  help communities decarbonise and achieve their aspirations for accessible local development, land-use and service provision through place 

planning activity 

  work in partnership to maximise the benefits of the UNESCO Geopark, World Heritage Site and International Dark-Sky Association Dark 

Skies Reserve Status 

  work in partnership to develop a ‘green growth’ economic and skills strategy for the National Park making the most of the National Park’s 

designation as its key competitive advantage without detracting from its special qualities and to advocate its incorporation in national, 

regional and local sustainable economic development and skills strategies 

  work in partnership to demonstrate appropriate traditional land management practices on land owned by the National Park Authority 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 work with local communities and in partnership with organisations to ensure appropriate and accessible infrastructure and facilities so that 

all people can enjoy the National Park. 

Our focus will be on:  

• Information provided on the National Park Authority’s website; 

• The National Park Visitor Centre and Craig y Nos Country Park; 

• The extensive network of Public Rights of Way and Open Access Land; 

• Picnic sites; 

• Parking provision; and, 

• Developing a network of seasonal camp sites. 

P
age 300



Appendix 4 – Interrelationships in Mission Objective/Delivery  

39 
 

Appendix 4 – Interrelationships in Mission Objective/Delivery  

 

Mission Objective 






 = Direct correlation  

 = Indirect correlation 

 D
e

ca
rb

o
n

is
at

io
n

 

Se
q

u
e

st
ra

ti
o

n
 

A
d

ap
ta

ti
o

n
 

R
e

si
lie

n
t 

C
at

ch
m

e
n

ts
 

H
ig

h
 q

u
al

it
y 

w
at

e
r 

e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

ts
 

H
ab

it
at

 r
e

co
ve

ry
 

Sp
e

ci
e

s 
C

o
n

se
rv

at
io

n
 

Ec
o

sy
st

e
m

 M
an

ag
e

m
e

n
t 

Q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
lif

e
 

Fu
tu

re
 V

is
it

o
rs

 

W
e

ls
h

 L
an

gu
a

ge
 a

n
d

 C
u

lt
u

re
 

Su
st

ai
n

ab
le

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

e
s 

C
o

lla
b

o
ra

ti
n

g 
in

 p
la

ce
 

Climate Decarbonisation: The national park will maximise effort toward or Beyond our fair 
share of action to halve global Emissions by 2030, in line with The paris agreement’s 
goal of limiting global Temperature rises to 1.5 degrees.  

           

Sequestration Action will be happening across the national park To restore nature’s 
ability to capture carbon from The atmosphere, in line with the climate change 
Committee’s sixth carbon budget recommendations on Agriculture, land use, land use 
change and forestry  

         

Adaptation: People and nature will be more resilient to the unavoidable impacts of 
climate destabilisation, in line with prosperity for all, the climate change adaptation 
plan for Wales 

         

Water Resilient catchments supporting the provision of clean and sustainable water 
resources for the Brecon Beacons and beyond  

            

High quality water environments  ensuring that the health and wellbeing Benefits 
gained from high quality, nature Rich, water environments can be experienced by all 
who live within and visit the Bannau.   

          

Nature Habitat recovery all major habitats in the national park, including grassland, native 
woodland, upland heathland, and peatland, will be on a pathway to net biodiversity 
gain 

           

Species conservation Flagship species, that are emblematic of the national park or 
specific habitats ,are increasing in numbers and extent-- including reintroductions of 
indigenous species where appropriate consents and safeguards are met 

         

P
age 301



Appendix 4 – Interrelationships in Mission Objective/Delivery  

40 
 

Mission Objective 






 = Direct correlation  

 = Indirect correlation 

 D
e

ca
rb

o
n

is
at

io
n

 

Se
q

u
e

st
ra

ti
o

n
 

A
d

ap
ta

ti
o

n
 

R
e

si
lie

n
t 

C
at

ch
m

e
n

ts
 

H
ig

h
 q

u
al

it
y 

w
at

e
r 

e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

ts
 

H
ab

it
at

 r
e

co
ve

ry
 

Sp
e

ci
e

s 
C

o
n

se
rv

at
io

n
 

Ec
o

sy
st

e
m

 M
an

ag
e

m
e

n
t 

Q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
lif

e
 

Fu
tu

re
 V

is
it

o
rs

 

W
e

ls
h

 L
an

gu
a

ge
 a

n
d

 C
u

lt
u

re
 

Su
st

ai
n

ab
le

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

e
s 

C
o

lla
b

o
ra

ti
n

g 
in

 p
la

ce
 

Ecosystem Management Ecosystem functions and ecosystem service generated by 
the Park are enhanced 

         

People Quality of life Improving the quality of life and well-being for all those who live work 
and play in y Bannau. 

          

Future Visitors We will have become the torchbearers for sustainable tourism 
.Visiting the Brecon Beacons provides a unique experience, which enhances support 
for nature recovery, community wellbeing and the local economy. Visitors will know 
our story and be motivated to help us respond to key challenges, especially through 
their own actions and behaviour. 

        

Welsh culture and language: Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated as part of the 
Rich tapestry of cultural lives of Wales. There is an increased awareness and 
knowledge of the Welsh Language and culture amongst our residents and visitors . 
Welsh language and culture is loved and valued by all regardless of level of language 
fluency 

        

Sustainable businesses There will be a support network of businesses dedicated to 
building a local sustainable and equitable economy within the Bannau 

        

Place Collaborating in place innovative collaborative action focused on a range of spatial 
areas to co-produce responses to the nature, climate and economic crises.  

             

P
age 302



Appendix 5 – National Park Authority Contributions in Mission Objective/Delivery  

41 
 

 

Appendix 5 – NPA contributions in Mission Objective/Delivery  

 

MISSION Climate Change Nature Recovery Water People  Place 

Contribution 1 We will embed 

decarbonisation into all 

activities within the BBNPA - 

including our land and 

building management, 

transport, energy, 

procurement, policies and 

procedures. We will support 

our staff and members to do 

the same at work and at 

home.  

We will embed nature 

recovery and the 

conservation of our living 

landscape in all our activities 

within the BBNPA, building 

on our role of conservation 

and protection to become 

beacons for nature repair and 

recovery in all that we do. 

We will prioritise water and 

our water systesm in all our 

activties at the BBNPA and 

work with our staff and 

stakeholders to share the 

importance of the Water 

mission for all. 

We will embed wellbeing in 

all that we do - we will 

prioritise equality, diversity 

and inclusion. We will ensure 

our policies and procedures 

are aligned with our priorities 

of sustainability, inclusion and  

supporting the local 

economy. 

We will use our data and 

evidence to map and 

understand the places that we 

own and manage, so that we 

can engage with those who 

work with us in these places 

to manage them for people, 

heritage and nature recovery. 

Contribution 2 We will work with experts to 

develop both a Net Zero Plan 

and a Climate Adaptation 

Plan for the BBNP, we will 

bring the best evidence 

available and share it with all 

stakeholders so they can be 

informed and have the data 

they need to act. 

We will be exemplars 

through prioritising the 

protection and recovery of 

our own land for nature 

recovery and target our 

support in priority protected 

species, habitats and 

ecosystems within the park 

e.g. SSSIs and SACs. 

We will be exemplars in 

establishing the Usk 

Catchment partnership to 

lead in the full ecological 

recovery of the catchment 

for water quality, nutrient 

management, water security, 

amenity, wildlife and 

ecosystem services. 

We will reach out to people 

to understand how they 

connect or not to the 

national park and learn how 

we can rebuild that 

connection. We will strive to 

remove the social and 

physical barriers to 

participation. 

We will work with 

communities within the 

National Park to develop 

place plans that build on the 

special characteristics of their 

area, to improve quality of 

life, support economic well 

being and enhance the built 

and natural environment. 

Contribution 3 We will build partnerships 

with, or support; businesses, 

communities, residents and 

visitor to develop and deliver 

fossil fuel reduction projects 

including, local; transport, 

energy, carbon capture and 

food solutions that can also 

generate local income, 

provide skills, training jobs 

and capacity. 

We will use our data and that 

of our partners and 

researchers to develop 

Nature Recovery Action 

Plans, prioritise species, 

habitats and ecosystems of 

the BBNP to protect and 

restore, and to monitor 

progress 

We will work in partnership 

to protect and enhance all 

our water systems within the 

BBNPA, rivers, lakes, canals, 

peatlands, marshes and 

wetlands for their role in 

nature recovery, climate 

change, flood protection, 

water provision and 

supporting the wellbeing of 

our communities and visitors. 

We will support the local 

economy through working to 

support local social 

enterprise, local procurement 

of the products and services 

we buy and through exploring 

models for income generation 

that will support 

communities, agriculture and 

nature to thrive e.g. payment 

for ecosystem services. 

We will ensure that the 

special places of the National 

Park - our Geopark, Dark 

Skies, World Heritage Site, 

Visitor Centres, places of 

importance for culture, 

heritage, recreation and 

protected environments - are 

managed to be inclusive, 

accessible and exemplars 

where nature and people 

connect and thrive together.  

P
age 303



Appendix 5 – National Park Authority Contributions in Mission Objective/Delivery  

42 
 

MISSION Climate Change Nature Recovery Water People  Place 

Contribution 4 We will seek to strengthen 

our policies, procurement 

and ways of working to 

proactively develop new ways 

to better support climate 

mitigation and adaptation 

action. By doing this we can 

remove barriers and provide 

drivers for ourselves and 

others to act, innovate with 

new technology and 

behaviours. 

We will establish partnerships 

with landowners and the 

agricultural sector to explore 

and establish regenerative 

farming and land management 

that also supports our rural 

economy and prepares us for 

the future. 

We will support 

communities, households, 

businesses and visitors to re-

connect to the blue landscape 

through the stories of history, 

culture and geology. We 

work in partnership with, and 

support, the agricultural 

sector to explore approaches 

to land management and 

practices that enable food 

production and ecological 

restoration to combine for 

the benefit of all. 

We will strengthen the 

connection of the BBNPA to 

our communities, 

landowners/graziers, 

businesses, residents and 

visitors through being more 

visible, offering support, 

sharing our expertise and 

seeking ways to collaborate.  

We will work in partnership 

to connect places and make 

connections within and 

beyond the National Park 

Boundaries. We will take the 

wonder of the National Park 

to people and we will help 

visitors, businesses and 

residents understand, 

celebrate and value the 

special qualities and places of 

the National Park. 

Contribution 5 We will share our knowledge 

and learning and will support 

those wishing to act on 

climate change to do so 

through the provision of 

advice, support, partnership 

and advocacy. We will work 

with the willing to drive 

forward new ideas and 

technologies, we will 

encourage and support those 

who are uncertain. 

We will work in partnership 

to share best practice tools 

and strategies, supporting 

everyone to understand how 

they can actively contribute 

towards conservation and 

nature recovery, including 

managing Invasive Non-Native 

Species. 

We will share the evidence 

and data so that we can all 

understand the impact our 

lives and behaviours have on 

our water, how we can 

protect our water-courses 

and ensure they can be 

enjoyed for years to come. 

We will celebrate and 

promote our Welsh language 

and culture. 

We will work in partnership 

to support the local economy 

and develop sustainable 

transport solutions that help 

create resilient and thriving 

places. 

 

 

P
age 304



1 
 

Habitats Regulations Assessment of the National Park Management Plan for National Park Authority on 16th December 

2022. 

 

1. Relevant background and introduction 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) is required to prepare a Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park (“the 

Plan”). The Plan being developed sets out how the BBNPA will work with other stakeholders to secure the National Park purposes.  

 

The Environment Act 1995 establishes two statutory purposes for the National Park; these frame the way in which all other responsibilities 

are delivered.  

 

The purposes are to: 

1. Conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage; and 

2. Promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of National Parks by the public. 

 
Any irreconcilable conflict between the purposes are to be resolved in favour of the purpose to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, 

wildlife and cultural heritage. 

 

In acting to deliver the purposes BBNPA should also find ways in which its work may help to foster the economic and social well-being of local 

communities within the Park (the Duty). 

 

BBNPA is party to a statement of confirmation made to the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN); the statement is the basis 

on which the Brecon Beacons National Park is recognised as a Category V protected area and included on the world database of protected 

areas. As a category V protected area, the IUCN can expect the BBNPA to give a high priority to the conservation of nature in the aims and 

objectives of the Plan. 

 

The Plan also sets out the BBNPA’s well-being objectives; helping to frame the contribution of the Brecon Beacons National Park to 

sustainable development in Wales. Furthermore, the Plan seeks to capture and deliver on the definition, objective and principles of the 

Sustainable Management of Natural Resources (SMNR). 

 

P
age 305



2 
 

For the purpose of an assessment of the Plan under the Habitats Regulations, it is relevant to note that the first part of the Plan introduces the 

Brecon Beacons National Park and defines the special qualities which may be found and experienced when visiting. The vision, objectives and 

outcomes along with the associated underpinning policies provide the main framework for management interventions. 

 

1.1 Results of 2010 NPMP HRA 

 

The Habitats Regulations Assessment of the existing Management Plan (2010, as amended in 2015) considered the potential for impacts for its 

Aims, Strategic Objectives and Actions. The assessment found the Plan as being highly protectionist and precautionary in relation to potential 

biodiversity impacts, providing clear policy protection and management actions designed to avoid effects on the Natura 2000 network and as 

having no significant effect on any of the European sites considered, either alone or in-combination with other plans. 

 

1.2 Habitats Regulations of plans generally 

 

The BBNPA is a competent authority under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), commonly referred to 

as the Habitats Regulations and must assess the Plan, before it is put into effect, as a matter of law (Regulation 63). 
 

This assessment is generally referred to as a ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’ or ‘HRA’ and the regulations set out a clearly defined stepwise 

process which must be followed. 

 

Under the regulations, HRA is required in respect of both ‘plans’ and ‘projects. Where a project is subject to assessment, there is generally 

sufficiently detailed project specific information against which to make a comprehensive assessment.  

 

However, a plan-based assessment is different; The Plan sets out broad intentions and lacking information which is available when a detailed 

projects are developed (this may not be until after the Plan has been published).  

 

As such, the HRA of a ‘plan’ is recognised to require a different approach to that of a ‘project’ and is tailored to the plan being assessed; 

assessments are made to the extent possible on the basis of the precision of the plan, but such an assessment cannot do more than the level of 

detail of the plan at that stage permits.  

 

Although plans are capable of significantly affecting Special Areas of Conservation (“SAC”) and therefore the National Sites Network (formerly 

‘European sites’), elements of a plan that are no more than general policy statements or which express the general political will of an authority 

cannot, generally, be likely to have a significant effect on a site.  

P
age 306



3 
 

2. The screening assessment 

 

This HRA follows the guidance set out in The Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook hereafter referred to as ‘The HRA Handbook’ and is 

based on the use of screening categories. (Tyldesley, D., and Chapman, C., (2013) The Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook, January 2021 

edition UK: DTA Publications Ltd.).  

 

The HRA Handbook states:  

 

‘It is acknowledged that in plan assessment or in considering options at an early stage the scanning and selection process may need to be quite 

‘coarse grained’, due to the lack of information about the precise nature of what may be proposed in the plan and how it might affect the 

qualifying features.’ 

 

‘…In almost all cases a scan of such sites will enable an appropriate ‘short-list’ of sites potentially affected to be drawn up, from which the final list 

of sites to be included in the assessment can be selected after considering the relevant information. Selection of the sites is an iterative process, 

considering and reconsidering information and effects as understanding and information improve, until there is a satisfactory degree of confidence 
that all sites potentially adversely affected have been selected….’  

 

‘… If there is no causal connection or link between the plan’s proposals and the site’s qualifying features there cannot be an effect. If there is a 

‘theoretical’ pathway, or ‘hypothetical’ cause, but in practice there is no credible evidence of a real rather than a hypothetical link to the site, it 

cannot be regarded as being potentially significant, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. There is no point including that 

supposition in further assessment.’  

 

To focus the assessment, it is important to identify those sites where there is credible evidence of a real risk sites from the Plan as currently 

drafted.  

 

Appendix 1 is a table containing the longlist of sites considered by this assessment (where at least part of the SAC is within 15km of the 

National Park boundary). The table also sets out the qualifying features and provides links to the conservation objectives as set out in the Core 

Management Plans for each of the SACs.  

 

Having identified the longlist and examined the issues, sites outside the National Park are omitted from the short list of sites potentially 

affected. The only hypothetical pathway identified was Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition for which there is no credible evidence of a real link 

between the Plan and the sites. 

P
age 307



4 
 

 

Twelve sites are shortlisted as potentially affected: 

 Blaen Cynon SAC 

 Brecon Beacons SAC 

 Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC 

 Coed y Cerrig SAC 

 Cwm Cadlan SAC 

 Cwm Clydach Woodlands SAC 

 Llangorse Lake/ Llyn Syfaddan SAC 

 River Usk SAC 

 River Wye SAC 

 Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC 

 Usk Bat Sites SAC 

 River Tywi SAC 

 

Table 1 summarises the mechanisms for impacts. 

 

Potential mechanisms for impacts are summarised as follows: 

Potential effects  Further comment  

All sites within plan area  These sites are recognised as being within the plan area, or are located in part or wholly within a 15km 

radius of the National Park meaning the potential for proximity related effects to occur should be taken 

into account. Such effects will only reasonably be identifiable in respect of geographically specific policies.  

Effects on mobile species  This recognises the potential for species to be impacted within land or sea out-with the boundary of a 

designated site, but functionally connected to the population for which the site has been designated.  

Recreational pressure  This impact mechanism is directly related to changes in recreational activities and usage patterns.  

Light/noise disturbance  This impact mechanism is directly related to changes in land use which might generate light pollution or 

additional noise.  

INNS This impact mechanism is indirectly related to changes in recreational activities and usage patterns. 

Table 1. Potential mechanisms for impacts on the shortlisted sites. 

 

 

P
age 308



5 
 

2.1 Screening the Management Plan for a likelihood of significant effects 

 

Having identified the sites which might potentially be affected, the screening stage considers each aspect of the Plan to identify whether it is: 

 

1. Exempt from the need for assessment (where a plan is directly connected with or necessary for the management of the site 

concerned);  

2. Excluded from the need for assessment (where a document under consideration is not a ‘plan’ within the context of the 

Habitats Regulations); 

3. Eliminated from the need for assessment (where it is obvious from the beginning that there is no conceivable effect upon any of 

the sites); 

4. Subject to assessment and screened out from further consideration (that is the case where an aspect of the plan is considered 

not ‘likely to have a significant effect on a site, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects’); or,  

5. Subject to assessment and screened in for further assessment (that is the case where an aspect of the plan is considered ‘likely 

to have a significant effect on a site, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects’) 

 
For elements of the Plan which are subject to assessment, the screening test requires a determination as to whether there would be a ‘likely 

significant effect on a site, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects’, or not. 

 

2.2 Screening the introductory sections of the Management Plan 

 

The introductory sections include background and contextual information, identify the special qualities of the National Park, and make 

statements about the ways of working which are envisaged to implement the Plan. These elements of the Plan cannot conceivably have any 

effects on a site and have been screened out of further assessment (Clause 3. Eliminated from the need for assessment (where it is obvious from the 

beginning that there is no conceivable effect upon any of the sites). 

 

2.3 Screening the policies of the Management Plan 

 

Used to screen the draft Plan policies, the ‘Screening categories’, taken from Part F of the HRA Handbook, are as follows: 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

B. Policy listing general criteria for testing the acceptability / sustainability of proposals (screened out). 

C. Proposal referred to but not proposed by the plan (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy (screened out). 

P
age 309



6 
 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

F. Policy that cannot lead to development or other change (screened out). 

G. Policy or proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site (screened out). 

H. Policy or proposal the (actual or theoretical) effects of which cannot undermine the conservation objectives (either alone or in 

combination with other aspects of this or other plans or projects) (screened out). 

I. Policy or proposal which may have a significant effect on a site alone (screened in) 

J. Policy or proposal with an effect on a site but unlikely to be significant alone, so need to check for likely significant effects in 

combination 

K. Policy or proposal unlikely to have a significant effect either alone or in combination (screened out after the in combination 

test). 

L. Policy or proposal which might be likely to have a significant effect in combination (screened in after the in combination test). 

M. Bespoke area, site or case specific policies or proposals intended to avoid or reduce harmful effects on a site (screened in). 

 

2.4 Screening conclusions  

 
All ‘Missions/Objectives’ were screened against these categories; details of which are provided in Appendix 2. Having screened the Plan 

policies against the screening categories from the HRA Handbook, all policies have been screened out of the need for further assessment 

reflecting the nature, drafting and purpose of Plan objectives and policies (Clause 4 - Subject to assessment and screened out from further 

consideration (that is the case where an aspect of the plan is considered not ‘likely to have a significant effect on a site, either alone or in combination with 

other plans and projects).  

 

The Plan concerns the management of the National Park and, given the wide responsibilities and duties which apply to the National park, it is 

anticipated that a management plan will generally be concerned with activities which are positive or neutral in terms of conserving and 

enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage features.  

 

The Missions and associated objectives are framed as high-level strategic aspirations which lack the level of specificity available at project 

development stage. It is therefore not possible to identify how the implementation of the Plan across the National Park might reasonably 

generate risks to individual sites.  

 

National Park Authority staff are familiar with balancing the enjoyment of the National Park by visitors with the overarching purposes. The 

level of involvement by staff with the way that the National Park is utilised, together with their experience in managing visitor pressure, 

provides the objective information upon which the assessment has been conducted. 

P
age 310



7 
 

 

Noting that it is not included in the Plan in response to any identified inherent risks to any particular designated site, it is important that 

appropriate text providing protection for the National Sites Network ‘either alone or in combination with other plans and projects’ is included 

in the Plan, highlighting the protection afforded to designated sites by the relevant legislative frameworks which apply. 

 

It is therefore the conclusion of this HRA that, with reference to the proposed additional text, and on the assumption that it is incorporated 

into any final version of the plan, the Plan will have no adverse effect on the integrity of any SAC identified in table 1.  

 

2.5 The need for further assessment in combination with other plans and projects 

 

The nature of the Plan limits the extent to which its effects can be subject to assessment under the Habitats Regulations. Such an assessment 

cannot do more than the level of detail available at that stage permits. For instance, there is no detailed timeframe within which any policy may 

be implemented, and the potential for in combination effects to arise with other plans and projects cannot reasonably be subject to any 

meaningful assessment at this stage.  

 
All policies were screened out against categories which conclude no likely significant effect either alone or in combination. This is on the basis 

that the policies will have no effects (or no conceivable effects) on SAC and such policies cannot therefore act in combination with other plans 

and projects meaning no in combination assessment work is required. 

 

The requirement for any proposed scheme to be subject to assessment alone and in combination with other plans and projects prior to 

implementation means that in combination effects will be subject to assessment at a later stage, when sufficient detail is available to enable the 

assessment to be undertaken in a meaningful manner. 

 

2.6 Overall conclusion  

 

The Plan has been subject to screening under the Habitats Regulations and has been considered in respect of the potential for likely significant 

effects upon any site identified in Appendix 1 of this document, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects.  

 

Following a preliminary screening, all aspects of the plan were screened as having no likely significant effect, either alone or in combination. 

The Plan will have no adverse effect on the integrity of any SAC identified on the shortlist of sites identified as potentially being affected.  

 

This outcome is not surprising given:  

P
age 311



8 
 

 The statutory purpose of the National Park and the Plan; 

 The statutory obligations of BBNPA; 

 That BBNPA is party to a statement of confirmation made to the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN); the statement 

being the basis on which the Brecon Beacons National Park is recognised as a Category V protected area and included on the world 

database of protected areas; and, 

 The exceptionally high standards of ecological expertise maintained within the staff body of the National Park Authority. 
 

P
age 312



9 
 

Appendix 1. Longlist of sites considered by this assessment (where at least part of the SAC is within 15km of the National Park boundary). 
 

 Special Area of 

Conservation 

Scanning and site selection 

1 Aberbargoed 
Grasslands SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 

 

The National Park is beyond the recommended 2km buffer for its mobile designated feature, the Marsh 
fritillary butterfly. Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC is also designated for its Purple moor-grass meadows habitat.  

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) 

identifies both features as being as among those most frequently adversely affected by air pollution (Table 1, 

page 9).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts 

from air pollution on Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce 

nitrogen deposition on sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the 

Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural 

point sources such as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions 

originating from large numbers motor vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which 

may need national scale or international scale interventions to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

2 Blaen Cynon SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

The Blaen Cynon SAC is designated for the Marsh fritillary butterfly. The SAC is recorded as having an issue 

relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic 

Action Plans:  

 Climate Change and Habitat Fragmentation (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Cross-Cutting Action Plans (2015) 

 

P
age 313

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030071.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030071.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/670637/Aberbargoed%20Grasslands%20Core%20SAC%20plan%20jan08.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0030092


10 
 

Bog 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 

3 Brecon Beacons SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Upland 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 

The Brecon Beacons SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Dry heaths. 

 Plants in crevices in base-rich rocks. 

 Plants in crevices on acid rocks. 

 Tall herb communities. 

 

The SAC is located within an area of open access land; which is heavily visited and is recorded as having an 

issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic 

Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 

4 Cernydd Carmel SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 
Bog 

 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National Park and has no mobile designated features. 

Cernydd Carmel SAC is designated for its:  

 Active raised bogs. 

 Dry heaths. 

 Wet heathland with cross-leaved heath. 

 Mixed woodland on base-rich soils associated with rocky slopes. 

 Turloughs. 

 

P
age 314

https://naturalresources.wales/media/671013/Blaen%20Cynon%20core%20management%20plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030096.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671043/Brecon%20Beacons%20SAC%20plan%20_Eng_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030070.pdf


11 
 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition 

(2015) identifies those features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to 

be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites (Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts 

from air pollution on Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce 

nitrogen deposition on sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the 

Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural 

point sources such as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions 

originating from large numbers motor vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which 

may need national scale or international scale interventions to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

5 Coedydd Nedd a 

Mellte SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 
categories: 

Woodland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 

The Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Mixed woodland on base-rich soils associated with rocky slopes. 

 Western acidic oak woodland. 

 

The SAC is located within an area promoted as ‘Waterfall Country’ and is heavily visited. The SAC is 

recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following 

Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

P
age 315

https://naturalresources.wales/media/671239/Cernydd%20Carmel%20SAC%20Management%20Plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030141.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030141.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671444/Coedydd%20Nedd%20a%20Mellte%20SAC%20plan%2018%20April%202008%20_English_.pdf


12 
 

6 Coed y Cerrig SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Alluvial forest 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 

The Coed y Cerrig SAC is designated for its Alder woodland on floodplains habitat. 

 

The SAC is also a National Nature Reserve is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to 

adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

7 Cwm Cadlan SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

Bog 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 

The Cwm Cadlan SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Calcium-rich springwater-fed fens. 

 Purple moor-grass meadows. 

 

Although not a honey-pot site, the SAC is located partially within a National Nature Reserve and is crossed 

by Public Rights of Way leading to open access land with significant historic environment interest (Mynydd-y-

Glog). 

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within 

the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 

8 Cwm Doeithe Mynydd 

Mallaen SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 
Woodland 

 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Cwm 

Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen SAC is designated for its:  

 Dry heaths. 

 Western acidic oak woodland. 

 

P
age 316

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012766.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671319/Coed%20y%20Cerrig%20%20SAC%20%20Management%20Plan%20_English_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013585
https://naturalresources.wales/media/675014/cwm-cadlan-sac-plan-english.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf


13 
 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

Grassland/ 

Heathland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition 

(2015) identifies those features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to 

be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites (Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts 

from air pollution on Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce 

nitrogen deposition on sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the 

Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural 

point sources such as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions 

originating from large numbers motor vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which 

may need national scale or international scale interventions to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

9 Cwm Clydach 

Woodlands SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Woodland 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 
categories: 

Grassland/ 

Heathland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

The Cwm Clydach Woodlands SAC is designated for the following habitats: 

 Beech forests on acid soils. 

 Beech forests on neutral to rich soils. 

 

The SAC is located partially within a National Nature Reserve and is recorded as having an issue relating to 

(or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

P
age 317

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030127.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030127.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/675017/cwm-clydach-sac-plan-english.pdf


14 
 

 

10 Drostre Bank SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Grassland/heathland 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

Woodland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Drostre 

Bank SAC is designated for its:  

 Alder woodland on floodplains. 

 Purple moor-grass meadows. 

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition 

(2015) identifies those features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to 

be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites (Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts 

from air pollution on Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce 

nitrogen deposition on sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the 

Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural 

point sources such as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions 

originating from large numbers motor vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which 

may need national scale or international scale interventions to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

11 Llangorse Lake/ Llyn 

Syfaddan SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Lake 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

The Llangorse Lake/ Llyn Syfaddan SAC is designated as a freshwater habitat; a naturally nutrient-rich lakes or 

lochs which are often dominated by pondweed. The lake is located within an area promoted as a tourist 

destination and is heavily visited.  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within 

the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Plan Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

P
age 318

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012878.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671765/Drostre%20Bank%20SAC%20Plan%20Jan%2008%20_A_.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180430-preliminary-hra-screening-report.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180430-preliminary-hra-screening-report.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/672671/Llangorse%20lake%20core%20management%20plan.pdf


15 
 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 

12 Mynydd Epynt SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Upland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Mynydd 

Epynt SAC is designated for its Slender green feather-moss. 

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition 

(2015) identifies those features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to 

be adversely affect) by air pollution on sites (Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts 

from air pollution on Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce 
nitrogen deposition on sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the 

Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural 

point sources such as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites, emissions 

originating from large numbers motor vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range transport (which 

may need national scale or international scale interventions to achieve significant reductions in N impacts). 

 

13 River Usk SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Riparian 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 

Part of the River Usk SAC and its catchment are within the National Park. It is designated for: 

 Allis shad.  

 Atlantic salmon.  

 Brook lamprey.  

 Bullhead.  

 Otter.  

 River lamprey.  

 Rivers with floating vegetation often dominated by water-crowfoot. 

 Sea lamprey. 

 Twaite shad.  

P
age 319

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030221.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673042/Mynydd%20Epynt%20SAC%20%20Management%20Plan%20April%202008%20_English_A_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0013007.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673384/River_Usk%20SAC%20core%20plan.pdf


16 
 

 

The SAC is within the National Park and is closely connected with (is fed by and receives overflow from) the 

Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal. Some of its upper tributaries are dammed and provide water for Swansea 

and Newport. Furthermore, settlements including Sennybridge, Brecon and Crickhowell are on the Usk.  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within 

the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

It is also likely that matters relating to Access and Recreation Management are relevant. 

 

Water quality in the river is currently exceeding critical limits (phosphates) demonstrating existing in 

combination impacts within the catchment are harming the designation. Evidence: NRW Evidence Report 489 

(January 2021). 

14 River Wye SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Riparian 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

Bog 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

Part of the River Wye SAC and its catchment are within the National Park. It is designated for: 

 Allis shad. 

 Atlantic salmon.  

 Brook lamprey.  

 Bullhead.  

 Otter.  

 River lamprey.  

 Rivers with floating vegetation often dominated by water-crowfoot. 

 Sea lamprey.  

 Twaite shad.  

 Very wet mires often identified by an unstable `quaking` surface. 

 White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) crayfish. 

 

P
age 320

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012642.pdf
https://consult.environment-agency.gov.uk/psc/ta5-1ud-nnb-generation-company-hpc-limited-2/supporting_documents/EA5%20%20River%20Wye%20SAC%20Core%20Management%20Plan%20Natural%20Resources%20Wales%20September%202017.pdf


17 
 

The SAC is partly within the National Park and is hydrologically connected with Llangros Lake and the 

settlements of Talgarth and Hay-on-Wye. 

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within 

the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 
 

Water quality in the river is currently exceeding critical limits (phosphates) demonstrating existing in 

combination impacts within the catchment are harming the designation. Evidence: NRW Evidence Report 489 

(January 2021). 

15 Sugar Loaf Woodlands 
SAC 

Woodland 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

The Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC is designated for its Western acidic oak woodland habitat. The SAC is 
recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within the following 

Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

16 Usk Bat Sites SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Bats 

 

The Usk Bat Sites SAC is designated for the following habitats and species. 

 Blanket bog. 

 Caves not open to the public. 

 Degraded raised bog. 

 Dry heaths. 

 Lesser horseshoe bat.  

 Mixed woodland on base-rich soils associated with rocky slopes. 

P
age 321

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030072.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/674063/Sugar_Loaf_Woodlands_core_management_plan_Mar_2008%20_A_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0014784.pdf


18 
 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

Grassland/ 

heathland, Bogs, 

Upland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

 Plants in crevices in base-rich rocks. 

 

The SAC is large (1686.025 Ha.) and range of the lesser horseshoe bat (suggested buffer of 15km. Schofield, 

H. (2010) Lesser Horseshoe Conservation Handbook. Bat Conservation Trust).  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issues relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within 

the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans: 

 Thematic Action Plan Access and Recreation Management (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015) 

 Woodland Management (2015) 

 

17 Rhos Goch SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 
2000 Category: 

Bog 

 

Secondary Natura 

2000 category or 

categories: 

Grassland 

 

Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

The site is entirely outside the Brecon Beacons National and has no mobile designated features. Rhos Goch 

SAC is designated for its:  

 Active raised bogs. 

 Alder woodland on floodplains. 

 Bog woodland. 

 Purple moor-grass meadows. 

 Very wet mires often identified by an unstable `quaking` surface. 

 

Natural Resources Wales’ report Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plan Air Pollution: Nitrogen Deposition (2015) 

identifies those features identified in bold above as being adversely affected (or having the potential to be 

adversely affect) by air pollution on sites (Appendix B).  

 

Section 8 of the report describes the proposed strategic actions required to manage and address impacts 

from air pollution on Natura 2000 features. 

 

Appendix C of the report outlines possible measures and potential delivery mechanisms that could reduce 

nitrogen deposition on sensitive habitats within protected sites and in the wider countryside identified by the 

Defra Remedies for Air Pollution Impacts on Designated Sites (RAPIDS) 19 project. 

P
age 322

https://naturalresources.wales/media/674281/Usk%20Bat%20Sites%20Management%20Plan%20Feb%2008.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0014792.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/682684/rhos-goch-sac-core-management-plan-english.pdf


19 
 

 

These relate to one or more of the following scenarios agriculture (diffuse and point source), non-agricultural 

point sources such as industrial plants, combustion/power generation or waste processing sites,  

emissions originating from large numbers motor vehicles; wet deposition from medium to long range 

transport (which may need national scale or international scale interventions to achieve significant reductions 

in N impacts). 

18 River Tywi SAC 

 

Primary Broad Natura 

2000 Category: 

Riparian 

 
Core management 

plan/ conservation 

objectives Link 

Part of the River Tywi SAC and its catchment are within the National Park. It is designated for 

 Allis shad.  

 Brook lamprey.  

 Bullhead.  

 Otter.  

 River lamprey.  

 Sea lamprey.  

 Twaite shad.  

 

The SAC is recorded as having an issue relating to (or the potential to adversely affect) site features within 

the following Natura 2000 Thematic Action Plans:  

 Diffuse Water Pollution (2015) 

 Grazing and Livestock Management (2015) 

 Invasive Species and Pathogens (2015) 

 Man-made Changes to Hydraulic Conditions (2015)  

 

Water quality in the river is not optimal, existing impacts within the catchment are harming the designation. 

Evidence: NRW Evidence Report 489 (January 2021). 
 

 

P
age 323

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013010
https://naturalresources.wales/media/670732/Afon_Tywi_-_Man%20Plan%20English.pdf


20 
 

Appendix 2: Screening conclusions  

 

Used to screen the draft Plan policies, the ‘Screening categories’, taken from Part F of the HRA Handbook, are as follows: 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

B. Policy listing general criteria for testing the acceptability / sustainability of proposals (screened out). 

C. Proposal referred to but not proposed by the plan (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy (screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

F. Policy that cannot lead to development or other change (screened out). 

G. Policy or proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site (screened out). 

H. Policy or proposal the (actual or theoretical) effects of which cannot undermine the conservation objectives (either alone or in 

combination with other aspects of this or other plans or projects) (screened out). 

I. Policy or proposal which may have a significant effect on a site alone (screened in) 

J. Policy or proposal with an effect on a site but unlikely to be significant alone, so need to check for likely significant effects in 

combination 
K. Policy or proposal unlikely to have a significant effect either alone or in combination (screened out after the in combination 

test). 

L. Policy or proposal which might be likely to have a significant effect in combination (screened in after the in combination test). 

M. Bespoke area, site or case specific policies or proposals intended to avoid or reduce harmful effects on a site (screened in). 

 

Mission/Objective Screening category and justification 

Climate Mission 

Reach net-Zero greenhouse gas emissions across the National Park 

by 2035 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out).  

  

Water Mission  

Clean, safe, resilient, plentiful water resources and water 

environments by 2030 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out).  

 

Nature Mission 

Nature positive Brecon Beacons National Park by 2030 A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out).  

 

People Mission  

Living, working, visiting safely, equitably and sustainably A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out).  

P
age 324



21 
 

 

Place Mission  

Beautiful, thriving, and sustainable places, celebrated for their 

cultural and natural heritage, now and forever 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

 

Mission/Objective Screening category and justification 

Decarbonisation   

The national park will maximise effort toward or Beyond our fair 

share of action to halve global Emissions by 2030, in line with The 

Paris agreement’s goal of limiting global Temperature rises to 1.5 

degrees. 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 

(screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

 

Sequestration 

Action will be happening across the national park to restore nature’s 

ability to capture carbon from The atmosphere, in line with the 

climate change Committee’s sixth carbon budget recommendations 

on Agriculture, land use, land use change and forestry 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 

(screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

 

Adaptation 

People and nature will be more resilient to the unavoidable impacts 

of climate destabilisation, in line with prosperity for all, the climate 
change adaptation plan for Wales 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 
(screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

 

Resilient catchments 

Resilient catchments supporting the provision of clean and 

sustainable water resources for the Bannau and beyond 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out).. 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 

(screened out). 

P
age 325



22 
 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

 

High quality water environments  

High quality water environments  ensuring that the health and 

wellbeing Benefits gained from high quality, nature Rich, water 

environments can be experienced by all who live within and visit the 

Bannau. 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 

(screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

 

Habitat recovery 

All major habitats in the national park, including grassland, native 

woodland, upland heathland, and peatland, will be on a pathway to 

net biodiversity gain 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 

(screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

 

Ecosystem management 

Ecosystem functions and ecosystem service generated by the Park 

are enhanced 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 
(screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 

 

Species Conservation  

Flagship species, that are emblematic of the national park or specific 

habitats ,are increasing in numbers and extent-- including 

reintroductions of indigenous species where appropriate consents 

and safeguards are met 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

D. Plan-wide environmental protection / site safeguarding policy 

(screened out). 

E. Policies or proposals which steer change in such a way as to 

protect sites from adverse effects (screened out). 
 

Quality of Life 

P
age 326



23 
 

Improving the quality of life and well-being for all those who live 

work and play in the Beacons 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

 

Future Visitors 

We will have become the torchbearers for sustainable tourism 

.Visiting the Bannau provides a unique experience, which enhances 

support for nature recovery, community wellbeing and the local 

economy. Visitors will know our story and be motivated to help us 

respond to key challenges, especially through their own actions and 

behaviour. 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

 

Welsh language and culture 

Welsh culture is thriving and celebrated as part of the Rich tapestry 

of cultural lives of Wales. There is an increased awareness and 

knowledge of the Welsh Language and culture amongst our 

residents and visitors . Welsh language and culture is loved and 

valued by all regardless of level of language fluency 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out).  

H. Policy or proposal the (actual or theoretical) effects of which cannot 

undermine the conservation objectives (either alone or in combination 

with other aspects of this or other plans or projects) (screened out). 

Sustainable Businesses 

There will be a support network of businesses dedicated to building 

a local sustainable and equitable economy within the Bannau 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

 

Collaborating in Place 

Innovative collaborative action focused on a range of spatial areas to 

co-produce responses to the nature, climate and economic crises. 

A. General statement of policy / general aspiration (screened out). 

 

 

P
age 327



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

1 of 5 

To: National Park Authority, 16 December 2022 
From: Dr Simone Lowthe-Thomas, Director of Nature Recovery & Climate Change 
 Rebecca Price, Ecologist 
 
 

Biodiversity Update: Section 6 Duty Report 
 
 

Decision Required YES ☒ / NO ☒ Agenda Item 6 

 

Recommendation 

Note the contents of this paper 

 

 

Key Messages 

To briefly update on the Authority’s second Section 6 Duty Report (which is 
underway) in fulfilment of its statutory obligations under the Environment Act 
(Wales) 2016 (Part I: Sustainable Management of Natural Resources). 

 

To highlight the Authority’s statutory obligations to meet Section 6 of The 
Environment Act. (Wales) 2016. 

 

The Final report will be shared with Members once it is complete and ready for 
submission to Welsh Government, by the end of 2022 deadline. 

 
  

Page 329

Agenda Item 6



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

2 of 5 

Background 

 
It’s a stark fact that biodiversity continues to dramatically decline internationally. This 
is a trend from which the UK’s Protected Landscapes, including the Brecon Beacons 
National Park, are not exempt. We are in a period of ongoing resource constraints 
when biodiversity faces increasing pressures from agricultural change, local 
development, climate change and the spread of invasive non-native species. The dual 
climate change and biodiversity crises, and other factors present some very real 
challenges for nature recovery and land management within the National Park. 
 
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) has a statutory requirement 
(placed on all Public Authorities in Wales) under Section 6 Part 1 of the Environment 
Act (Wales) 2016 to demonstrate how the Authority will “seek to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity in the proper exercise of their functions and in doing so promote 
the resilience of ecosystems”.  
 
The emphasis of the Section 6 Duty is that public authorities should embed the 
consideration of biodiversity and ecosystems into their early thinking and business 
planning, including any policies, plans, programmes, and projects as well as their day-
to-day activities. Each function of a public authority should consider where and how 
they can maintain and enhance biodiversity and promote resilience.  
 
To comply with the Section 6 Duty, public authorities must prepare and publish a plan 
setting out what they propose to do to maintain and enhance biodiversity and promote 
resilience. A report on what the public authority has done to comply with the duty must 
be published by the end of 2019 and then every three years after this date. The 
Authority’s second Section 6 Duty Report under the Environment Act (Wales) is 
underway and on target for submission to Welsh Government by the end of this year. 
The report will also be published on the Wales Biodiversity Partnership website1 to 
enable public review and help further promote the need for a collective approach to 
helping reverse the decline of biodiversity in Wales. 
 
As outlined in the Authority’s previous Corporate Plans - the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Management Plan and Nature Recovery Action Plan will cover the requirement 
for a Section 6 Duty Plan. The embedding of a Section 6 Duty Plan within a public 
body’s key plans (rather than having a standalone S6 Plan) is an approach that 
receives support within Welsh Government’s Section 6 Duty guidance.  
 
Second Section 6 Report – Project based highlights  

 
Despite some challenges over this reporting period there is much work to showcase. 
The examples of exemplar project work contained within the report demonstrates the 
Authority’s commitment to biodiversity. It also helps showcase the work that can be 
achieved, to help lever more funding and garner support from more partners.  
 

                                                           
1 https://www.biodiversitywales.org.uk/Biodiversity-Duty-Reporting  

Page 330

https://www.biodiversitywales.org.uk/Biodiversity-Duty-Reporting


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

3 of 5 

BBNPA is considered one of Wales’ leading practitioners in upland peatland 
restoration and its expansive peatland restoration programme and the Park’s role 
within peatland conservation in Wales, continues to be a highlight. Work includes: 

 A BBNPA Peatland Strategy has been completed, in consultation with Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW), Dwr Cymru and Swansea University. 

 Assisted NRW to complete the National Peatlands Action Programme. Member 
of the national Peatland Practitioners Working Group chaired by NRW and the 
Peatland Monitoring Working Group. 

 The Wales Peatlands Sustainable Management Scheme (SMS) project (in which 
the NPA was a steering Group and project delivery partner) has been completed. 
This was Wales’ second largest SMS project (after the Black Mountains Land 
Use Partnership SMS in which the NPA took a lead role). 

 Peatland restoration and upland path restoration works have taken place on 
multiple sites across the Park, involving various techniques. The protection and 
restoration of an estimated 1,0000 ha of upland peatland in the BBNPA has been 
delivered, funded through NRW’s Strategic Allocation Fund, Sustainable 
Landscapes Sustainable Places scheme and other grants.  

 A Peatlands Project Officer was appointed. It is hoped the post’s fixed term 
contract can be extended to help ensure the delivery of the peatlands 
programme. 

 BBNPA version of Peatlands Rapid Assessment methodology developed and 
upland peatland survey volunteer group established. Field surveys underway to 
ground truth existing peatland extent and depth data for the Park.  

 The National Park will spend over a million pounds in the next three years on 
peat restoration works, and this figure is set to increase considerably in 
recognition of the importance Welsh Government has placed on conserving 
peatlands.  

 
BBNPA is a core Partner within the Brecon Beacons Local Nature Partnership 
(BBLNP). On behalf of the LNP the Authority commissioned the development of a 
suite of Ecological Resilience Mapping. Delivered by a collaboration of two Welsh 
LERCs this evidence gathering exercise utilised available information to take a first 
step in trying to capture visually what ecological resilience “looks like”. The results 
were well received at a launch event in 2021 attended by over 50 partners, including 
WG officials and NRW experts. The Authority and Partners continue to explore the 
mapping (available online via the “BBNP LNP Nature Recovery Tool”), which was 
intended as a live tool to be updated and improved as new information is available.  
 
Thanks to WG Local Places for Nature (LP4N) Capital and Revenue funding (2020-
23), the Authority has been able to host a LNP Projects Officer, who has overseen a 
suite of local nature recovery projects - including working with five key communities to 
establish Local Community Nature Recovery Sites and currently a pilot Native 
Wildflower Seed Harvesting Project. This forms part of longer-term goals to 
establish greater availability of local provenance plants for BBNP projects and 
schemes. BBLNP also led a successful WG Challenge Fund bid for £107k to secure 
habitat enhancement works in the Amman Valley, in Partnership with Initiative for 
Nature Conservation Cymru (INCC), local farmers and landowners and neighbouring 
LNPs.  

Page 331



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

4 of 5 

BBNPA’s involvement in the LP4N programme and associated LNP Cymru 
Partnership is seen as vital for capacity building, awareness raising and 
implementation of nature recovery goals in line with the Park’s Nature Recovery Action 
Plan (NRAP). As we hit year 3 of the NRAP, the Authority will be working with LNP 
Partners in the coming months to undertake a full review of actions and progress to 
date.  
 
Much of the Authority’s work for biodiversity also delivers positive outcomes and 
well-being benefits for people.  

 The Education team have engaged with over 8,000 children on key biodiversity 
messages, including production of games and activities available on-line during 
the pandemic, sessions with local schools and teaching staff to advise on school 
grounds biodiversity and learning enhancements, a live climate Action online 
session to over 100 schools exploring the benefits of healthy peat in our uplands, 
and hosting of an Earth Day “Invest in our planet” themed celebration day for 
Youth Emergency Service cadets at the National Park Visitor Centre (attended 
by over 70 cadets who engaged in various conservation works in the wildlife 
garden and grounds).  

 The inspirational “Beaches 2 Beacons” Project has also seen the Education and 
Communities Team join forces with Neath Port Talbot Council’s children-in-care 
team to support children aged 11-16 years who might not otherwise spend time 
outdoors, to engage with nature through a variety of activity days and completion 
of a John Muir Award. 

 The creation of a new Youth Warden Scheme also offers a new, exciting and 
adventurous outdoors programme for young people aged 15-18 years. 12 Youth 
Wardens meet once a month during the academic year engaging in activities 
such as wildlife surveys, tree planting and path maintenance and working 
towards a John Muir Award. 

 
Looking ahead to 2023; the NPA is a key Partner within the £9 million Four Rivers for 
LIFE programme, led by NRW and covering a wide range of biodiversity enhancement 
measures. BBNPA will be involved at both a governance and delivery level within the 
River Usk component, including an INNS programme which benefits from the in-house 
INNS expertise which the Park has established. 
 
The timing of the Section 6 Biodiversity Duty Report, alongside the current review of 
the National Park Management Plan provides a great opportunity to further strengthen 
and embed biodiversity and nature recovery within the NPA’s core strategic document 
and thus the work of the Authority. 
 
Relation to Authority Priorities 

 
The National Park Authority has a statutory requirement under Section 6 Part 1 of the 
Environment Act (Wales) 2016 to demonstrate how the Authority will “seek to maintain 
and enhance biodiversity in the proper exercise of their functions and in doing so 
promote the resilience of ecosystems”, and to provide a second report by the end of 
December 2022.  
  

Page 332



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

5 of 5 

The Section 6 Duty report showcases the breadth of work which the Authority has 
delivered to support biodiversity and the measures which it has taken to ensure 
biodiversity is embedded within key polices, plans and decision making. This all 
demonstrates how the Authority is meeting its commitments under Section 6.   
 
Since the last report, a joined-up monitoring and evidence base across the Authority’s 
plans, activities and responsibilities remains an area where there is work to do. The 
development of the new National Park Management Plan provides an opportunity to 
align planning, monitoring, and reporting mechanisms across the Authority’s work. 
This will enhance future Section 6 reports and help to more routinely demonstrate how 
the many activities are amassing and impacting on nature recovery goals, within the 
National Park and Wales. 

 
Impact Analysis 

 
Financial – Not applicable, paper for noting only. 
 
Legal – Not applicable, paper for noting only.  
 
Diversity - Not applicable, paper for noting only. 
 
Human Resources - Not applicable, paper for noting only. 
 
Sustainability – Not applicable, paper for noting only. 
 
Risk 

 
This paper is for noting only and as such, no risks have been identified. 
 
Conclusion and Next Steps 

 
The Section 6 Duty Report is underway. Once completed it will be shared with Welsh 
Government as evidence of the Authority’s work to fulfill its obligations under the 
Environment Act (Wales). The report will be published on the Wales Biodiversity 
Partnership website2 to enable public review and help further promote the need for a 
collective approach to helping reverse the decline of biodiversity in Wales.  
 
The report will be available to review the Authority’s Section 6 Duty Plan and inform 
any adjustments to the approach taken.  
 

                                                           
2 https://www.biodiversitywales.org.uk/Biodiversity-Duty-Reporting  

Page 333

https://www.biodiversitywales.org.uk/Biodiversity-Duty-Reporting


This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

1 of 4 

To: National Park Authority, 16 December 2022 
From: Marc Ronan, Solicitor and Monitoring Officer 
 
 

Contract Standing Orders 
 
 

Decision Required YES ☒ / NO ☐ Agenda Item 7 

 

Recommendation 

Approve the Contract Standing Orders attached as Appendix One 

 

 

Key Messages 

This report seeks approval for the new Contract Standing Orders and informs 
Members that further changes may be required in due course. 

 
  

Page 335

Agenda Item 7



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

2 of 4 

Background 

 
Contract Standing Orders (“CSO”) are the Authority’s rules for the buying, renting and 
leasing of Goods, Services and Works and apply to all Relevant Contracts made by 
the Authority.  

 
The aim of CSO is to assist Officers in achieving best practice and lawful procurement, 
to ensure that the Authority fulfils its statutory obligations and excellent outcomes for 
its service users.  

 
The CSO also provide a basis for fair competition by providing transparent and 
auditable procedures to protect the Authority’s reputation from any suggestion of 
dishonesty or corruption. 

 
These CSO apply to all Officers of the Authority or any companies or organisations 
within the Authority’s control. They are part of the Authority’s Standing Orders and 
therefore Officers have a duty to ensure they have fully understood them and have 
sufficient authority prior to commencing any procurement or contracting activity  

 
The last review took place in 2016 and it was felt timely to review the Standing Orders 
relating to Contract which has resulted in a new document that reflects compliance 
with an Audit Wales recommendation, changes in inflation, legislation, and best 
practice. New Contract Standing Orders Have been drafted for approval by the 
Authority and contain as an Appendix A Procurement Guide for Officers, the latter 
being an operational matter which although within the Chief Executives delegation (not 
requiring Authority approval) is included for reference and completeness. 

 
Alongside the review of the CSO, Legal Services is also developing a Procurement 
toolkit to help support those officers who are managing procurement processes. 
Development of the toolkit will be reported to Audit and Risk Committee as it 
progresses.  

 
The Authority is also strengthening its approach to securing social value through the 
Authority’s contracts. Social value is an approach that seeks to secure additional 
social, cultural, environmental, and economic well-being benefits in accordance with 
the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 the aims of which are set out in the 
Authority’s Corporate Plan. 

 
The UK Government proposes to repeal the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the 
Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 and the Concession Contracts Regulations and 
produce a single set of regulations covering all contracts. This will have a significant 
impact on the Contract Standing Orders. Consequently, a new Procurement Bill is 
currently at its third reading at the House of Lords, where the final draft of the Bill is 
being reviewed. 

 
  

Page 336



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

3 of 4 

Having passed through the previous stages, the Bill must be sent to the other House 
where the whole procedure is repeated. Bills can still be amended at this stage, and 
both Houses must agree on the amendments. If the Houses cannot reach a 
compromise on the final drafts, the procedure can be extremely lengthy. Due to time 
limits, some Bills are lost. The final stage (if successfully passed through both Houses) 
is Royal Assent which is given by the King to the Bill once it completed all the 
parliamentary stages, and it is declared to both Houses. It is also listed in the 
Parliament’s record of official proceedings.  

 
For the above reasons, we will continue to keep the Contract Standing Orders under 
review and will bring further recommendations to the Authority in light of changes 
arising from the bill.  

 
In the meantime, this report is seeking the Authority’s support for the proposed 
changes and the adoption of the new Contract Standing Orders attached as Appendix 
One. 
 
Relation to Authority Priorities 

 
Contribution towards the Corporate objective of delivering key services that meet the 
needs of residents and visitors to the National Park. 

 Work with communities to plan, participate, support and shape the future of 
their place;  

 Change which enables the Authority to work within the resources available.  

 By working with our partners, we will improve the environment quality across 
the region;  

 Provide value for money services. 
 
Impact Analysis 

 
Financial – none directly relating from this report. 
 
Legal – contained within this report. 
 
Diversity - none directly relating from this report. 
 
Human Resources - none directly relating from this report. 
 
Sustainability – none directly relating from this report. 
 
  

Page 337



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

4 of 4 

Appendix One: Contract Standing Orders 

 

Page 338



 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

  
CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS (Contracts Procedure 

Rules) 2022  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 339



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

  
Contents  

1  Introduction – Purpose of the Contract Standing Orders ................................................... 3 

2  General Principles – Application and Compliance with Contract Standing Orders .......... 3 

3  General Principles Applying to All Contracts ...................................................................... 4 

4  Regulatory Context ................................................................................................................ 5 

5  Responsibilities of Directors and Responsible Officers ..................................................... 5 

6  Scheme of Delegations.......................................................................................................... 7 

7  Financial Thresholds and Procedures ................................................................................. 7 

8  Financial Thresholds and Processes ................................................................................. 11 

9  Calculating the Contract Value ........................................................................................... 11 

10  Principles Underlying Tendering Processes and Tender Evaluation ............................... 12 

11  Submission and Opening of tenders .................................................................................. 12 

12  Evaluation of Quotes and Tenders ..................................................................................... 13 

13  Waivers ................................................................................................................................. 13 

14  Extensions and Modifications to Existing Contracts ........................................................ 14 

15  Purchasing Schemes (including Framework Agreements) ............................................... 14 

16  Review and Changes to these Contract Standing Orders ................................................. 16 

 

  

1  

Page 340



 

1  Introduction – Purpose of the Contract Standing Orders  

  

1.1 Procurement decisions and processes are important because the money involved is 

public money. The purpose of these Contract Standing Orders is to provide a structure 

within which procurement decisions are made and implemented and which ensure the 

Authority:  

  

 1.1.1  Furthers its corporate objectives  

    

 1.1.2  Uses its resources efficiently  

  

 1.1.3  Purchases quality goods, services and works   

  

 1.1.4  Grants service concessions   

  

 1.1.5  Safeguards its reputation from any implication of dishonesty or  

corruption.   

  

1.2 Procurement by the Authority, from planning to delivery, shall incorporate (where 

appropriate) principles of sustainability, efficiency, equality, social value, whole life 

costings and cost savings.  

  

1.4 These Contract Standing Orders do not provide guidelines on what is the best way to 

purchase works, supplies (goods) and services and grant service concessions.  They set 

out minimum requirements to be followed.  Further information and guidelines are set 

out in the Procurement Guide.  

  

2  General Principles – Application and Compliance with Contract Standing Orders  

  

2.1  These Contract Standing Orders apply to the purchase by or on behalf of the Authority 

of works, supplies (goods) and services and the granting of service concessions.  

  

2.2  These Contract Standing Orders apply to all contracts including all purchase orders, 

concessions and contractual arrangements entered into by or on behalf of the 

Authority, except for the specific types of contracts and purchasing methods that are 

listed in 2.3.    

  

 2.3  These Contract Standing Orders do not apply to:   

  

 2.3.1  Employment contracts   

  

 2.3.2  Contracts relating solely to the purchase or sale of interests in land  

  

2.3.3  Contracts for retention of legal counsel and the appointment of expert witnesses 

in legal proceedings  

    

2.3.4.  Service level agreements setting out the conditions that the Authority applies 

to its funding of particular voluntary sector bodies.   

  

  

Page 341



 

 

3  General Principles Applying to All Contracts  

  

For the purposes of this CSO 3, ‘contract’ means purchase orders, alternative order forms, 
standard industry contracts (JCT/IEE/ICE etc), works, supplies, and services terms and 
conditions, service concessions etc. and ‘contractor’ includes concessionaires  
  

 3.1  All purchases however small shall be in writing.  

  

3.2  Contracts of a value of £25,000 or more shall include contract clauses relevant to the 

procurement.  Contract clauses are issued by Legal Services and are held on the 

Authority’s intranet.  

  

3.3 As a minimum, all contracts of a value of £25,000 or more shall include clauses which set 

out:   

  

3.3.1  The works, supplies (goods), services, service concession, material, matters or 

things to be carried out or supplied  

  

3.3.2  The time within which the contract is to be performed  

  

3.3.3  Quality requirements and/or standards which must be met  

  

3.3.4  Requirements on the contractor to hold and maintain appropriate insurance  

  

3.3.5  What happens in the event that the contractor fails to comply with its contractual 

obligations (in whole or in part)  

  

3.3.6  Requirements on the contractor to comply with all relevant equalities and health 

and safety legislation  

  

3.3.7  Requirements on the contractor to comply with the provisions of the data 

protection legislation1 insofar as this applies to the processing of personal data, 

including provisions in the contract, of data controller and processor 

responsibilities sufficient to comply with the data protection legislation  

   
3.3.8  That the Authority shall be entitled to cancel the contract and recover losses if 

the contractor does anything improper to influence the Authority to give the 

contractor any contract or commits an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or 

s117(2) Local Government Act 1972.  

                    
3.4  All contracts subject to the relevant Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended) 

(the ‘PCR 2015’) or the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (as amended) (the 

‘CCR 2016’) will include:  

  

(a) additional termination clauses pursuant to the PCR 2015 or the CCR 2016 relating 

respectively to substantial modification of the contract requiring a new procurement 

process and situations amounting to mandatory exclusion of the contractor2;  

  

                                                
1 means the UK GDPR (derived from the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679) and any national implementing laws, 

regulations and secondary legislation, as amended or updated from time to time and any successor legislation to the UK GDPR or the Data 

Protection Act 2018 and all applicable laws and regulations relating to processing of personal data and privacy, including where applicable 

the guidance and codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner   
2 Reg 57 Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or Reg 38(8) Concessions Contracts Regulations 2016  

Page 342



(b) a payment clause relating to payment of invoices no later than the end of a period 

of 30 days from the date on which the relevant invoice is regarded as valid and 

undisputed; and  

  
(c) an electronic invoicing clause3.  

  

3.5 Contracts not subject to the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 shall include a payment clause 

relating to payment of invoices no later than the end of a period of 30 days from the 

date on which the relevant invoice is regarded as valid and undisputed and an 

electronic invoicing clause.  

  

3.6 Contracts shall not include non-commercial terms unless these are necessary to 

achieve best value for the Authority or are included in accordance with the Public 

Services (Social value) Act 2012 or necessary to enable or facilitate the Authority’s 

compliance with the public sector equality duty4 or any duty imposed on it by the 

Equality Act 2010.  In this context, “non-commercial” means requirements unrelated 

to the actual performance of the contract.  

  
3.7 All contracts shall include relevant specifications and/or briefs/technical requirements 

which are prepared taking into account the need for effectiveness of delivery, quality, 

sustainability and efficiency (as appropriate) and the information set out in the 

Procurement Guide.  

  
3.8 All contracts of a value of £50,000 or more shall be subject to a written risk 

assessment, which should be kept on the contract file.  

  

4  Regulatory Context  

  

4.1 All procurement shall be conducted in accordance with regulatory requirements which 

are:   

  

4.1.1    All relevant statutory provisions  

  

4.1.2  The PCR 2015 or the CCR 2016  

  

4.1.3  The Authority’s Standing Orders including these Contract Standing Orders, the 

Authority’s Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegations  

  

4.1.4  The Procurement Guide and other policies and procedures of the  

 Council as appropriate.   

                           
  

4.2 In the event of conflict between the above, the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 will take 

precedence, followed by the Authority's Standing Orders, the Procurement Guide and 

guidelines, policies and procedures.  

  

5  Responsibilities of Directors and Responsible Officers   

  

 5.1  Each Director shall:  

  

                                                
3 The Public Procurement (Electronic Invoices etc.) Regulations 2019  4 

Section 149 Equality Act 2010  

Page 343



 

 

 5.1.1  be responsible for the purchasing undertaken by his/her Directorate.  

  

5.1.2  be accountable to the Chief Executive for the performance of his/her duties in 

relation to purchasing  

  

5.1.3  comply with the Authority's decision-making processes including, where 

appropriate, implementing and operating a Scheme of Delegations  

  

 5.1.4  appoint a Responsible Officer who shall be an authorised signatory  

  

5.1.5 take immediate action in the event of a breach of these Contract Standing Orders.  

  

5.2 A Responsible Officer is an officer with responsibility for conducting purchasing processes 

for the purchase of works, supplies (goods) or services or the granting of service 

concessions on behalf of the Authority.  

  

 5.3  A Responsible Officer’s duties in respect of purchasing are to ensure:   

  

5.3.1  compliance with all regulatory requirements referred to above and integrity 

of the tender process  

  

5.3.2  compliance with the relevant statutory provisions and the Authority’s 

requirements relating to declarations of interest affecting any purchasing 

process  

  

5.3.3  that there is an appropriate analysis of the requirement, timescales, 

procedure and documentation to be used   

  

5.3.4  the purchasing process, from planning to delivery incorporates (where 

appropriate) principles of sustainability, efficiency, equality, social value, 

whole life costings and cost savings  

  

 5.3.5  compliance with the Authority's decision-making processes  

  

5.3.6  that all contracts of a value of £25,000 or more are included on the  

Council’s Contract Register Such register shall specify for each Contract the 

Contract number, the name of the Contractor, a summary of the works to be 

executed or the goods and services supplied and the Contract duration and 

value or estimated value. The register shall be accessible from the Authority’s 

website. 

  

5.3.7  that proper records are maintained in accordance with the Authority’s data 

retention and disposal schedule, with separate files for each procurement of 

a value of £25,000 or more, to justify the decisions taken in all stages of the 

procurement process    

  

5.3.8  that value for money is achieved  

  

5.3.9  that adequate and appropriate security (such as a bond or guarantee) is 

taken to protect the Authority in the event of non-performance 

 

5.3.10 .  The Authority is required by the Local Government Transparency Code 

2015 (the “Code 2015”) to publish certain details of all contracts with a value 

over £5,000. The Code 2015 requires the Authority to publish details of: (a) 

Page 344



invitations to tender to provide goods and/or services with a value exceeding 

£5,000, (b) contracts, commissioned activity, purchase orders, framework 

agreements, Dynamic Purchasing System and any other legally enforceable 

agreement with a value that exceeds £5,000; and (c) grants to voluntary, 

community or social enterprise organisations. 14.3 The Contract Lead Officer 

shall ensure that an electronic copy of every concluded contract shall be 

provided to the Head of Business Services for entry onto the SDNPA’s 

Contract Register and shall ensure that appropriate arrangements are made 

for the safe storage of the original contract documents 

  

5.4  In considering how best to procure works, supplies and services or the granting of 

service concessions, Directors and/or Responsible Officers (as appropriate in the 

context), shall take into account wider contractual delivery opportunities and 

purchasing methods including the use of purchasing schemes (see CSO 14) and e-

procurement/purchasing methods, and the availability of local authority charging and 

trading powers under the Local Government Act 2003.  

  

5.5  It is a disciplinary offence to fail to comply with these Contract Standing Orders.  All 

employees have a duty to report breaches of Contract Standing Orders to their 

Director.  

  

5.6  Any officer or Member who suspects any misconduct or corruption in relation to the 

purchase by or on behalf of the Authority of works, supplies (goods), services and the 

granting of service concessions must immediately report that suspicion to the Chief 

Officer and Director of Corporate Services.  

  

6  Scheme of Delegations   

    

6.1  Procurements may only be undertaken by officers with the appropriate delegated 

authority to carry out such tasks as set out in the Authority's Scheme of Delegations.  

Officers with delegated authority may only delegate to other officers who have the 

appropriate skills and knowledge for the task and such delegation shall be recorded 

in writing by the officer delegating the task and notified to the relevant Director.    

  

6.2  Officers shall, where appropriate, be informed by their Director of the extent of any 

delegated authority and applicable financial thresholds.  

  

7  Financial Thresholds and Procedures  

  

7.1  The table in CSO 7.5 sets out the general rules applying to the choice of purchasing 

procedure for contracts at the stated threshold values and the public notice 

requirements. For the purposes of advertising, the estimated contract value will be 

provided exclusive of VAT. Similarly for contract award notices, these will be 

published exclusive of VAT4. 

  

7.2  There is a general presumption in favour of competition.  Wherever possible, contract 

opportunities should be advertised by way of a public notice, even for small value 

contracts or contracts under the PCR 2015 and CCR 2016 threshold levels outlined 

in CSO 7.5.  

  

                                                
4 Procurement Policy Note – New Thresholds Values and Inclusion of VAT in Contract Estimates Action PPN 10/21 December 

2021 published by the Cabinet Office 

Page 345



 

 

7.3  The public notice referred to at CSO 7.2 should be published, as a minimum, in 

Sell2Wales5 for any advertised procurement valued over £25,000.  The public notice 

for any advertised procurements valued over the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 thresholds 

(see CSO 7.5) should be submitted, as a minimum, in Find a Tender (‘FTS’)6 and 

Sell2Wales. Notices submitted in the FTS take precedence.  Following the publication 

of the form of notice or advertisement in the FTS and Sell2Wales, the Responsible 

Officer may choose to place one or more public notices in different media, such as or 

other electronic media and/or in the press, trade journals.  

 7.4  Once a contract has been awarded as a result of a procurement process, details of 

the winning tenderer, the contract value and for procurements below the PCR 2015 or 

CCR 2016 thresholds, an indication of whether the winning tenderer is a small 

business or voluntary sector organisation must be published on Sell2Wales.  For 

procurements above the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 thresholds, the contract award 

details must be published on FTS, as well as Sell2Wales.  

    

7.5 Table setting out financial thresholds7 (inclusive of VAT but includes any renewals 

or extensions)8 and procedures   

  
The PCR 2015 and the CCR 2016 (as applicable) apply to contracts to differing 

degrees, depending on the type of public contract or concession. Responsible Officers 

should act cautiously and seek advice from the Legal Services when considering the 

application of the PCR 2015 to public works, supplies or services’ contracts or the 

application of the CCR 2016 to works or services concession contracts.  

 

  

                                                
5 Sell2Wales 

6 UK e-notification service     
7 In force at the time  

8 As a result of Brexit, the UK Government and devolved administrations must now ensure procurement thresholds are aligned with the 

World Trade Organisation’s thresholds, which are contained in its Government Procurement Agreement (“GPA”).  One of the most notable 

impacts of this change to GPA alignment is that contract value estimations must now be inclusive of VAT.  Under previous EU rules, 

procurement thresholds were net of VAT.  

 

Page 346

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/SOCInformation.aspx
https://www.find-tender.service.gov.uk/Search


 

  
WORKS: PUBLIC CONTRACTS AND CONCESSIONS  

  

Total value (£)   Conducted by   Procedure    Advertising requirements 

Up to £1000 

Single 

Purchase 

A Responsible Officer using 

the Contract Management 

system to administer the 

process 

No formal quotes required but 

value for money must be obtained. 

Requires budget holder 

authorisation only 

None 

 £1.001 to 

£10,000   

A Responsible Officer using 

the Contract Management 

system to administer the 

process 

At least one quote in advance and 

value for money obtained   

Optional 

Authority’s website 

 

£10,001 to   

£75,000   

A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

At least three written quotes in 

advance using a select list of 

companies – no requirement to 

advertise   

Optional 

Authority’s website 

Sell2Wales 

 

£75,001 to £ 

£5,336,937 

A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

Seek to obtain at least three 

written tenders in advance ‐ 

advertise in Sell2Wales as a 

minimum. Contract value above 

£118,000 must use FTS 

 

At £5,336,937 
and above   
  

A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

PCR  2015 or CCR  2016 apply   – 

full competitive process with at 

least three written tenders in  

advance ‐ advertise by public  

notice in  Sell2Wales  and  FTS     

 

                            

  

  

Page 347



 

 

 

SUPPLIES & SERVICES: PUBLIC CONTRACTS AND CONCESSIONS  

Total  value  (£)   Conducted  by   Procedure     

£1,000 and 

under 

A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

No formal quotes required but 

value for money must be obtained. 

Requires budget holder 

authorisation only 

None 

 £1.001 to 

£10,000   

A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

At least one quote in advance and 

value for money obtained   

Optional 

Authority’s website 

 

   £10,001  to   

£50,000   

   A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

Seek to obtain at least three 

written quotes in advance using 

a select list of companies – no 

requirement to advertise   

Optional 

Authority’s website 

Sell2Wales 

£50,001 to  

£213,477 

  A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

Seek to obtain at least three 

written tenders in advance ‐ 

advertise in Sell2Wales as a 

minimum. Contract value above 

£118,000 must use FTS  

Optional 

Contract Finder 

At £213,477 

and  

    

above   

  
NB:  excludes  

Light  Touch  

Regime  (LTR)  

services   

A Responsible Officer 

using the Contract 

Management system to 

administer the process 

PCR  2015  or  CCR  2016  apply   – 

full  competitive  process  with  at  

least  three  written  tenders  in  

advance ‐ advertise  by  public  

notice  in  FTS   

 

  

LTR SERVICES (E.G. CULTURAL/FESTIVAL EVENT ORGANISATION/BENEFIT/OTHER 

COMMUNITY SERVICES ETC.)  

Total  value  (£)   Conducted  by   Procedure   

At £663,539  and  

below   

Responsible Officer using the 

Contract Management system to 

administer the process 

There is a presumption in favour of advertising 

and a competitive process with at least three 

written tenders in advance ‐ advertise in 

Sell2Wales as   a minimum   

At £663,540   and  

above   

A Responsible Officer using the 

Contract Management system to 

administer the process 

PCR  2015 (Regs.  74 to 76)    apply  and  CCR  

2016  (Reg.  19)   applies ‐ advertise by public 

notice  in  FTS  and  Contracts  Finder   

  

7.6  Where contracts are of a type and value which means that they are subject to PCR 

2015, there are five main types of procedures available. These are the open, 

restricted, competitive dialogue, competitive procedure with negotiation and 

innovation partnership procedures (intended for long term partnerships, which allow 

for both the development and subsequent purchase of new and innovative products, 

services or works currently not on the market). Care must be taken to ensure that the 

correct and most appropriate procedure is used and assistance from the Legal 

Services on the choice and use of PCR 2015 procedure should be sought.  

  

Page 348



8  Financial Thresholds and Processes Applying to Approval and Execution of Contracts  

  

8.1  For contracts over £50,000, the decision to proceed to advertisement must be 

authorised in writing by the relevant Director, in advance.  For contracts above the 

PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 threshold (see CSO 7.5), the choice of purchasing procedure 

to be used, and the decision to proceed to advertisement, must be authorised in 

writing by the relevant Director, in advance.  

  

For CCR 2016 contracts (see CSO 7.5), the decision to proceed to advertisement 

must be authorised in writing by the relevant Director, in advance.  

  

8.2  When a decision is made to award a contract, then the Responsible Officer must, in 

addition to complying with his/her general obligations under these Contract Standing 

Orders ensure that:  

  

8.2.1 the appropriate approvals have been obtained to authorise that decision; and  

  

8.2.2 where appropriate, a standstill period complying with the PCR 2015 and LTR 

concession contracts under the CCR 2016, is incorporated into the final award 

process.   

  

8.3,  Any contracts valued at £100,000 or above, shall be executed as a deed (under seal). 

Contracts with values between £50,000 and £99,999 shall require the relevant 

Director’s signature.  All other contracts below £50,000, may be signed by an officer 

with appropriate delegated authority.   

  

8.4  Electronic signatures may be used in accordance with the Electronic Signature 

Regulations 2002 provided the sufficiency of security arrangements has been 

approved by the IT Services.  

  

9  Calculating the Contract Value  

  

9.1  The starting point for calculating the contract value for the purposes of these Contract 

Standing Orders is that the contract value shall be the genuine pre-estimate of the 

value of the entire contract excluding Value Added Tax. This includes all payments to 

be made, or potentially to be made, under the entirety of the contract and for the whole 

of the predicted contract period (including proposed extensions, options 9  and 

renewals).   

  
Responsible Officers should seek advice from the Legal Services on the application 

of the PCR 2015 where they envisage that they may require repeat purchases and/or 

purchases of a similar type.  

  

Further guidance on the calculation of the contract value is set out in the Procurement 

Guide.  

  

                           
9.2 There shall be no artificial splitting of a contract to avoid the application of the provisions 

of the PCR 2015 and CCR 2016 and/or these Contract Standing Orders.  

  

                                                
9 For example - where there is an option to include additional services   

Page 349



 

 

10  Principles Underlying Tendering Processes and Tender Evaluation  

  

10.1 All tendering procedures (including obtaining quotes), from planning to contract award 

and signature, shall be undertaken in a manner so as to ensure:  

  

 10.1.1  Sufficient time is given to plan and run the process  

    

 10.1.2  Equal opportunity and equal treatment  

  

 10.1.3  Openness and transparency   

  

 10.1.4  Probity  

  

10.1.5  Outcomes, which deliver sustainability, efficiency, equality, social value, 

whole life costings and cost savings (where appropriate).  

  

11  Submission and Opening of tenders  

  

11.1 An Invitation to Tender shall be issued by the Authority as set out above and tenders 

shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the Invitation to Tender.  

  

11.2 Any tenders received (other than those received electronically, to which CSO 11.3 shall 

apply) shall be:  

  

 11.2.1  addressed to the Authority Service Area 

  

11.2.2  clearly marked “Tender” followed by the subject matter to which it relates  

  

 11.2.3  kept in a safe place by Financial Services   

  

 11.2.4  retained unopened until the date and time specified for its opening.  

  

11.2.5  opened by the relevant Director or nominee and an immediate record shall 
be made of the tenders received including names and addresses and the 
date and time of opening.  

  

11.3 Where the Authority has indicated in the Invitation to Tender that a tender can or must 

be submitted electronically via the Authority’s e-tendering system (if any), then those 

tenders shall be:  

  

11.3.1  in the format specified in the Invitation to Tender  

  

11.3.2  remain sealed and unopened in the system until the date and time specified 

for its opening  

  

 11.3.3  opened by a staff member of Financial Services  

  

11.4  No tender received after the time and date specified for its opening shall be accepted 

or considered by the Authority unless the relevant Director is satisfied that there is 

sufficient evidence of the tender having been dispatched in time for it to have arrived 

before the closing date and time, or other exceptional circumstances apply and the 

other tenders have not been opened.  

  

Page 350



12  Evaluation of Quotes and Tenders  

  

12.1  All quotes and tenders shall be evaluated in accordance with evaluation criteria notified 

in advance to those submitting quotes/tenders.   

  

12.2  Tenders subject to the PCR 2015 and CCR 2016 shall be evaluated in accordance with 

the relevant PCR.  

  

12.3  Save in exceptional circumstances, approved in advance by the relevant Director, all 

contracts shall be awarded based on the quote or tender which represents best value 

for money to the Authority, as determined by the award criteria detailed in the invitation 

to tender or quote and not based on lowest price.  

  

13  Waivers  

  

13.1 The requirement for the Authority to conduct a competitive purchasing process for 

contracts at or above £25,000 may be waived in the following circumstances:  

  

13.1.1 for contracts which are not subject to the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016, the work, 

supply, service or grant of service or work concession is required as a matter of 

urgency and a delay would be likely to lead to financial loss, personal injury or 

damage to property; or  

  

13.1.2 the circumstances set out in the PCR 201510 apply (whether or not the contract 

is of a type which is subject to the application of the PCR 2015); or  

  

13.1.3  the contract is awarded under a purchasing scheme of a type where a 

competition has already been undertaken on behalf of the Authority; or  

  

13.1.4  subject to CSO 13.5, at the discretion of the relevant Director, who may 

proceed in a manner most expedient to the efficient management of the 
service/Authority, with reasons recorded in writing.  

  

13.2 A Responsible Officer who seeks a waiver of Contract Standing Orders, shall do so only 

in advance and only in exceptional circumstances. Further guidance on what may 

constitute exceptional circumstances permitting waiver of these Contract Standing 

Orders is set out in the Procurement Guide.  

  

13.2.1 The relevant Director may waive the requirement for the Authority to conduct a 

particular type of procurement process e.g., an advertised quote process may be 

waived in favour of a select list process11.   

  

 13.3  All waivers from these Contract Standing Orders must be:   

  

 13.3.1  Fully documented  

                          
13.3.2  Subject to a written report in an approved format to be submitted in advance 

to the relevant Director which shall include reasons for the waiver which demonstrate 

that the waiver is genuinely required  

  

                                                
10 Regulation 32 Public Contracts Regulations 2015  

11 There is still a competitive purchasing process but the route is not as detailed as set out in CSO 7.5  

Page 351



 

 

13.3.3  Subject to approval in advance by the relevant Director, who shall record that 

they have considered the reasons for the waiver and that they are satisfied 

that the circumstances justifying the waiver are genuinely exceptional.   

  

 13.4  All decisions on waivers must take into account:   

  

 13.4.1  Probity  

  

 13.4.2  Best value/value for money principles.  

  

13.5  For contracts subject to the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016, any waiver from the requirement 

for competition must meet the conditions set out in the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016, in 

addition to the general requirements above.   

  

 13.6  A waiver shall not be applied for reasons of poor contract planning.  

  

14  Extensions and Modifications to Existing Contracts  

  

14.1  An extension to the duration of an existing contract may be implemented if specifically 

provided for in the contract and for the specified period.  

  

14.2  Extensions to the duration of and/or modifications to existing contracts such as the 

inclusion of additional services shall be.  

   

14.2.1 made in accordance with any statutory restrictions and any specific terms of the 

contract  

  

 14.2.2 fully documented  

  

14.2.3 subject to a written report in an approved format to be submitted to the relevant 

Director, which shall include reasons for the extension or modification   

  

14.2.4  subject to approval by the relevant Director who shall record that they have 

considered the reasons for the extension or modification and that they are 

satisfied that there are circumstances justifying the extension or modification.   

  

14.3 Any extension to the duration of and/or modification to existing contracts must consider:   

  

 14.3.1  Probity  

  

 14.3.2  Best value/value for money principles.  

  

14.4  Where the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 apply, any extension to the duration of and/or 

modification to existing contracts must meet the conditions set out in the PCR 201512 

or CCR201613 in addition to the more general requirements set out above  

 

15  Purchasing Schemes (including Framework Agreements)  

  

15.1 A Responsible Officer may use purchasing schemes subject to the following conditions 

and the Procurement Guide.   

                                                
12 Regulation 72 of Public Contracts Regulations 2015  

13 Regulation 43 of the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016  

Page 352



  

 15.2  Responsible Officers must check in advance that   

  

15.2.1 The Authority is legally entitled to use the purchasing scheme  

  

15.2.2  The purchases to be made do properly fall within the coverage of the purchasing 

scheme   

  

15.2.3  The establishment and operation of each purchasing scheme follows the PCR 

2015 or CCR 2016 (where they apply) and meets the Authority's own 

requirements.  

  

 15.3  A “purchasing scheme” may include:   

  

 15.3.1  Contractor prequalification lists/select lists  

  

 15.3.2  Framework arrangements (including those set up by the Crown  

Commercial Service and Welsh Government’s Commercial Delivery Team 

 and any successor body)  

  

15.3.3 Purchasing arrangements set up by central purchasing bodies and commercial 

organisations   

  

 15.3.4  Consortium purchasing  

  

 15.3.5  Collaborative working arrangements  

  

 15.3.6  Formal agency arrangements  

  

 15.3.7  E-procurement/purchasing schemes and methods  

  

 15.3.8  Other similar arrangements e.g., procurement platforms, which drive  

  compliance, provide controls over the procurement process and allow 

organisations to achieve contract realisation etc.  

  

15.4 Where a purchasing scheme is used, subject to CSO 15.5 to and including CSO 14.7, 

there shall be a whole or partial exemption from the obligations under these Contract 

Standing Orders in respect of the choice and conduct of procedures to the extent 

permitted and indicated in the Procurement Guide.   

  

15.5 A waiver form shall be completed to authorise the use of a purchasing scheme referred 

to in CSO 13.1.3.  

  
15.6 Responsible Officers shall liaise with the Legal Services regarding the use of a 

purchasing scheme and follow the rules set down under the scheme.  There may be a 

requirement under the scheme to conduct a mini-competition - this shall be undertaken 

with the assistance of Legal Services.   

  

15.7  Use of a purchasing scheme shall not negate the requirement for due-diligence 

checks on financial standing and insurance. Formal contracts shall be entered into, 

and the purchasing scheme shall clearly define the documentation required.  

  

 

Page 353



 

 

16  Review and Changes to these Contract Standing Orders  

  

16.1  These Contract Standing Orders shall be reviewed and updated every 3 years 

  

16.2  Save in the case of revisions to the thresholds referred to in CSO 7.5 (which shall be 

dealt with by the Chief Executive revisions to Contract Standing Orders shall be 

agreed by the Authority.  

  

17  Suspension of these Contract Standing Orders  

  

17.1  These Contract Standing Orders may be suspended in accordance with the Authority 

Standing Order 26.  

 Interpretation 

 
1. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer shall compile and 

maintain CSOs and advise on their implementation and interpretation. 

2. The Chief Executive, after consultation with the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance 

Officer may change the thresholds in Contract Standing Orders annually (or as appropriate) 

to take account of changes in the retail prices index and other factors so that the 

effectiveness and impact of the thresholds is maintained 

3. These CSOs are supplemented by the Procurement Guide authorised by the Chief Executive 

and maintained by Legal Services. If there is any conflict or inconsistency between the 

provisions of the Procurement Guide and CSOs, CSOs shall apply. If Legal Services are 

unavailable, the Chief Executive Officer should act in its place. 

4. These CSOs supplement the officers’ code of conduct and a failure to comply will normally 

be regarded as a disciplinary offence. 

5. Where any power or authority under these CSOs may be executed by a Director, any such 

power may also be executed by the Chief Executive Officer 

  

Page 354



APPENDIX 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Purchasing Guide 

Introduction – the Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) and this Purchasing Guide 

• The CSOs are the starting point for good purchasing practice.  They contain the core 

obligations for a robust purchasing framework.  As they form part of the Authority’s 

Constitution, they can only be changed by resolution of full Authority, unless specific powers 

to make amendments have been delegated to an Officer or other body.  They are made under 

the Authority’s powers under section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

• This Purchasing Guide provides practical guidance on how the CSOs apply to purchasing 

decisions and processes.  It explains some of the more technical and legal issues involved in 

procurement and provides practical working examples.  

• You must use this Purchasing Guide when purchasing on behalf of the Authority.  You must 

also follow the CSOs and the other documents referred to in CSO 4.   

• Purchasing can involve complex technical provisions and legal rules. Breach of those 

technical provisions, the legal rules, the CSOs or this Purchasing Guide can have serious 

consequences for the Authority and for you.  If you are in doubt then you must seek 

assistance. If you have any queries about the CSOs, this Purchasing Guide or the other 

documents used in or related to the Authority’s purchasing, then please contact Legal 

Services  

• The structure of this Purchasing Guide follows the structure of the CSOs.  In this Purchasing 

Guide, the CSOs are set out in shaded boxes, followed by commentary and guidance on 

those CSOs. 

• This Purchasing Guide is a “living” document which will be reviewed periodically by officers.  

If you have comments or suggestions for improvements, please contact the Legal Services 

  

Page 355



 

 

THE PURCHASING GUIDE 

 Introduction – Purpose of the Contract Standing Orders 

1.1       Purchasing decisions and processes are important because the money involved is 
public money. The purpose of these Contract Standing Orders is to provide a 
structure within which purchasing decisions are made and implemented and which 
ensure that the Authority: 

 1.1.1 Furthers its corporate objectives 

 1.1.2 Uses its resources efficiently 

 1.1.3 Purchases quality goods, services and works   

1.1.4 Safeguards its reputation from any implication of dishonesty or 

corruption.  

1.2 Purchasing by the Authority, from planning to delivery, shall incorporate (where 
appropriate) principles of sustainability, efficiency, whole life costings and cost savings. 

1.3     These Contract Standing Orders do not provide guidelines on what is the best way to 

purchase works, supplies (goods) and services.  They set out minimum requirements to 

be followed.  Further information and guidelines are set out in the Authority’s Purchasing 

Guide  

 

CSO 1.1 

1 Good and effective purchasing must be embedded in the day-to-day practices of the 

Authority.  The key objectives of purchasing, outlined in CSO 1.1 and CSO 1.2 must be 

considered from the initial planning and conceptual stages of the purchasing process. The 

purchasing process is not limited to the stage when you seek a quote or tender.   

2 Failure to consider these key issues can impact on both the quote or tender process, and 

also the long-term delivery of the works, supplies or services which are being purchased.   

Example: You need to think carefully about the quality and specification for the goods you wish to 

purchase. Failure to incorporate your requirements into the contract may result in substandard or 

poor-quality goods being provided to the Authority.  The Authority is unlikely to be able to do very 

much about this if its own requirements have not been clearly specified in the tender and contract 

documents.   

Conversely, if the Authority has clearly specified the quality of the goods required and when 

delivered they are not up to standard, then the Authority will be able to ensure that standards can 

be improved or, potentially, cancel the contract arrangements. 

Page 356



 

 

CSO 1.2 

3 You must consider the principles of sustainability, efficiency, whole life costings and cost 

savings, during the purchasing process.  

4 "Sustainability": The Welsh Government’s Well-being of Future Generations Act’s well-

being goals sets are: 

 A prosperous Wales 
 A resilient Wales 
 A healthier Wales 
 A more equal Wales 
 A Wales of more cohesive communities 
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
 A globally responsible Wales 

Sustainable procurement is a process whereby organisations meet their needs for goods, 

services, works and utilities in a way that achieves value for money on a whole life basis in 

terms of generating benefits not only to the organisation, but also to society and the economy, 

whilst minimising damage to the environment.    

5 "Efficiency":  The Authority must continuously improve all its services.  This means that the 

Authority must purchase the most appropriate best value works, supplies or services and 

deliver continuous improvement throughout each contract.  For contracts which relate to more 

than just a one-off purchase, the Authority will need to exercise ongoing monitoring and 

review of the contract to ensure 

a. customer satisfaction,  

b. continued high quality delivery,  

c. compliance with environmental and equality standards, and  

d. the opportunity to identify service improvements and cost savings.   

This could be reflected in an efficiency and improvement clause in the contract.  See further 

comments on standard clauses at CSO 3. 

6 "Whole life costing": requires you to ensure that the whole potential cost of the contract is 

taken into account.   

Example: In letting an equipment supply contract, as well as the initial capital spend, you 

need to consider the length of the asset’s useful life, the cost of ongoing maintenance, 

replacement of parts and servicing and consumables, so that there is true cost to the 

Authority of the purchase being made.  To buy a copier which initially costs £2,500 may be 

more expensive than one that initially costs £4,500, if the cheap copier uses expensive paper 

and toner, needs servicing every three months and is scrapped after 5 years, whilst the more 

expensive one uses cheaper paper and toner, needs servicing only once every 2 years and 

lasts for 10 years.   

7 "Cost savings": Each contract or purchase must set out the agreed price to be paid by the 

Authority to the contractor.  The Authority cannot then unilaterally reduce the price but 

conditions relating to long term service improvement and efficiencies can be incorporated into 

the contract documents. 

Page 357



 

 

There may be ways of structuring a purchasing exercise to save costs.  This might be through 

a joint purchasing exercise with other public sector bodies or by re-examining the way a 

service is provided. 

8 Effective contract monitoring is essential to achieve continuous improvement, especially 

during the implementation of long-term contracts, particularly if the contractor is under a duty 

to work with the Authority to seek improvements in delivery and efficiency.  It is usually 

sensible to provide for annual reviews in the contract, which can then be tied in with, for 

example, payments to reflect good performance and provisions allowing for inflation 

increases. 

Example: The Authority needs to demonstrate to central government each year, its compliance 

with the Local Government Equalities Standard.  An obligation in the contract to ensure ongoing 

compliance with Equalities legislation is of little value if the Authority fails to review and record 

the contractor’s compliance regularly.  

9 If the Authority knows that a contractor is not complying with contract requirements, then it 

needs to address the matter promptly.  If the Authority has regularly raised and recorded 

issues with a contractor, made formal requests for improvements, which are not delivered, 

then there may be a clear basis for either an action for damages or termination. 

 

CSO 1.3 

11       This Purchasing Guide is the guide referred to in CSO 1.3. It provides broader 

guidelines on the best way to purchase works, supplies (goods) and services. 

2 General Principles – Application and Compliance with Contract Standing Orders 

2.1 These Contract Standing Orders apply to the purchase by or on behalf of the Authority of 

works, supplies (goods) and services. 

2.2 These Contract Standing Orders apply to all contracts including all purchase orders, 
concessions and contractual arrangements entered into by or on behalf of the 
Authority, except for the specific types of contracts and purchasing methods which 
are listed in 2.3.   

2.3 These Contract Standing Orders do not apply to:  

 2.3.1 Employment contracts  

 2.3.2 Contracts relating solely to the purchase or sale of interests in land 

2.3.3 Contracts for retention of legal counsel and the appointment of expert witnesses 

in legal proceedings 

2.3.4. Service level agreements setting out the conditions which the Authority applies 

to its funding of particular voluntary sector bodies.  

CS0 2.1 

1         The CSOs apply to all purchasing activities by, undertaken by or on behalf of the 

Authority. The words “works”, “supplies” and “services” are the words used in the EU Rules 

to define different types of contracts. Put simply, “works” cover construction, refurbishment 

and other building related works. “Supplies” are all types of goods - from paperclips to 

Page 358



photocopiers and vehicles, and “services” cover the full range of services provided or 

purchased by the Authority in its day to day activities.  Some contracts can be hybrid 

arrangements covering works, supplies or services.  If this is the case and you are not sure 

how to define a particular arrangement, please take advice from the Procurement unit  

CS0 2.2 

2 Words and terms used to describe types of arrangements which are often contracts: 

Do not be misled by the label for any particular arrangement.  The CSOs apply to all 

purchasing and contracts except where specific exemptions apply. A lot of purchasing is by 

way of formal contracts.  However, contracts can exist even when the word “contract” is not 

used. So, for example, "agreements", "purchase orders", "terms and conditions" and 

equipment or vehicle "leases" are nearly always a type of purchasing and so are contracts 

which are subject to the CSOs.  (Leases for land or property are not covered by these CSOs 

– see comment on CSO 2.3.2).  Sometimes a formal agreement may be preceded by a 

"memorandum of understanding" or "heads of terms” but take care that such preliminary 

documents do not themselves amount to a binding contract.  

3 Contracts can also be created by words or actions and so it is possible to have a contract 

without having anything in writing.  

Example:  Be careful to ensure that a contract is not implied as a result of conversations which you 

have with potential contractors or exchanges of correspondence (including e-mails) which may be 

intended to be mere exchanges of views, but which could amount to a formal contract.   

If, for example, you invite quotes and receive a quote in response, you may create a legal contract 

if you then ring the contractor and say that you are happy with that quote.  A contractor could then 

rely on the conversation to either oblige the Authority to enter into a formal written contract or to 

sue the Authority in the event that the Authority decides not to go ahead on that basis, despite 

those assurances. 

4 Concessions are a specific type of contractual arrangement under which, rather than paying 

the contractor to deliver a work or service, the Authority will grant the contractor the right to 

exploit an opportunity and receive some or all of its income from third parties.  A good example 

is the operation of catering or leisure facilities where some or all of a contractor’s income can 

come direct from paying members of the public.  

5 The terms “service level agreements” and “grant” are particularly problematic, and their 

usage is inconsistent.  Do not assume that a service level agreement or grant is not a contract. 

The term “service level agreement” can be used to describe a specification or technical 

requirements type document which sets out the level of service required under a contract.  It 

is also sometimes used to describe what is, in practice, a legally binding contract.  The same 

issues apply to arrangements classified as grants.  

6 Partnering arrangements: There have been considerable moves over the last few years 

toward the concept of working “in partnership” with other public, voluntary and private sector 

organisations. When the Authority is entering into a partnering type of arrangement, it may 

need to follow a tendering process resulting in a formal contract.  PLEASE TAKE ADVICE. 

7 Some “partnering” arrangements – particularly those with other public bodies such as the 

NHS – are genuine partnering (as opposed to a legal partnership (see below)) involving, for 

example, the pooling of resources to deliver services. Other arrangements are labelled as 

partnering arrangements but are formal contractual arrangements.  A common example is 

the “partnering” approach used for construction contracts. 

Page 359



 

 

8 A formal legal “Partnership” has a specific legal meaning.  A legal partnership will be caught 

by statute and other rules. It is possible to create a legal partnership without intending to do 

so and this can have significant consequences, as partners usually share both profits and 

losses arising from the partnership. Great care must be taken when using this term, to ensure 

that a legal partnership is not implied.  Your legal team will have a standard clause to deal 

with this. 

9 Summary: Wherever an arrangement means that works, supplies and/or services will be 

provided to the Authority, or on behalf of the Authority, in return for some sort of “payment” 

(which could be a monetary payment but could also be something else of value to the 

recipient), then you need to consider whether or not this is a type of contract and purchasing 

process which is subject to the CSOs and other Regulatory Provisions listed in  

CSO4. 

10 The best approach to adopt is to assume that the CSOs will apply to all of the Authority’s 

purchasing activities with only very limited exceptions. You must take advice from the 

Procurement unit if you are uncertain about whether the CSOs apply. 

CSO 2.3 

11 There are some specified types of contracts to which the CSOs do not apply.  These are 

listed in CSO2.3.  These are excluded, because it generally does not make practical or legal 

sense to require a full tendering process for these types of contracts. However, these 

arrangements are subject to other specific requirements. 

12 CSO 2.3.1 Employment contracts: employment opportunities are usually advertised, and 

people are appointed to their posts as a result of a formal appointment process.  Employees 

enter into individual employment contracts with the Authority. 

13 However, contracts involving the purchase of services from individuals – such as consultancy 

or advisory service contracts – are often not “employment contracts” for the purposes of this 

exception and are likely to be subject to the CSOs. Similarly, contracts with employment 

agencies for the provision of temporary staff will be caught by the CSOs. 

14 CSO 2.3.2 Contracts relating solely to the transfer of interests in land (including existing 

buildings) are generally not caught. This includes the purchase or disposal of land by way of 

a freehold or lease. This will apply to most of the Authority’s day-to-day conveyancing and 

land transactions.  

15 Take care over development type agreements which may, for example, involve a combination 

of a land transfer plus a developer providing a building for the Authority. These can be caught 

by the EU Rules as they can be classified as “works” contracts because of the building 

element. This is a complex area of European law.   You must seek advice from the 

Procurement unit. 

16 CSO 2.3.3 Contracts for the retention of legal counsel and the appointment of expert 

witnesses in legal proceedings: The legal team is responsible for agreeing fees with and 

appointing legal counsel (barristers) to work on legal issues and appropriate Heads of Service 

are responsible for the appointment of expert witnesses. 

17 CSO 2.3.4 Service level agreements setting out the conditions which the Authority 

applies to its funding of particular voluntary sector bodies: in some limited 

circumstances, funding arrangements for voluntary sector bodies may not be caught by the 

CSOs. An example of the type of arrangement which may fall within this exception, is low 

value funding to a voluntary group to ensure the continued provision of a critical local service.  

Page 360



18 Take care because some funding arrangements may be more like a contract than a simple 

funding arrangement. The Authority must ensure that it obtains appropriate value in respect 

of all funding and that it is not contravening State Aid, EU Rules or EC Treaty Principles.  You 

need to look carefully at each funding arrangement and consider whether it could be delivered 

better because of a competitive process. A Service Level Agreement is unlikely to be an 

appropriate method for large scale and/or long-term funding.  

3 General Principles Applying to All Contracts 

3.1 All purchases however small shall be in writing. 

3.2          Standard contract clauses shall be used in all contracts.  The standard contract clauses 

are attached as an appendix to these orders. 

3.3 As a minimum, all contracts shall include clauses which set out: 

3.3.1       The works, supplies (goods), services, material, matters or things to be carried 

out or supplied 

 3.3.2 The time within which the contract is to be performed 

 3.3.3 Quality requirements and/or standards which must be met 

3.3.4        Requirements on the contractor to hold and maintain appropriate insurance 

3.3.5      What happens in the event that the contractor fails to comply with its contractual 

obligations (in whole or in part) 

3.3.6       Requirements on the contractor to comply with all relevant equalities and health 

and safety legislation 

3.3.7     That the Authority shall be entitled to cancel the contract and recover losses in 
the event that the contractor does anything improper to influence the 
Authority to give the contractor any contract or commits an offence under the 
Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916 or s117(2) Local Government 
Act 1972. 

3.4 Written contracts shall not include non-commercial terms unless these are  

necessary to achieve best value for the Authority.  In this context, “non-commercial” 
means requirements unrelated to the actual performance of the contract  

3.5         All contracts shall include relevant specifications and/or briefs/technical requirements 
which are prepared taking into account the need for effectiveness of delivery, quality, 
sustainability and efficiency (as appropriate) and the information set out in the 
Authority’s Purchasing Guide 

3.6       All contracts of a value of £5,000 or more or which involve a substantial risk to the 

Authority must be subject to a written risk assessment, which should be kept on the 

contract file. 

Page 361



 

 

CSO 3.1 

1 Because the Authority may need to enforce the terms of an agreement, it is important that 

the terms of the agreement are clearly recorded and confirmed by the other party. 

Accordingly, any contract will be in writing. “In writing” does not have to be a formal or lengthy 

paper contract. It can be a paper contract, signed by both sides, but it can equally be in the 

form of ordinary correspondence, including emails or faxes rather than hard paper  

letters, in which one side sets out its requirements and the other side agrees to comply with 

them. 

2 A contract in writing can also be created by using the Authority’s own standard terms and 

conditions, plus an order form, electronic purchasing where pre-terms and conditions have 

been pre-agreed or, for example, where a Purchasing Scheme is used so that the terms and 

conditions have been agreed centrally, (see commentary on CSO 15). 

3 Please note that if the Authority does not make it clear that its own terms and conditions, 

order forms or contracts apply, then the contractor’s terms and conditions may apply to the 

purchase.  This may not be in the Authority’s best interests. 

Example: The Responsible Officer emails a contractor asking them to quote to provide some new 

software.  The software contractor sends its quote back to the Authority by post. On the back of 

the quote are the contractor's own legal terms and conditions.  The Responsible Officer accepts 

the quote, over the telephone and confirms the order by e-mail.  A contract has been created in 

writing.  Unless both of the emails from the Responsible Officer made it clear that the Authority's 

terms and conditions apply and the contractor has seen those terms and conditions, it is likely that 

the contractor's own terms and conditions will apply to that transaction. 

CSO 3.2 

4       To protect the Authority’s interests, this CSO requires you to use certain standard 

contract clauses in all contracts over the specified value.  This means that risks are allocated 

appropriately and that the Authority has a remedy in the event of breach of contract.  

CSO 3.3 

5 This CSO does not set out the actual clauses to be used, but points to the issues which you 

need to cover in contracts above the specified value (if a value is specified, or if no value is 

specified, to all contracts).  You need to consider the value and complexity of the contract 

and any potential risks associated with that contract to decide what form of contract and level 

of detail is appropriate. 

6 CSO 3.3.1: This requires you to describe clearly in the contract what is being purchased.  The 

description may cross refer to a more detailed description of the works, supplies or services 

which could, for example, be attached to the contract by way of an appendix or schedule.  If 

you do not clearly specify what is being purchased, then there is a lot of potential for dispute 

with contractors about the extent of their obligations to the Authority. 

7 CSO 3.3.2: Be clear about when and for how long the contract is to apply.  For example, with 

the delivery of equipment it would be important to ensure that there is a clause stating when 

equipment will be delivered and installed.  For longer term contracts, you need to be clear 

about when the obligation to deliver starts and ends.   

8 CSO 3.3.3: Be clear about what level of quality and standards are required.  Think about 

minimum standards required.  This should involve discussion with those who are responsible 

for the purchase.   

Page 362



9 CSO 3.3.4: All contractors should hold some form of insurance to cover their business 

liabilities.  There are different types of insurance which will apply to different types of 

purchase.  Ensure that there is a clause in the contract stating what type and level of 

insurance is required.  This will link directly to what is being purchased and also the size and 

nature of the contract.  For a very high value contract, higher levels of insurance may  

be required than for smaller purchases.  However, think about the impact of the failure of the 

contract.  A small purchase could have a large impact on the Authority and so insurance 

requirements may well be higher.  If you are uncertain about insurance requirements, then 

please discuss this with the Procurement unit or the Insurance team within the finance 

section.  

10 The Responsible Officer should ask for evidence of cover before the start of the 

contract and during the term of the contract.  

Example: The Authority may require a contractor providing a relatively low value contract for the 

provision of cooked meals direct to users to have higher levels of third-party liability insurance than 

a contractor providing pencils to the Authority. This is because the consequences of a faulty product 

being supplied are likely to be far more significant in a contract involving meals than pencils. 

11 CSO 3.3.5: The contract must explain what happens if there is a failure to meet the Authority's 

requirements under the contract.  It is common to have provisions for both a partial failure 

and a total failure.  The implications will vary according to what is being purchased and the 

nature of those failures.  A contract may, for example, just require the contractor to remedy a 

failure within a specific time period.  If the contractor remedies the failure to the Authority’s 

satisfaction, then that may be the only consequence.  Failure to remedy to the Authority’s 

satisfaction may result in more serious consequences, such as the right to terminate the 

contract partially or wholly.  Think about the practical consequences of failure and the 

Authority’s interest in terms of failures and their consequences.  In the context of building 

contracts, it is quite common to retain a percentage of the total contract value pending final 

sign off and approval of the works so that the Authority has some real leverage in the event 

that the work is not delivered to the required standard.  

12 CSO 3.3.6: Contractors will be subject to their own statutory obligations to comply with both 

equalities and health & safety legislation.  However, the Authority may require additional 

compliance to reflect its own statutory obligations, or to pick up specific standards and 

compliance linked to the subject matter of the contract. 

13 CSO 3.3.7: This is a standard provision entitling the Authority to cancel a contract and to 

recover losses if the contractor is guilty of an offence, such as bribery or corruption or tries to 

improperly influence a decision.   

CSO 3.4 

14     Ensure that the terms used in the contract are relevant to that contract.  Do not include 

provisions in contracts, which do not relate to the subject matter of the contract.  Check the 

proposed terms and ensure that they are relevant. For example, detailed clauses for 

circumstances where equipment goes wrong may not be relevant to a contract for training 

services. 

CSO 3.5 

15 Good quality specifications and/or technical requirements are critical for letting and 

monitoring a successful contract.  A contract which only includes legal terms but does not, 

clearly describe, what standards are required is of little practical value.  Identify these 

Page 363



 

 

requirements at the start of the purchasing process, so that the standards are clearly 

described when quotations or tenders are invited for inclusion in the contract and ongoing 

contract monitoring arrangements. 

16 Specifications and/or technical requirements need to be "proportionate".  This means that for 

a very simple purchase, the specification could be very simple.  For more complex purchases, 

the specification may go into quite a lot of detail.  For purchases which are technically 

demanding, you must address detailed technical and standards compliance.  These 

documents need to be prepared jointly with officers having specialist knowledge of the 

purchase who need to be involved as early as possible in the purchasing process. 

CSO 3.6   

17       Even low value contracts may have a significant impact if they go wrong, so it is 

important to adopt a risk analysis type approach.  This is set out in the risk matrix included as 

"Attachment 1" at the end of this Purchasing Guide. 

Example 1: A low value contract for photography services may look initially like a simple arrangement 

which does not require detailed contract provisions. However, in some circumstances, such a 

contract may need to include provisions covering the confidentiality of individuals, protection of 

children and copyright issues and so a fuller form of contract may be appropriate. 

Example 2.  A contract to set up one stage of a nationally important racing competition event in a 

town or city may ostensibly be of low financial value, but the difficulties arising from partnership 

working, reputation risks and even adverse weather, could result in major losses for the Authority.  

The need for careful risk management in the drafting of the contract is correspondingly important.  

Page 364



4 Regulatory Context 

4.1 All purchasing shall be conducted in accordance with Regulatory Provisions which 

are:  

 4.1.1 All relevant statutory provisions 

4.1.2      The relevant EU Rules and EC Treaty Principles, which are defined in the 

Authority’s Purchasing Guide 

4.1.3       The Authority’s Constitution including these Contract Standing Orders, the 

Authority’s Financial Procedure Rules and Scheme of Delegation 

4.1.4      The Authority’s Purchasing Guide and other policies and procedures of the 

Authority as appropriate.  

4.2       In the event of conflict between the above, the EU Rules will take precedence, followed 

by UK legislation, then the Authority's Constitution, the Authority’s Purchasing Guide 

and guidelines, policies and procedures. 

CSO 4.1 

1 This CSO requires purchasing to be conducted in accordance with "Regulatory Provisions".  

Regulatory provisions are defined in 4.1.1 to 4.1.4 and cover EU and UK law, as well as the 

Authority’s own constitution and this Purchasing Guide.  This means that when undertaking 

purchasing, you need to consider a wide range of both legally binding provisions and also 

internal rules and guidance. 

2 CSO 4.1.1: The statutory provisions applying to purchasing will vary according to the 

purchase being made.  Key provisions include Section 17 of the Local Government Act 1988 

which prohibits the application of non-commercial considerations to the tender process and 

in particular the selection of contractors, except insofar as is necessary to secure the 

achievement of best value.  In that context, non-commercial considerations include, for 

example, the contractor’s terms and conditions of employment, business activities and 

interests of contractors in the Government’s defence or foreign policy and the conduct of 

contractors in industrial disputes.  Please ask for advice on non-commercial considerations 

for any tendered contract  

3 CSO 4.1.2: The term “EU Rules” in the context of these CSOs means the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2006 (Statutory Instrument 2006/5) (also referred to as the “Regulations") which 

implement European Directives 2004/18/EC and 89/665/EEC. The EU Rules will affect you if 

you are making purchases which exceed the EU Threshold Values set out in CSO 7.4.  You 

MUST seek assistance from the Procurement unit in these cases.  

In certain, limited, circumstances the Authority may be classified as acting in the capacity of 

a “utility”. This could occur where the Authority is delivering or running certain types of water, 

energy, transport, or telecoms services. Practical examples may include the running of an 

airport or operation of a tramway or the production of drinking water or, in certain 

circumstances, undertaking land drainage works. In this case the Utilities Contracts 

Regulations 2006 (Statutory Instrument 2006/6) which implements European Directives 

2004/17/EC and 92/13/EC apply. These CSOs do not cover the rules applying to activities 

caught by the Utilities Regulations.  If you are uncertain about the application of these 

provisions, you must take advice from Procurement unit.  

Page 365



 

 

4 The reference to “EC Treaty Principles” means those principles derived from the EC Treaty 

1957 which apply to all purchasing by the Authority. These EC Treaty Principles require the 

Authority to ensure that it acts in a way which is open and transparent, ensures equal 

treatment of all contractors, and permits appropriate competition.   

Example: When you invite quotes or tenders, do not act in a way that favours local contractors 

over contractors from elsewhere in the European Union. All contractors must have the same 

opportunities and receive the same treatment. 

5 The EU Rules do not apply to all contracts, but they do apply to most contracts above 

the specified EU Threshold financial values which are set out in CSO 7.5.  For 

purchases caught by the EU Rules or where you are uncertain whether or not the EU 

Rules apply you must take advice from the Procurement unit. 

6 CSO 4.1.3: You need to understand how the Authority’s Constitution, Financial Regulations 

and Scheme(s) of Delegation, as they apply to purchasing, interact with these CSOs.  

CSO 4.2 

7 If there is a conflict between the different sets of Regulatory Provisions, then there is a 

"hierarchy" application.  EU Rules will always take precedence.  Where UK legislation seems 

to conflict with EU Rules their interpretation will apply rather than the UK legislation.  If you 

are uncertain about these issues, then you must contact Legal Services 

 

Page 366



5 Responsibilities of Directors and Responsible Officers  

 5.1 Each Director shall: 

 5.1.1  be responsible for the purchasing undertaken by his/her Directorate. 

5.1.2     be accountable to the Executive for the performance of his/her duties in 
relation to purchasing 

5.1.3    comply with the Authority’s decision-making processes including, where 
appropriate, implementing and operating a Scheme of Delegation 

5.1.4  appoint a Responsible Officer in writing who shall be an authorised 

signatory 

5.1.5  take immediate action in the event of breach of these Contract Standing 

Orders. 

5.2       A Responsible Officer is an officer with responsibility for conducting purchasing 
processes for the purchase of works, supplies (goods) or services on behalf of the 
Authority 

5.3  A Responsible Officer’s duties in respect of purchasing are to ensure:  

5.3.1 compliance with all Regulatory Provisions and integrity of the tender 

process 

5.3.2  compliance with the relevant statutory provisions and the Authority’s 
requirements relating to declarations of interest affecting any purchasing 
process 

5.3.3     that there is an appropriate analysis of the requirement, timescales, procedure 
and documentation to be used  

5.3.4  the purchasing process, from planning to delivery incorporates (where 
appropriate) principles of sustainability, efficiency, whole life costings and 
cost savings 

 5.3.5  compliance with the Authority's decision-making processes 

5.3.6     ensuring that all contracts of a value of £15,000 or more are included on the 
Authority’s Contract Register 

5.3.7   making sure that that proper records of all contract award procedure, 
waivers/exemptions and extensions are maintained, with separate files for 
each purchase of a value of £15,000 or more 

 5.3.8  that value for money is achieved 

Page 367



 

 

 

5.3.9      that adequate and appropriate security (such as a bond or guarantee) is 

taken to protect the Authority in the event of non-performance.  

5.4  
In considering how best to procure works, supplies and services Directors and/or 

Responsible Officers (as appropriate in the context) shall consider wider contractual 

delivery opportunities and purchasing methods including the use of Purchasing 

Schemes and e-procurement/purchasing methods, and the availability of local 

authority charging and trading powers under the Local Government Act 2003. 

5.5  
It is a disciplinary offence to fail to comply with these Contract Standing Orders and 

the Authority’s Purchasing Guide.  All employees have a duty to report breaches of 

Contract Standing Orders to the Head of Internal Audit and Risk Strategy.  

5.6  Any officer or Member who suspects any misconduct or corruption in relation to the 

purchase by or on behalf of the Authority of works, supplies (goods) and services 

must immediately report that suspicion to the Authority’s Monitoring Officer and 

Head of Internal Audit and Risk Strategy. 

CSO 5 

1 The Director has overall responsibility for the purchasing processes undertaken by, or on 

behalf of his or her Directorate.  The Director is responsible for ensuring compliance as set 

out in CSO 5.1.   

2 CSO 5.1.3: Refer to the Authorities Scheme of Delegatins for details.  

3 CSO 5.1.5: Upon becoming aware of a breach of regulatory provisions (including the contract 

standing orders) a Director must take immediate action.  A failure to take immediate action 

may result in a purchasing process continuing in breach of the Regulatory Provisions, 

explained in CSO 4.  This could have unwelcome practical, financial and legal consequences 

for the Authority. 

If an officer or Member becomes aware of a breach, or a suspected breach, of the Authority’s 

contract standing orders then he or she must report the matter immediately to the Head of 

Internal Audit and Risk Strategy to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to address the 

breach or potential breach. 

CSO 5.2 

4        The Responsible Officer is appointed by the Director.  The Responsible Officer’s duties 

are set out in CSO 5.3. 

CSO 5.3 

5 CSO 5.3.1: The Regulatory Provisions are explained at CSO 4.  In addition to the specific 

Regulatory Provisions, Directors must ensure that the tender process is conducted in a way 

which complies with all the requirements of the Contract Standing Orders and in a manner 

which is open and transparent and ensures equality of treatment and opportunity to all 

participants. 

Page 368



6 CSO 5.3.2: Due attention must be made to the requirements in respect of declarations of 

interests, affecting both Members and officers in respect of purchasing.  In the case of 

Members, the requirements of the Code of Conduct would include: 

• Registering any contracts which they or companies with which they are associated 

have with the Authority for goods, services or works; 

• Declaring any personal interest which they may have in any contract which is under 

consideration, and to withdraw from consideration of any contract in which they have 

a prejudicial interest; 

• Not using their position as a Member improperly to seek to confer an advantage or 

disadvantage on any person or to compromise or seek to compromise the impartiality 

of any officer;  

• Only authorising the use of Authority resources, to act in accordance with the 

Authority’s requirements; 

• Preventing Members from corruptly soliciting or accepting any gift or advantage for 

doing or forbearing to do anything as a Member. 

In the case of officers, such requirements would include: 

• To disclose to the Authority any interest which they may have in any contract which 

the Authority has entered or proposes to enter into under Section 117 of the Local 

Government Act 1972; 

• To act in the best interests of the Authority and not to participate in any matter in which 

they have a private interest in accordance with their contracts of employment; 

• Preventing officers from corruptly soliciting or accepting any gift or advantage for 

doing or forbearing to do anything as an officer of the Authority. 

7 CSO 5.3.3: The purchasing process must be planned properly so that timescales are 

reasonable, all those involved know and understand what procedure and documents are to 

be used and the levels of resource and timescales are understood.  A failure to analyse and 

provide for these requirements can result in poor procurement practice and a failure to deliver 

purchasing to meet the Authority’s requirements. 

Example: Purchases may require approval at a Directorate, Executive or full Authority level.  This 

approval may require the provision of documentation in advance of that consideration and so this 

needs to be factored into the overall procurement timescale and project planning. 

8 CSO 5.3.4: See comment on CSO 1.2. 

9 CSO 5.3.5: The Authority’s decision-making processes must be factored into the overall 

planning. 

10 CSO 5.3.6: The Authority’s contracts register should be updated to include all details of 

tendered contracts ensuring that the name of the contractor, the delivery period, the price 

and a brief description of the supply service or works is provided. 

The contracts register ensures that the Authority has clear records of contracts awarded and 

that no particular contractor has been unfairly treated or favoured. Some Authoritys are now 

using on line tendering systems, which include contract register systems and information 

which is then made publicly available.  This helps to demonstrate transparency in purchasing 

processes. 

11 CSO 5.3.7: Proper records of contracts and award procedures must be maintained.  This 

does not necessarily require a very detailed explanation, but it does require records to be 

Page 369



 

 

maintained in writing and to be easily retrievable should they need to be consulted.  The 

Authority’s records/data retention schedule sets out how long each record should be kept. 

12 CSO 5.3.8: Value for money is a balance of quality, price and delivery and does not mean 

that the contract will necessarily be awarded based on the lowest cost to the Authority.  

Directors and Responsible Officers should note the requirement for “active” contract 

monitoring.  It is only by active and ongoing participation in contract monitoring that the 

Authority can ensure that contracts continue to represent good value and meet the Authority’s 

requirements.  This can help drive through efficiency savings and improvements and ensure 

that poor contract performance can be addressed promptly. 

13 CSO 5.3.9:  Contract provisions should include arrangements for mechanisms to be 

employed in the event of poor performance (see commentary at CSO 3.3). 

14 In addition to contract provisions, it may also be appropriate (depending upon the nature of 

the purchase), to include requirements such as provision of a parent company guarantee or 

some form of bond.  The appropriate levels of "security" documents will depend upon the 

purchase being made and also the financial standing of the contractor. Advice should be 

sought from the Authority’s Procurement unit legal team or financial team when considering 

additional forms of security, such as bonds or guarantees. 

Example: if the Authority is concerned about the ability of a contractor to honour its obligations in 

the event of poor performance and that contractor is a company falling within a larger company 

structure, then it may be appropriate to seek a form of parent company guarantee from the parent 

company.  Similarly, in large services or works contracts, it is quite common to have some form 

of bond which provides a direct payment to the Authority, in the event of failure to deliver to the 

contract standard. 

CSO 5.4 

15 Directors and Responsible Officers (as appropriate) need to think carefully about the best 

way in which purchases are made.  For example, in some circumstances it may make sense 

to use one of the Purchasing Schemes, identified in CSO 15.  It may also prove better value 

for money to use e-Procurement or other e-purchasing methods.   

16 Carry out sufficient analysis and understanding of the market to enable the Authority to best 

select the potential contractors.  For certain types of contracts, (for example high value and/or 

long term), it may be appropriate to undertake market research and pre-purchasing enquiries 

to establish who may be best placed to deliver the requirements and which route will best 

meet the Authority’s needs. Market sounding or pre purchasing enquiries must not result in 

the Authority favouring a particular supplier in breach of the EU Rules or EC Treaty Principles. 

CSO 5.5 

17       It may be a disciplinary offence for any officer to fail to comply with the CSOs and the 

Authority’s Purchasing Guide.  All employees have a personal obligation under the CSOs to 

report breaches of Contract Standing Orders.  Failure to report a breach may also amount to 

a disciplinary offence.  Equally, any failure by a Member to comply with the CSOs and the 

Authority's Purchasing Guide may amount to a breach of the Code of Conduct for Members. 

CSO 5.6 

18.     Failure by an officer or a Member to report any suspected breach of the CSOs, or any 

suspected corruption can itself amount to a disciplinary offence for an officer, or a failure to 

comply with the Code of Conduct for Members.  

Page 370



6 Scheme/s of Delegation  

6.1         Authority purchasing may only be undertaken by officers with the appropriate delegated 
authority to carry out such tasks as set out in the Authority's Scheme of Delegation.  
Officers with delegated authority may only delegate to other officers who have the 
appropriate skills and knowledge for the task and such delegation shall be recorded 
in writing by the officer delegating the task and notified to the relevant Head of 
Service.   

6.2      Officers shall, where appropriate, be informed by their Head of Service of the extent of 

any delegated authority and applicable financial thresholds. 

CSO 6.1 

1 Officers who make purchases may only carry out tasks that are properly delegated to them.  

If you act in good faith and within the powers delegated to you, any consequential liability 

accrues to the Authority as your employer and not to you as an individual. But if you act 

outside the powers that have been delegated to you, you act as an individual, not as agent 

for the Authority, and the Authority is not necessarily bound by your actions.  You can then 

incur personal liability to the Authority and to the contractor for any loss which they may suffer. 

  

Page 371



 

 

7 Financial Thresholds and Procedures 

7.1 The table in CSO 7.5 sets out the general rules applying to the choice of purchasing 

procedure for contracts at the stated threshold values and the public notice 

requirements.   

7.2 There is a general presumption in favour of competition.  Wherever possible, contract 
opportunities should be advertised by way of a public notice, even for small value 
contracts or contracts under the PCR 2015 and CCR 2016 threshold levels outlined in 
CSO 7.5.  

7.3 The public notice referred to at CSO 7.2 should be published, as a minimum, in 

Sell2Wales14 for any advertised procurement valued over £25,000.  The public notice 

for any advertised procurements valued over the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 thresholds 

(see CSO 7.5) should be submitted, as a minimum, in Find a Tender (‘FTS’)15 and 

Sell2Wales. Notices submitted in the FTS take precedence.  Following the publication 

of the form of notice or advertisement in the FTS and Sell2Wales, the Responsible 

Officer may choose to place one or more public notices in different media, such as or 

other electronic media and/or in the press, trade journals 

 

7.4 Once a contract has been awarded as a result of a procurement process, details of 

the winning tenderer, the contract value and for procurements below the PCR 2015 or 

CCR 2016 thresholds, an indication of whether the winning tenderer is a small 

business or voluntary sector organisation must be published on Sell2Wales.  For 

procurements above the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 thresholds, the contract award 

details must be published on FTS, as well as Sell2Wales. 

 

7.5 Intentionally not reproduced 

 

7.6 Where contracts are of a type and value which means that they are subject to PCR 

2015, there are five main types of procedures available. These are the open, 

restricted, competitive dialogue, competitive procedure with negotiation and innovation 

partnership procedures (intended for long term partnerships, which allow for both the 

development and subsequent purchase of new and innovative products, services or 

works currently not on the market). Care must be taken to ensure that  

. 

                                                
14 Sell2Wales 

15 UK e-notification service     

Page 372

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/SOCInformation.aspx
https://www.find-tender.service.gov.uk/Search


CSO 7.1 

1 The table at CSO 7.5 sets out several thresholds and the purchasing procedures to be used 

at each of the threshold levels specified.  The Authority needs to ensure there is appropriate 

competition for its purchasing, both to comply with statutory requirements, but also to 

demonstrate that it is achieving best value.  The table identifies different thresholds because 

it is also important to ensure that the process undertaken is proportionate to the purchase.  

Thus, for example, it may be inappropriate to run a more complex tender process of the type 

provided for by the EU Rules for a small scale, low value purchase. 

2 As is noted in CSO 7.2, there is a general presumption in favour of competition and so 

wherever possible, contract opportunities should be advertised by way of some form of public 

notice.  It should be noted that EC Treaty Principles mean that even if a contract is relatively 

small, if it is of potential interest to contractors from other member states (and this is possible 

in most situations), then the Authority must consider advertising in a manner which ensures 

that potential contractors from other member states are aware of the opportunity and have a 

chance to apply to deliver these services.  This requirement may be satisfied, for example, 

by advertising on a website, (the Authority’s own website will suffice or, for example, 

Sell2Wales) which ensures that contractors from other member states have a chance to 

search for and so be aware of contract opportunities offered by the Authority.  

3 The EU Threshold levels set out in 7.5 are fixed for 2-year periods.  The current levels of 

£213,477for supplies and services contracts and £5,336,937 for works however the UK 

Government has proposed the removal of the EU regime). 

CSO 7.2 

4         Whilst there is a general presumption in favour of competition, there will be some 

circumstances where a competition will not be undertaken for a new contract.  These are 

outlined in CSO 13.  All of those involved in the purchasing process must bear in mind that 

these are genuinely exceptional circumstances and so where a competitive process is not 

used, then this needs to be clearly evidenced and appropriate approvals obtained in advance.   

CSO 7.3 

5 Public notices for quotes or tenders can take several different formats, but the general 

principle is that they should be easily accessible and easily understood.  Whilst paper format, 

for example an advert in the press or trade journals, may be appropriate, increasingly it is 

important to ensure that opportunities are made available electronically on an easily 

accessible website, or other electronic media. 

6 If an advertisement is to be placed in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU), then 

that requires a standard format to be adopted and submitted electronically.  If an OJEU 

advertisement is being used, then an advertisement may not be placed for the same contract 

in any other media until the advertisement has been dispatched to the OJEU 

CSO 7.4 

7 As explained above, the procedures to be used tie in with the estimated value of the contract.  

For contracts under £10,000 it is normally appropriate to award a contract following receipt 

of just a written quote.  For purchasing at this level, it is quite likely that one of the Purchasing 

Schemes referred to in CSO 15 may be more appropriate and deliver better overall value to 

the Authority.  The Authority’s basic requirements and principles as outlined in CSO 1 must 

be complied with, so that even when only a single quote is sought, resources are used 

efficiently and principles of sustainability, efficiency, whole life costings and costs savings are 

incorporated, where appropriate, into the process.   

Page 373



 

 

8 For contracts up to £75,000, it is acceptable to undertake a process involving obtaining 

quotes, rather than formal written tenders, but serious consideration should be given to the 

requirement for a public advertisement (see commentary on CSO 7.1). 

9 For a contract in excess of £75,000, you are required to ensure that written tenders are 

provided in advance, following an advertisement by way of public notice.  Written tenders will 

usually be submitted by contractors in response to an invitation to tender, issued by the 

Authority.  Written invitations to tender will generally include relevant specifications and briefs 

of the technical requirements, the contract terms to be used and instructions on the conduct 

of the procurement process itself, including timescales for responses. 

10 For contracts of a type and value caught by the EU Rules, much more detailed provisions 

apply.  The EU Threshold for supplies and services contracts and for works contracts differ 

significantly.  The supplies and services threshold is much lower than the threshold for works 

contracts.  

11 The Authority has chosen to set its own threshold requiring a full competitive purchasing 

process for works contracts whose values exceed the EU Threshold for supplies and services 

contracts.  

12 Under the EU Rules there are two types of service contracts.  Part A contracts are listed in 

Schedule 3, Part A of the Regulations.  For these types of contracts, all of the EU Rules will 

apply if the contract value is over the threshold.  This includes the obligation to advertise in 

the OJEU, follow the detailed EU Rules relating to selection and evaluation processes 

including the requirement to publish the award criteria and weightings in advance, as well as 

the requirement to comply with statutory timescales. 

13 Part B services are listed in Schedule 3, Part B of the Regulations.  For these types of 

contracts, there is no obligation to advertise in the OJEU or to follow most of the detailed EU 

Rules, but there is a presumption in favour of advertising and a competitive process.  There 

are also obligations under the EU Rules to ensure that specifications and technical 

requirements are defined in a non-discriminatory way and to publish an award notice in the 

OJEU, once the contract has been awarded.  Please seek advice from the Authority’s 

Procurement unit when dealing with any contract which may, or does, fall within the EU Rules 

including service contracts for Part B services.   

14 Contracts often involve a mix of works, supplies and services i.e., hybrid contracts.  Where 

the contract is a mixed contract and is of a value which means that it may fall within the EU 

Rules, then great care needs to be taken in calculating the potential value of the contract to 

establish whether or not the EU Rules apply.  (See notes on calculating the contract value at 

CSO 9).  If you are in any doubt as to whether or not the EU Rules apply, then seek advice 

from the Procurement unit 

CSO 7.6 

15 There are four main types of competitive procedures available for contracts which are caught 

by the EU Rules.  These all involve advertising in the OJEU.  The open and restricted 

procedures are the procedures which the Authority will generally use for all purchasing which 

is caught by the EU Rules. 

16 Open Procedure: This involves accepting applications and tenders from all interested 

parties.  Full contract and specification documents are issued to all applicants and there is no 

opportunity to negotiate. 

Page 374



17 Restricted Procedure: This procedure allows the Authority to restrict the number of 

applicants (tenderers) to whom it issues an invitation to tender.  The Authority is permitted to 

shortlist applicants responding to the OJEU advertisement using specified short-listing 

criteria.  The Authority can then issue an invitation to tender to the shortlisted tenderers.  The 

invitation to tender will include the full contract specification and technical requirements, as 

well as the contract terms.  The Authority is not permitted to negotiate with the tenderers. 

18 Competitive Dialogue and Competitive Negotiated Procedures:  In exceptional 

circumstances, the Authority may use the competitive dialogue, or competitive negotiated 

procedures.  These procedures are only appropriate in the context of complex projects*.  In 

practice, the competitive negotiated procedure will rarely be available for the Authority to use.  

A decision to use a competitive dialogue or competitive negotiated procedure can only be 

taken after consultation with the Authority’s Procurement unit and following approval by the 

appropriate Director. 

*The Regulations do not state whether the competitive dialogue procedure or the competitive 

negotiated procedure should be used of preference.  However, the competitive dialogue 

procedure has been introduced to provide a clearly structured process for use in the context 

of complex projects.  One of the main reasons for its introduction was to address major 

concerns at a European level relating to the overuse of the competitive negotiated procedure 

– which was only intended for use in genuinely exceptional circumstances.  There was a 

particular reservation about the extent to which authorities were negotiating with a single 

bidder towards the end of the procurement process.  This was regarded as potentially anti-

competitive.  These concerns led to the introduction of the competitive dialogue which 

provides for structured negotiations with bidders but little room for further discussion once 

final tenders are submitted.  

Both the European Commission and the UK's Office of Government Commerce have made 

it clear in their notes/guidance on use of the competitive dialogue that it should be used in 

preference to the competitive negotiated procedure.  The OGC has indicated that the 

competitive negotiated procedure may only be used in truly exceptional circumstances and 

has provided the development of the London Underground as an example.  Competitive 

dialogue is now being used as the standard procedure in most PFI, PPP and complex 

outsourcing projects.  

19 PIN: The Authority has the option to file a PIN (Prior Information Notice) and if it does so then 

in certain circumstances it may reduce some of the statutory timescales under the Rules. In 

respect of supplies and services contracts, a PIN should be published as soon as possible 

after the commencement of each financial year.  The PIN should contain details of supply 

and services contracts for which the Authority expects to seek tenders during the forthcoming 

12 months. 

For works contracts, a PIN should be issued as soon as possible after the decision approving 

the planning of a work or works which exceeds the relevant threshold.   

If the Authority does decide to publish a PIN then the standard PIN form should be used.   

 Standard  forms  are  accessible  through  the  European  Commission's  website:  

http://simap.eu.int/ or http://www.bipsolutions.com/html/ecdirectives.htm 

Page 375

http://simap.eu.int/
http://simap.eu.int/
http://www.bipsolutions.com/html/ecdirectives.htm


 

 

8 Financial Thresholds and Processes Applying to Approval and Execution of Contracts 

8.1      For contracts over £50,000, the decision to proceed to advertisement must be 

authorised in writing by the relevant Director, in advance.  For contracts above 

the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 threshold (see CSO 7.5), the choice of 

purchasing procedure to be used, and the decision to proceed to 

advertisement, must be authorised in writing by the relevant Director, in 

advance.  

For CCR 2016 contracts (see CSO 7.5), the decision to proceed to 

advertisement must be authorised in writing by the relevant Director, in 

advance.  

  

8.2  When a decision is made to award a contract, then the Responsible Officer 

must, in addition to complying with his/her general obligations under these 

Contract Standing Orders ensure that:  

  

8.2.1 the appropriate approvals have been obtained to authorise that decision; 

and  

  

8.2.2 where appropriate, a standstill period complying with the PCR 2015 and 

LTR concession contracts under the CCR 2016, is incorporated into the 

final award process.   

8.3  Any contracts valued at £100,000 or above, shall be executed as a deed 

(under seal). Contracts with values between £50,000 and £99,999 shall 

require the relevant Director’s signature.  All other contracts below £50,000, 

may be signed by an officer with appropriate delegated authority.   

  

8.4  Electronic signatures may be used in accordance with the Electronic 

Signature Regulations 2002 provided the sufficiency of security 

arrangements has been approved by the IT Services.  

  

 

CSO 8.2.2 

1         Where contracts are subject to the specific requirement under the EU Rules to advertise 

in the OJEU, then Regulation 30 requires the Authority to include a standstill period once it 

has decided on a successful contractor. The Authority is required to write to all of the 

candidates and tenderers in the process notifying them of its decision and including specified 

information.  The Authority may enter into the contract with the successful contractor, only 

after a period of 10 days has passed and only then, if there has been no formal challenge of 

the Authority’s award decision. The provisions of Regulation 30 are quite complex.  

Correspondence with the candidates and tenderers and timescales must comply with the 

Regulations.  You MUST take advice from the Procurement unit on this point. 

CSO 8.3 

2 Where a local authority contract is at or above the threshold value of £10,000 but below 

£50,000, the contract must be signed by two officers on behalf of the Authority, or the contract 

can be under seal. This means that a Member cannot enter a contract on behalf of the 

Authority.  

These CSOs require that all contracts at or over threshold value of £100,000 will be under 

seal, and that the seal must be witnessed by a Solicitor employed by the Authority.  

Page 376



CSO 8.4 

3 Helpful guidance on the Electronic Signature Regulations is available at www.dti.gov.uk 

9 

Calculating the Contract Value 

9.1        The starting point for calculating the contract value for the purposes of these Contract 
Standing Orders is that the contract value shall be the genuine pre-estimate of the 
value of the entire contract excluding Value Added Tax. This includes all payments to 
be made, or potentially to be made, under the entirety of the contract and for the whole 
of the predicted contract period (including proposed extensions and options). 

9.2       There shall be no artificial splitting of a contract to avoid the application of the provisions 

of the EU Rules and/or these Contract Standing Orders. 

9.3      The EU Rules can cover contracts which are below the stated EU threshold where 

they constitute repeat purchases and/or purchases of a similar type in a specified 

period. Responsible Officers should therefore seek advice on the application of the 

EU Rules where they envisage that they may require repeat purchases and/or 

purchases of a similar type. 

CSO 9.1 

1 The estimated contract value is the entire contract value.  In practice, this means you need 

to consider all of the actual, or potential, payments to be made under the contract, during the 

whole life of the contract.   

Examples:  For the purchase of equipment you should take into account the actual and likely costs of: 

• The initial purchase (including cost of purchase if it is funded by way of a 

lease);  Installation; 

• Servicing for the entire contract period; 

• Training and other support for the entire contract period; and  
• Consumables for the entire contract period. 

 

For the carrying out of cleaning services you should take into account the actual and likely costs 
of 

• The annual cost of providing the service multiplied by the number of years of 

the contract INCLUDING possible extensions allowed for in the contract;  

• Possible inflation uplifts during the contract period. 

2 You must consider the entire contract period.  If the contract is for an initial period of, for 

example, 3 years but there is an option to extend for a further 2 years, then the value of the 

contract should be the total potential 5-year period and not just the initial 3-year period.  

Similarly, if the contract relates to an initial purchase but there are options to make additional 

purchases in the future, then the total potential value, including the value of potential 

additional purchases, must be considered, in calculating the value of the contract.  

3 You should also consider, using your best genuine estimates, the impact of any inflation value 

or uplift on the contract.  Thus, for example, if the contract allows for a 3% increase each year 

and the contract is for up to a 5-year period, then you need to allow for the total value of the 

contract, including the likely inflation provisions. 

Page 377

http://www.dti.gov.uk/


 

 

4 Where there is uncertainty surrounding the potential total contract value, for example, the 

inflation provisions have not been finally agreed or there are several options, then you need 

to use your best estimate and act cautiously and assume that the higher potential value will 

apply. 

CSO 9.2 

5 It is very important to ensure there is no artificial splitting of a contract to avoid either the 

application of the EU Rules, or the CSOs.  Whilst there may be genuine reasons why the 

Authority’s requirements may be split into various contracts, under the EU Rules there are 

specific provisions which prevent this being done with the intention of avoiding those EU 

Rules.  In this context, it is also important to understand that if the Authority requires repeat 

purchases of same or similar items, services or works, then you may have to consider all of 

those potential requirements for all Authority departments in order to establish whether or not 

the EU Procurement Rules apply. 

Example: The Authority knows that it is going to purchase a number of PCs in the next 12 months.  

It is clear what its requirement is immediately, but it has also budgeted for ongoing purchases 

over the next 12 months, which take the potential value of the contract over the EU threshold for 

supplies.  In these circumstances, the Authority will need to ensure that the purchase is 

advertised in the OJEU and follow the EU Rules. 

6 The detailed EU Rules on calculating the value of the contract are in place to ensure that the 

EU Rules are not avoided, due to the inappropriate splitting of contracts.  If it is possible that 

the Authority as a whole may have repeated requirements for the same or similar items, 

services or works, then you must discuss this with Legal Services 

7 Where there is a requirement for repeated purchases, it may well be that a Purchasing 

Scheme is a better approach for the Authority to adopt.  Purchasing Schemes such as a 

centrally organised framework arrangement run by a central purchasing body should ensure 

that the EU Rules have already been satisfied, so there is no ongoing obligation to advertise 

in the OJEU or elsewhere each time a requirement arises.  This may well represent better 

overall value to the Authority. 

10 

Principles Underlying Tendering Processes and Tender Evaluation 

10.1 All tendering procedures (including obtaining quotes), from planning to contract award and 

signature,  shall be undertaken in a manner so as to ensure: 

 10.1.1 Sufficient time is given to plan and run the process 

 10.1.2 Equal opportunity and equal treatment 

 10.1.3 Openness and transparency  

 10.1.4 Probity 

10.1.5 Outcomes which deliver sustainability, efficiency and cost savings (where 

appropriate). 

Page 378



CS0 10 

1 Pre-planning is critical for all purchasing.  All purchasing procedures (both through quotes 

and more formal tendering) must be undertaken in a manner which ensures integrity of the 

process and within appropriate timescales.   

2 For purchasing processes subject to the EU Rules, there are statutory timescales which must 

be followed.  These are minimum timescales and should be used as a starting point for 

planning an appropriate timetable.   

3 In considering how much time is required, you should allow for preparation time, the amount 

of time and resources required to draft the relevant technical and legal documents.  You also 

need to take account of internal procedural requirements such as approvals processes as 

well as appropriate timescales to allow contractors to fully prepare their responses.  Different 

timescales will apply according to the nature and complexity of the purchase being made.  

4 CSO 10.1.2: The EC Treaty Principles apply to all purchasing by the Authority. This means 

that all contracts must be let fairly. The  Authority must not do anything that might prejudice 

fair and open competition for a contract. The principles require the Authority to ensure that 

there is equal opportunity and equal treatment of all potential contractors through any 

purchasing exercise.  The Authority must not unduly favour contractors or applicants from a 

particular country including favouring applicants from the UK. 

5 CSO 10.1.3: The EC Treaty Principles also require all purchasing processes to be run in an 

open and transparent manner. This means that the documents being used in the purchasing 

process should make it clear to all parties participating in the process, what is happening, 

when and why.  All potential contractors should be given an equal opportunity to clarify the 

Authority's requirements and processes.   

6 CSO 10.1.4: Probity means that each purchasing exercise transparently secures the best 

value for the Authority in the public interest, untainted by conflicts of interest, collusion, or 

private advantage. 

7 CSO 10.1.5: See comment above at CSO 1. 

11 Submission and Opening of tenders 

11.1 An Invitation to Tender shall be issued by the Authority for all contracts over £75,000 

and tenders shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the Invitation 

to Tender. 

Page 379



 

 

11.2 

Any tenders received (other than those received electronically, to which 11.3 shall 
apply) shall be: 

11.2.1     addressed to the Director of Prosperity and Regeneration or other nominated 

Director not involved in the Tender process. 

11.2.2       in a sealed envelope marked “Tender” followed by the subject matter to which 

it relates 

11.2.3       kept in a safe place by the Director of Prosperity and Regeneration or another 

nominated Director  

11.2.4 retained unopened until the date and time specified for its opening. 

11.3 
Where the Authority has indicated in the Invitation to Tender that a tender can or must 
be submitted electronically, then those tenders shall be: 

11.3.1 addressed to the e-mail address as notified in the Invitation to Tender 

11.3.2 in the format specified in the Invitation to Tender 

11.3.3       stored in a secure mailbox, which requires a code or other appropriate security 

measure, to open it 

11.3.4 retained unopened until the date and time specified for its opening. 

11.4 No tender received after the time and date specified for its opening shall be accepted 

or considered by the Authority unless the Director of Prosperity and Regeneration or 

other nominated Director is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence of the tender 

having been dispatched in time for it to have arrived before the closing date and time, 

or other exceptional circumstances apply and the other tenders have not been 

opened.  

11.5 
Tenders shall be opened by the Director of Prosperity and Regeneration or other 

nominated Director or a member of their staff designated by them and an immediate 

record shall be made of tenders received including names and addresses and the 

date and time of opening. 

CSO 11 

1 The Director of Prosperity and Regeneration shall usually be responsible for the processes 

under this Standing Order unless her services have an interest in the contract in which case, 

she will nominate another Director to be responsible. 

2 Tender processes must be undertaken in an open and transparent way and explained to 

tenderers so that they understand what you are doing, why and when 

3 All contracts over £75,000 must involve a formal advertisement and invitation to tender 

process.  All contracts above the EU Rules thresholds must also comply with the detailed EU 

Rules applying to the conduct of the tender process. These may differ according to the type 

of process used. 

Page 380



4 The invitation to tender should, as a minimum, include:  

• Instructions to tenderers which set out when and how tenders must be submitted, in what 

format and where queries should be addressed to at the Authority.   

• The specification/technical details of the subject matter of the contract. 

• The contract terms and conditions which will apply. 

• The tender evaluation criteria. 

• The process for awarding the contract. 

5 Invitations to tender should be written in plain language and avoid the overuse of unnecessary 

technical terms. 

6 CSO 11.2:  All tenderers must be treated in the same way; hence the requirements that the 

tenders are all presented in a similar manner when submitted to the Authority by the tender 

return date.  Tenders are to remain unopened until the date and time specified for opening 

so that, for example, there is no potential for an early tender to influence the process. 

7 CSO 11.3: The same reasoning as for CSO 11.2 underlines the provisions relating to 

electronic submission of tenders. 

8 CSO 11.4: Late tenders should normally be rejected unless (1) late delivery is a result of 

actions outside the control of the tenderer or (2) other exceptional circumstances exist which 

the Authority, in exercising reasonable discretion, deems sufficient to allow acceptance.  

Where a decision is made to accept a late tender, then it is sensible to document the time of 

receipt of that tender and the reasons why the tender has been accepted.   

Practical examples of the sort of circumstances where late tenders may on occasion be accepted 
include:  

• Where the Authority's offices were unexpectedly closed at the date specified for receipt 

of tenders so that tenders could not be delivered on time. 

• Particularly severe weather which may have delayed the arrival of a tender sent by 
courier but where there is clear evidence of dispatch with sufficient time allowed for 
delivery to comply with the tender return time and date. 

• Where a tender has not been received at all but there is genuine and persuasive evidence 

that the tender was prepared and dispatched on time. 

9 CSO 11.5:  There needs to be a clear audit trail of all tenders received, from whom and when 

they are opened, to ensure that there is no preferential or unfair treatment.  

10 What happens if tender processes do not go as planned or if there is technical non 

compliance?  The Authority's standard "Invitation to Tender" document should include 

provisions stating that tenders can be rejected if they are not compliant with the requirements 

of the Authority, including compliance with submission dates, times and format.  Where a 

tender is received which is non compliant because, for example, the envelope is not marked 

as required, then, subject to any limitations in the Scheme(s) of Delegation, the Responsible 

Officer (or Director where appropriate), may exercise some discretion in terms of whether or 

not that tender is accepted. Similarly, where there is provision for this in the Invitation to 

Tender, if after undertaking an initial review of the tender documents, the Responsible Officer 

is of the view that a genuine mistake, such as a mathematical error has been made in the 

tender, then the Responsible Office (or Director where appropriate) may wish to exercise 

discretion and go back to the affected tenderer to clarify the submission made. If you wish to 

exercise this type of discretion, you should ensure that this falls within your delegated powers 

and you should take advice from Legal Services All exercises of discretion should be carefully 

recorded in writing, including reasons why the discretion was exercised. 

Page 381



 

 

11 Where tenders are submitted electronically or by other digital media, then the Authority should 

have in place, appropriate systems to ensure that receipt can be clearly recorded to ensure 

that tender timescales are complied with.  Again, the Responsible Officer (or Director where 

appropriate) may exercise discretion as to whether or not to receive and accept tenders which 

are not submitted strictly in accordance with these requirements, although exercise of that 

discretion, should be exceptional and you should take advice from the Procurement unit.  

Page 382



12 

Evaluation of Quotes and Tenders 

12.1 All quotes and tenders shall be evaluated in accordance with evaluation criteria notified 

in advance to those submitting quotes/tenderers.  

12.2 Tenders subject to the EU Rules shall be evaluated in accordance with the EU 

Rules. 

12.3 Save in exceptional circumstances approved in advance by Head of Business 

Improvement all contracts shall be awarded on the basis of the quote or tender which 

represents best value for money to the Authority and not on the basis of lowest price. 

CSO 12.1 

1 The Authority is under a general obligation to ensure that it is open and transparent about its 

purchasing procedures.  This includes how you select the best tender or quote.  This general 

obligation under the EC Treaty Principles applies to all purchasing and contracts – both those 

subject to the EU Rules and those not caught by those EU Rules. 

2 “Evaluation criteria” are the criteria which you will use to assess a quote or tender in order to 

come to a decision on which quote or tender best meets the Authority’s requirements and so 

who should be awarded a contract.  It is important that you are clear and open with tenderers 

about what criteria you will use and that both they and you know, in advance, how the 

Authority will assess/mark against the criteria.  Where the EU Rules apply to the contract, 

then you are obliged by law to disclose the tender evaluation criteria in advance (see CSO 

12.2). 

3 This means that for all purchasing, the evaluation criteria must be set out in advance and be 

provided to the tenderers together with any scoring or assessment scheme which will be 

used. The criteria and scoring or assessment scheme cannot be changed after they have 

been provided to the tenderers, so you must be certain that the criteria are robust and the 

scoring or assessment scheme is appropriate for the particular contract and purchasing 

process. 

4 Notification of the criteria and scoring or assessment scheme can be done in a number of 

ways – depending upon the type of process which you are using.  For simple quotes, the 

evaluation could just be set out in a list in the letter inviting contractors to quote. For more 

formal processes, it would generally be more appropriate to include this information in the 

Invitation to Tender document and this may involve a more complex presentation style. 

5 Specific provisions relating to tender evaluation criteria apply to contracts which are subject 

to the EU Rules (see commentary on CSO12.2)  

CSO 12.2 

6 The EU Rules have specific provisions applying to tender evaluation criteria.  The main legal 

provisions are at Regulation 30.  This section now goes on to explain some of the key 

provisions of Regulation 30. 

7 The Authority is required to award contracts on the basis of an offer which is either (1) the 

lowest price or (2) the “most economically advantageous” – which means that other factors, 

in addition to price, can be taken into account such as quality, timing and delivery.  In practice, 

Page 383



 

 

the Authority is extremely unlikely to opt to award a contract on the basis of lowest price only 

and CSO 12.3 reflects this. 

8 Regulation 30 provides examples of the sort of evaluation criteria which can be used to 

assess what amounts to the “most economically advantageous tender”.  This includes factors 

such as quality, price, technical merit and after sales service. The list is not exhaustive and 

so other evaluation criteria can be used.  All evaluation criteria used by the Authority in 

evaluating a tender must be linked to the subject matter of the contract. This means that the 

criteria must be related to the works, supplies or services which are actually being purchased.  

We have given two examples of evaluation criteria below.  There is more guidance in the 

Office of Government Commerce papers “Social Issues in Purchasing” and “Fair and Ethical 

Trading”.  

Example 1. Environmental Considerations 

The Community of Helsinki decided to put their bus services out to tender.  They used award 

criteria such as overall price, quality of the bus fleet and operational quality.  Under one award 

criterion, companies could score extra points if they could comply with certain emission and 

noise levels.  On the basis of these extra points, the contract was awarded to the municipal 

transport company. 

A losing tenderer opposed this decision, arguing that emission and noise levels could not be 

used as an award criteria.  

The European Court of Justice ruled that the criteria could be used as (1) there was a 

sufficient link to the subject matter of the contract, (2) the criteria were specific and objectively 

quantifiable, (3) use of these criteria were notified in advance and (4) it was in accordance 

with basic Treaty principles.  

Example 2. Social considerations -the social issue must be relevant to the purchase Buying 

coffee/Fairtrade principles   

The Authority may specify organic coffee because the production process relates to the 

production of the coffee in terms of chemical content and the way it is grown.  However, they 

cannot specify only fair trade coffee because this relates to the standard of living of the coffee 

growers and not the product. The Authority can say in its contract documents that it would 

welcome fair trade coffee options such as Fairtrade or equivalent as part of a coffee supply 

contract.  The bids should be evaluated on a value for money basis using the organic criteria 

and others directly related to the subject of the contract.  Where the winning tenderer can 

supply fair-trade coffee, then the contract documentation may say that it should be made 

available at civic meetings.    

9 The evaluation criteria which the Authority will use must be stated in advance either in the 

OJEU advertisement or in the tender documents. (The Regulations refer to the “contract 

documents” but in this context this means the Invitation to Tender (or equivalent documents 

if the open or restricted procedures are not being used).   

10 In addition to setting out in advance what the evaluation criteria are, the Authority is also 

required to state what “weighting” will be applied to assessing each of the criteria.  The 

weightings must be listed together with the criteria – either in the OJEU notice or in the tender 

documents. This requires the Authority to give careful thought well in advance as to  

how tenders will be evaluated. Your procurement team should be able to give you advice on 

formulating evaluation matrices. 

Page 384



11 It is only in very exceptional circumstances, that the Authority will be able to avoid the 

requirement to list the weightings in advance. You should start with the assumption that 

weightings must be provided. If you consider that it is not possible to do this, then you must 

discuss this with the Procurement unit. If weightings cannot be provided, then the Authority 

is still required to list the criteria and must list them in descending order of importance.  

Page 385



 

 

 

13 Waivers  

13.1    The requirement for the Authority to conduct a competitive purchasing process for 

contracts in excess of £10,000 may be waived in the following circumstances. 

 13.1.1 For contracts which are not subject to the EU Rules, the work, supply or  

service is required as a matter of urgency and a delay would be likely to lead 
to financial loss, personal injury or damage to property; or 

13.1.2       the circumstances set out in Regulation 14 apply (whether or not the contract 

is of a type which is subject to the application of the EU Rules); or 

13.1.3   the contract is awarded under a Purchasing Scheme of a type where a 

competition has already been undertaken on behalf of the Authority; or 

13.1.4      at the discretion of the Chief Executive who may proceed in a manner most 
expedient to the efficient management of the service/Authority with reasons 
recorded in writing. 

13.2       A Responsible Officer who seeks a waiver of Contract Standing Orders other than 
SO 13.1.3 shall do so only in advance and only in exceptional circumstances. Further 
guidance on what may constitute exceptional circumstances permitting waiver of 
these Contract Standing Orders is set out in the Authority’s Purchasing Guide. 

 13.3 All waivers from these Contract Standing Orders must be:  

 13.3.1 Fully documented 

13.3.2     Subject to a written report in an approved format to be submitted in  

advance to the appropriate Director which shall include reasons for the 
waiver which demonstrate that the waiver is genuinely required 

13.3.3      Subject to approval in advance by the appropriate Director who shall record 
that they have considered the reasons for the waiver and that they are 
satisfied that the circumstances justifying the waiver are genuinely 
exceptional.  

13.4 All decisions on waivers must take into account:  

13.4.1 Probity 

 13.4.2 Best value/value for money principles. 

13.5 For contracts subject to the EU Rules, any waiver from the requirement for competition 
must meet the conditions set out in the EU Rules in addition to the general 
requirements above.  

13.6  A waiver shall not be applied for reasons of poor contract planning. 

Page 386



CSO 13 

1 The requirements of the CSOs can only be waived in very exceptional circumstances and in 

advance.  If a waiver is made to these CSOs, then the provisions of CSO 13 must be complied 

with to ensure it is clear why the decision has been made and by whom.  All the relevant 

circumstances must be taken into account.   

2 These provisions should not be used merely where to go out to tender would, for example, 

result in additional administrative or procedural burdens or a short period of delay.  The waiver 

provisions should not be used as an excuse for poor procurement practice or for a lack of 

advanced planning (see CSO 13.6).  The general presumption is that contracts will be put out 

to competitive tender so as to ensure that the Authority uses its resources efficiently, 

purchases quality good services and works, safeguards its reputation from any implication of 

dishonesty or corruption and is able to demonstrate principles of sustainability, efficiency, 

whole life costings and cost savings. 

3 It is very important to note that if the contract is of a type and value which means that it is 

subject to the EU Rules then there are only very limited circumstances in which a contract 

can be awarded without competition and the permitted circumstances are extremely narrowly 

interpreted.  If you are seeking to exclude an EU contract from the requirement to go out to 

competition then you must seek advice in advance from Legal Services 

4 For contracts which are not subject to the EU Rules there are still obligations in terms of 

ensuring appropriate levels of competition (see comment at CSO 4.1.2 and CSO 7.1). 

CSO 13.1  

1 CSO 13.1.1:  This CSO sets out the circumstances where it may be permissible due to a 

matter of urgency for the Authority to purchase works, supplies or services without going 

through a competitive process.   

Example: For a contract not subject to the EU Rules, a waiver from the requirement of competition 

may be appropriate using CSO 13.1.1 where, due to unforeseen circumstances, there is an urgent 

requirement for the provision of domiciliary care services and failure to deliver those services as 

speedily as possible may lead to health and safety issues for users.  

2 CSO 13.1.2:  Regulation 14 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 sets out certain, 

narrowly constrained circumstances where contracts which are subject to the EU Rules can 

be awarded without following a competitive purchasing process.  These EU Rules also 

provide a good steer for the sort of circumstances where it may be acceptable to waive the 

requirement for competition for contracts which are not subject to the EU Rules.  These 

include the following types of situation:  

Page 387



 

 

Examples:  

• Where the Authority has already gone out to an open and competitive tender, but only non 
compliant tenders have been received.  It therefore decides to terminate the procurement 
process and negotiate the contract with those bidders who submitted a tender as part of the 
previous process. 

• Where the Authority went out to open competition and received no responses at all, in which 
case it decides to approach a single contractor and negotiate a deal on the basis of the 
original terms included in the public tender process. 

• Where the Authority already has a contract under which goods have been supplied to it and 
then it requires additional goods which could not be provided by another supplier.  There 
must be genuine incompatibility between the existing goods and those to be purchased or 
genuine and disproportionate technical difficulties in procuring the goods from elsewhere.   
Under the EU Rules, the additional requirements must also be purchased within 3 years of 
the original contract.  

• Where there is a closing down sale and so goods can be purchased on a particularly 

advantageous basis. 

These examples are not an exhaustive list but they do give an indication of the sort of circumstances 

where the purchase of additional goods, works or services without competition may be permissible.  

Where the Authority wishes to extend a contract then CSO 14 will also apply.  

5 CSO 13.1.3:  Where a contract is awarded using a Purchasing Scheme (where appropriate, 

one which is compliant with the EU Rules) then provided that the Authority is satisfied that 

the conditions set out in CSO 15 are met then there will be no further need to run a competition 

as that has already been undertaken on behalf of the Authority.   

6 CSO 13.1.4:  In exercising discretion as to the award of the contract without the competitive 

process, the individual making that decision must pay due regard to the requirements of the 

CSOs and this purchasing guide.  If the EU Rules apply then they must seek advice from the 

Procurement unit prior to proceeding.  

Examples of where a waiver may be justified include:  

• Requiring two rather than three written quotes for a contract between the value of £10,000 

- £75,000 where there is clear evidence that the number of potential contractors is extremely 

limited 

• A decision to go down a written quotation route rather than the requirement to obtain three 

written tenders in advance (for contracts below the EU threshold) and where the Authority 

is satisfied that (1) there is no obligation to advertise that opportunity to comply with the 

general requirements of the EC Treaty Principles and (2) the general underlying 

requirements of the procurement process will still be satisfied. 

7 CSO 13.3:  The appropriate Director for this Standing Order is the Director of Resources and 

Partnership, unless their service has an interest in the contract, in which case they will 

nominate another Director. 

8 CSO 13.6:  Waivers should not be utilised for reasons of poor planning. It should not be the 

case that a contract is due to expire and has not been properly planned for. Appropriate tender 

lead cycles need to be factored into the planning process to avoid avoidance of best practice 

procedures.  

Page 388



14 Extensions to Existing Contracts 

14.1       An extensions to the duration of an existing contracts may be implemented if 

specifically provided for in the contract and for the specified period 14.2 Any 

extension must be:  

14.2  Extensions to the duration of and/or modifications to existing contracts such as the 

inclusion of additional services shall be.  

14.2.1     made in accordance with any statutory restrictions and any specific terms of the 

contract 

 14.2.2     Fully documented 

14.2.3 Subject to a written report in an approved format to be submitted to a 
Director which shall include reasons for the extension or modification 

14.2.3   Subject to approval by the Director who shall record that they have 
considered the reasons for the extension and that they are satisfied that 
the circumstances justifying the extension are or modification.  

14.3 Any extension to the duration of and/or modification to existing contracts must 
consider:   
 

14.3.1 Probity 

 14.3.2 Best value/value for money principles. 

14.4     Where the PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 apply, any extension to the duration of and/or 

modification to existing contracts must meet the conditions set out in the PCR 201516 

or CCR201617 in addition to the more general requirements set out above.  

CS0 14 

1 This CSO is primarily aimed at addressing the issue of when and how a contract period may 

be extended.  There is a general presumption against the extension of contracts.  Contracts 

may only be extended beyond their original term in genuinely exceptional circumstances.  Any 

extension must be for a limited and specified period.   Where the contract is caught by the 

EU Rules then the contract period may only be extended in limited circumstances, and you 

must seek advice from Legal Services 

2 Clarity and certainty are key factors in establishing whether an extension is permissible. A 

well-drawn up contract will set out in advance the clear basis upon which that contract may 

be extended.   

                                                

16 Regulation 72 of Public Contracts Regulations 2015  

17 Regulation 43 of the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016  

Page 389



 

 

Example: When the contract for IT support services was advertised, it was made clear in the 
advertisement that the contract would be: 

• for an initial period of five years  

• with an option to extend for up to a further two years  

The provisions of the original contract explained how the extension is to be exercised together with 

the costs. The Authority is now proposing to exercise the option to extend. There will be no 

renegotiation of either the legal terms, scope of the contract or the payment arrangements (except 

for the price inflation provisions specifically allowed for within the contract and clearly defined in 

advance).  This extension is permissible. 

3 The problems with contract extensions arises where either there is no provision for extension 

within the contract or the potential for extension was not made clear at the outset or where 

the arrangements for the contract extension result in renegotiations.   In these circumstances, 

there are specific provisions which apply in the context of contracts subject to the EU Rules 

and you must seek advice from Legal Services 

4 For contracts not subject to the EU Rules then the basic principle is that any period of 

extension should be limited, for a specified period and the effect of the extension should not 

be such as to create a disproportionate expansion in the coverage either in terms of value, 

time period or subject matter of the contract.   This is because it may well be regarded as 

anti-competitive to agree an extension of the contract which effectively awards a valuable 

opportunity to the existing supplier without having exposed that opportunity to competition 

and providing other providers with the opportunity to deliver those additional requirements.   

5 Any extension of the subject matter (as opposed to the contract period) of a contract can 

generally only be permitted in accordance with the provisions of the contract or in very 

exceptional circumstances covered by the EU Rules.  For longer term or major contracts, 

there are often provisions that allow for the evolution of the contract to meet the Authority's 

needs, for example, by way of continuous efficiency and improvements clauses.  Most of 

these contracts also incorporate mechanisms to allow for a certain degree of variation or 

change to reflect the practical issues associated with implementation and ongoing service 

delivery.  Contracts must not be drafted in such a way as to be so flexible that they are in 

breach of the basic requirement that the contract terms must be clear and certain or to allow 

for changes which are so significant as to be potentially anti-competitive because, for 

example, they effectively amount to the award of a new contract.   

6 Caution should be exercised in terms of the practical effect of an extension on the contract 

value.  In no circumstances should an extension be made to a contract that has the effect of 

increasing the contract to a value over the EU Rules thresholds in force at that time.  

Page 390



15 Purchasing Schemes (including Framework Agreements)  

15.1 A Responsible Officer may use Purchasing Schemes subject to the following conditions 

and the Authority’s Purchasing Guide. 

15.2       Responsible Officers must check in advance that  

15.2.1       The Authority is legally entitled to use the Purchasing Scheme 

15.2.2    The purchases to be made do properly fall within the coverage of the                   
Purchasing Scheme 

15.2.3      The establishment and operation of each Purchasing Scheme is in 

compliance with the EU Rules (where they apply) and meets the 

Authority's own requirements. 

CS0 15 

1 There are an increasing number of Purchasing Schemes which the Authority may choose to 

participate in which assist in terms of purchasing efficiencies and value for money.  An 

illustrative list is set out in CS0 15.3 and these types of schemes are discussed in further 

detail below. 

2 CSO 15.2: Responsible Officers must check three key factors in advance, prior to using a 

Purchasing Scheme: 

2.1 CSO 15.2.1: Responsible Officers must check that the Authority is legally entitled to use the 

Purchasing Scheme.   

Example: in the context of a framework arrangement or purchasing arrangement set up by central 

purchasing bodies, it is important to ensure that the original process (particularly if it is an EU 

process) made it clear that the Authority could potentially purchase under the terms of that scheme.  

If the Authority was not sufficiently clearly identified in the original establishment of the schemes, 

then there may be problems with use of that scheme.  If it is a purchase subject to the EU Rules, 

then if the Authority has not been sufficiently clearly identified in advance, it may not be able to 

rely on that scheme to satisfy its own obligations under the EU Rules. 

2.2 CSO 15.2.2: Responsible Officers need to check that the Purchasing Scheme covers the 

purchases to be made.  All Purchasing Schemes should clearly specify what can be 

purchased under the scheme.  This is to ensure that contractors participating in the scheme 

know what they are providing and purchasers are clear about the coverage and limitations of 

the scheme. It is therefore important to check that particular schemes do cover all your 

requirements.     

2.3 CSO 15.2.3: Responsible Officers should ensure that the Purchasing Scheme has been 

established and is operated in accordance with the detailed EU Rules (where they apply).  

Purchasing Schemes can be a very efficient way of ensuring compliance with the EU Rules 

without having to undertake further separate EU procurement processes.  The Authority 

cannot discharge itself from its obligations to ensure compliance with the EU Rules.   

Page 391



 

 

Example: In the context of framework arrangements it is important to ensure that types of potential 

purchases to be made by the Authority are clearly identified in the original OJEU notice, that the 

framework is established for the permissible four year period and that any mini competitions are 

operated in accordance with the provisions of the EU Rules. 

15.3           A “Purchasing Scheme” may include:  

15.3.1           Contractor prequalification lists/select lists 

15.3.2          Framework arrangements (including but not limited to those set up by 
the Office of Government Commerce/Welsh Government) 

15.3.3       Purchasing arrangements set up by central purchasing bodies and 
commercial organisations  

15.3.4            Consortium purchasing 

15.3.5            Collaborative working arrangements 

15.3.6            Formal agency arrangements 

15.3.7            E-procurement/purchasing schemes and methods 

15.3.8           Other similar arrangements e.g., procurement platforms, which drive  

 compliance, provide controls over the procurement process and allow 

organisations to achieve contract realisation etc.  

  

CSO 15.3 

6 The term "Purchasing Scheme" is used to describe a range of different purchasing practices 

and the list is not intended to be exhaustive. 

7 CSO 15.3.1: Contractor prequalification lists/select lists are often operated by Local 

Authorities to produce a list of contractors who are appropriately pre-qualified to deliver the 

requirements of the Authority.  This streamline purchasing as it means that a contractor's 

suitability does not have to be assessed every time a contract award is contemplated.  Care 

does need to be taken to ensure that these arrangements do not fall into the trap of being 

caught by the EU Rules, because they amount to a repeated requirement for the same or 

similar provision (see comment at CSO 9).  Pre-qualification and select lists are not permitted 

for purchasing caught by the EU Rules.   

8 CSO 15.3.2: Framework Arrangements: care needs to be taken to ensure that you 

understand what is intended by this term and whether the Purchasing Scheme is a framework 

arrangement subject to the EU Rules.  The EU Rules define framework arrangements as a 

very specific type of arrangement.  Where the EU Rules apply, frameworks are subject to 

controls including a limit of 4 years on the life of the framework and the conduct of mini 

competitions within a framework.  However, the term "framework" is used more generally and 

so you need to be clear about what type of framework you are participating in and whether it 

complies with EU Rules. 

9 CSO 15.3.3: Purchasing arrangements: set up by central purchasing bodies and 

commercial organisations (including but not limited to arrangements established by the 

Office of Government Commerce/Welsh Government) are frequently forms of framework 

arrangements set up to comply with the EU Rules.  However, you will need to check that you 

Page 392



understand what format the purchasing arrangements comprise and whether EU Rules have 

been taken into account and, where appropriate, complied with in their award.   

10 CSO 15.3.4: Consortium purchasing may refer to purchasing by groups of authorities 

together or as one authority on behalf of others, in which case, it is more likely that technically 

this amounts to a central purchasing arrangement.   

11 CSO 5.3.5: Collaborative working arrangements may involve different levels of formality.  

Some collaborative working is merely a loose agreement between different organisations to 

work together in their purchasing. Collaborative working is also used to refer to arrangements 

which may in practice, involve the pooling of resources.  It is important to clarify which sort of 

collaborative working arrangement is proposed, to identify the rules which may apply.   

12 CSO 15.3.6: In some circumstances, a formal legal agency arrangement may apply in which 

case you need to ensure that you understand the legal terms which the Authority will be 

required to contract on.   

13 CSO 15.3.8: All of the above types of Purchasing Schemes may include some form of EU 

procurement, but there are also other forms of electronic Purchasing Schemes and methods 

including the use of the electronic purchasing cards, online listings and information sharing. 

For further information contact Legal Services 

15.4  Where a Purchasing Scheme is used then there shall be a whole or partial 

exemption from the obligations under these Contract Standing Orders in respect of 

the choice and conduct of procedures to the extent permitted and indicated in the 

Authority’s Purchasing Guide.  

CSO 15.4 

14 Where a Purchasing Scheme is used then, as a main driver behind many of these Purchasing 

Schemes is to simplify procurement, some, or all of the CSOs may not apply.  In practice, the 

CSOs less likely to apply, are those which relate to the tendering procedures as many of 

these procedures will often be undertaken as part of the Purchasing Scheme process.  The 

extent of the application of the CSOs and the exemptions from those standing orders will vary 

according to the type of scheme being used. 

15 In general, the provisions of the following CSOs will continue to apply when a Purchasing 

Scheme is used:  

CSO 1 – Purpose of the contract standing orders CSO 2 – General principles CSO 3 – 

General principles applying to all contracts – contracts in writing/standard clauses 

CSO 4 – Regulatory context CSO 5 – Responsibilities of Directors and Responsible 

Officers CSO 6 – Schemes of Delegation 

16 CSO 7: Financial Thresholds and Procedures 

CSO 7.1: Will apply where a Purchasing Scheme is used. 

CSO 7.2: Will apply where a Purchasing Scheme is used. 

CSO 7.3: Will apply where a Purchasing Scheme is used where the Responsible Officer is 

required to decide as to the choice of advertising media. 

Page 393



 

 

CSO 7.4: This CSO will apply only to the extent that it is relevant for a particular Purchasing 

Scheme.  Quotes or written tenders may be procured by way of the Purchasing Scheme.  In 

some circumstances, for example where a framework arrangement for supplies has been 

established, then the Authority can purchase direct from contractors on the framework without 

the need for a further quote or tender process.  

CSO 7.6: Will apply where a Purchasing Scheme is used.  

17 CSO 8: Financial Thresholds and processes applying to approval and execution of 

contracts.  

CSO 8.1: For contracts over the relevant EU threshold, the choice of purchasing procedure 

– including choice of the Purchasing Scheme (and thus procedure) should still be authorised 

in writing in advance.   

CSO 8.2, CSO 8.3 and CSO 8.4:  Responsible Officers still need to ensure that if a 

Purchasing Scheme is used, then these requirements are complied with. 

18 CSO 9: Calculating the contract value.  These principles still apply in calculating the 

contract value of purchases to be made under Purchasing Schemes. 

19 CSO 10: Principles underlying tendering processes and tender evaluation.  The  

extent to which this CSO will apply will depend upon the nature of the Purchasing Scheme.  

Some Purchasing Schemes will involve the undertaking of tender evaluation entirely by 

another organisation.  In these circumstances, the Authority still needs to be satisfied that the 

process to be undertaken by that other organisation meets its basic requirements but for 

example, less attention will need to be paid to ensuring sufficiency of time in planning and 

running the process as this has been done on behalf of the Authority. 

21 Basic EC Treaty principles of equal opportunities and equal treatment, openness and 

transparency as well as the need to ensure probity and that the outcomes deliver 

sustainability, efficiency and cost savings will still apply irrespective of the type of procurement 

process used, including the use of Purchasing Schemes. 

22 CSO 11: Submission and opening tenders: For certain types of Purchasing Schemes, the 

Authority will not need to issue Invitations to Tender and comply with the other requirements 

of this CSO as the process itself may be run by another organisation.  Again, this will be 

dependant on the type of Purchasing Scheme used. 

23 CSO 12: Evaluation of quotes and tenders: Irrespective of the Purchasing Scheme used, 

the Authority should be satisfied that the criteria used to select contractors meets its 

requirements and ensure that best value is obtained.  However, for certain types of 

Purchasing Schemes such as centrally organised framework arrangements and those 

undertaken by central purchasing bodies, the evaluation criteria and processes will be run by 

another organisation.   

24 CSO 13: Waivers: These provisions still apply to the extent that they are relevant under 

Purchasing Schemes.   

25 CSO 14: Extension to existing contracts: These provisions will continue to apply and any 

extensions to contracts awarded under Purchasing Schemes will also need to meet the 

requirements of those Purchasing Schemes and be carried out in accordance with those 

arrangements. 

26 CSO 16: Review and change of these CSOs: These provisions apply.  It should be noted 

that the list at CSO 15.3 of permissible Purchasing Schemes allows for a range of Purchasing 

Schemes to apply.  These are not identified specifically but generically and so new 

Page 394



Purchasing Schemes may well fall within the permitted type of Purchasing Scheme without a 

requirement for a change in the CSOs themselves.   

Page 395



 

 

16 Review and Changes to these Contract Standing Orders 

16.1  These Contract Standing Orders shall be reviewed and updated every 3 years 

  

16.2  Save in the case of revisions to the thresholds referred to in CSO 7.5 (which shall be 

dealt with by the Chief Executive revisions to Contract Standing Orders shall be agreed by 

the Authority.  

 

CS0 16 

1 The CSOs themselves can only be updated in accordance with the provisions set out in the 

Authority's Constitution. 

2 The EU Thresholds are set by the EU every two years and apply to all member states.  There 

is no discretion available in terms of the threshold at which the EU Rules will apply.  It is 

therefore more appropriate to arrange for amendment of CSO 7 to reflect the new EU 

Threshold under a scheme of delegation.  

3 The provisions of this Purchasing Guide can be updated and amended more easily than the 

CSOs themselves being within the delegated Authority of the Chief Executive.  If you have 

comments, suggestions or proposals for amendments or improvements to this Purchasing 

Guide then please contact Legal Services.  

Page 396



ATTACHMENT 1 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The most common form of assessment in general usage is the 5 x 5 matrix.  The colours red, amber, 

green reflect differing levels of overall risk with green and amber being acceptable and red requiring 

caution and ways of reducing/managing that risk. 

The table at Appendix 1 sets out suggested criteria for assessing the likelihood and impact to produce 

an overall score. 

Ideally, scoring should be undertaken by more than one person to allow for different perceptions of 

risk; one person’s high risk can be another’s low to medium. 

Where the scoring differs across the criteria for impact and likelihood, it is suggested that a cautious 

approach is to use the score, which is highest for any of the criteria rather than an average. However, 

be prepared to apply a common-sense approach and score accordingly  

RISK MATRIX 

 

L 

I 

K 

E 

L 

I 

H 

O 

O 

D 

 

 

VERY  
LIKELY 
SCORE 5 

5 10 15 20 25 

LIKELY 

SCORE 4 
4 8 12 16 20 

POSSIBLE 

SCORE 3 
3 6 9 12 15 

UNLIKELY 

SCORE 2 
2 4 6 8 10 

HIGHLY  
UNLIKELY 
SCORE 1 

1 2 3 4 5 

 
NEGLI-GIBLE 

SCORE  
1 

LOW 
SCORE  

2 

MEDIUM 
SCORE 

3 

HIGH 
SCORE 

4 

VERY HIGH 
SCORE 

5 
 

IMPACT 

Page 397



 

 Page 398



1  
Legal/Contract Standing Orders  
16 December 2022    

Attachment 1: Risk matrix for use in assessing what type of contract is required Scoring 

system to be explained? 

Score - 2 Score - 3 Score - 4 Score - 5 

Unlikely Possible  Likely / Highly Likely Very Likely / Definite 

Previous experience discounts this risk as 

being likely to occur but other organisations 

have experienced problems in this area. 

The Authority has in the past 

experienced problems in this 

area but not in last three years. 

The Authority has experienced 

problems in this area in the last 

three years. 

The Authority is experiencing 

problems in this area or expects 

to in the next 12 months.  

There are controls in placed that whilst not 

tested appear to be effective.  

Some controls are in place and 

generally work but there have 

been occasions when they 

have failed and problems have 

arisen.  

Controls may be in place but 

are generally ignored or 

ineffective.  
No controls are in place. 

Score - 2 Score - 3 Score - 4 Score - 5 

Low Medium High Very High 

The financial impact would be extra costs or 

loss of income of no greater than £25,000. 

The financial impact would be 

extra costs or loss of income of 

no greater than £100,000. 

The financial impact would be 

extra costs or loss of income of 

no greater than £500,000. 

The financial impact would be 

greater than £500,000. 

Some temporary disruption to the activities 

of one Authority service but not beyond this.  

Regular disruption to the 

activities of one or more 

Authority services. 

Severe service disruption on a 
departmental level or regular  
disruption affecting more than 

one department. 

Severe disruption to the activities 

of all Authority departments. 

It may cost more or there may be delay in 

delivery one of the Authority's corporate 

objectives. 

A number of corporate 

objectives would be delayed or 

not delivered. 

Many corporate objectives 

delayed or not delivered. 
Unable to deliver most objectives. 

P
age 399



 

2  
Legal/Contract Standing Orders  
26 July 2021    

Some loss of confidence and trust in the 

Authority felt by a certain group or within a 

small geographical area. 

A general loss of confidence 

and trust in the Authority within 

the local community.  

A major loss of confidence and 

trust in the Authority within the 

local community. 

A disastrous loss of confidence 

and trust in the Authority both 

locally and nationally. 

 

 

P
age 400



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

1 of 6 

To: National Park Authority, 16 December 2022 
From: Marc Ronan, Solicitor and Monitoring Officer 
 
 

Parking Byelaw 
 
 

Decision Required YES ☒ / NO ☐ Agenda Item 8 

 

Recommendation 

Approve the commencement of the initial written statement and 12-week 
consultation on the introduction of a byelaw regulating the use of and charging for 
car parking on Authority owned car parks. 

 

 

Key Messages 

This report seeks approval for the commencement of the initial written statement 
and consultation on the introduction of a byelaw regulating the use of and charging 
for car parking at Authority owned and managed car parks.  

 
  

Page 401

Agenda Item 8



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

2 of 6 

Background 

 
As landowner the Authority currently charges for car parking by way of a contractual 
relationship with patrons. However, this arrangement does not adequately deal with 
regulation of the use of the car parks and enforcement. 

 
Section 90(1) and (5) of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 
enables National Parks to make byelaws in respect of land owned or occupied by them 
in a National Park ‘for the preservation of order, for the prevention of damage to the 
land… or anything thereon or therein, and for securing that persons resorting thereto 
will so behave themselves as to avoid undue interference with the enjoyment of the 
land by other persons’ Further, as regards parking places the Authority is empowered 
to ‘make byelaws as to the conditions of use, and charges to be made for the use, of 
such parking places, and for prohibiting or restricting persons from plying for hire with 
vehicles at such parking places’. 

 
A byelaw would allow the Authority to charge for car parking at its owned/occupied car 
parks and regulate the use of those areas in relation to overnight parking, camping, 
fires, protection of vegetation, damage to Authority property, advertisements, 
meetings and events, trading, and poor behaviour. Any person offending against the 
byelaw would be liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding £500. A draft of 
the byelaw is set out in Appendix One. 

 
It is not proposed the Authority issues parking contravention notices and civil 
enforcement at this time and hence a complementary traffic regulation order is not 
considered in this report but may be an option to consider when considering the 
responses to the consultation process. 

 
The byelaw if introduced would cover the car parks set out in the Schedule to the draft 
byelaw.  
 
The procedure for making a byelaw in Wales is set out in the Local Government 
Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012. Section 7 of the Act requires the Authority follows the 
following steps: 

a. the initial written statement;  

b. a summary of the consultation and the responses;  

c. the authority’s decision; and  

d. the reasons in support of that decision. 
 

Before making byelaws, the Authority must produce and publish, on its website, an 
initial written statement which describes the issue or problem they are seeking to 
address. 
  

Page 402



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

3 of 6 

Statutory guidance1 does not prescribe what form this initial written statement should 
take, however it is recommended that it clearly defines:  

a. the nature, extent and incidence of the issue or problem. 

b. the area in which the issue or problem is being experienced; and 

c. all reasonably practicable options, including but not limited to a byelaw, for 
resolving the issue or problem 

 
In carrying out the regulatory assessment, the Authority must consult such persons it 
considers may be affected by the proposed byelaw. As well as being a requirement of 
the byelaw making process, thorough consultation with affected parties can result in 
establishing the most appropriate means of addressing the underlying issue including 
an alternative to a byelaw (such as a traffic regulation order) or the creation of a more 
suitable byelaw that is more resistant to challenge and less likely to be the subject of 
objections than would otherwise have been the case. Consultation also allows the 
Authority to gauge support for the proposed byelaw.  

 
The consultation should remain open for a reasonable period (12 weeks is the 
standard consultation period followed by the Welsh Government) to allow as many 
interested persons as possible the opportunity to respond. Consultation will include 
affected parties including community groups; special interest groups; unitary 
authorities, community councils; professional bodies; consumer organisations and 
trade associations as well as residents, businesses and other organisations directly 
affected by the issue and the general public.  

 
Upon expiry of the consultation period the Authority will have to decide whether to 
make the byelaw at a further meeting of the full Authority. At this future meeting the 
Authority must consider all representations received, including objections, and 
determine how to proceed.  

 
The Authority is then required to publish, on its website, a second written statement 
which must contain:  

a) the initial written statement;  

b) a summary of the consultation and the responses;  

c) the authority’s decision; and  

d) the reasons in support of that decision 
 

Where, following consultation, the authority decides to make a byelaw, the Act requires 
that at least six weeks before the byelaw is submitted for confirmation, the Authority 
must publish notice of its intention to do so:in one or more local newspapers circulating 
in the area to which the byelaw is to apply 

b) on the authority's website 

c) a copy is deposited at a place within the Authority's area 

d) a copy is open to public inspection at all reasonable hours without payment; and 

e) where applicable, a copy is sent to all community councils whose areas the 
Authority thinks are likely to be affected by the byelaw 

                                                           
1 Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 Statutory Guidance to Welsh Local Authorities, Community and Town 
Councils, National Park Authorities and Natural Resources Wales published March 2015. 

Page 403



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

4 of 6 

 
If the Authority formally resolves to make the proposed byelaw it should be executed 
as a formal legal document under seal and be submitted to the Welsh Ministers as 
confirming authority who may confirm, or refuse to confirm, the byelaw 
 
Relation to Authority Priorities 

 

 Contribution towards the Corporate objective of delivering key services that 
meet the needs of residents and visitors to the National Park.  

 Work with communities to plan, participate, support and shape the future of 
their place;  

 Change which enables the Authority to work within the resources available.  

 By working with our partners, we will improve the environment quality across 
the region;  

 Provide value for money services 

 
Impact Analysis 

 
Financial – none directly from this report. 
 
Legal – contained within the report. 
 
Diversity – a full Equality and Diversity Impact Assessment will be carried out at the 
time of the consultation. 
 
Human Resources – none directly from this report. 
 
Sustainability – none directly from this report. 
 
Risk 

 
Byelaws need to be effective in regulating the issue they are designed to regulate. 
Consultation is required to get a better understanding of issues from the general public 
and affected parties and whether there is a more suitable alternative to a byelaw. 
 
Conclusion and Next Steps 

 

 Authority publishes initial written statement; 

 12-week consultation 

 Authority decides whether to make byelaw at a meeting of the full Authority 

 Authority publishes second written statement 

 If Authority has made the byelaw, it will publish notice at least 6 weeks in 
advance that it intends to apply for the byelaw to be confirmed by Welsh 
Minister 

 Authority applies to Welsh Ministers for confirmation of byelaw. 

 

Page 404



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

5 of 6 

Maps of the areas proposed to be designated will be produced for the consultation 
process. 

 
  

Page 405



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

6 of 6 

Appendix One: Draft Car Parking Byelaw 

 
 

Page 406



 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority 

Byelaws for Car Parks 
  

Page 407



 

 

Byelaws made under section 90 of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 

1949 by Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the conditions of use and charges to be 

made for the use of parking places  

 

Part 1-Preliminary 
 

Title and Commencement 
 

1. These Byelaws may be cited as the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 2023 and 

shall come into operation on the expiration of 28 days from the date of confirmation 

thereof by the Welsh Ministers. 

1. GENERAL INTERPRETATION 

1. In these byelaws: 

"the Authority" means the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority; 

"the land" means each of the areas of land owned or occupied by the Authority for the 

provision of parking places including any part of the said land which has been set 

apart by the Authority for uses ancillary to parking, and which are described in the 

Schedule to these Byelaws; 

"vehicle" means a motor vehicle, motorcycle, invalid carriage, trailer or any other 

mechanically propelled vehicle; 

"motor vehicle" means a mechanically or electrically propelled vehicle, not being an 

invalid carriage, intended or adapted for use on roads; 

"motorcycle" means a mechanically or propelled vehicle, not being an invalid 

carriage, with less than four wheels and the weight of which unladen does not exceed 

410 kilograms: 

"invalid carriage" means a vehicle, whether mechanically propelled or not, the 

unladen weight of which does not exceed 150 kilograms, the width of which does not 

exceed 0.85 metres and which has been constructed or adapted for--use for the 

carriage of one person, being a person suffering from some physical disability and is 

used solely by such a person; 

"trailer" means a vehicle designed to be drawn by a motor vehicle and includes a 

caravan. 

"cycle" means a bicycle, a tricycle, or a cycle having four or more wheels, not being 

in any case a motorcycle or motor vehicle. 

"parking places" means those parts of the land where vehicles can be parked and 

which are not closed by a notice erected thereon by the Authority 

2. APPLICATION 
 

 These byelaws apply throughout the Brecon Beacons National Park 

Page 408



 

 

3. VEHICLES 
1. No person shall, without reasonable excuse, drive or ride any vehicle on the land or bring 

or cause to be brought on to the land any vehicle except on those hard surfaced areas of 

the land which have been set apart by the Authority as parking places. 

2. This Byelaw shall not prevent the driving or riding of those vehicles on the land for the 

purpose of parking in a space set apart for that purpose or on a route between it and the 

entrance to the land. 

3. No person shall, without reasonable excuse, drive or ride any vehicle on the land except 

for the purpose of parking. 

4. No person shall on the land abandon any cycle or vehicle. 

5. Where, by notice on site a parking place is described as not being available for vehicles 

over a specified weight and/or height and/or length, no person shall cause or permit a 

vehicle exceeding those specifications to be parked in that parking place. 

6. If parking bays are marked out on the land the driver of a vehicle shall ensure that it is 

positioned wholly within a parking bay and shall not permit it to wait on the land unless it 

is so positioned. 

7. If parking bays are not marked out on the land the driver of a vehicle shall ensure that it is 

positioned so that it does not obstruct other vehicles using the land, the free flow of traffic 

circulating within the land, any access to premises adjoining the site and the entrances to 

and exits from the land. 

8. No person shall cause or permit a vehicle to be parked in a parking bay marked for 

disabled persons unless the vehicle displays a valid disabled person's badge in the relevant 

position and immediately before or immediately after the act of parking the vehicle has 

been or is about to be used by the person(s) in respect of whom the disabled person's 

badge has been issued. 

9. No person shall continue to run the engine when the vehicle is in a parking place nor start 

the engine except when about to change the position of the vehicle in or to depart from 

the land. 

10. With the exception of sub-paragraphs (3) and (4) this Byelaw shall not extend to invalid 

carriages.  

 

4. VEHICLE LICENCES 
1. The driver shall not permit a vehicle to wait on the land unless it has a current vehicle 

licence for that vehicle in accordance with the provisions of the Vehicle Excise and 

Registration Act 1994. 

2. This byelaw shall not apply to any vehicle exempted from duty by or under any 

enactment 

Page 409



 

 

5. LIMIT ON WAITING 
1. No person shall, without the consent of the Authority, leave any vehicle or cause or 

permit any vehicle  

to be left on the land between the hours of 12 midnight and 6 a.m. 

6. PARKING TICKETS 
1. This Byelaw applies to those areas of the land that the Authority has set apart as a 'Pay 

and Display' car park. 

2. The charges for a vehicle left in a Pay and Display car park shall during the hours 

specified by the Authority be: 

Cars and minibuses and motorcycles  

Up to 1 hour £1.75 

Up to 2 hours £2.90 

Up to 4 hours £4.65 

All day £5.50 

Motorcycles  

All day £2.10 

 

Coaches (where permitted) 

Any three-hour period £5.10 

Horse boxes/lorries up to 4 hours £5.10 

Horse boxes/lorries all day £8.10 

 

Parking permits 

Visitors permit (annual) £66.00 

Holiday permit (weekly) £17.50 

Disabled Persons Badge holders FREE 

Cycles FREE 

 

3. The charges referred to in paragraph 6(2) (save in respect of parking permits) shall be 

payable by the insertion of an appropriate coin or coins into the apparatus or device 

provided or by means of a credit or debit card if the apparatus or device allows, or by an 

alternative approved method of payment where available. 

4. A parking permit may be purchased from the Authority for a charge ascertained by 

reference to the charge specified in paragraph 6(2) of this Byelaw and that parking permit 

shall be valid in such Pay and Display car parks as specified thereon during the period for 

which it is issued. Damaged or lost parking permits may be replaced on application to the 

Authority and on payment of an administration fee. The damaged or lost parking permit 

will then become immediately invalid. 

Page 410



 

 

5. Any ticket issued on payment of the charges referred to in paragraph 6(2) of this Byelaw 

or parking permit issued in accordance with paragraph 6(4) shall be attached in a 

conspicuous position to the vehicle in respect of which it was issued. A vehicle shall not 

be left in a Pay and Display car parking space without displaying a valid ticket or parking 

permit. 

6. Paragraph 6(5) of this Byelaw shall not extend to vehicles displaying in the relevant 

position a valid disabled person’s badge provided that the vehicle immediately before or 

after the act of parking has been used or is about to be used by the person(s) in respect of 

whom the badge is issued. 

7. A pay and display ticket is not transferable from one vehicle to another and on transfer the 

ticket ceases to be valid. A pay and display ticket is only valid in the parking place in 

which it was issued. This is defined by the reference code of the ticket machine located in 

that parking place printed on the pay and display ticket. 

 

7. RESTRICTION ON REMOVAL OF NOTICES 
1. When a notice has been attached to a vehicle in accordance with any of the foregoing 

provisions of these Byelaws no person other than a person authorised by the Authority in 

that behalf or the driver or a person authorised by the driver in that behalf shall remove 

the notice from the vehicle. 

8. LIABILITY OF VEHICLE OWNERS 
1. For the purposes of the institution of proceedings in respect of the offence of failure to 

comply with Byelaws 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 it shall be presumed (notwithstanding that that 

person may not be an individual) that the registered keeper of the vehicle was the driver 

of the vehicle at the relevant time and, accordingly, that acts or omissions of the driver of 

the vehicle at that time were the acts or omissions of the registered keeper. 

2. Notwithstanding the presumption in 8(1) above, it is open to the defence in any 

proceedings to prove that the person who was the registered keeper of the vehicle at a 

particular time was not the driver of the vehicle at the relevant time. 

9. CAMPING 
1. No person shall on the land, without the consent of the Authority, erect or use a tent or 

use any vehicle, including a caravan, or any other structure for the purpose of camping. 

10. FIRES 
1. No person shall on the land intentionally, recklessly or carelessly light, stoke or tend a 

fire, use a barbeque, or place, throw or let fall a lighted match or any other thing so as to 

be likely to cause a fire. 

Page 411



 

 

11. PROTECTION OF VEGETATION 
1. No person shall on the land remove or displace any soil, rock, turf, plant, shrub or tree on 

the land or pluck any bud, blossom or flower of any plant, shrub or tree. 

12. DAMAGE 
1. No person shall on the land intentionally, recklessly or carelessly destroy or damage any 

building, wall, fence, hedge, gatepost or any other structure which has been erected on the 

land. 

2. No person shall on the land intentionally, recklessly or carelessly destroy or damage any 

surface provided for the parking of vehicles. 

3. No person shall with intent to defraud interfere with a ticket machine or operate or 

attempt to operate it by the insertion of objects other than undamaged and unaltered coins 

of legal tender and of the appropriate denomination. 

13. ADVERTISEMENTS AND WRITING OR MARKING ETC 
1. No person shall on the land without the consent of the Authority affix or cause to be 

affixed any advertisement bill placard or notice upon any building wall fence gatepost 

tree rock or stone in or abutting on the land nor deface by cutting or otherwise writing or 

marking words or marks thereon any building wall fence gatepost tree rock or stone on 

the land. 

14. PUBLIC MEETINGS AND ORGANIZED EVENTS 
1. No person shall on the land without the consent of the Authority hold any public meeting 

or deliver any public speech or hold any organised event or activity. 

15. TRADING 
1. No person shall on the land, without the consent of the Authority, sell, or offer or expose 

for sale, or let to hire, or offer or expose for letting to hire, any commodity or article. 

16. BEHAVIOUR 
1. No person on the land shall, after being requested to desist by an officer of the Authority 

or by any person disturbed or by any person acting on his behalf, cause or permit to be 

made any noise which is so loud or so continuous or repeated to cause a disturbance to 

other persons: 

a) by shouting or singing; 

b) by playing a musical instrument; or 

c) by operating or permitting to be operated any radio, gramophone, amplifier, tape 

recorder, compact disc player or similar instrument 

unless that person is holding or taking part in any entertainment held with the consent of 

the Authority. 

Page 412



 

 

2. No person on the land shall wilfully sound any horn or any other similar instrument on a 

vehicle without reasonable cause. 

3. No person on the land shall use any threatening, abusive or insulting language, gesture or 

conduct with intent to put any person in fear or so as to occasion a breach of the peace or 

whereby a breach of the peace is likely to be occasioned. 

17. OBSTRUCTION 
1. No person shall on the land: 

a) intentionally obstruct any officer of the Authority in the proper execution of his 

duties. 

b) intentionally obstruct any person carrying out an act which is necessary to the proper 

execution of any contract with the Authority; or 

c) intentionally obstruct any other person in the proper use of the land or behave so as to 

give reasonable grounds for annoyance to other persons on the land. 

18. RELOCATION, REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF VEHICLES 
1. A person authorized by the Authority or a police officer in uniform may, using such 

measures as are appropriate, move or cause to be moved in the case of an emergency to 

any place he/she thinks fit, any vehicle parked in a parking place. 

2. Any person removing a vehicle from a parking place under the provisions of these 

Byelaws shall make such arrangements as may be reasonably necessary to provide for the 

safe keeping of the vehicle. 

19. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
1. The Authority accepts no liability for the loss or damage to vehicles or other property left 

on the land save for that arising from the negligence of the Authority. 

20. VALIDITY 
1. If a court or any other competent authority declares any part of these Byelaws to be 

invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not invalidate the remainder of these 

Byelaws. 

21. SAVINGS 
21. (1)  An act necessary to the proper execution of his duty on the land by an officer of the 

Authority, or any act which is necessary to the proper execution of any contract with 

the Authority, shall not be an offence under these Byelaws. 

(2)  Nothing in or done under any of the provisions of these Byelaws shall in any respect 

prejudice or injuriously affect any public right of way through the land or the rights 

of any person acting legally by virtue of some estate, right or interest in, over or 

affecting the land or any part thereof. 

Page 413



 

 

22. PENALTY 
Any person offending against any of these Byelaws shall be liable on summary conviction to 

a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale. 

 

THESE BYELAWS are made under section 90 sub-section (1) and (5) of the National Parks 

and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 by the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority with 

respect to areas of land owned or occupied as parking places 

Page 414



 

 

SCHEDULE 

 

Areas of land owned or occupied by Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the provision of parking places 

 

Fro Car park with pond & trees near Sugar Loaf  

Skirrid Fawr car park/lay-by 

Brest-cwm-llwyd car park on Black Mt.   

Tro'r Gwcw car park on Black Mt  

Pantyffynnon car park on Black Mt  

Pant-y-rhiw (Llangattock 
Hillside) 

car park near Llangattock Hillside 

Sugar Loaf car park on Sugar Loaf.  

Carn-y-Gorfydd car park on Blorenge. Also called "Roadside Rest no 1". 

Carreg Cennen car park with toilet block. 

Mountain Centre car park serving Mountain Centre. 

Craig y Nos car park serving Craig y Nos Country Park 

Cwmporth car park with toilet block & car park attendant's building.  Also called Porth yr Ogof.                                       
St Mary's Vale                                                                                       

Garn Goch  car park on Garn Goch 

Foxhunter car park & memorial  

Forge (Govilon Line) car park accessing Govilon Line. 

Keepers Pond car park 

Little Cefn-y-Coed car park near Blorenge .Also called Roadside Rest no 2. 

Llwyn Du car park near Sugar Loaf.  Also called Roadside Rest no 3 

St Mary's Vale car park near Sugar Loaf 

Pen Rhiw Wen car park on Black Mt.   

Gwaun Hepste car park. 

P
age 415



 

 

Mynydd Llangynidr (Blaen 
Oneu) 

car park on Mynydd Llangynidr.   

Llyn y Fan Fach car park on Black Mt  

Comin y Rhos (Clyn Gwyn) car park on Rhos Fawr near access to Clyn Gwyn. 

Mail Coach Pillar Lay-by Mailcoach Pillar memorial within lay-by 

Black Mt 3 Black Mt Lay-by.   

Black Mt Lay-by 2 Lay-by on Black Mt.   

Black Mountain Lay by 1 car park on Back Mt.   

Llangasty car park  

Llanthony Car Park  

Tair Cairn Uchaf Pull-in on Black Mountain 

 

 P
age 416



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

1 of 4 

To: National Park Authority, 16 December 2022 
From: Gareth Jones, Director of Planning & Place 
 
 

Review of Planning Protocol 
 

Decision Required YES ☒ / NO ☐ Agenda Item 9 

 

Recommendation 

Approve the proposed changes to the Planning Protocol as set out in Appendix 

One of this report.  

Delegate minor amendments and formatting of the Protocol to the Director of 

Planning and Place. 

 

Key Messages 

The Authority has a Planning Protocol which provides advice and guidance on the 

operation of the planning system 

It is intended to guide the procedures by which Members and Officers of the 

Authority deal with planning matters, and to set standards of probity and conduct 

which members of the public can expect. 

It is a requirement that the Planning Protocol is reviewed and, where appropriate, 

updated on a regular basis.  

 
  

Page 417

Agenda Item 9



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

2 of 4 

Background 

 
One of the key purposes of the planning system is to manage development in the 
public interest. In performing this role, planning necessarily affects land and property 
interests, particularly the financial value of landholdings and the quality of their 
settings. It is important, therefore, that the local planning authority, both planning 
officers and the planning committee, make planning decisions affecting these interests 
openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons. The process 
should leave no grounds for suggesting that a decision has been partial, biased or not 
well founded in any way. 
 
Planning decision making is not an exact science, but a process of informed 
judgement taken within a firm policy context. Decisions can be highly controversial 
due to their capacity to affect amenity and well-being as well as land and property 
interests, more so because the system actively invites public opinion as part of the 
decision-making process. It is important, therefore, that the planning processes at the 
Authority are characterised by open and transparent decision-making. 
 
The Authority’s Planning Protocol is intended as guidance and a statement of good 
practice for Members and officers involved in the administration or operation of the 
planning process.  It is intended to supplement the Members Code of Conduct and 
assist in giving guidance on the roles and expected behaviour of members in dealing 
with planning matters.  Issues covered include, for example, personal interests, 
lobbying, site visit procedure, call in procedures, and decisions contrary to officers’ 
recommendations. 
 
It is a requirement and good practice for the Authority’s Planning Protocol to be 
periodically reviewed and updated where appropriate. 
 
Relation to Authority Priorities 

 
This is a procedural matter related to the operation of a statutory function of the 
Authority which requires NPA approval. 
 
Impact Analysis 

 
Financial – none identified. 
 
Legal – the Monitoring Officer has been consulted on the proposed changes to the 
Planning Protocol. 
 
Diversity – none identified. 
 
Human Resources – none identified. 
 
Sustainability – none identified. 
 
  

Page 418



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

3 of 4 

Risk 

 
The Planning Protocol provides a framework so that Members and officers can work 
with the overall objective of ensuring that in the planning process there are no grounds 
for suggesting that a decision has been biased, partial or not well founded in any way 
and that such decisions have been taken openly, transparently, and fairly in 
accordance with established procedures.  In doing so, it helps manage risks to the 
Authority. 
 
Conclusion and Next Steps 

 
The Planning Protocol is intended to guide the procedures by which Members and 
Officers of the Authority deal with planning matters and to set standards of probity and 
conduct expected of them. 
 
Following an officer review of the current Planning Protocol, changes and 
amendments are proposed as set out in Appendix One of this report.  The updated 
document will be published on the Authority’s website once the proposed changes 
have been considered and agreed by the National Park Authority. 
  

Page 419



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

4 of 4 

Appendix One: Planning Protocol, November 2022 

 

Page 420



 

 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

  

  

Planning Protocol 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Approved on 30 January 2004 

 

 

 

 

 

Reviewed and updated 16 December 2022 

Next Review Date: 2025 

Page 421



Page 2 of 17 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 

PLANNING PROTOCOL 

CONTENTS  

 

1.0 Introduction  

 Purpose  

 Application  

 Code of Conduct  

 

2.0 Lobbying  

 

3.0 Membership of another Local Authority  

 

4.0 Planning Committee Site Visits  

 

5.0 Meetings of Planning Committee   

 

6.0 Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendations 

and/or the Development Plan 

 

 

7.0 Development Proposals by Members/Officers  

 

8.0 

 

9.0 

Development Proposals by the Authority 

 

Training and Monitoring 

 

 

10.0 Complaints/Record Keeping  

 

11.0 Call-In Procedures  

 
 

  

Page 422



Page 3 of 17 

Planning Protocol 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

Purpose 

 

1.1 This Planning Protocol has been adopted by the Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority to guide the performance of its planning function.  The Protocol has the 

following objectives: 

 To guide Members and Officers of the Authority in dealing with planning 

related matters; 

 To provide more detailed guidance on the standards to be applied 

specifically in relation to planning matters; 

 To apply internal guidelines to the way in which the Authority will deal with 

the planning matters; 

 To inform potential users of the planning service, and member of the public 

generally, of the standards adopted by the Authority in the performance of 

its planning function. 

  

1.2 The Planning Protocol supplements the Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members, 

although some provisions of the Protocol may to a certain extent deal with issues 

which are also dealt with by the Code of Conduct.   

  

 

 

1.3 

 

 

 

 

 

1.4 

 

One of the key aims of the planning system is to balance private interests in the 

development of land against the wider public interest.  In performing this role, 

planning necessarily affects land and property interests, particularly the financial 

value of landholdings and the quality of their settings.  Opposing views are often 

strongly held by those involved. 

 

Whilst Members involved in planning decision making must take account of these 

views, they should not favour any person, company, group or locality, nor put 

themselves in a position where they may appear to be doing so.  It is important, 

therefore that the planning authority makes planning decisions affecting these 

interests openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons. 

  

1.5 This Protocol will be reviewed and approved by the full National Park Authority 

every three years.  

  

  

  

1.6 The provisions of this Planning Protocol are designed to ensure that whenever 

Members consider a matter relating to the planning function, all decisions are taken 

on proper planning grounds and are taking in a consistent and open manner and 

that Members making such decisions are perceived as accountable for those 

decisions.  The Planning Protocol is also designed to assist Members in dealing with 

approaches from applicants/developers and third parties and is intended to ensure 

that the decision-making process is sound.  In this way the prospect of legal 

Page 423



Page 4 of 17 

challenge or complaint against the Authority, its individual Members or officers in 

making proper planning decisions is mitigated. 

  

1.7 Whilst Members have a personal responsibility to ensure they conduct themselves 

at all times within the requirements of this protocol, the Authority’s Officers, 

including the Monitoring Officer, should be consulted if Members are in any doubt 

as to the application of the requirements of the protocol in any circumstances. 

  

Application 

  

1.8 The following guidance should be followed by all Members not only in respect of 

the formulation and adoption of development plan policies but also in respect of 

development management functions (planning applications of all types including 

listed building and conservation area consent, lawful development certificates, 

notifications and determination of all enforcement matters and tree preservation 
orders etc.).  It also applies to meetings of the Authority when dealing with such 

matters and it applies to the conduct of Members even before a formal application 

or proposal is submitted. 

  

1.9 Failure to comply with this Planning Protocol may result, or play a significant part 

in: 

 The investigation of complaints of maladministration or allegations of failure 

to observe the Code of Conduct for Members by the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales; 

 Referral to the Authority’s Standards Committee; 

 Judicial Review proceedings in the High Court; 

 Appeals to the Welsh Government (e.g. in respect of any awards of costs); 

 Complaints about the conduct of officers. 

 

 

  

1.10 This Protocol applies to all Members and Officers who become involved in 

operating the planning system.  The successful operation of the planning system 

relies on mutual trust and understanding of each other’s role.  It also relies on each 

ensuring that they act in a way which is not only fair and impartial but is also clearly 

seen to be so. 

  

Code of Conduct 

  

1.11 The Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members  indicates mandatory requirements 

with regard to personal interests which must be complied with throughout the 

decision-making process.  Members should also have regard to guidance by the 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.  Decisions should not be influenced by 

personal interests of Members (including the interests of those with whom they 

live, by whom they are employed or with whom they otherwise have a close 

personal association) or because of undue pressure exerted by applicants, agents or 

third parties such as Town or Community Councils.  This is necessary to avoid 
giving the impression that decisions may have been influenced in any way. 

  

Page 424



Page 5 of 17 

1.12 The responsibility for disclosing a personal interest rests with individual Members.  

A similar responsibility applies to Officers.  In the event of uncertainty, Members 

should seek advice on the applicability of the Code from the Monitoring Officer.  

Early notification of disclosure interests is particularly important to allow proper 

consideration of the issues.  This Planning Protocol outlines further rules applicable 

to the planning process in the Authority. 

  

1.13 In addition to the Authority’s Code of Conduct, Members should be mindful that 

Planning Officers should be conducting themselves and the advice they give, in 

accordance with the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) Code of Professional 

Conduct.  Those Officers who are members of the RTPI are bound by this code 

and those who are not yet members will be encouraged to become members and 

comply with the code. 

  

2.0 LOBBYING 
 

2.1 

 

Members may be subject to lobbying on planning matters and specific planning 

applications.  When this occurs, great care is essential to maintain the Authority’s, 

and indeed the Member's own, integrity and the public perception of the planning 

process. 

 

2.2 This section is intended to ensure: 

 That high standards are maintained when planning decisions are taken; 

 That the integrity of the decision-making process is not impaired, either in 

reality or in perception, through the lobbying of those Members who will 

make decisions; 

 That the fact that approaches have been made by lobbyists1 are recorded, 

and that any representations made to Member form part of the public 

information leading to any decision. 

  

2.3 To avoid compromising their position in making a decision before they have 

received all the relevant information, Members must: 

 Take care in any contact with interested parties1 to ensure that they are not 

unduly influenced in any way by one party or another and to avoid making it 

known in advance whether they support or oppose the proposal.  If possible, 

any meetings with Members should be arranged and attended by an 

appropriate Planning Officer and will include the Chair of the Planning 

Committee or his/her representative; 

 Not advise interested parties1 or their agents on the likely acceptability of 

planning proposals; 

 Restrict their views to giving procedural advice and listening to concerns and 

views; 

 Direct lobbyists2 to Planning Officers, and to provide their comments in 

writing to the relevant Planning Officer who will include reference to their 

comments, where relevant, in their report; 

 Not organise support for or against a planning proposal; 

 Not lobby other Members; 

 Not pressurise Officers to make a particular recommendation in their 

report; 

Page 425



Page 6 of 17 

 Not circulate unofficial papers to other Members or to Planning Committee 

meetings; 

 Not attend the application site with interested parties or their 

representatives; 

 Not allow those with whom they live, by whom they are employed or with 

whom they otherwise have a close personal association to exert undue 

influence on their decision making. 

  

 1in this protocol interested parties includes applicants/agents and statutory 

consultees, 2lobbyist include the applicant, supporters, objectors, agents, friends 
and immediate and extended family members by marriage etc.  

  

2.4 Where a Member involved in determining planning matters has been lobbied, he/she 

should report to the relevant Committee that he/she has been lobbied and by 

whom.  However, Members must act in the public interest and not at the behest of 

the any individual or interest.  If the Member feels that he/she no longer retains an 

open mind on a planning matter, or that his/her impartiality has been or could be 

perceived as having been compromised, he /she should act as if they had a prejudicial 

interest and withdraw from the meeting.  If a Member feels that they are subject to 

excessive lobbying, they should contact the Monitoring Officer for advice. 

  

2.5 If a Member involved in determining planning matters has responded to lobbying by 

openly advocating a particular course of action prior to a Committee meeting, and 

there may be particular local circumstances where this considered appropriate, that 

Member should act as if they had a prejudicial interest and withdraw from the 

meeting.   

 

2.6 

 

Notwithstanding paragraphs 2.4 and 2.5 above, where a Member of the Planning 

Committee has declared a personal and prejudicial interest in an item for decision 

then under the Members Code of Conduct they are still permitted to speak as if 

they were a member of the public, in accordance with the provisions and procedure 

set out in the Public Attendance & Speaking at Committee Meetings Policy. 

However, they will be the first speaker and then withdraw from the Committee 

meeting for the remainder of the item. The Member shall take no part in the 

deliberation, or consideration of the item for decision. 

 

2.7 Members involved in determining planning matters who find themselves in a 

lobbying situation may wish to take steps to prevent this happening and explain that 

whilst they can listen to what is said, they are constrained from expressing a point 

of view whatsoever or an intention to vote one way or another. 
  

2.8 Where Members involved in the determination of planning matters are in 

attendance at public meetings, they may listen to the debate on current planning 

matters and may provide advice about such matters as the procedures involved in 

determining an application, considering unauthorised development, etc.  Where 

Members find it appropriate to express a view on a matter in such meetings so as 

to indicate that they have made up their mind on the proposal for example, they 

should then act as if they had a prejudicial interest and withdraw from the meeting 

when the matter is discussed. 

Page 426



Page 7 of 17 

  

2.9 Where a Member receives written representations directly in relation to a planning 

matter, local plan proposal, enforcement issue etc, the Member shall as soon as is 

practical pass the correspondence to the Head of Development Management   in 

order that those representations may be taken into account in any report to the 

Committee.  This does not apply to letters which indicate that copies have also 

been sent to the Authority itself. 

  

2.10 Where there is a friendship or family relationship directly or by marriage related to 

a planning application or a development plan policy/proposal, Members should act 

as if they had a prejudicial interest and withdraw. 

  

3.0 Membership of another Local Authority 

  

3.1 A Member who is also a member of a town, community or other council may discuss 
a planning matter at that level. 

  

3.2 If at the other council’s meeting, or indeed elsewhere, the Member has given the 

impression that he/she has made up his/her mind during the debate or in the voting 

on a particular planning matter before hearing all the information and advice 

presented later at the Authority’s meeting, then they are likely to be considered as 

having predetermined the matter (i.e. having a closed mind). 

  

3.3 In these circumstances, the Member should not participate at the Planning 

Committee meeting when the particular planning matter is discussed.  Otherwise, 

such participation could lead to a complaint of maladministration or other legal 

challenge of the Committee’s decision. 

  

4.0 Planning Committee Site Visits 

  

4.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.2 

Planning Committee site visits are fact-finding exercises which allow the Planning 

Committee to make a more informed decision than would otherwise be possible 

from reading the officer’s report including visual presentations and considering the 

views expressed at the Committee meeting by interested parties. Site visits should 

only be undertaken by the Planning Committee where there are exceptional 

circumstances justifying a site visit (that is to say it must be clearly demonstrated 

that a site inspection is essential to the decision-making process i.e. that a proper 

decision cannot be made without a site inspection taking place).   

 

Site visits should only be made in relation to any undetermined planning or related 

application to be determined by Planning Committee.  As part of the formal decision 

making process the Planning Committee may decide that a formal site visit should 

be made if it is wholly satisfied that one of the following circumstances applies: 

 It is considered the application requires the judgement of Members based 

on site characteristics or visual interpretations which cannot be readily seen 

from photographs, slides, videos, drone footage etc. – e.g. impact on 

amenity; effect of highway safety and traffic flows; effect on the character of 

the area; effect on the character or setting of a listed building or 

conservation area; effect on townscape or landscape; and/or 

 The proposal is particularly complex 

Page 427



Page 8 of 17 

 The proposal relates to a new or novel form of development and which may 

require a site visit to an existing establishment as well as to the proposal site 

in order to appreciate the potential planning implications; and/or 

 Development has been commenced or completed, which if refused planning 

permission would normally require enforcement action and a site inspection 

would assist in determining the expediency of such action. 

 

4.3 

 

When a site visit is proposed at a meeting of the Planning Committee, the proposer 

will identify which of the criteria listed above or other good planning reason applies. 

A formal vote will be taken on whether to hold a site visit and if the vote is in favour 

of a site visit the motion shall include the reasons for the visit. 

 

4.4 At the discretion of the Head of Development Management in consultation with the 

Director of Planning & Place and as agreed with the Chair or Deputy Chair of 

Planning Committee, when the planning matter is particularly contentious and/or is 

of a scale that would be likely to have a significant impact on the area in terms of 

natural beauty, cultural heritage, environmental assets, transport or public well 

being and there would be clear and substantial benefit of a site visit, then a site visit 

will be conveyed PRIOR to a Planning Committee meeting. 

  

4.5 

 
 

 

 

4.6 

 

 

 

 

 

4.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The minutes of the Planning Committee meeting at which the decision is taken shall 

record the reason for the proposed site visit.  
 

Any Public Speakers who are in attendance at a Planning Committee meeting where 

Members have determined that a site visit will take place will be offered the choice 

to make their presentations at that meeting or at the subsequent meeting of 

Planning Committee 

 

 

All members of the Planning Committee shall use their best endeavours to attend 

a site visit where they intend to vote on the determination of the planning 

application in question. A Member’s involvement in the determination of such 

applications may be in doubt if they did not attend a relevant site visit (ie. as a 

consequence of which the Member is unable to vote with knowledge of all relevant 

matters) and in that situation the Member shall seek the advice of the Monitoring 

Officer, which shall wherever practicable be obtained in writing and a copy given to 

the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee prior to the Planning 

Committee meeting in question.  

 

Members who, as a result of such advice from the Monitoring Officer, conclude that 

they are unable to vote on the application shall not participate in the decision making 

process of the application in question at Planning Committee. 

 

Page 428



Page 9 of 17 

4.9 

 

 

  

4.10 The Head of Development Management and the Planning Support Service shall 

organise such site visits.  The letter/email informing Members of the date, and 

location of the formal site visit shall include the reason for the site visit, the meeting 

point and an attached plan of the meeting point, if required.  The site visit will take 

place on or before the next available Planning Committee. The Planning Support 

Service will be expected to ensure that safe access is available to the site for 

Members and Officers on the day, in accordance with a previously completed risk 

assessment.   

  

4.11 The applicant and/or agent will be informed of the following matters: 

 That a site visit will take place; 

 That the purpose of the site visit is that the Members have the fullest 

appreciation of the nature of the site visit and the environmental impacts of 

the proposed development; and 

 That Members will not entertain any representations from the applicant or 

any representation from a third party. 

  

  

4.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

4.13 

The sole purpose of the site visit will be for Members to view the site and to clarify 

issues of fact. There shall be no discussions at the site visit concerning the merits of 

the application and the site visit will not be used as a forum for debate. No 

recommendations shall be made at the site inspection. Members of the 

public/interested parties are not invited to attend a site visit.  If they are in 

attendance, at a public location, Members are reminded not to engage in discussion 

with them. 
 

Where additional clarification would be helpful, and with the agreement of the Chair 

or Deputy Chair of Planning Committee, the applicant, and/or agent acting on behalf 

of the applicant will be invited to attend the relevant part of the site visit, if required 

to allow access to the site.  Officers shall advise the agent and/or applicant that 

attendance at the site visit is not an opportunity to discuss the merits of the case, 

but rather to enable Members to gain a better appreciation of the site 

characteristics.    

 

  

4.14 A site visit is not a formal meeting of the Authority and shall be operated in 

accordance with the following procedures: 

 The Chair or Deputy Chair of the Planning Committee will chair and manage 

the site visit; 

 Members shall keep together as a group and shall not engage in discussion 

with anyone who is not formally present as part of the site visit; 

 Officers will be requested by the Chair or Deputy Chair of Planning 

Committee to identify those aspects that determined the need for the site 

visit.  Members will be given the opportunity to ask questions of Officers.  

Page 429



Page 10 of 17 

 Members should ensure that the site visit has improved their understanding 

and appreciation of the site and its context in order to formulate their views 

on those aspects that determined the need for a site visit.  Such views should 
not be discussed in the presence of the applicant and/or agent or any third 

party.The Committee Clerk will attend the site visit to minute the 

proceedings in respect of the location, reason for site visit, attendees, start 

and finish time of the meeting and locations attended within a site.  Note 

this will not be a verbatim record of the meeting.  This minute will be 

reported to the Planning Committee for formal approval.   

  

5.0 Meetings of the Planning Committee 

  

5.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 54A and Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Section 38(6) states that “Applications for planning 

permission, or the renewal of planning permission, should be determined in accordance 

with the approved or adopted development plan for the area, unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise”. Thus, where the Development Plan is relevant, the 

Authority must determine applications in accordance with the plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  This statutory requirement is a fundamental 

principle for the Authority’s approach to decision making. 

  

5.2 The  Development Plan is currently the adopted Plan for the area which in this case 

is Future Wales: the national plan 2040 and the Brecon Beacons National Park Local 

Development Plan (2007-2022).. 

  

5.3 Planning Committee Agendas will contain reports on: 

a) ‘Items for Decision’ – comprising applications (planning applications, Listed 

Building and Conservation Area Consents, Tree Preservation Orders 

[TPOs], Enforcement Notices and rights of way diversions) and any other 

Development Management related matters upon which Members are 

required to make a decision, and; 

b) ‘Items for Noting’ – upon which a decision has already been undertaken 

under Delegated Powers.  Members may engage in debate or ask Officers 
questions about ‘Items for Noting’. 

Non-Delegated application reports are full reports covering all relevant 

considerations (in planning terms) and issues to enable Members to make a decision 

on an application.  Planning Officer reports to Planning Committee are not intended 

to provide an in depth report of relevant legal principles which repeat each and 

every detail of the relevant facts to Members of the Committee who are responsible 

for the decision.  Reports to the Planning Committee should be prepared, on behalf 

of the Head of Development Management as follows: 

 Reports should be accurate and cover, amongst other things, a summary of 

the substance of any third party comments and the views of those consulted, 

as recommended by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales; 

 Relevant information should include a clear, concise and comprehensive 

explanation of the relevant national policy and guidance, development plan; 

site or related history; and any other material considerations; 

 Reports should contain technical conclusions which clearly justify the 

recommendation; 

Page 430

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents


Page 11 of 17 

 If the report’s recommendation is contrary to the provisions of the 

development plan, the material considerations which justify the 

recommendation must be clearly stated; 

 Reports shall be in writing and shall have a written recommendation of 

action.  Verbal reporting of additional information and/or representation not 

already included in the report (except to update a report or summarise a 

late representation) should be avoided and carefully minuted when it does 

occur. 

  

5.4 Officers shall provide a brief summary presentation of each non-delegated planning 

application on the agenda, to include a visual presentation of the site location, plans 

illustrating the proposals, photographs and any other visual presentations 

considered appropriate.  Officers shall presume that Members have reviewed the 

non-delegated reports prior to the meeting and thus shall only provide a brief verbal 

summary of the key matters and recommendation. 

  

5.5 Members of the public may speak in relation to ‘Items for Decision’ and notice to 

speak must be given in accordance with the Public Attendance & Speaking at 

Committee Meetings Policy.  There shall be no public speaking in relation to ‘Items 

for Noting’.  Members who have declared a personal and prejudicial interest in a 

particular matter may still apply to speak under the Authority’s Public Attendance 

& Speaking at Committee Meetings Policy.  They are also able to apply to the 
Standards Committee for Dispensation to Speak (see Members Dispensation Policy 

for details).  

  

5.6 As far as practical, the Monitoring Officer or a suitably qualified alternative and 

Committee Clerk should always attend the Planning Committee meeting to ensure 

that procedures have been properly followed. 

  

5.7 The Chair and/or Deputy Chair of Planning Committee should attend a briefing 

session with Officers prior to a Planning Committee meeting, to assist the effective 

conduct of the meeting. 

  

5.8 Representations 

  

5.8.1 From time-to-time Members of Planning Committee receive correspondence and 

other relevant information from persons or groups who have an interest in the 

outcome of a planning application to be determined and there may be pressure to 

respond.  A member will occasionally receive a significant amount of unsolicited 

correspondence and other information on more contentious applications.  

Members are advised not to reply or respond to this correspondence but instead 

forward it to the Head of Development Management  (and Planning Support 

Service) in order that the information can be reviewed and any new or relevant 

information brought to the attention of all Members at the meeting (see section 2 

– ‘Lobbying’ for additional guidance).  

  

5.8.2 The Officer’s Report to Planning Committee will contain a summary of the matters 

raised by third parties received prior to the Agenda being published.  Where 

appropriate, any correspondence or additional information received since the 

Page 431



Page 12 of 17 

publication of the Planning Committee agenda papers will be reported verbally at 

Committee giving it such prominence and weight as its relevance requires.  

 

  

5.8.3 Correspondence received after the Planning Committee agenda has been published 

will be reported in the following structured way: any correspondence (hard copy 

or electronic) received by members and/or officers within 3 working days of the 

committee will be disregarded as too late.  This is subject to the 21 day minimum 

consultation period having elapsed (or further period in the case of re-consultation).  

These letters will not be filed and will be disregarded unless in exceptional 

circumstances where a new issue is raised that has not been previously been 

considered and which may affect the decision to be taken.  This will be at the 

discretion of the Head of Development Managementin consultation with the 

Director of Planning & Place and as agreed with the Chair or Deputy Chair of 

Planning Committee. 
  

5.8.4 For the avoidance of doubt, Planning Committee meetings usually take place on 

Tuesdays.  The cut-off date for late correspondence is 5pm on the preceding 

Thursday.  This procedure will allow at least two clear working days for 

late correspondence to be collated and reported to Members with the appropriate 

officer advice. 

  

5.8.5   

 

  

5.9 Members have a duty to take into account any representations made to the Local 

Planning Authority as a result of consultation with interested bodies or as a result 

of public notice or neighbour notification.  In doing so it is necessary to decide 

which representations are material to the decision to be made, and, if so, what 

weight to attach to them.  This conclusion should not be reached until all 

information and argument has been presented and considered. 

  

  

  

5.10 In the event of a material revision to any planning application being received after 

preparation of the Committee report the Chair or Deputy Chair of Planning 

Committee and Head of Development Management in consultation with the 

Director of Planning & Place shall consider whether to withdraw the item from the 

agenda prior to the  Planning Committee meeting.  If the agenda has been published 

the item will remain on the agenda but the reason for withdrawal/deferral will be 

reported verbally at the relevant point of the meeting. 

  

5.11 Where an application proceeds to Planning Committee and new material 

information comes to light at the meeting, the Committee may decide: 

a) To defer consideration of the application; or 
b) To delegate the decision following any necessary re-consultation. 

In other cases, where the Head of Development Management in consultation with 

the Director Planning & Place, considers that it is appropriate to do so, Officers 

may present new information verbally.  However, where the information is 

Page 432



Page 13 of 17 

substantial, it will usually be necessary to defer consideration by the Committee for 

a written appraisal to be prepared and presented to a future  Planning Committee. 

  

6.0 Decisions Contrary to the Officer Recommendation and/or the 

Development Plan 

  

6.1 The Courts have expressed the view that where a Planning Committee makes a 

decision contrary to Officer’s recommendation (whether for approval or refusal), 

such reasons should be based on sound planning considerations.  The personal 

circumstances of an applicant will rarely provide such grounds. 

  

6.2 Whenever the Planning Committee is minded to determine a planning application 

contrary to Officer recommendation, the Planning Committee must clearly and 

convincingly define and list the planning reasons for rejecting the Officer’s 

recommendation and then vote on those reasons.  The reasons must be recorded 
in the minutes and the application will be deferred to the next available meeting of 

the Planning Committee in accordance with the following provisions. 

  

6.3 At the subsequent Planning meeting, the Head of Development Management shall 

respond in a further written report to the reasons formulated by the Planning 

Committee for not accepting the earlier recommendation.  The report shall include 

the following information: 

a) Where Members are minded to grant permission contrary to a 

recommendation to refuse, contain draft conditions to be attached to the 

grant of permission and, where appropriate, the terms of any planning 

olbligation/legal agreement; or 

b) Where Members are minded to refuse permission against a 

recommendation to approve, set outr formal reasons for refusal reflecting 

the previous views of the  Planning Committee. Advise upon the evidence 

that would be available to substantiate those reasons; and include any other 

reasons for refusal which the Officer considers could be substantiated on 

appeal. 

If the Planning Committee is not minded to accept the subsequent recommendation 

of the Head of Development Management, then it shall again consider its reasons 

for not accepting the Officers’ advice.  Those reasons shall then be formally 

recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

6.4 

 

 

 

Where planning permission is refused contrary to officer advice, members should 

be aware of the risk of an award of costs being made against the Authority at a 

subsequent appeal.  

  

  

7.0 Development Proposals Submitted by Members and Officers 

  
7.1 Proposals to the Local Planning Authority by serving and former3 Members and 

Officers and their close friends and relatives (ie. spouse, partner, parent, child or 

sibling) can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety.  Proposals can take the form 

of either planning applications or development plan proposals.  In all 

Page 433



Page 14 of 17 

correspondence and meetings etc., such Members and Officers should identify their 

status. 

  

7.2 Serving Councillors and Officers should never act as agents for people pursuing a 

planning matter with their Authority. Should they submit their own proposals to 

the Authority they should take no part in its processing..   

  

 3 ‘Former’ = those Officers and Members who left the Authority less than 12 months prior to the submission 

of their planning application. 
  

7.3 Such proposals will be reported to the Planning Committee as main items and not 

dealt with by Officers under delegated powers.  The same applies to applications 

etc. made by former Members and former Officers.   

  

7.4 Where there is a proposal from a serving or former Officer (or from a relative or 

from a close friend), the Officer must: 

a) Inform the Head of Development Management when the application is made 

or as soon as it comes to the attention of the Officer; 

b) If a serving Officer, the officer shall inform the Authority‘s Monitoring 

Officer in writing. A copy of the notification will be placed on the Register 

of Officer‘s interests maintained by the Monitoring Officer. 

c) Take no part in the decision-making process; and 

d) Comply with other relevant provisions of this Protocol. 

  

7.5 Where there is a proposal from a Member (or relative or a person by whom they 

are employed or with whom they have a close personal association), or where the 

member has (for any reason) a prejudicial interest in the matter, then the Member 

must: 

a) Inform the Head of Development Management when the application is made 

or as soon as it comes to the attention of the Member; 

b) Comply with the other relevant provisions of this protocol; and may 

c) Attend a meeting of the Authority but only for the purpose of making 

representations in relation to the proposal, provided that the public are 

allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose.  Having made such 

representations the member must: 
d) Immediately leave the meeting; and 

e) Take no part in the decision-making process. 

  

7.6 Where a Member has a prejudicial interest in a matter (as defined in the Authority’s 

Code of Conduct for Members) the Member shall not approach Planning Officers 

directly or indirectly or make verbal or written representations in relation to the 

application and shall not seek to influence a decision in relation to it.  

  

7.7  

 

8.0 

 

8.1 

 

 

 

Development Proposals Submitted by the Authority 

 

It is critical that the Authority is seen to be treating applications for its own 

development (or a development involving the Authority and another party) on an 

equal footing with all other applications.  

Page 434



Page 15 of 17 

 

8.2 

 

 

 

8.3 

 

 

All such proposals will be subject to the same administration processes, including 

consultation, as private applications with consideration being made in accordance 

with policy and any other material planning consideration.  

 

In order to ensure transparency and openness, Authority proposals (save for 

discharge of conditions and minor amendments) will not be dealt with under officer 

delegated powers and instead determined by Planning Committee. 

 

 

9.0 Training and Monitoring 

  

9.1 Members MUST attend an initial induction AND regular training sessions to 

receive guidance in relation to planning regulations and procedures and on 

disclosure of personal interests.  
  

9.2 Members should periodically revisit a sample of implemented planning permissions 

to assess the quality of the decisions.  Such a review should improve the quality and 

consistency of decision-making, thereby strengthening public confidence in the 

planning system, and can help with reviews of planning policies.  

  

  

  

9.3 Reviews are best undertaken at least annually.  They will include examples from a 

broad range of categories such and major and minor development; permitted 

departures; delegated items; upheld appeals; listed building works and enforcement 

cases.  Briefing notes will be prepared on each case.  The Planning Committee will 

formally consider the review and decide whether it gives rise to the need to 

reconsider any policies or practices. 

  

10.0 Complaints / Record Keeping 

  

10.1 Whatever procedures a planning authority operates, it is likely that complaints will 

be made.  However, following this guidance should greatly reduce the occasions on 

which complaints are justified.  It should also provide less reason for people to 

complain in the first place. 

  

10.2 A logical consequence of adopting a local protocol of good planning practice is that 

the Authority should also have in place a robust complaints system.  The Authority 

has a procedure for dealing with formal complaints.  It should be remembered that 

complainants alleging a breach of the statutory local code of conduct are able to 

direct their allegations in writing direct to the Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales. 

  

10.3 So that complaints may be fully investigated and, in any case as a matter of general 
good practice, record keeping should be comprehensive and accurate.  Omissions 

and inaccuracies could, in themselves, cause a complaint or undermine the 

Authority’s case.  The guiding rule is that every planning application should contain 

an accurate account of events throughout its life.  It should be possible for someone 

not involved in that application to understand what the decision was and why and 

Page 435



Page 16 of 17 

how it had been reached.  Particular care needs to be taken with applications 

determined under Officers’ delegated powers, where there is no referral to a 

Planning Committee.  Such decisions should be as well documented and recorded 

as those taken by Members.  These principles apply equally to enforcement and 

development plan matters. 

  

11.0 Call-In Procedures 

  

11.1 Any Member may request that an application that is due to be determined by 

officers under a delegated authority is ‘Called-In’ and determined by Planning 

Committee in substitute. 

  

11.2 The Director of Planning & Place  or the Head of Development Management shall 

only accept a member ‘Call-In’ where all of the following is complied with: 

a) The request is received in writing by completing the Call-In form, and 
forwarding to planning.enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk and to the Director 

of Planning & Place or Head of Development Management; and  

b) The request is received within 15 working days of the date on which the 

weekly list of applications proposed to be dealt with under delegated powers 

has been sent to all Members of the Authority; and 

c) The request states in full the planning reasons why the matter should be 

considered by the Planning Committee; and 

d) The request states whether: 

i) The call-in occurs only if the officer recommendation is Permit; or  

ii) The call-in occurs only if the officer recommendation is Refuse; or 

iii) The call-in occurs irrespective of the officer recommendation. 

  

11.3 The officer report will state (i) which Member exercised the right of ‘Call-In’ and 

(ii) planning reasons provided why the matter should be considered by the  Planning 

Committee. 

  

11.4 

 

 

 

 

11.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

11.6 

Once the Head of Development Management has accepted that a planning 

application is subject to a member Call-In, then the planning application shall be 

determined by Planning Committee even where the Member subsequently request 

that the Call-In is withdrawn.  

 

If a specific planning application falls to be determined by the Planning Committee 

as a result of a Call-In request from a member of the Planning Committee then that 

Member needs to consider carefully the role which they are able to play when the 

Planning Committee comes to consider and determine the application in question. 

In particular, where the member of the Planning Committee who has made the Call-

In request:  

a) has couched the Call-In request in language which might indicate that they 

have already formed a clear and settled view as to the appropriate outcome 

of the application; or 
b) has made the Call-In request following discussions with the application 

/Agent /Objector and / or any third party  

 

The Member should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer regarding their 

involvement in the decision making process. 

Page 436

mailto:planning.enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Page 17 of 17 

 

Page 437



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

1 of 4 

To: National Park Authority, 16 December 2022 
From: Gareth Jones, Director of Planning & Place 
 
 

Buildings Management & Maintenance Policy 
 

Decision Required YES ☒ / NO ☐ Agenda Item 10 

 

Recommendation 

Approve the Buildings Management and Maintenance policy set out in Appendix 
One of this report. 

Delegate updates to document links and formatting of the policy to the Director of 
Planning and Place.  

 

Key Messages 

An audit of Buildings Management and Maintenance was undertaken as part of the 
Authority’s 2021/22 internal audit plan to provide assurance that controls were in 
place and complied with. 

The audit recommended the need for formal corporate policies and procedures for 
the management and maintenance of the Authorities buildings. 

A policy and procedures have subsequently been prepared by officers to address 
the audit recommendations. 

 
 
  

Page 439

Agenda Item 10



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

2 of 4 

Background 

 
The Authority’s internal audit review undertaken in 2021-22 considered the 
arrangements for building management and maintenance. The key strategic findings 
were: 

 There are no formal corporate policies and procedures for the management 
and maintenance of the Authorities buildings.  

 There are no clearly defined responsibilities and communication at corporate 
level regarding the management of the Authority’s buildings. 

 Following a survey undertaken of three sites in June 2019 by an external 
consultant, a number of recommendations were made but the 
recommendations have not been implemented and there is no evidence of 
monitoring or oversight of the delivery of the recommendations. 

 There is no system in place to formally record, prioritise, cost and monitor the 
delivery of responsive maintenance works. 

 
The internal audit report (April 2022) identified three urgent, one important and one 
routine recommendations. All recommendations were accepted by officers and 
responsibilities and timescales for implementation were included within the final report. 
 
To address the urgent recommendations of the report, a Buildings Maintenance Policy 
and Procedure Policy (Appendix One) has now been drafted and more robust 
procedures to monitor and provide assurance on building maintenance and 
compliance issues are currently being prepared and implemented.  
 
The proposed policy has been prepared in consultation with relevant officers and sets 
out corporate governance arrangements, a risk management system and processes 
for managing property maintenance and compliance.  
 
Relation to Authority Priorities 

 
A Buildings Management & Maintenance policy is an urgent recommendation of the 
Authority’s internal auditors. It is required to help ensure good standards of corporate 
governance and to help ensure statutory compliance and the management of risk by 
the Authority. 
 
Impact Analysis 

 
Financial - there are no financial resource implications as a direct result of this report, 
however, the carrying out of maintenance on properties owned and managed by the 
Authority will however have financial implications which will need to be considered as 
part of the budget planning process. 
 
Legal – no legal implications directly from this report. There are however statutory 
compliance issues which need to be monitored through a robust systems and 
procedures. 
 
Diversity Implications - none directly from this report 
 

Page 440



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

3 of 4 

Human Resources - There are no HR implications as a direct result of this report. 
 
Sustainability – Energy efficiency and climate change issues will be considered and 
built into the Authority’s building management. 
 
Risk 

 
Internal audits address areas assessed as higher risk for the Authority and will 
recommend actions which will help to manage and reduce risks. Internal audit is one 
of the tools which is used by Members and management to gain assurance that 
internal controls are operating effectively. The proposed policy and its implementation 
will help manage an identified risk to the Authority. 
 
Conclusion and Next Steps 

 
The Buildings Management & Maintenance policy aims to address internal audit 
recommendations highlighting the need to improve governance and procedures in the 
management of the Authority’s buildings. In doing so it will help manage risk to the 
Authority and ensure statutory compliance.  

  
Once approved the policy and improved systems and procedures for managing and 
maintaining buildings will continue to be implemented. 

 
  

Page 441



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 16-12-2022 

4 of 4 

Appendix One: Buildings Management and Maintenance Policy 

 
 

Page 442



 

1 
 

 
BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK 

AUTHORITY  

 

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT & 

MAINTENANCE POLICY 

 

DRAFT 

 

 

 

 

 

 
December 2022  

Page 443



 

2 
 

 

1.0 Policy Purpose 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) has a duty of care to provide a safe, sustainable, 

compliant, high-quality environment for our employees and people who use our services and 

facilities. 

This policy describes the management, processes and standards in place for the safe operation, 

maintenance and control of all properties owned, operated and maintained by the Authority 

(Appendix 1 – BBNPA Property List). Properties leased by BBNPA are to be maintained and operated 

in accordance with the appropriate lease agreement for each individual building.   

The Authority shall take all reasonably practicable steps in relation to the management of property 

to ensure health and safety by the establishment and maintenance of property management 

system.   These will cover the assessment of risks and the effective planning, organisation, control, 

monitoring and review of the preventative and protective measures necessary to control property-

related risks, ensure statutory compliance and the provision and maintenance of: 

 building fabric and a working environment for employees and other users that is, so far as is 

reasonably practicable, safe and without risks to health 

 building installations, plant and associated equipment that are, so far as is reasonably 

practicable, safe and without risks to health 

 as regards any place of work under the Authority’s control, the maintenance of it in a 

condition that is safe and without risks to health so far as is reasonably practicable 

This Policy will be reviewed at regular intervals to ensure it is current, up to date and fully 

implemented. The Authority will arrange for and review on a regular basis, the systems, procedures, 

and standards, to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, sustainable, safe, efficient and cost-

effective management, maintenance and operation of its premises and associated assets and 

equipment. 

2.0 Duties Under Law 

BBNPA has a responsibility under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and other statutory and 

legal duties that owners and occupiers of premises must adhere to. 

Under the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, the Authority must also 

ensure all persons using its premises are protected from foreseeable hazards/risks and record these 

if the activities of the Authority affect them. 

BBNPA will ensure adequate organisational structures and resource are in place in order to meet its 

statutory and mandatory duties and operational requirements. 

3.0 Property Management System 

The Property Management System contains three primary elements: 

i. Management Arrangements  

Defines the responsibilities and delegations made by the Authority for property management, 

performance standards, compliance assurance, health and safety management across properties 

and the processes necessary to organise, plan, control and monitor the design and implementation 

of a property-related risks.  

Page 444



 

3 
 

 

ii. Risk Control System  

Sets out the appropriate arrangements to be followed to avoid, reduce or control property-related 

hazards and meet compliance criteria. Arrangements will include suitable inspection, quality control 

checks, servicing / routine checks, procedures for maintenance, project control and record keeping 

using information systems to be implemented and kept in place to: 

 address any risks or non-compliance arising out of property management, maintenance and 

construction work  

 monitor and track remaining residual risk issues that may impact on premises operations and 

action any risk control / compliance progress  

 

iii. Procedures  

Comprising standards, check sheets and guidance, these will accompany the Risk Control System to 

provide and maintain the detailed steps to be taken to prevent harm or loss. Operational 

instructions will be defined and be communicated to those persons at the point of risk or who are 

responsible for assessing risks. Procedures will set out: - 

 protocols for communication and action in the event of an emergency 

 record keeping guidance especially for any applicable information systems 

 arrangements to provide employees and where applicable consultants and contractors 

involved in construction / maintenance works with information and instruction for 

property/project-related hazard / risk control matters 

4.0 Management Arrangements (Appendix 2) 

i. Chief Executive 

The Chief Executive has overall accountability for all aspects of the quality, safety, management and 

maintenance of BBNPA property, assets and equipment. They will nominate in writing the 

designated person who will take Executive Board level responsibility for property matters. 

ii. Director of Planning & Place 

The Director of Planning & Place (DPP) will act as the ‘Responsible Person’ accountable to the Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO) and has delegated responsibility on behalf of the CEO for managing the 

Authority’s property, ensuring that premises are well maintained, cost effective, efficient, and safe 

and complies with current statutory legislation, good practice guidance and quality standards. This 

will be delivered via the Authority’s management structure which will include, where required, 

procurement of competent professional and technical support. The DPP will ensure: 

• The CEO and Executive Board are informed on all relevant matters relating to the management 

and maintenance of property. 

• That robust governance, financial and reporting processes are in place, monitored and adhered to. 

• That Key Performance Indicators are delivered, monitored, and reported on. 

• That an Authority wide management structure is maintained showing clear lines of responsibility 

and that appropriate technical and professional support is appointed to support the delivery of 

property management, maintenance and construction projects where required. 

Page 445



 

4 
 

• That sustainability, climate change mitigation and adaptation measures and considerations are 

fully integrated into property management and maintenance strategy and activities. 

• A cost effective, efficient, and compliant planned preventative maintenance system is maintained, 

implemented, regularly reviewed and records kept. 

• Appropriate property records and drawings are maintained and regularly reviewed regarding 

property assets, leases, licences, maintenance, compliance etc. 

• Relevant and appropriate safe systems of work, policies and procedures are developed, 

maintained, regularly reviewed, and adhered to.  

• The coordination of the various aspects of property management by the Authority, in conjunction 

with other senior managers. 

• All employees and contractors are working in compliance with safe systems of work and 

procedures. 

• All relevant parties who have duties or responsibilities regarding any aspect of the Authority’s 

property management have been informed in writing, and that steps have been taken to ensure 

they understand all their responsibilities. 

• Systems, procedures, key performance indicators and competent personnel are in place to ensure 

the safe and efficient operation, business continuity, validation and performance monitoring of the 

Authority’s property management and maintenance. 

• Risks are identified, acted upon and where appropriate included in the BBNPA risk register. 

iii. Director of Climate Change & Nature Recovery 

Has clearly defined delegated responsibility to act on behalf of the DPP for property management 

matters falling within their service area. 

iv. Facilities Managers  

The Facilities Managers are officers within the Authority who are accountable, via the management 

structure and scheme of delegation for the management and/or maintenance of property within 

their area of responsibility. 

They are responsible for ensuring, that they and their staff comply with this and all relevant 

Authority policy including all current guidance and statutory requirements. 

Via their teams, where applicable, they will help ensure, timely, cost-effective management and 

delivery of the property management and maintenance within their remit, i.e. repair and monitoring 

of premises, building services, capital/works projects, compliance and risk management etc. 

They will help ensure policies and procedures are developed, implemented, reviewed, risk 

assessments are undertaken as required, ensuring validation, testing and maintenance regimes are 

planned, undertaken, recorded and retained in accordance with relevant statutory requirements, 

good practice, and maintain and keep all associated documentation and records. 

Facilities managers will ensure, that all directly employed and temporary staff shall receive a 

site/department induction within the first week of their employment; for contractors this will be on 

commencement of work on the site. 

Page 446



 

5 
 

v. Commissioning Managers 

Managers commissioning external contractors and/or consultants etc. to undertake work to 

Authority properties, will ensure they comply with this and other relevant BBNPA policies, are 

suitable and competent for undertaking the work required of them, that their work is suitably 

planned, and that suitable and sufficient arrangements and management systems are in place for 

the effective supervision, review and monitoring of their activities whilst they are on site.  

The CM will: 

• Ensure that when a contractor is carrying out work on a property, all staff who need to 

know are informed. 

• Provide the facility for all contractors to sign in and out when they visit site to control 

their presence. 

• Provide a system whereby the contractor is informed formally about any safety hazards 

they may encounter while carrying out the work 

• Ensure that the Contractor makes staff aware of any hazards associated with the work 

they are carrying out 

• Ensure that the contractor works within legislation and guidelines and actively operates 

a safe system of work  

• Improve the co-ordination between the BBNPA staff and contractors who carry out work 

and activities on our properties so that risks are managed as far as reasonably 

practicable 

• Ensure that before contractors are commissioned, their competence is assessed in 

relation to health and safety matters. 

All managers will ensure that, within their area of responsibility, all necessary records, plans and 

other information in respect to management of the Authority’s property, is collated, maintained, 

monitored and reported on in accordance with requirements. Prior to starting any works, 

contractors are to be informed of BBNPA Health and Safety/Risk Policy, Emergency Procedures, First 

Aid facilities and any other policies that our deemed relevant. 

Commissioning managers will ensure, prior to commencement of a work scheme/project, a site 

meeting pre-contract has taken place. It is essential that these meeting and subsequent monitoring 

meetings are attended by relevant stakeholders and records retained. 

vi. Employees/Contractors 

All employees and contractors must be aware that they have a duty of care for health & safety 

towards themselves and others. They will: 

• Ensure that they take reasonable care for their health & safety and that of other employees, 
people who use services, visitors, and members of the general public who may be affected by their 
actions. 
• Report to their line manager any defects, defective equipment, hazards, accidents/incidents, 
unsafe systems of work and/or unsafe environment and equipment. 
• Work in compliance with safe systems of work, property policies/procedures. 
• Attend any training that is provided by their managers. 
• Adhere to this policy and procedures. 
 
 
 

Page 447



 

6 
 

5.0 Risk Control Systems 

i. Statutory Compliance 

Assurance of statutory compliance is assessed against a number of statutory, legal requirements and 

standards.  These will vary depending on the nature and use of individual properties and include for 

example, electrical appliances, heating equipment, fire/smoke alarms, children’s play equipment, 

free standing walls etc. 

Compliance inspections will be undertaken by a competent officer/ contractor on the required basis 

for each property. Property compliance records will be maintained by Property Managers and held 

centrally and available for audit. 

ii. Maintenance 

Regular inspection and maintenance systems will be prepared and undertaken for properties where 

applicable.  This will aim to ensure, as far as is reasonably practical, the good upkeep of properties, 

plant and equipment. All maintenance, servicing and inspection works will be carried out in 

accordance with an agreed programme. The key objectives will be to: 

• Ensure properties, plant and equipment are safe and in good condition. 

• Enable effective delivery of services. 

• Maintain standards set by statutory requirements, manufacturers and other relevant good practice 

and guidance. 

• Ensure that sustainability and climate change considerations are embodied in strategic and 

operational decisions and activities. 

The system will include but not be limited to: 

 Planned Maintenance 

 Inspection 

 Test 

 Repair 

 Replacement/Refurbishment/Overhaul 

 Good House Keeping 

 Defect/Failure 

 Condition monitoring 

 Maintenance Procedures/safe systems of work 

 Asset/plant/equipment maintenance history/records 

 

iii. Condition Assessment / Surveys 

Condition surveys - In line with good practice condition surveys should be undertaken typical on a 5 

yearly cycle.  

Maintenance Planning – Planning for maintenance shall be undertaken on an annual basis based on 

information from the following: 

 Condition surveys 

 Interim inspections 

 Existing programmes and historical data 

Page 448



 

7 
 

 Faults identified by property manager / building users 

 Feedback from consultants and contractors 

 Legal requirements 
 

iv. Risk control review 

Monitoring arrangements will be established to ensure; 

 arrangements for specific property-related risk control and compliance system are 

developed, implemented and maintained 

 awareness and application of the specific property-related risk control system is reviewed 

including its continued suitability and effectiveness  

 the status of recorded property-related risks and any non-compliance are reviewed and 

reported to the Operations Board on a regular basis 

v. Property Maintenance Budgets 

Budget allocations will be set and managed by the appropriate service managers in conjunction with 

the Finance Manager as part of the Authority’s financial planning process.  Budget will be prioritised 

against the following key areas: 

 Emergency Maintenance - those which pose an immediate Health & Safety or security risk.  

 Planned Maintenance - undertaken on a risk based approach resulting from building 
inspections including cyclical condition surveys. 

 Statutory Maintenance - to comply with the legislative requirements associated with many 
building elements and services installations which require inspection and testing. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 449



 

8 
 

Appendix 1 - BBNPA Property List 

Property Ownership/Tenure Responsibility 

Plas Ffynnon HQ, Brecon Long lease Management and 
maintenance of building 
overseen by Dyfed Powys 
Police. 
BBNP - statutory compliance / 
H&S procedures 

BBNP Visitor Centre, Libanus BBNP owned  Management & maintenance 
of site, grounds and building 
statutory compliance, H&S 
procedures 

Craig y Nos Visitor Centre & 
Country Park 

BBNP owned Management & maintenance 
of site, grounds and building 
statutory compliance, H&S 
procedures 

Cwm Porth Car Park site office 
and facilities 

BBNP owned Management & maintenance 
of site and buildings 
statutory compliance, H&S 
procedures 

Llanthony Priory toilet block BBNP owned Management & maintenance 
of site and buildings, H&S 
procedures 

Unit 7, Ffrwgrech Industrial 
Estate, Brecon 

Lease Management of building 
Statutory compliance, H&S 
procedures 

Warden Store Unit, Glan Usk 
Estate, Crickhowell 

Lease Management of building 
statutory compliance, H&S 
procedures 

Tourist Information Centre, 
Abergavenny 

Tenant Management of office  
Statutory compliance, H&S 
procedures 

Govilon Office Lease Management of building 
statutory compliance, H&S 
procedures 

 

  

Page 450



 

9 
 

Appendix 2 – Management Structure 

 

 

Operational Delivery
Staff Contractors

Property Management
Facilities Managers Commissioning Managers

Operations Board
Director of Planning & Place Director of Climate Change & Nature Recovery

Executive Board
Chief Executive

Page 451



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Future Bannau
	Enclosure 1 Single Integrated Assessment
	Enclosure 2 Equality Impact Assessment
	Enclosure 3 FINAL Future Bannau LOW
	APPENDICIES complete
	Natural Beauty Statement CCW 2006.pdf

	Future Bannau LOW RES-1

	Enclosure 4 Sustainability Appraisal NPMP 2022
	Enclosure 5 Habitats Regulations Assessment of NPMP 2022

	6 Update on Section 6 Reporting
	7 Contract Standing Orders
	7 - Contract Standing Orders (Appendix One)

	8 Parking Byelaw
	8 - Parking Byelaw (Appendix One)

	9 Planning Protocol
	9 - Planning Protocol (Appendix One)

	10 Buildings Management and Maintenance Policy
	10 - Buildings Management & Maintenance Policy (Appendix One)




